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SEXUAL EXPLOITATION OF CHILDREN

MONDAY, MAY 23, 1977

U.S. House oF REPRESENTATIVES,
Supcomarrrres oN CRIME
or THE COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY,

‘ Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:15 a.m., in room
2937, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. John Conyers, Jr. [chair-
man of the subcommittee] presiding.

Present: Representatives Conyers, Holtzman, Gudger, Volkmer,
Ertel, Ashbrook, and Railshack. C

Staff present: Flayden Gregory, counsel; Leslie E. Freed, assistant
counsel ; and Thomas N. Boyd; associate counsel.

Mr. Coxvyers. Good morning. The Subcommittee on Crime is be-
ginning its hearings on a number of quite similar hills prohibiting the
sexual exploitation of children and the transportation in interstate and
foreign commerce of photographs of film depicting such exploitation.
Considerable information has already come to the attention of the
subsommittee regarding the rapid proliferation of these practices,
which include physical sexual abuse of children of both sexes and vix-
tually all ages. In addition to providing criminal sanctions for the
sexual abuse of children, the bills before us also proscribe widespread
accompanying practices of photographing and filming actual and
simulated sexual acts involving childven and distributing the products
in interstate commerce. It is clear that o considerable number of the
persons purchasing and otherwise obtaining these photographs and
films are themselves using them in connection with their own acts of
sexual abuse of children, further widening the vicious circle of physi-
cal and photographic abuse.

The perpetrators of these acts use inducements such as money, drugs,
and representations of friendship to entice their young victims. In
some instances, even parents are induecing or permitting their own
children in these practices; such conduct on the pait of persons in
place of parents is even more common.

As might be expected, these photographs and films are being dis-
tributed through existing outlets that specialize in pornographic mate-
rials. However, there is growing evidence that child abusers and other
persons desirous of receiving these photos and films are developing
their own production and distribution network, This usually takes the
form of a cottage industry operating out of the trunk of a car or a
single post office box, but, increasingly, the operations are growing
larger, better financed, more sophisticated, more diversified—and more
difficult to identify, apprehend, and successfully prosecute. In many
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cases, it is not just the photos and films that are moved in interstate
commerce, but the children themselves. In fact, the traffic of children
has become international, as in the case of smuggling of children from
Mexico for such purposes. These children, who exist virtually without
identity in this country, are the most vulnerable, for they could be
eliminated and their disappearance go unnoticed here, an occurrence
which is not unprecedented. .

The subcommittee will hold several days of hearings < this subject.
In these hearings, we will attempt to establish the bi. . :th and depth
of the abusive practices sought to be proscribed by the vills before us.
An essential element of this aspect of our inquiry will be the quest for
answers to a number of specific questions that need to be answered if
wo are to understand the true nature and extent of the problem and to
make informed decisions on the need for additional legislation.

Some questions include: Are these abusive practices in fact growing
like wildfire, or is the appearance of such increases in large part due
to the fact that public attention has at last been focused on practices
which have long existed but have been ignored or attention to them
suppressed ? If the practices are rapidly proliferating, what are the
casual factors contributing to this? Is the problem we are addressing
really & monolithic one, oris it in fact three distinct and separable
yroblems of sexual child abuse, prostitution, and pornography ? Simi-
larly, is the issue of the seduction of an 8-year-old child by a foster
parent different from that involved in the willing sexual participation
by teenagers? .

Several questions concerning the contribution of family back-
ground of both the children and the adults involved in these practices
ought to be addressed. What contribution do factors such as parental
unemployment, breakdown of family and marriages, and physical or
emotional abandonment of children have on their vulnerability to
these practices, both as a vietim and, later in life, as an abuser?

Likewise, it can be asked how strong a factor are financial and other
material inducements in attracting children to these practices? Some
persons who have concerned themselves with these matters are
convinced that material attractions are quite significant in indueing
children into such conduet; other students of the problem assevt that
children cave very little about money, hut are primarily Jooking for
happiness, security, and love, and that it is the extension of these non-
material rewards—real or pretended—that induce them in some of
their conduct. In an even broader sense, we need to examine how cycli-
cal movements of our entire economy impact upon this problem area,
throneh such indirect influences as the strain and stress placed upon
individual family units, and through more divect influences such as
reducing the employment opportunities for younger teenagers, who
are in times of economic decline faced with adult competition even for
the lower paying and part-time jobs they ordinarily claim.

The most essential question, in my view, wh: "\ this subcommittes
must address—in the first instance by this ... mmittee and ulti-
mately bv the Congress—is, of course, whether additiona! Federal
criminal legislation is needed. We will examine this need ag carefully,
objectively, and thoroughly as we can.
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T do feel, however, that a general cautionary observation, one that is
always applicable, but particularly so here, needs to be made. This is
that establishing that objectionable conduct—even revolting conduct—
is taking place does not necessarily establish the need for new Federal
criminal legislation. The solution may lie, as our evidence may point
out, for example, in better enforcement of existing Federal criminal
laws; there are, of course, several already on the books which may be
applicable to the practices in question.

Similarly, existing State and local laws may, with improved enforce-
ment, prove adequate, or better use of a combination of Federal, State,
and local laws. We have frequently seen that citizen indignation and
mobilization have successfully demanded that governmental action be
taken, and that inadequately used existing laws have then proven ade-
quate; we will be examining whether that potentiality is present here.
Certainly another possibility is that the most appropriate action is ad-
ditional State and local legislative action. Indeed, provision of crim-
inal law is for the most part the province of the States. Federal crim-
inal law is the exception, rather than the rule, and a case must be spe-
cially made for each exception to this rule. .

A final possibility exists, one that appears to have been overlooked in
the current array of legislative proposals. This is that additional laws
be needed, perhaps even Federal laws, but perhaps not criminal
we have learned anything from the $5 billion spent by the Law
Enforcement Assistance Administration over the last 8 years, it is that
the solution to crime in our society cannot be found in the criminal jus-
tice system. We may find, similarly, that the solution to problems of
sexual abuse and exploitation of young people perhaps does not lie in
increased eriminal laws, but rather in approaching the problem
through increased and improved attention in the areas such as child
care, education, mental health, family support, juvenile delinquency
facilities, and employment. This is not to suggest that we begin these
hearings with a predisposition against additional congressional crimi-
nal legislation, but only to emphasize that we approach them with no
prejudgment for or against. ,

Today we will hear from Prof. Frank Osanka, of Lewis College in
Illinois, who is one of the country’s leading authorities on the problem
of sexual abuse and exploitation of children. Qur second witness is Dr.
Judianne Densen-Gerber, founder of the Odyssey Institute in New
York City. Dr. Densen-Gerber, a psychiatrist by profession, can aptly
be described as a crusader on this issue; she, like Professor Osanka, has
been at the forefront of those attempting to call attention of the public
to the magnitude of this problem. Our final witness today will be
Charles Rembar, attorney from New York, with extensive experience
on the subject, who has practiced and published in the area of obscenity
and the law relating thereto. ,

On Wednesday, we will have a police officer, a representative of the
National District Attorneys Association, the American Civil Liberties
Union, and Members of Congress who may be inclined to testify in sup-
port: of their legislation.

Professor Osanka, before us, is associate professor and director of
the undergraduate program in the Institute for Studies and Social
Justice at Lewis University. He has had experience in State and Fed-
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eral government, particulmly as acting director of the Governor’s
office in human resources in Illinois, has participated in numerous na-
tional conferences concerning child abuse and neglect and has pre-
sented panels and interviews and written works on this subject to &
high degree.

We welcome you, Professor Osanka. We have a prepared statement
on your parp which will be, without objection, incorporated into the
record, so that you can begin a summary and further elucidation of
your views on the matte s that brings the the subcommittee here, and
then we will be open to comments and questions from the members of
the subcommittee. Welcome.

TESTIMONY OF FRANK 0SANKA, ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR OF SOCIAL
JUSTICE AND SOCIOLOGY, LEWIS UNIVERSITY, ILLINOIS

Mr., Osanga. Thank you very much. My name is Frank Osania,
associate professor of social justice and sociology at Lewis University,
in Glen Ellyn, T1L

I think it is important to point out in the context of these hearings
that my mother died the day I was born, my father a few years later,
so I was raised in the foster care and institutional care systems, and,
as such, I became street-sophisticated far earlier than I became intel-
lectually sophisticated. I think it isimportant to establish that base line
because we are dealing with, in many cases, vulnerable ch:ldren who
are dependent on the child care systems of the United States.

The act, and the depiction of the act of children in explicit sexual
interaction is a clear case of child abuse and/or child neglect. Existing
child abuse and neglect statutes should be strenghened to provides
strong eriminal pevalties for all adult participants, from the camera
person to the “adult” bookstove clerk. The law should be so specific
that even the act of selling such pornography be interpreted as a party
to child abuse and neglect. I realize that these are extreme measures,
Jbut the socially corrupting nature of child pornography axd the cur-
rent inability of the criminal justice system to stop it, demand strong
protective legislation. In my view, a person who purchases child por-
nography is a party to child abuse since his purchase will insure a profit
for the pornograoher and thereby guarantee abuse of additional chil-
dren through the production of new items. The purchase is also a re-
ward to the pornographer for the child abuse he has already commis-
sioned.

The incidence of child abuse and/or child sexual abuse is on the rise
in the United States, and this form of social deviance will be made
worse by the introduction and widespread distribution of various
forms of pornography utilizing children as the principal sex object.
Such materials, in my mind, represent a socially disintegvating assault
upon basic moral principles of American society. More immediate,
child pornography is a clear case of child abuse and neglect with the
potential for immedirte and long-term damage to the children, and
perhaps the adult readers, involved. )

As a concerned citizen, a responsible scholar, and a startled father
of four, I urge the Congress of the United States to take immediate
remedial action to provide adequate legal provisions gnaranteed to
secure maximum protection for American children from this insidious




5

commercial exploitation of children’s vulnerabilities which, at the
same time, clearly is child abuse and/or neglect. I urge the designer
of such legislation to go to great length to msure that the sexual use
of children in pornography be viewed as child abuse and/or neglect.
IL.R. 3913, Child Abuse Prevention Act, which is now under con-
sicdleration by the United States Congress, seems so directed.

Legislation must take care to word protective laws regarding the
sexual abuse of children in pornography with such precision that
time-consuming, and often futile, debates on the prevailing definitions
of obscenity anid pornography be avoided. Such debates do not pro-
vide protection for the victimized and often traumatized child. The
sexual abuse of children in pornography is demonstratably child abuse
and/or neglect, and is a clear danger to the dependent children in-
volved and to the busic moral fiber of the American society. Children
in American society are conditioned to obey adults and very young
children operationally do not have the right of refusal. Persons who
coerce childven into pornographic activities are violating the civil
rights of these children. The sexual abuse of children for commercial
pornographic purposes is not guaranteed by the first amendment-.
Some may debate the degree of obsenity that is invelved in the sex-
ual exploitation of children, but none can deny that such insidious
manipulations ave clearly child abuse and/or neglect.

Offenders under this definition must be vigorously pursued and
severely punished. While I personally favor punishment couy’ad
with. clinical treatment of ix [}ividu'al child sexual molesters, I wi;m
the provision of strong penalties for American pornographers »ou-
victed of using children in pornography. Further, serious penaities
should be provided for the importation and exploitation of child
pornegraphy. In brief, protective legislation in this area must take
the profit out of child pornography. It is not social or cultural need,
but individual greed that has given birth to the wholesale introduc-
tion of child pornography. In my view, Ellen Goodman’s words re-
flect the majority opinion of Americans when she says, “This is not
a first amendment issue. It is not & matter of legislating the sexual
fantasies of adults. It's a matter of protecting the lives of the young
models,”—Chicago Sun-Times of Marcl: 15, 19?7 , - 32,

I suspect that child pornographers hope that the judicial system
gets bogged down in lengthy debate over tie first amendment and
obscenity definitions, thereby postponing, perhaps for years, mean-
ingful actior. against child pornography. The result, of course, will
be an avalanche of depictions of the sexual abuse of children.

With all due respect to men and women legislators, I would urge
vou to aveid the very understandable inclination to decline from a
personal examination of representative samples of child pornography.
It is a painful, sickening. and often very sad experience, but you are
obligated to view these items in private to be satisfied in your own
mind that none of this material realistically contains any cultural or
scientific value. Through such an examination you will fully appre-
ciate the challenging psychological and social implication of mosb
examples of child pornography.

On February 4, 1977, Dr. Judianne Densen-Gerber and I held a
closed press conference in the Executive Iouse Hotel in Chicago.
The assembled newspersons, many of them hardened veterans of the
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“crime beat,” reacted emotionally by expressing shock and verbalizing
anger. Indeed, a tape recording of the press conference indicates that
one Chicago Sun-Times columnist and popular “talk show” hostess
said : '

T'd like to just say that it is the worst thing I have ever seen in my entire
life and I wish they (child pornographers) were all dead.

After the press conference, maity of the assembled newspersons ex-
pressed their concerns in their respective media, and some became
active crusaders for public awareness and public demand for pro-
tective legislation against the sexual molestation of children. For
example, the people in the Chicagoland area owe a debt of gratitude
to Roger Simon, of the Chicago Sun-Times; Mike Kline, of the Chi-
cago Sun-Times; Bob Wiedrich, of the Chicago Tribune; and the
Chicago Tribune’s child pornography/prostitution investigative team
made up of George Bliss, Michael Sneed, and Ray Moseley.

‘Responsible cit*zens have learned of child pornography and have
demonstrated their disapproval through press conferences, TV, and
radio, and by physically demonstrating outside of “adult bookstores”
that sell child pornography. The press has investigated and respon-
. sibly reported this new form of social degenerateness. The elected
legislation must act now. In my view, local, State and Federal legis-
lators must now take the ball and run toward the goal of adequate
protection for children from sexual exploitation and provide strong
criminal penalties for all guilty of this new form of child abuse.

I began researching sexual abuse of children last year in seeking data
for my special 8-credit-hour course at Lewis University, Glen Ellyn,
I1l., entitled “Child Abuse and Neglect Prevention and Treatment.”
Scholarly research into the sexual abuse of children usually takes
into' consideration intra-family sexual abuse (incest), molestation by
strangers, and child prostitution. However, in the last 2 years there
has been a massive introduction of pornographic materials depicting
children in explicit sexual acts with each other and with acus. Such
materials constitute a fourth, and heretofore unsuspected, type of
sexual abuse of children. Many of my social justice students are active
law enforcement officials, and they began to bring confiscated
examples of child pornography to class. My research and their
samples so startled me that T initiated my own public awareness
campaign through radio and television “talk shows” and through
cooperation with the newspapers and law enforcement agencies. More
shocking than even the crass nature of the child pornography, itself,
was the discovery that there is a total lack of protective laws or that
the existing laws are so vague that meaningfnl prosecution is not
possible. o

My aim was and is to heighten public awareness, mobilize public
disanproval against the child pornographer, and to urge voters to
demand the enactment of protective legislation.

Let’s be clear what we are talking about. T am referring to books,
pamphlets, playing cards, and 8mm films which vividly depict chil-
dren in sexual poses and/or in explicit sexual acts with each other or
with adults. Much of the materials have clear themes of sadomaso-
chism. The pamphlet, “Child Discipline,” is a prime example of this
theme. “Child Discipline” advocated adult sexual satisfaction

&
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through the spanking of children. It provides both written and pic-
torial depictions of adults spanking children.

The theme of sadomasochism prevails in much of the material. The
children are represented as powerless and the adults all-powerful.
The dominant theme is that sexual abuse of children is enjoyable
and socially sanctioned by the sexually liberated members of society.

It is interesting to point out that the same themes prevail in a
monthly cartoon in ITustler Magazine. I would like to draw atten-
tion to this cartoon. Hustler Magazine has a monthly installment of
“Chester, the Molester.” (Attachment X). It is a full-page color
depiction of the intent of sexual molestation of children, If I may
briefly describe the Kaster installment, in that installment i & pie-
ture of a public park scene where children are on an Iaster egg
hunt. The depiction shows a little girl following a trail of Easter
eggs. When she turns the corner, the trail leads to the bushes where
Chester the Molester is sitting in a rabbit outfit with a baseball bat
and his testicles laying on the grass colored with different colorved
spots, and it is clear that the last “eggs” will be Chester’s testicles.

The issue of March 1977 shows a typical playground scene. The
scene involves a child, young girl, going down the slide, her dress fly-
ing in the alv, her panties showing, and Chester the Molester has his
chin at the be':om of the slide with his body hidden under the slide
and his tongue is wiggling at the bottam of the slide. I would like
to point out to the committee that the publisher of Hustler has been
appearing on national TV and muking statements that he does not
approve the use of children in pornography. I suggest that the im-
plications of these so-called cartoons, while not physical depictions
of children being sexually abused, are in some ways sanctioning of
the sexual abuse of children. They also are making fun of a great
many of the legitimate fears of parents that their children ecan be
molested by strangers where, in fact, according to the record, chnidren
are molested by strangers, and that is in public places, in particular
playgrounds. Fach issue has the “Chester the Molester” series. They
also have an ad for “Chester the Molester” T—shirts. T won’t read the
description of the ad, but it is in the public record. I would like to
express for the record some concern of another ad that is published in,
Hustler Magazine. The National Committee for the Prevention of
Child Abuse—Chicago has purchased an ad in Hustler Magazine, as
they have in other magazines, to heighien public awareness of the
need to control abuse of children (attachment X).

I question the effectiveness of such an ad in connection with the types
of material, particularly “Chester the Molester” and the ad for the T—
shirts, which illustrate or relate to the sexual molestation of children.

I distributed the ad along with the other material from Hustler to
my class of 80 students. I then asked them to discuss the materials.
They placed the ad for the prevention of child abuse, placed by the
National Committee for the Prevention of Child Abuse—Chicago, in
the same category as the ad for Chester the Molester T-ghirts. They
did not take the ad seriously. They assumed the ad was the same as the
majority of ads in Flustler Magazine. I believe that the National

_ Center on Child Abuse and Neglect—Chicago receives some supporb

from Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.




Special attention should be given to the potentinl damage this kind
of child abuse can have on the children invelved. I hope you will ask
me about specific projects during the questions-and-answer session.
In the meantime, the following chart and attachment XTI will give
you some idea where the pornographers get the children that they
exploit.

| The information follows:]

CHART-—IIOW ARE CHILDREN RECRUITED

Runaways—(bewildered, without money, afraid, and lonely—big city bus
stations/for o meal, $5 or $10/a kind word.)

(‘hild Prostitution— (por-egraphy by-product/30,000 boys, 60.000 girls.)

Toster Parents Sell/Rent—(Rockford, Illinois, social worker jailed for allow-
ing his 8 foster sons to perform sex acts before a camera for $150 each.)

Kid Drug Addicts.

Parvent Drug Addicts.

Children of Prostifutes,

Let me conclude by drawing special attentions to the energetic work
of Dr. Judianne Densen-Gerber, president, Odyssey Institute of New
York, in focusing nationwide attention on this problem.

Finally, the people of the United States are repulsed by child por-
nography and letters to the editor and editorials—and I have included
those from the Sun Times and the Chicago Daily News—are immedi-
ate measurements of this uniform concern.

T would welcome specific questions at this time.

Mz, Convyers. I want to thank you very much, and point out that
the Attorney General’s representatives in the Department of Justice
will be testifying subsequently, and we are in the process of correlat-
ing the State laws on the subject, so that we can, in fact, determine
whether there is a need for additional Federal legislation as opposed
to perhaps enforcement problems.

Mg, Osavga. I have provided the Illinois proposed statute in the
attachments. [See p. 21 for attachment I.]

My, Coxwyers. We appreciate that.

The problem, it seems, that the subcommittee is initially confronted
with is whether or not, and I think this is the threshold question,
Federal legislation is needed.

Would you be satisfied, Professor Osanka, and we appreciate your
work in the avea, if we were to determine that there could be an im-
provement: in law enforcement of the existing State and Federal legis-
lation so that there might not be a need for additional Federal legis-
lation ? ;

Mr. Osanka. Representative Conyers, I will not be satisfied until
failsafe safeguards are provided for children from this kind of abuse.
Our judicial system is such that children who are molested, children
who are victims of intrafamily sexual abuse, incest, very seldom re-
ceive justice or protection. The judicial system is inadequate to their
needs.

I would suggest that you are referring to those very same existing
Iaws, and they were ineffectual in cases of sexual molestation of chil-
dren, both strangers and persons known to the children, so I will
assume they will be as ineffectual in cases of the sexual abuse of chil-
dren through pornography.
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Mr. Coxyers. Tf we pass another Federal law, and it becomes
neffectual in prosecuting the same cases, that wouldn’t make us
any better off, would it

Mr. Osazka, If your Federal law included provisions for punish-
ment for the producers and the sellers, I think that would stop the
child abuse through sexual molestation and pornography primarily
because it wounld stop the marketability of the materials. If it in-
cluded even the bookstore manager. that person who sits up in the
Ligh booth in the adult bookstores, and requires the 50 cents of every-
body who comes in, a couple might test it, but if it is successfully
prosecuted, there will be no volunteers for that kind of work, and
it will stop the flow of dollars to pornographers, and in my view
take them out of the child pornography business. My goal would be
to insure, and T think that wonld. that they not further molest chil-
dren. There is no justice for children at the present time in this
category, and there is very little justice in the categories of other
sexnal molestation,

Mr. Coxvegs. Finally. do you see some problem in the nature of
our societal involvement in which children ave growing up, which
has to do with this increased activity?

That is to say. that the Shirley Temple of yesterday has become
the Jody Foster of today, so there is a widespread increase in teen-
age sexual promiseuity.

Tt is being filmed very explicitly. It is on television quite a bit.
Part of it seems to be the nature of owr society, so T am raising the
guestion that ultimately has to be considered, which is, will a law
aguainst the distributors, the porno shopowners, the moviemakers and
ultimately down to the second and third people in the distribution
chain have any sevious effect on stemming what seems to be o secio-
logical phenomena ?

Mr. Osavka. I would reinforce your feeling by pointing out in
197G it was reported at the American Academy of Pediatricians in
Chicago that in the previous year, 1975, 800 girvls 11 and below gave
birth to children in Cook County. So yes, the sexual experimentation of
teenagers and even preteens is certainly on the rise. I think in those
ases, particularly 11-year-olds, that it was a clear case of neglect.
of parents or guardians. T think we cannot lose sight of the fact, and
we have a tendency to do it because T think frankly we want to avoid
thinking about it, that such literature is depicting preteen children.
I don’t think we can lose sight of the fact that even if we find a pro-
gressive teenage girl that so much of the material depicts sadomaso-
chism themes, and I don't think that we can neglect the fact that this
kind. of interruption in the natural sexual education of a child can
have devastating effects on the personality and the way that child
relates to society.

Mr. Cowyrrs. Thank you. T yield to the gentlewoman from New
York, Ms. Holtzman,

Ms. Horrzarax. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I thank the witne 3 for his testimony. T personally find the prob-

lems of abusing and especially sexnally abusing young children to’

be repugnant, and I think most Americans do.
T would like to get a sense of the scope of this problem. I would
like to know if you have any fignres to indicate how many publica-
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tions include the actual use of youngsters in sexual activities, what
the circulation of these publications is, what the economic value is,
what profits have been made, how many children have been used,
and the like. Do you have any statistical information that can give
us a clearer perception of the extent of the problem?

Mr. Osaxxa. Perhaps the most in-depth open investigation of the
problem which illustrates answers to your gquestion is in the Chicago
Tribune series. There is also nonpublic information through various
law enforcement agencies, some of which is undercover work.

1 will, in my response, combine what I know from both sources,
plus some other methods of research that I use.

It is a hazy closed area, so it is difficult to get adequate data, but
it looks like 11 percent of the pornography trade uses examples of
the use of children in pornography. It seems to be in the neighbor-
hood of several million dollars’ profit now. The materials are wide-
spread, and I have heard of reports of the materials being in Canada,
Australia, as well as the United States.

The numbers of children involved is difficult to measure because
we are only now beginning to rescue some of the children who are
involved and place them under protective custody and in most cases
under psychiatric treatment.

Indications in Chicago, and I thiuk these will be becoming public
in the Chicago accounts as the Chicago Police Department releases
them, indicate that there is a great deal of interstate traffic in child
prostitutes, primarily niale prostitutes, and many of the male prosti-
tutes, some prepubescents, some teenagers, are also involved in cot-
tage industry-level photographing of their sexual activities.

Maybe your other witnesses will have some more precise informa-
tion. I don’t think I feel secure in saying anything except that mine
are qualified statements based on very indirect measurements.

Did I answer all of your question ?

Ms. Hourzaran, Your answer gave me some idea of the scope of the
If)iroblem, although it would be helpful, I think, to have more exact

gures.
“You also mentioned that the problem seemed to have escalated in the
last few years. Do you know what the reasons for that are?

Mr. Osaxxa. What I think occurred is that there was an introdue-
tion of foreign materials in order to test the market.

Ms. Horrzazan. Where do these materials come from ?

Mr. Osawga. The themes, the victims, are usually Asian or
Turopean.

Ms. Horrzaran. Do you know the country of origin?

Mzr. Osanxka. I do not. The materials of those using Asians, seem to
be a Far Kastern country. I want to be careful, because I am a scholar
on Thailand, and I am sensitive to casting any unwarranted negative
image on any of those Iastern countries.

I think what happened is that these materials were brought in by
nonorganized distributors of pornography, but they picked up interest
so much and they sold so well that the American pornographers began
getting into the business.

There is also something that occurred, I believe, simultaneously, and
that is within pornography, particularly films, there is not much else

-
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they can depict except children. In the Chicago bookstores alongside
of the films of depicting children in sexual activity with each other
and adults, there are films—and each of these samisters have a still
photograph on the outside—films illustrating men defecating into the
other man’s mouth, films illustrating German shepherd dogs having
sexual intercourse with women, films with women utilizing eels in their
body; all, of course, carries sadomasochistic themes.

There really isn’t very much else that can be done within this field
other than what is suspected that has been done, but nobody I know
has found proof, and that is to perform actual torture and murder
in the films.

So the market seems to have needed a new direction, and it has found
it with the use of pubescent children in potnography.

Mr. Conyrrs. The gentleman from North Carolina, Mr, Gudger.

Mr. Gupaer. Mr. Osanka, you are not a lawyer?

Mr. Osanxra. I am not.

Mr. Goperr. Do you know what laws, if any, the State of Illinois,
and T believe this is where your studies have originated, what laws,
if any, the State of Illinois has protecting minors from the acts of
adults who would contribute to their delinquency?

Most States have substantial eriminal sanctions against the acts of
adults contributing to the delinquency of a minor. Do you know what
prevails in the State of Illinois by way of protection in this area?

Mzr. Osaxxa. I have some idea, sir. They are not uniform codes that
apply to all States, but most States, and yowrs included, are against
the sexual exploitation of children, impairing the morals of minors
and taking indecent liberties with a minor.

Mr. Gupesr. We go further in my State. Any conduct which con-
tributes to the delinguency of a minor by diverting that minor’s life
into a pattern of abnormality or criminal conduct would be punishable
as misdemeanor up to 2 years, and I thought Illinois had similar
sanctions. :

Mr, Osanxa. Illinois does.

Mr. Gupeer. What is being done in Illinois by way of punishin
those who engage in this conduct by way of a State crimina
prosecution ? : ‘ :

Mr, Osanka. I think we have to be very careful, Congressman, in
that we don’t take comfort in the existence of statutes that are on the
books in connection with the use of children in pornography, primarily
because they provide for catching the adults in the act or having a
witness to the act who is willing to testify, When the pornographers
stage these shows, when they take their pictures; they do not invite
the police; they do not invite the press. There are usually no witnesses
to these acts of producing pornography. o

Mr. Guneer. Mr. Osanka, the first portion of this statute which we
are considering and to which your remarks gve addressed would make
it a criminal offense, a particular eriminal offense, for any individual
to cause or knowingly permit a child to engage in a prohibited sexual
act, or the simulation of such an act for the purpose of having it photo-
graphed. Now it would appear to me that the State statutes which
provide for criminal punishment of those who contribute to the delin-
quency of a minor would be involved at the State level in this partie-
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ular class of offense and the problem of proving what is charged here
would be exactly the same as proving that act of contributing to
delinquency which I have veferred to. What I am trying to do is define
in my own mind the need for this legislation prohibiting the photo-
graphing, as distinguished from the need for legislation prohibiting
the transporting,.

Now transporting in interstate commerce, if those goods are of a
eriminal nature may be a Federal erime. But the photographing of
someone is ordinarily subject to State enforcement and not Federal
enforecement. So I am looking at a statute here which proposes to male
it a crime to photograph which could or could not be criminal depend-
ing on the State law ordinarily, and it is pavallel with the statute which
malkes transporting of obscene materials which might have the ulti-
mate social effect of causing contribution to delinguency in violation
of State law.

I have no trouble with the idea of making a crime of this act of
transporting this obscene material, because it could contribute to the
delinquency of a minor in violation of State law. I am not having
trouble with that part of the statute. But I am having trouble under-
standing why this should be a Federal crime as opposed to a State
crime, the actual photographing, Do you follow me?

My. Osaxra. Yes, siv, I think I do. I should preface by remarks
again by saying I am not an attorney. However, I think the same
problem prevails for the same reason that the Chicago Police Depart-
ment had to revert to undercover tacties, and that they were able to
last weelk, almost two weeks ago, now, experience the only vecorded
bust of pornography film being enacted. They caught them actually in
the act, but because it is so quick to do this kind of thing and so easy to
dismantle afterward and difficult to find willing witnesses to provide
proof that the picture was taken. One could say, yes, it was done be-
cause there is a photograph of it. T would think that that bill has the
possibility of endangering the lives of the children involved; if they
ave strange children and the offender fears detection, he may eliminate
the child as the only witness, and many of these cases are examples
of one-time use of children.

T would urge you to consider that as a possibility, and the other
thing is that there are so many cottage industry efforts in photo-
graphing children, There have been a number of cases, and I did
want to draw back one moment, my study of the use of children in
pornography has been nationwide, not simply Illinois. And it is now
beginning to be cross-cultural. But the problem is a number of times
men will entice children, take their picture, and then disappear, and
the child has no way of identifying the person.

The only way, it seems to me, that sexuul abuse of children ean be
stopped is to stop the profitmaking by prosecuting a photographer.

My, Gopeer, Mr. Osanka, I have two other questions. One of them
is, you have addressed this question and this problem of the interstate
transportation of children for prosecution. Would not that be a viola-
tion of the Mann Act?

Mr. Osanka. Not under current interpretation I don’t believe, be-
cause the Mann Act applies specifically to female children.

Mr. Guperr. All right; are you proposing an amendment to that
act ? It is not in the bill which you are addressing.

v
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Mr. Osaxwa. No, my remarks are addressed principally to the use
of children in pornography as a form of child abuse and neglect. T
did not today addvess myself to the Mann Act.

Mr. Guperr. Would you support an amendmen? to the Mann Act
which would make the transportation of infant children for such pur-
poses a violation of that act and not limited as it is now limited, as
you suggest, to the transportation of women for this purpose?

Mr. Osaxma. T believe o great many children will be saved a great
deal of hardship if the Mann Act was so amended to include male
children.

Mr. Guoeer. Of course vou are not addvessing that problem here,
nor are you advancing any such legislation, but an entirely different
form of billis what you are proposing ? '

Mr. Qsaxwa. That was not what I was asked to do here,

Mr. Guoesr, T see. '

May T ask you one specific question. On page 3 of your manuseript,
vou say,

While I personally favor clinical treatment of individual child sexual moles-
ters, I urge the provision of strong penalties for American photographers con-
vieted of using children in pornography.

Do I understand you do not favor eriminal punishment of those who
are actors in the molesting of children? You say you recommend
clinical treatment. Don’t you recommend criminal treatment?

Mr. Osavxa. Let me correct the record. I am saying commercial,
not photographers, but pornographers there, and I make a distinetion.
Yes, I do favor criminal punishment of sexual molesters of children,
but I think that the sentencing of those individuals ought to be toward
therapeutic treatment rather than simply temporarily. placing them
in prison and not addressing ourselves to their psychiatrie problem.
T think the system in California, Santa Clara County, is a good ex-
ample of that which the Nation should emulate. That is, they take
convicted molesters of children, in this case primarigy intrafamily
molestation, and in addition to penalty, imprisonment, they require
they undergo this therapeutic treatment.

All we are doing otherwise is holding them temporarily. We are
not dealing with their particular problem,

Second, in many cases the sexual molesters of childven are not the
tvpical eriminal-minded or eriminal-bent person. It is a sad commen-
tary but a realistic one not only in onr society but other societies that
many of the sexual molesters of childven ave white, middle class. well-
established men. They go to church; they are often pillars of their
community; they seem to be concerned about matters of their com-
munity; they vote regulavly; they carn cood incomes; they have
this one particalar problem and to place them totally in prison and
not treat their problem probably contributes to a wider social dis-
integration in that it probably leads to divorce; it probably leads to
mothers going on welfare; and it probably leads to the children going
into the foster and the institutional care, when, as a matter of fact, 1t
is a social problem rather than a criminal problem.

I think because we don't have that, our shortstop has to be the severe
criminal penalties.

Mr. Guneer. Mr. Osanka, as I understand it, you are proposing
serious criminal sanctions against those who photograph a nonhetero-
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sexual act involving a child, or heterosexual act involving an infant,
and yet do T understand you to say that you do not propose serious
© crininal sanctions against the person who performs this sort of act
with a child, thereby leading that child into a life of distorted non-
heterosexual attitudes?

Mr. Osaxka. I am not saying that. Let me see if I can make myself
clear. T am saying I do accept the existing provisions for convicted
persons of those acts. I do, though, think that the acts are such that
unlike other forms of eriminal activity, these individuals can be reha-
bilitated. I also think it is critical that they be rehabilitated because
we are simply delaying the problem by placing them in prison and not
providing psychiatric treatment.

But my target in the other efforts is the businessmen involved, the
people who are making profit from this activity, and, worst of all,
are providing our comniunities with literature that is suggestive to
men and women who are susceptible to that kind of direction. The
book, “Child Discipline,” to an uneducated person could be inter-
preted as a primer, a guidebook. The first page is a scientific descrip-
tion of the need for discipline. Obviously that is to meet the Miller
requirement that it has some scientific value. The rest of it is all
downhill,

I think this kind of material is extremely dangerous to those in our
communities who are susceptible to these kinds of suggestions.

Mr. Grepeer. One final question, Mr. Chairman.

Don’t you agree that any conduct on the part of an adult, commer-
calizing the abhorrent sexual activity involving a child or contribut-
ing to that child’s own distorted vision of what is the heterosexual
function, don’t you feel that all of that conduct is ‘abhorrent to society
and requires social sanctions, criminal sanctions?

Mr. Osanga. Ido, with the provision as T have stated it.

My, Cownyers. Thank you.

The gentleman from Pennsylvania, Mr. Ertel.

My, Errer. Thank you, Mr, Chairman,

Mz, Osanka, I appreciate your comments and your views on this
particular maftter. I personally tried child pornography cases as a
prosecutor, and I am aware of lack of definition in the statutes, specif-
1cally State statutes, so I happen tn agree with you at least in one
State there is a lack of definition which should be clarified.

Bu I am concerned about a conple »f things you talked about. You
said that you wanted to prosecute the bookstore manager who has this
material in his possession. I wonder, is that knowing possession, or
unknowing possession you would prosecute him for?

Mr. OsaNka. I have been visiting in a lot of adult bookstores in the
last 6 months, and I would be very surprised if any of them wouldn’t
know of the material they have there.

Mr, Errer. That is one of my problems; we have a real problem
defining: what is pornography and what is free speech in this country,
and if the man doesn’t know that in fact there 1s child pornography
within something he might have, do you think he can constitutionally
be prosecuted ? '
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M. Osawga. I think you are looking at the problem from the point
of view of obscenity in the first amendment, and I urge that the prob-
lem be looked at from the point of view of the definitions of child
abuse and neglect, and so the individuals involved are either the pro-
duction, the distribution, or the selling of the material would be my
definition of party to child ibuse and neglect.

I think also as soon as they are apprised of the fact that they would
be a party to it and they counld still without any kind of harrassment
sell the other kind of material, they would object to selling child
pornography. T am looking not for successful court cases; I am looking
{or immediate protection of children.

Mr. Brrer. I am not here trying to defend bookstore managers. T
am not wild about the class selling pornography, but I am protective
of those selling legitimate things covered by free speech. It seems to
me you are going overboard.

A bookstore manager, if he has something in a book of which he
doesn’t know—and, quite frankly, this bill hits him, and I have intro-
duced one similar in content, but more limited—it you prosecute him,
and he does not have the knowledge of the content of a hook; he has
not contributed to that child’s delinquency, but if you are after the one
taking the photograph, he has directly contributed to the child abuse,

I think maybe we have overkill here by going against the bookstore
manager. The man who does the photographing and participates, he is
the one creating the abuse. Sure, the hookstore seller is creating a
market, but if we are going to go after the market, we have to go after
the person who purchases as well, because he creates the market by
buying. I think your argument runs a little far, and I wonder if you
would comment on that ? ‘

Mr. Osavza. Thank you. I appreciate your concerns about that. I
expect that the bookstore manager will arrange to cop a, plea and be able
to provide that additional information particularly if he is facing some
severe penalties himself. But I think we cannot lose sight of the fact
that we ars talking about the sexual abuse in many cases of preteen
children. The sexual abuse takes place clandestinely. There are very
few opportunities, unless the law enforcement agencies have full-time
undercover people to do nothing but seek out evidence in these cases,
and it seems to me that we could define even the selling of the use of
chilldr%n in pornography as a clear indication of child abuse and
neglect.

I submit to you gentlemen that it is & clear case of child abuse and
neglect in that the act of selling that material is guaranteeing that there
be additional abuse of children. Tt is also réwarding the seller for an
act which as a society there are strong sanctions against, and we do not
approve. We have accepted adult pornography. We have accepted it on
the basis that we assume they are consenting adults and not minors and
not prepubescent children, and they have the right to do as they please
with their bodies, time, and mind. We are dealing now in the cases of
children in pornography, with children who do not have the right of
refusal. It is a total exploitation with the exception of perhaps some
streetwise boys 14 to 18 and some streetwise girls, I think the question



16

becomes academic if it is going to be placed in the regular provisions
of obscenity and first amendment. ) _ o

Mr. Erren, I am afraid yov are going to run into constitutional
prohibitions and certainly you don’t want usto legislate something that
is unconstitutional. I think we have an obligation to provide legistation
which conforms, if possible, with the Constitution. But let me turn to
another area, if I might for a moment. I notice in gour statement al-
though the bill does have a provision to proseeute one \\'110 permits these
acts, would you also recommend strong sanctions against the pavents
or pornographer who wasn't a photographer, but who, in fact, encour-
ages or allowsa child to participate?

Tor instance, in one case I was involved in, it was a mother who had
her child photographed. Would you prosecute her as well?

M. Osania, I think their act would clearly fall under the category
of neglect, child abuse and/or neglect. When I say “and/or neglect,”
the parent or guardian involved should be prosecuted for neglect.

I'say that because I realize having come through the child care
system and being dependent on foster families and institutional care,
and after examining the nature of the children, many of whom are
involved in this activity, that very often they ave dependent children
and a foster care or guardian takes care of them. Sometimes it is the
natural parent.

Tt seems to me no question that the children ave neglected. If we have
800 or so 11-year-old girls giving birth to children. obviously there is
neglect. Obviously the misuse of children leads to pornography as well.

Mr. Errer. If it is “knowingly neglected,” would you draw a distine-
tion when you say neglect ? T think you are going further. .\ child could
do something like this without the parent's knowledge. Would you
prosecute the parents under those circumstances?

You ave talking about children up to the age of 16, according to the
bill. T question now how far you intend to go. It seems to me that vou
are aimed at the problem. I think you have your eye on the right thing,
but I wonder if you are not. being overbroad ?

Mr. Osanga. I think I would trust the jury to decide the level and
intent of the parent involved.

Mr. ErreL. You want intent and “knowingly*?

Mr. Osanga. Yes, sir. )

Mr. Brren. I guess with the bookstore owner that doesn’t matter.

Mr. Osanka. I think there are two different categories. We have a
case of pavental responsibility which is a far more serious responsibility
than selling literature It is the responsibility to insure that the child
has safety, both mental safety and physical safety. So I think it is a
much larger problem.

There ave cases, if we are prepared to look closely, of children under
two coming into county hospitals with gonorrhea of the throat. Tt is
clear that there has been neglect on the part of guardians. In these
cases, because the child cannot be qualified very often as a witness, and
for other reasons, there are no witnesses ané nobody can be tried for
tho actual offense.

But it seems to me thata pavent can he questioned in terms of neglect.
A parent must have been neglecting a child that is alle to contract
gonorrhea of the throat.
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Mr. Errer, Under 2255, it says, “any individual who receives™—that
is wection 2, and in the previous sections it says, “kuowingly trans-
ports.” Would you want “knowingly receives material” as well?

Mr, Osavka. I would have to study the complete statement. My gut
reaction is that if there weve strong penalties, the people involved up
and down the line would insure that they were not involved, particu-
Tarvly if they conld cont ‘nue the way they were continuing before, being
able to sell such things as individuals defecating o each other and the
like. Nobody ever complained about that.

Mr. Errer. Thank you.

My, Coxvyers. Thank you.

The gentleraan from Ohio, Mr. Ashbrook.

Mr, Asueroox. T was unfortunately delayed so T did not hear the en-
tive testimony. I did sean your testimony and I noticed, in the footnote
to No. §, something I would like to have a comment on.

You are referring to the “Chester the Molester” series. You say,

(iiven the nature of the “molester” serles, I find Larry Fiynt's public remarks
concerning his alleged disapproval of child pornography. to lack credibility.
Further, T giiestion the advisability of the Nafional Committee for the Preven-
tion of Child Abuse—Chicago to purchasing child abuse prevention ads in
Iustler Magnzine.

Could you give me some more information on the ads and that par-
ticular statement ? ’ ‘

Mr. Osanka, What T referred to was the regnlar monthly installs
nient called “Chester the Molester.” These are two examples. I showed
and described these before. They carry a clear message of a number of
things, one, the legitimacy of children as sex objects. I think they caxry
a message, too, that pavents who ave concerned about the safety of their
children are concerned without reason.

Also, in Hustler magazine is an ad, a legitimate ad, regarding the
need for heightening public awareness about child abuse. It is an
ad placed by the National Committee for the Prevention of Child
Abuse—Chicago in cooperation with the Ad Council, T believe that
the National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect, DHEW, provides
support to the national committee. The ad is placed in “Blue Book”
and every other kind of « magazine.

I question the advisability of the placement of the ad in Hustler
in connection with “Chester the Molester,” but more importantly be-
cause T informally tested it with 80 students. They had the ad and all
the other material. We discussed all the material and when it came
to the ad, they did not interpret it as an ad but they interpreted it as a
pun and as & put-on,

I don’t imagine—but I could be very wrong—there are very many
people who read Tlustler and find “Chester the Molester” humorous
that are going to be responding to an ad of that nature. I think the ad
could be coded to see what kind of responses came through. ,

Mr. Asmeroox. Is that a one panel or a series of panels?

Mr. Osanra. The ad T am referring to is here.

My, Asaeroor. The “Chester” series—is that one one picture a month
or is it a series or panel like a comic strip?

Mr. Osanka. One per month, We described the theme before and
rather than repeat it, I will provide it. You have copies for the record
along with my statement.
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M. Asmsroox. Do you know of any other ads or expenditures of
nmoney, which T guess would be taxpayer’s money, by the National
Committee for Prevention of Child Abuse that would go into the eco-
nomic mainstveam or magazines of that type?

Mr. Osaxxa. I do not know if ITustler Magazine is classified as
pornography but I do know that this ad exists.

Mr. Asmsroor. Do you know, in fact, that it is paid for, or is Larry
Flynt running it as a public service ?

My, Osanxa. Would vou rephrase the question, please?

Mr. Asusroox. Do you know, in fact, if the ad placed in Fustler is
being pzaid for? Is it possible that My, Flynt is running it as a public
service ?

Mr. Osanga. The attorney for the National Committee on Child
Abuse told me it is being paid for, paid for in all the publications that
are using it.

Mr. Asmeroox. Thank you. That is all the questions I have.

My, Conyers. Thank you, Professor Osanka. Your testimony has
been very helpful. We will incorporate all the additional materials
that you have submitted here. We would hope that you will stay in
touch with us as we try to develop this on the Federal point of view
to a state which it has not reached before. We appreciate your being
our leadoft witness. - ‘

Mr. Osanka. I am at your disposal at any time.

My, Coxyers. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Osanka follows:]

SPATEMENT BY FRANK OSANKA, ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR OF S0CTAL JUSTICE AND
Socroroay, Lewis UNIVERSITY, GLEN BELLYN, ILL.

INTRODUCTION

The act and the depletion of the act of children in explicit sexual interaction
is a clear case of child abuse and/or child negleet. Bxisting child abuse and
negleet statutes should be strengthened to provide strong criminal penalties for
all adult participants, from the cameraperson to the “adult” bookstore clerk, The
law should he so specific that even the act of selling such pornography be inter-
preted as a party to child abuse and negleet. I realize that these are extreme
measures, but the socially corrupting nature of child pornography and the current
inability of the criminal justice system to stop it, demand strong protective
legislation. In my view, a person who purchases child pornography is a party
to child abuse since his purchase will insure a profit for the pornographer and
thereby guarantee abuse of additional children through the production of new
items. The purchase is also a reward to the pornographer for the child abuse he
has already commissioned,

The incidences of child sexunl abuse is on the rise in the United States and
this form of social deviance will be made worse by the introduction and wide-
spread distribution of various forms of pornography utilizing children as the
principal sex object. Such materials, in my view, represent a socially-disintegrat-
ing assault upon basic moral principals of American society. More immediate,
child pornography is a clear case of child abuse and neglect with the potential
for immediate and long-term damage to the children, and perhaps the adult
readers, involved.

As a concerned citizen, a responsible scholar, and a startled father of four,
I urge the Congress of the United States to take immediate remedial action to
provide adequate legal provisions guarenteed to secure maximum protection for
American children from this insidious commercial exploitation of children’s
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vulnerabilities, which, at the same time, clearly is child abuse aud/or neglect,
I urge the designer of such legislation to go to great length to insure that the
sexual use of children in pornography be viewed ag child abuse and/or negleet.
H.R, 3913 (“Child Abuse Prevention Act”), which is now under consideration by
the U.8, Congres, seems §0 directed.

Legislation must take care to word protective laws regarding the sexual abuse
of children in pornography with such preecision that time-consuming, and often
futile, debates on the prevailing definitions of obscenity and pornography be
avoided.! Such debates do not provide protection for the vietimized and often
traumatized child. Lhe sexual abuse of children in pornography is demonstratably
child abuse and neglect and/or is a clear danger to the dependent children
involved and to tthe basic moral fiber of the American society, Children in
American society are conditioned to obey adulls and very young children opera-
tionally do not have the right of refusal. Persons wiio coerce children into porno-
graphic activities are violating the civil rights of these children. The sexual
abuse of children for commercial pornographic purposes is not guaranteed by
the first amendment, Some may debate the degree of obscenity that is.involved
in the sexual exploitation of children, but none can deny that such insidious
manipulations are clearly child abuse and/or neglect, ]

Offenders under this definition must be vigorously pursued and severely puu-
ished. While I personally favor clinical treatment of individual child sexual
molesters, 1 urge the provision of strong penaltieg for American pornogravhers
convicted of using children in pornography. Further, serious penalties should be
provided for the importation and exploitation of child pornography. In brief,
protective legislation in thig area must take the profit out of child pornography.
It is not social or cultural need, but individual greed that has given birth to the
wholesale introduction of child pornography. In my view, Ellen Goodman's words
reflect the majority opinion of Americans when she sayx ““This is not a first
amendment, issue. It is not a matter of legislating the sexnal fantasies of adults.
It's u matter of protecting the }¥ses of the young models. (Chicago Sun-Times,
Mar. 15, 1977. p. 32.)

I suspect that child pornographers b Je that the judicial justice system gets
bogged down in lengthy debate over the first amendment and obscenity definitions
thereby postpening (perhaps for years), meaningful action against child pornog-
raphy. The result, of course, will be an avalanche of depictions of the sexual
abuse of children.

With all due respect to men and women legislators, I would urge you to
avoid the very understandable inclination to decline from a personal examina-
tion of representative samples of child pornography. It is a painful, sickening,
and often very sad experience, but you are obligated to be satisfied in your own
mind that none of this material realistically contains any cultural or scientific
value, Through such an examination, you will fully appreciate the challenging
psychological and social implication of most examples of child pornography.

On TFebruary 4, 1977, Dr. Judianne Densen-Gerber and I held a closed press
conference in the Bxecutive House in Chicago (Attachment IT), The assembled
newspersons, many of them hardened veterans of the “crime beaf,” reacted
emotionally by expressing shoek and verbalizing anger. Indeed, a tape recording
of the press conference indicates that one Chimugn Sun-Times columnist and
popular “talk show” hostess said, “I'd like to just »%y that it is the worst thing
T have ever seen in my entire life and I wish they (child pornographers) were
all dead.

After the press econference, many of the assembled newspersons expressed their
concerns in their respective media and some beeame active crusaders for public
awareness and public demand for protective legislation against the sexual moles-
tation of children. For example, the people in the Chicagoland area owe a debt
of gratitude to Roger Simon of the Chicago Sun-Times (Attachment IIT), Mike
Kline of the Chicago Sun-Times (Attachment IV), Bob Wiedrich of the Chicago
Tribune (Attachment V), and the Chicago Tribune’s child pornography/prostitu-
tion investigntive team made up of George Bliss, Michael Sneed and Ray Moseley
(Attachment VI).

1H.B. 286 recenily passed by the Illinols Genernl Assembly is already showing the
potential for endless debate (Attachment I).
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Responsible citizens have learned of child pornography and have demonstrated
ileir disapproval through press conferences/TV/radio® and by physically dem-
onstrating outside or “adult bookstores” that sell child pornography. The press
has investigated and responsibly reported ithis new form of social degeneratness.
The elected legislation must act now! In my view, local® state, and federal legis-
latoi.. must now take the ball and run toward the goal of adequate protection
for children from sexual exploitation and provide strong criminal penalties for
all guilty of this rew form of child abuse.

NATURE 0F CHILD PORNOGRAPIHY IN AMERICA

I began resrarching sexual abuse of children last year in seeking dats for my
special 3-credit hour course at Lewis University (Glen Ellyn, Ill.) entitled, “Child
Abuse and Neglect Prevention and Treatment.” Scholacly research into the sexual
abuse of childven usually takes into consideration intra-family sexual abuse
(incest), molestation by strangers, and child prostitution. However, in the last
two rears, there has been a massive introduction of pornographic materials
depicting children in explicit sexual acts with each other and with adults. Such
materials constitute a fourth, and heretofore unsuspected, type of sexual abuse
of children. Many of my social justice students are active law enforcement offi-
cials and they began to buing confiscated examples of c¢hild pornography to class.
My research and their samples so startled me that I initiated my own public
awareness campaign through radio and television “talk shows” and through
cooperation with the newspapers and law enforcement agencies (Attachment
VII). More shocking than even the erass nature of the child pornography itself
was the discovery that there is a total lack of protective laws or that the existing
laws are so vague that meaningful prosecution is not possible.

My aim was and is to heighten public awareness, mobilize public disappreval
against the child pornographer, and to urge voters to demand the enactment of
protective legislation.

Let’s be clear what we are talking about. I am referring to books, pamphlets,
playing cards, and 8mm films which vividly depict children in sexual poses
and/or in explicit sexual acts with each other or with adults. Much of the mate-
rials have clear themes of sado-masochism. The pamphlet “Child Discipline” is
n prime example of this theme. “Child Discipline” advocated adult sexual satis-
faction through the spanking of children. It provides both written and pictorial
depictions of adults spanking children.

ATTACHMENTS

a Attachment I: House Bill 286, Illinois General Assembly and news clips about
e same.

Attachment II: Closed Press Conference and Anti-child Pornography Pro-
testers in 'Chieago, February 1977, news clips. (Retained in commibtee files.)

Attachment IIX: Roger Simons Chicago Sun-Times articles on séxual abuse
of children, (Retained in committee files.)

Attachment IV: Mike Kline’s Chicago Sun-Times articles on sexual abuse of
children. (Retained in committee files.) :

Attachment V: Bob Wiedrich's Chicago Tribune articles on sexual abuse of
teenage runaways. (Retained in committee files.)

Attachment VI: Chicago Tribune's child pornography/prostitution series writ-
ten by George Bliss, Michael Sneed, and Ray Mosley. (Retained in committee
files.) )

2 Please see Attachment VII for a st of radio/TV who ¢ooperated in public awareness
in Chicago. S%ecinl credit should go to Steve Hdwards and his “AM Chicago” (WLS-
TV-ABC). “AM Chicngo” featured Dr. Judiannne Densen-Gerber twice, members of the
Rape Study Committee, Illinois General Assembly; Representatlve Ronald Sterney;
Chicago Tribune's Michae! Sneed and George Bliss and Frank Osanka and “Sheilla” a
semgxl; um}ie victim, and the chairman of the Illinois General Assembly Subzommittee
on seenity,

2 Both acting Mayor Michael Bilandle and Alterman Edward M. Burke (14-Ward)
have drafted protective city ordinances. The Chicago Admlinistration this month closed
down the 384 adult book stores through strict enforcement of existing building codes
(Attachment IX).

A\
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Attachment VII: Methiods used by Frank Osanka to create public awareness,
public -concern, and public action regarding the sexual abuse of children,
mAﬁguchment VIII Ads for chlldren m pornography. (Retained in comnuttee

es, :

Attachment iX: Drafts of protective city ordinances authored by Acting
lclfxiyor Michael Bilandie and Alderman Bdward M. Burke (14th Ward) of

hicago,

Attachment X: Samples of “Chester The Molestel” monthly series from
Hustler Magazine. (Retained in .committee files.)

Attachment XTI :°Child Victims: “The Boys Who Sell Their Bodies.” (Retained
in committee files.)

Attachment XII: Dr. Judianne Densen-Gerber, National Leader Against the
Use of Children in Pornography—Kids in Porn: How Big Is the Threat?’ (Re-
taineéd in committee files.)

Attachment XII1: Chicago Opinion: Letters to the editor and editorials, Chi-
cago Tribune and Chicago Sun-Times.

ArTacHMENT I
HOUSE BILL 286 (ILLINOTS), AND NEWS CFIPS ABOUT THE SAME
80th General Assembly, State of I1linois—1977 and 1378

.- Introduced February 10, 1977, by Stearney, McAuliffe, Jane Barnes, Friediand,
‘Geo-Karis, Boucek, Huff, Hudson, Lucco, Abramson, Anderson, Antonovych, Bar-
tulis, Beatty, Brady, andt Oaldwell Camphell, Capparelli, Collins, Conti, Cun-
ningham, Daniels, Dawson, De'avers, DxPrima, Domico, Duyle, Ebbesen, Farley,
Friedrich, Gaines, Giglio, Hoffman, Dan Houlihan, Emil Jones, Dave Jones, Keats,
Kempinerg, Kozubowski, Kucharski, Leinenweber, Luft, Matejek, Mautino,
McLendon, ‘McMaster, Meyer, Molly, Mudd, Mulcahey, Nardulli, Neff, Polk,
Porter, Pouncey, Rigney, Ryan, Schoeberlein, Schupeman, Sharp, Simms, Skinner,
Stanley, E. G, Steele, Taylor, Terzich, T1p>wmd, Totten, Tuerk, Van Duyne,
‘Winchester, Wolf, Lechowiez.

Synopsis: Amends the Criminal Code of 1961 and ithe Unified Code of Correc-
tions to create and specify the penalty for the offense of obscenity involving a
minor and to provide that persons convicted of that offense may not be sentenced
to probation, periodic imprisonment or eondxtxonal discharge. Effective im-
medmtely )

AN ACT in relation to obscenity involving dﬂ. minor, umending certnin Acts herein
name

Be it enacted by the People o'j" the State of Illinois, represented 'm the Gen-
eral Assembly:
Section 1. Section 11—"0& is added to the “Criminal Code of 1981”, approved

July 28, 1961, as amended, tlie added Section to read as follows:

{Ch. 88, new par. 11—20{1)

Sec. 11-20a. Obscenity Involving @ Ainor, (@) Elements of the Offense.

A person commits obscenity involving a minor when:

(1) with knowledge of the nature or content thereof, or recklessly failing to
exercise reasonable inspection 1which would huove disclosed the nature or con-
tent thereof, he: -

(4) Sells, delivers or provides, or offers or agrees tao sell, deliver or pro-
vide angy obscene writing, pictur e, record or other r eprcscntatwn or embodi-
ment of the obscene: or .

(B) Presents or directs an obscene play, dance or other performance or
participntes directly in that portion thereof which makes i1 obscene; or

(C) Publishes, exhivits or otherwise makes availaple enything obscene,
or

(D) Performs an obscenc act or otherwise presents an obscene exhibition

“of his body for gain,; or
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L

(F) Creates, buys, procurcs or possesses obscene matter or material with
intent to disseminate it in violation of this Section, or of the penal laws or
regulations of eny other jurisdiction; or . L :

(') Advertises or otherwise promotes the sale of material represented
or held out by him to be obscene, whether or not it is obscene; and

(2) the matter or performance ellecged obscene has as one of the participants
or portrayed obscrvers a minor who is pre-pubescent or made to appear as such.

(b) Definitions. : : R

(1) Matter, in whaetever form, and a performance whether live, cinematic or
over broadcast media, of whatever nature, is “obscene” for purposes of this
Section if:

(A) it contains depictions or descriptions of sexual conduct which are
patently offensive; and : c

(B) taken as a whole, the average person, applying coniemporary stand-
ards of the State, would find it has as its dominant theme an appeal to
prurient interest; and

(C) taken as @ awhole, it lacks serious literary, artistic, eZucational,
political or scientific purpose or value,

(2) “Seaxunal conduct” includes any of the following:

(4) scwual intercourse, which for purposes of this Section includes any
intercourse which is normal or perverted, actuel or simulated;

(B) deviate sexual conduct as defined in Section 11-2 of this Act;

(0) acts of masturbation; .

(D) acts of sadomasochistic abuse, which includes but is not limited to
(1) flagellation or torturé by or upon any person who i8 nude or clad in
undergarments or in a costume which 48 of a revéaling nature or (2) the
condition of being fettered, bound or otherwise physically restrained on the
part of one who 48 nude or so clothed; :

(E) acts of excretion in @ sexual context; or

(F") ewxhibition of post-pubertal humaen genitals or pubic areas.

The above types of post conduct in subsections (b) (2) (4) through (F')
-are intended to include situations where, when appropriate to the type of con-
duct, the conduct is performed alone or between members of the same or 0ppo-
site sex or between humans or animals in an act of apparent sexual stimulation
or gratification. A thing is obscene cven though the obscenity 18 latent; as in
the cese of undeveloped photogrephs. : .

(¢) Interpretation of Bvidence. : !

Obscenity shall be judged with reference to ordinary adults, except that it
shall be judged with reference to children or other specially susceptible audi-
ences if it appears from the character of the material or the circumstances of
its dissemination to be specidlly designed for or directed io such an audience.

Where circumstances of production, presentation, sale, dissemination, distri-
bution, or publicity indicate that material is ‘being commercially exploited for
the sole of its prurient appeal, such evidence is probative with respect to the
natwre of the matter and can justify the conclusion that the matier is without
serious literary, artistic, educational, politicel, or scientific purpose or value.

In any prosecution for an offense under this Section evidence shall be admis-
sible to show: - i : .

(1) The character of the audience for which the material was designed or to
awhich it was directed ; : :

(2) What the predominant appeal of the material would be for ordinary
adulis or a speciel audience, and what effect, if any, it would probadly have on
the behavior of such people;

- (8). The artistic, literary, scientifie, educational or other merits of the ma-
terial, or absence thereof;

(4) The degree, tf any, of public acceptance of the material in this State;

(5) Appeal to pruricat interest, or absence thereof, in advertising or other
promotion. of the material;

(6) Purpose of the author, creator, publisher or disseminator.

(d) Sentence. :

Obscenity involving o minor is a Class } felony. A second or subsequent
offense is @ Olass 3 felony.

(e) Prima Facie evidence.

The creation, purchase, procurement or possession of a mold, engraved plate
or other embodiment of obscenity specially adapied for reproducing multiple
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copics, or the possession of more than 3 copies .of obscene matcrzal shall be
prima facie evidence of an intent to dzssemmate L o

(f) Afirmative Defenses. -

It shall be an affirmative defense to obscenity that the dnssemmatmn was to
institutions or individuals having . scientific or other spemal justification for
possession of such material.

Section 2. Section 5-5-3 of the “Unified Code of Gorrectxons” approved July
26, 1972, as amended, is amended to read as follows ¥

( Ch. 3§, par. 1005-5-3) :

Sec. 5-5-3. (D1sposmon ) () Every person convmted of an offensge ﬂmn be
sentenced as provided in this Section, except in cases of mu1de1 to. whlch Sec—
tion 5-8~1A of this Code is applicable.

(b) When a defendant ig found guilty of murder the State shall seek a man-
datory death sentence under Section 5-8-1A of this Code. If the detendant does
not receive a mandatory death sentence as a result of the proceeding and
decision under Section 5-8-1A of this Code the trial court shall senteuce the
defendant under palagmph (d) of this Section.

{c¢) In any case in which a sentence originally imposed or 1ecommended by a
jury is vacated, the case shall be remanded to the trial court, The trial court
shall hold a hearing under Section 5-4-1 of the Unified Code of Corrections
which may include evidence of the defendant’s life, moral character and occu-
pation during the time since the original sentence was passed. The trial court
shall then impose sentence upon-the defendant. The trial court may impose.any
sentence which the jury could have imposed or, recommended at the orwmal
trial subject to Section 5-5-4 of the Unified Code of Corrections.

(d) When a defendant is convicted of a felony or misdemeanor, the comt may
senfence such defendant to:

(1) a peuod of probation, a term of periodic imprisonment or condltlonal dls-
charge except in eases of murder, rape, armed violence, armed robbery, violation
of Sections 401(a), 402(a), 405(:1) or 407 of the Illinois Confrolled Sub-
stances Act or violation of Section 9 of the Cannabis Control Act or a violation
of Section 11-20¢ or Section 24-1(a) (4), (5), (6), (8), or (10) of The
Criminal Code of 1961;

(2) a term of imprisonment;

(3) a fine. However, a fine shall not be the sole disposition in felony cases
nor in cases of a violation of Section 24—1({1) (4), (B), (6), (8) or (10) of The
Criminal Code of 1961 but may be imposed in such cases only in addition to an-
other disposition under pamgraph {d) of this Section,

(e) When a defendant is convicted of a business offense or a petty offense, the
court may sentence such defendant to:

(1) a period of conditional discharge;

(2) a fine. :

(f) When 8 corporation or an unincorporated association is con‘ncted of an
offense, the court may sentence it to:

(1) a period of conditional discharge; ---

(2) a fine.

(g) In no case shall an offender bié eligible for a disposition of probation or
conditional discharge for a Class 1 felony committed while he was serving a
term of probation or eonditional discharge for a felonv

(h) This Article shall not deprive a court in other proceedings to order a
forfeiture of property, to suspend or cancel a license, to remove a person from
office, or to impose any other civil penalty.

Section 3 This amendatory Act takes effect upon its becoming a law

[From Chicago Datly News, Mar. 25, 1977]
Irrivois House OK’s JAwn TERM ror CHILD PoORW
(By Diane Monk)

SPRINGFIELD, JIL.—A prison ferm would be mandatory for any person convicted
of producing, selling or delivering pornography depicting children, under legisla-
tion approved by the House.

The vote was 152 to 4 Thursday in favor of a bill sponsored by Rep. Ronald
A. Stearney (R-Chicago).
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If the bill, which now goes to the Senate, becomes law, it would create the new
erime of *“obscenity involving a minor.” Included under the umbrella of poten-
tially obscene materials 'would be not only photographs and films, but als live
performances and written descriptions of sexual conduct.

The penalty for conviction would be 1 to 8 years.in prison and a fine of up to
$25,000 for a first offense and 1 to 10 years in prison-and a fine of up to $50,000
for subsequent offenses. ’ : :

An amendment tacked onto Stearney’s bill Wednesday in the House expanded
the definition of obscenity involving a minor to include pornographic material
depicting not only children but also any person who is ‘“pre-pubescent or ap-
pears as such.”

Illinois hasn’t had any obscenity law on the books since last June, when its
existing law was struck down as unconstitutional by a panel of federal ourt
Judges. :

AgHouse subcommitee has been studying the problem of obscenity and is ex-
pected to make recommendations about new laws later this year.

Stearney is a member of the subcommittee, but he decided not to wait for it to
eomplete its work before introducing legislation designed to crack down on the
widely publicized problem of child pornography.

Stearney assured the House Thursday that he believed his bill to be constitu-
tional, although the measure’s few opponents argued that it would violate the
right to free speech.

However, the emotional nature of the debate on the bill both in committee and
on the House floor made it clear that constitutionality wasn’t the issue uppermost
in the minds of most lawmakers.

Rep. Thomas W. Ewing (R-Pontiac), one of the 152 who voted for the bill,
summed up the attitude of the majority when he declared, “Let’s pass the bill and
if it’s not constitutional, let the court strike it down,” -

[Erom Chicago Sun-Times, Mar. 25, 1877]
CHILD-PORNOGRAPHY BaN OK'p 1N HoUSE

SeriNerIELD, 111 —Legislation designed to curb child pornography sailed through
the Illinois House Thursday on a 152-to-4 vote and was sent to the Senate.

The measure, sponsored by Rep. Ronald A. Stearney (R-Chicago), would pro-
vide up to three years in prison and up to a $25,000 fine for persons convicted
of obscenity involving a minor, :

Repeat offenders would be subject to up to 10 years in prison and up fo a
$50.000 fine, : -

The bill would cover the production, distribution, advertisement and sale of
material depicting youngsters in sexually explicit activity.

[From Chlcago Sun-Times, Mar. 30, 19771
LETTERS )

PORNO LAW UNSOQUND

Last week the Illinois House voted to define the new crime of obscenitv involy-
ing a minor (HB 286). Predictions are that the bill will pass the Senatr with no
difficulty. This is something the Legislature should have done long ago—hefore
pornography purveyors discovered the child porno market. This mueh is ~lear.

What is less clear is whether we'll be better off. In the opinion of a nate? con-
stitutional attorney whom I consulted, there are several grounds. none of which
have anything to do with free speech, on which the courts are likely tn th~ = ont
the new law. There are serious constitutional defects in the hill s #* now
stands—defects having to do with the rights of the defendants. .

T offered several amendments to try to remedy these defeets. hut withom* ych
snuceess, There are still serious defects. I predict there will never he 5 are ~ined
conviction for obscenity involving a minor resulting from the rassa~e - HB




o e TR s

RN

i

i

25

286 .t is a waste of time at best and a fraud upon the public at worst to “pass

the ill now and if it's not constitutional, let the courts strike it down’ in, the

woi . s of one of the bill's proponents. .
' Rep., Woops BOWALAN,

-11th District,

[From Chicago Tribune, Apr. 3, 1077]
WASTE-OF-TIME - Biny'

( Au0—~Recently the Illinois House voted to define the new crime of ob-
sce in,olving a minor (HB 286). Predictions are that the bill will pass the
Se1  + with no difficulty. This is something the Illinois legislature should have
dol nmg ago—Dbefore pornography purveyors discovered the child porno market.
Th* . .uch is clear. . :
1t is less élear is whether we'll be better off, In the opinion of a noted con-
stit  ©nal attorney whom I consulted, there are several grounds, none of which
has  aything to do with free speech, on which the courts ave likely to throw out
the 2w law. There are serious constitutional defects in the bill as it now stands—
def -ghaving to do with rights of defendants. ~

1 ffered several amendments to try to remedy these defects but without much
suc  s8, There are still serious defects. I predict there will never be a sustained
con ‘ tion for obscenity involving a minor resulting from the passage of HB
28 *is a waste of time at best and a fraud upon the public at worst to “pass
the ill now and if it’s not constitutional, let the courts strike it down,” in the
words of one of the bill’s proponents.

-

Woops BOWMAN,
Representative, 11tk Digtrict, [llinois General Assembly.

[From Chicago Sun-Times, Apr. 4, 1977]
No PorN LAw NEEDED

Now we are being told that as a deterrent to cliild pornography there i a bill
beig introduced to link it to organized c¢rime, which may or may not be the
case. Yet, this would only hinder the elimination of this hideous practice.

Ia Illinois, as in most states, there are already laws agninst taking indecent
liberties with children, There are also laws that state “anyone having prior
knowledge of a crime to be committed is guiity of being an accessory before
the fact,” that “anyone having knowledge of a crime and either aids, abets,
solicits or attempts to aid such other persons in the commission of such an act,
is also accountable for such offense.”

This clearly does not involve any infringemernt of First Amendment rights.
Why waste time with new laws? Let's enforce the ones we have, laws against
indecent liberties, child abuse, negligence and lewd and lascivious acts. These
are sufficient. )

MicHAEL J. LEWIs,

ATTACHMENT VII

{Methods used by Prof. Frank Osanka to ecreate pu'blic awareness, public con-
cern, and public action regarding the sexual abuse of c¢hildren)

[From Joliet (Ill.) Catholle Bxplorer, May 27, 1877]
OsANkA TESTIFIES ON SEXUAL ABUSE of CHILDREN

Looxrort.~U.S. Representative Peter W, Rodino, Jr. (D., N.T.), chairman of
the House Judiciary Committee, announced May 15 in Washington that ha has
ordered hearings on'the exploitation of children in pornogiaphy and prostitution.
On May 17, Professor Frank Osanka of Lewis University accepted the Houge

Judiciary Committee’s invitation to be the lead-off witness of the Hearings which
began Monday morning, May 23,
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Prof. Osanka began researching sexual abuse of children last year in seeking
data for his special course entitled “Child Abuse and Neglect Prevention and
Treatment,” the only course of its kind in the United States. .

Osanka discovered that only six of the states have laws specifically prohibitin
the use of minors in an obscene performance, and tests of ithese statutes showed
them to be too weak for meaningful prosecution.

In addition, to discovering how widespread exploitation of children in pornog-
raphy and prostitution is. Osanka was so startled by the lack of protective laws
that he initiated a public awareness campaign. Osanka felt Americans would
demand positive corrective action if they became aware of the nature and exten-
siveness of sexual exploitation of children, particularly commercial use of pre-
teens in sexual scenes on playing cards, in picture magazines, and in 8mm movies.

According to Osanka, “The only reason that the public is not aware of this
gocial cancer is because most people simply do not enter the so-called “adult

boolkstores.” The only reason I learned of child pornography is because many of’

my Social Justice students af Lewis University are full-time law enforcement
officials. Normal people have to just see a little of this trash to become a erusader:
against it.”

Osanka’s public awareness campaign is designed to bring voter pressure on
State and federal legislators to create an enact law protecting both children and
society from this kind of exploitation.

His first step was to organize a joint press conference in February with his
friend Dr. Judianne Densen-Gerber, President, Odyessey Institute of New York.
Osanka and Gerber showed examples of the smut using children to the gathered
press. These materials are available in Illinois and other states. .

Prof. Osanka later provided expert testimony before the Illinois House of Rep-
representatives Judiciary Special Subcommittee on Obscenity, organized protest
pickets outside of Chicago “adult bookstores” which openly sold ehild pornography
and made himself available for newspaper interviews which resulted in stories
about the sexual abuse of children in the Chicago Tribune, Chicago Sun-Times,
Springfield Journal-Register, and the Bloomington, Indiana Sunday Herald-
Telegraph. ’

Osanka has cooperated in law enforcement and Chieago Tribune investigations:
of the sexual exploitation of children in pornography and prostitution.

At the invitation of Alderman Edward M. Burke (14th ward), Osanka will
provide expert festimony on child pornography in hearings before the Chicago
City Council which will begin in late May.

[¥From Jolet (Iil,) Herald-News, Nov. 14, 1876]
Perrrion SEEKS CABINET POST TO -REPRESENT OHILDREN
(By Barbara Mayer)

Cara Bashold lived only three days, but her teagic death ecould have repercus-
sions for millions of American children.

Cara, the 3-day-old New York City infant who was devoured by a starved
German Shepherd Sept. 6, has become a symbol for a nationwide petition drive.

Pointing to Cara’s death as “a tragic and outrageous statement about the indif-
ference of our social institutions,” 56 prominent Americans are seeking support
for a Cabinet post to represent children’s interests.

They hope to collect a million signatures to give to President-elect Jimmy
Carter for inclusion in his January inaugural address.

One of the leaders of the drive is Franklin Mark Osanka, associate professor
and undergraduate director of the Institute for Studies in Social Justice at Lewis
University.

Osanka participated in a conference Sept. 18 in Philadelphia called to draft g

“Declaration of Interdependence for Children” modeled on the historic declara-

tion of 1776..

“The idea of o children's Bill of Rights is obviously a prblic relations effort,”
Osanka explained, “But it’s not a gimmick—it's meant to nonviolently alei't
people to the problem of child abuse and give concerned persons a chance to
express themselves.”
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Why is a Bill of Rights needed? Because ithere are too many children like
Cara Bashold, like Johnny Lindquist, who slip through the fingers of social agen-
cies designed to help them.

“HEW (Department of Health, Education and Welfare) figures indicate that
perhaps five children a day perish and 12 a day suffer permunent brain damage
directly related to child abuse,” Osaka said.

And there are other grim statistics:

Seventeen million children (one out of every four) live in poverty.

As high as 5 percent of the nation’s children are incest victims.

The United States ranks 16th in the world’s infant mortality rate, S4th
for its nonwhite population.

Three-fourths of the 1.7 million mentally retarded children in Aiherica
live in slums. .

Less than 10 percent of the children afilieted with mental health problems
receive help.

Osanka, who teaches courses in child abuse and neglect at Lewis, has a special
empathy with neglected children. Orphaned at the age of 3, he lived in 14 foster
homes as a ward of Cook County. -

He notes child abuse is a widespread problem aﬂectlng people of every -socio-
economic level-—“It's not just the oddball down ithe stleet It’s everybody’s
problem.”

Abuse can be blatant—scalding a baby or pushing a toddler down the stairs—
or sué)tl%ignoring a child or instilling him with a defeatist, negative view of the
worl

“Verbal abuse—constantly calling a child negative names-—results in o negative
self image and feelings of inferiority,” says Osanka. “In some cases, it can give
the child a license to be deviant.

“Parents who emotionally abuse their children often provide a totally negative
emotional environment. They may fight all the time, tell the child it's a dog-
eat-dog world, teach him to assume that everyone is bad. This kind of home pro-
duces the mstmet to shoot first and ask question later.”

Only the more blatant cases of abuse generally come to the attention of law-
makers. The subtler forms are extremely hard to identify, Osanka said.

“There’s a lot of gray area because we're talking ahout the development of &
human being, a future adult. We're talking about how that person is conditioned
to view the.world.”’

He points out there’s evidence that Lee Harvy Oswald, Sirhan Sirhan, Clmrles
Manson and John Wilkes Booth learned violent behavior patteris early in child-
hood as a way of geftmg attention from their parents and other adults,

“What we're doing is allowing adults to produce criminals, to produce socio-
paths and psychopaths who will prey owsociety,” lie said. ‘

Osanka contends that while there has been much progress in the aren of child
abuse reporting and preventlon, inuch more needs to be done,

“In every staie there is some new child abuse and negleet reporting law,” he
said. “Teachers and physicians are required by law to report. and investigate cases
of abuse and neglect,

“Hotline systems: have been fairly effective and groum like Parents Anony-
mous are doing o great deal to reduce the incidence.of abuse, probhably much
more than the official bureaucracy. The problem is we don’t have enough people
in the Department of Children and Family Services to handle all the cases, and
our court referral system is not adquately equipped to prov1de therapy for abusive
parents.”

Osanka believes more education for parenthood is needed, and says parents
must be made to realize children are not their property.

“Does the hearing of a ¢hild insure the right of treating the child in a lesg than
human way?” he asks. “Becaunse of the widespread notion that children are their
parents’ property, the public has been hesitant to interfere. People are much
quicker to report the abuse of an animal than the abuse of a child.

“Mayhe children ought to have a right to divorce their parents, In some cases,
society should be able to intervene and sever the rights of those parents to the
children.”

The petition drive is enlisting the support of ¢ ymmunity organizations like the
League of Women Voters and Parents Anonymous to reach persons concerned
abont children’s problems,
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Anyone interested in signing a petition or participating in any way may contact
Osanka at 838-0500, Ext. 335.

[From Bloomington (Ind.) Sunday Herald, Mar. ¢, 1977]
CHILDREN IN PORNOGRAPHY
SOCIOLOGIST CONDEMNS INCREASE OF NEW ‘CHILD ABUSE' FORM
(By Holly Stocking)

The use of children in explicit sexual materials is on the increase, according
to an Illinois sociologist.

Children as young as three and four years old are being photographed as they
engage in sex acts with other children and with adults, he says. And the pictures
are being sold in magazines, pamphlets, and 8 mm films in major cities across the
country.

¥rank Osanka, associate professor of socml justice at Lewis University in
Glen Tliyn, IiL, says use of children in erotic literature and films represents a
relatively new, but apparently growing trend in adulf materials.

And he is deeply concerned—not only because of the possibility of negative
impaet on children, but also because of the effects he fears such materials will
be on some. of the people who view them. Moreover, he wants something to be
done about it.

“It's absolutely tragic and ferrible,” Osankn said during an interview at the
Tixecutive Inn. Not onlv do these materials show children- engaged in gexual
activities, but “it’s clear,” he said, “thut they have been involved in this sort of
thing for some time.”

Osankn was one of the organizers of a recent natienwide demonstration against
the use of children in pornography, and he has appeared ag an expert witness In
henrings on obscenity and pornography before the Illinois General Assembly.

He teaches a course on child abuse, and his students, many of them law enforce-
ment officinls, have brought to his attention o number of films, magfu:ines and
pawmphlets making use of children as subjects,

Some of the magazines are from Europe, some appear to be from the Far ast,
and inereasing numbers are from California and New York, according to Osanka.
And they show chlidren engaging in a wide range of sex-related activities.

Among the worst, Osanka says, is a publication called Qhild Discipline which
the sociologist describes as a primer for adults who want to get sexual gratifica-
tion from beating their children,

The publication reportedly shows pictures of adults getting sexual satisfaction
by spanking, hitting, and otherwise physically assaulting youngsters,

Osanka attributes the proliferation of such materials, in part, to an influx
from other countries. But he also attributes if to mmmtmg pmblems thh state
obseenity statutes.

In Illinois, for example, he says that the obscenity law has been declared un-
constitutional on the basis of vagueness, with the result that there is no longer
o law againgt obscenity, in the state.

In effect, he says, this means that anything goes, at least for the time being.
All of the materials he mentioned are sold over-the-counter without apparent
fear of prosecution.

(Osanka, a soft-spoken father of four, says the use of children in sexual-mate-
rialg is a “clear case of child abuse.” : :

“Children deserve a better break,” he says with quiet intensity. “They have
the right to be raised as normal human beings in so far as that is possible.

“If they want to become abnormal later on, that’s their own choice . . . but
kids Qon't have the intellectual ecapacity to make such judgments, They just
don’t have any choice in these areas.”

Osanka sald one way to confrol such activitieg is to strengthen child abuse
laws so as to make involvement of children in explicit sexual acts a criminal
offense.

Another alternative, he says, is to license media which portray children.

The soclologist says he is awave that such a proposal has serigus 1mphc1t10ns
for First Amendment freedoms, but it is his belief “that our founding fathers, in
gunrnnteeing free speech, clearly did not mean to protect people involved in this
kind of activity.”

g,
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Osanka's concerns extend not only to children who are subjects of such mate-
rials, but also to people who purchase and use them.

The very existence of materials of this-nature legitimizes them in the mind of
some users, he contends, and there exists a danger that sexual abuse of children
will become “a social norm by default.” )

At the very least, he believes, potential problems associated with such literature
ought to be brought before governmental bodies and diseussed in “a rational,
O%jetztti\'e manner” with an eye toward creating laws to cope with any undesirable
effects.

One stumbling block to solutions at the moment, he says, is & lack of public
awareness. “Most people simply don’t frequent these places,” he says, referrving
to adult bookstores.

In Bloomington, a reporter located one magazine which advertised ‘“naked
children” on it$ cover. It was to College St. Adtut Books at the corner of 14th St.
and College Ave, ) -

However, none of the more explicit materials described by Osanka were located,
either there or in The Library bookstore at 206 B. Seventh St., or Danish Treats
at 501 N, College Ave. The Pegasus Adult Bookstore at 228 1V, Sixth St,, was
closed.

The salesclerk at The Library, when asked if he had any materialy featuring
children under 14, said “No, the heat’'s on in that area.”

The man indicated that the “heat” was on a national level, suggesting that
perhaps recent efforts by Osanka and others were beginuing to take effect.

“’il‘he owners don’t want us to go beyond the typical teenage stuft,” the clerk
saic

Osanka said he was gratified to learn that his efforts might be having some
impact. But he added that “unfortunately, such effects are probably shortlived.”

Osanka was in Bloomington attending a workshop on child neglect and abuse
sponsored by the Department ,of Specml Hdueation and the Deveiopmenfal
Training Center at IU, the Council for Exceptional Children, and the National
Center on Child Abuse and Neglect.

He will discuss children in pornography on a midnight-to-3 a.m. radio talk show
on Monday. The program will be broadeast over WLS out of Chicago.

Arracumeyt IX

(Drafts of protective city ordinances anthored by Acting Mayor Michael Bilandie
and Alderman Edward M. Burke (14-Ward) of Chicago)

Morrex o AMEND

Move to amend said substitute ordinance amending Chapter 192 of the Muni.
cipal Code of Chicago by adding the Iollowmg' paragraph to Section 192-10.2:
192-10.2.

If, upon conviction of any person found in violation of Sections 192-9,
192-10, 192-10.1, 192-10.4 or 192-10.5, the court finds that the material
depicts or porfrays persons of pre-pubescent years, then said person found
in violation of said sections shall be fined in an amount not less than five
thundred dollars nor more than one thousand dollars or be imprigoned for
a period not exceeding six months or be both so fined and imprisoned.

Epwanrp M. BURKE,
Alderman, 1)th Ward.

AmrAcuMENT XIII

(Chicago opinion: Letters to the Iiditor and editorials, Chicago Tribune and
Chicago Sun-Tines)

[Froia Clifeago Tribune, May 19, 19777
THE OHILD PORNOGRAPHY PLAGUE

Rarely hag an investigative reporting series aroused as much shock and disgust
ag the four-day series which The Tribune has just printed on the exploitation of
children by pornographers. Not even the most ardent civil libertarian, not even

93-185—77T——3




30

the boldest ndvocate of 1st Amendment rights, ean reasonably defend conduct
which ecan corrupt a child’s mind and distort his attitude for the rest of his life,

The apparent extent of this new cancer is as shocking as the sickness-of it.
It's especially distressing to learn that much of it originates in Chicago; the
plague might have continued to fester and spread if it had not been for Police
Supt, Roechford’s assignment of a special detail to the matter, and for pohcc
cooperation with The Tribune’s investigative team.

But the unanimity of revulsion, alas, does not translate into a unanimity of
ideas on how to combat the problem. For every suggestion, legalistic objections
and potential obstacles are raised. First Amendment freedoms, privacy, sexual
equality, federal-state relationships, and rules of court involving testimony by
minors, are among the factors c1ted as in one way or another making decisive
and effective action difficult.

This is hand-wringing and soggy defeatism. The corruption of children, whether
for the immediate sexual gratification of the corrupters or for the vicarious grati-
fieation of ofhers through pornographic photographs, is a clear-cut disgrace which
the law should be able to define and deal with if it doesn’t already.

"Phe first thing to recognize is that there are two fronts on which the war must
be fought. On one, the enemy are those who take direct part in the corruption
of young minds and bodies—whetler boys or girls, for homosexuis or hetero-
sexual purposes, for photography or otherwise, '.L‘he second is against the pub-
lishers and distributors who provide a lucm.tue mallxet for wlnt is known as
“chicken'” or “kiddie-porn,”

On the first, we tend to agree with Dlmer Gertz, the civil libertarian lawyer,
who told our 1eportexs that it should be possible to fight the battle by means of
existing laws nad that there is no need for a proliferation of new laws. To
pass more laws than necessary is to cheapen all of them, just as inflation cheap-
eng the dollhr, And lixe most states, Illinois already has a number of laws
invol¥ing the sexual abuse of children; it is a,v1olat10n to take “indecent lib-
arties™ or to “contribute to the dehnquency of a minor.” In general, conviction
requires proof of physical actions. But the “contributing” statute also includes
“any lewd act,” and this ought to include pornographic photography. If the
courts determine otherwise, then legislation may be needed,

But it will be hard to stamp out child pornography as long as there is a
profitable market for it; and despite the objections of libertarians, we can see
no effective way to deal with this except through obscenity laws. So there is
new reason for Illinois to push ahead with a new obscenity law to conform with
the Supreme Court's ruling and to replace the earlier law which was ruled
uncongtitutional.

It's good to see that on the federal level, too, Congxesq has reacted to the
disclosures. Rep. Peter Rodino, chairman of the House Judiciary Committee,
has ordered the crime subcommittee under Michigan Rep. John Conyers to
see what if any federal action may be necessary. Congress could, for example,
extend the Mann Act to prohibit the transportation of males as well as females
across state lines, with emphasis on child pornography.

* Buit as we said, we are not going to measure progress against this plague by
the number of lnws passed; we are going to measure it only hy the results.
So e must look first to the police and the courts, and their job is to figure out
how results fen be nchieved; not to find excuses why they can't. We're not
going to settle for half a job done.

{From Chicago Sun-Times, Feb, 9, 10771
PDox'r CHILDREN COUNT?

Your coverage of “pre-teen porn” prompts this letter,

We supposedly live in a free society for all people. How free are these chil-
dren (who ave little people) being used for porno magazines, films and prostitu-
tion? Is this the future generation being cultivated now? What about laws?
Don't they count for children? When these victims grow into adults, what
then? It will be too late to punish the criminals and undo the damage.

If for some unknown and inecomprehensible reason there are no existing laws
to protect the civil rights of our “little people,” let's get them passed immediately.

Mrs. JEAN SICILTIANO.

ey
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. [Prom Chicago Sun-Times, Feb. 16, 10771
Prove THE WRONG

Tyen more abhorrent to the ideal of free speech than ihe conwcuon of Lavry
Flynt was your editorial “Smut with 6-year-olds.” L'o think that a major news-
paper would advocate censorship in any form was, until your editorial, unthink-
able,

And don’t deny it. You said “the dangers to the children involved . . . ‘C‘lke
it beyond a fxee-speech issue.”

The erime is not the viewing or reading of this material; it is the corrup-
tion of the children. Let the prosecutors prove, and let the juries be convinced,
that the publishers, booksellers and others are abettors or conspirators in the
crimes of contributing to the delinquency of minors and f\ssmﬂ( on minoxs with
intent to gratify sexual desires. The laws are on the books.

NaTry Bunpro, Brownsmllc, Ky.

[From Chicago Tribune, May 381, 1977]
“IIATRED oF CHILDREN"

MorTox GroveE—It is good to see and hear the uproar over the use of children
in the production of pornography. However despicnble this development, though,
it is'merely a surface symptom.

The root of this disease is a growing hatred of children in our society, which
increasingly consider them a burden rather than the treasure they are. The most
dreadful manifestation of this attitude is the willingness to treat unborn babies
as nobt human and to submit them to the abortionist's cruel mstmments, sanc-
tioned by an inhuman legal system.

While the use of children in pornography and prostitution is corr ectly reen
as the equivalent of murder, these children are still alive, and there is hope
that with proper treatment many of them will recover from their nightmare
experiences. There is likewise hope that laws will be enacted to deal with the
beasts who prey upon them.

But aborted children will never recover from 1heu' treatment. Their agonies
are their death agonies. They are runined permanently. But the law calls if
something else than murder and protects the killers rather than the inmocent
victims.

Considered objectively, which is the more barbarie, the more (1e1)1aved the
use of an estimated 100,000 [give or take a few] children in the production of
porno materials, or the Lllhng within the law of millions of unborn babies?

JosErPH R, GILn.

[From Chicago Tribune, May 21, 19771
DrsTroYING CHILDREN

Curcaco.—After reading “Child pornography: sickuess for sale” in The
Tribune May 15, I got pthcqllv ek tayself. IF our laws are £o wealk we can't
fight these terrible things, they should be changed.

Any nation that lets he1 children be destroyed [for as a psyehintrist quoted in
this article stated they are “emotionally and spiritually murdered") will be
severely punished by God. Being a mother of two young children myself, ¥
shuddered when I read of three-year-olds being sold into prostitution and por-
nography. Let's unite to fight tlus terrible evil.

ELAINE SERLAS.

[From Chicago Tribune, June 1, 1977]
CHILD PORN PATRONS

Curcaco.~You should be commended for your coverage of children in pornog-
raphy. Your articles have focused on the pornographers, the children, aud the
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law enforcers campaigning against child porn. But I think you should illuminate
one last facet: the customers of child porn.

Your coverage should shift, Enough about the pornographers and their victims,
What of the growing percentage of the public that patronizes child pornography?
What's their motive? What should be done about them? Congressmen swant
to eriminalize the production of child sex material, but some fear that punish-
ing the buyers of child porn will interfere with the 1st Amendment, The trouble
is, no matter how tough they make it, pornographers will keep produaing if there
are customers who keep on buying.

To deal with child pornography we must understand the motives of thiose
who support, patronize, and further it.

Don CRESTLE.

{From Chicago Sun-Times, Feb, 9, 1977)
Syut wiril G-YEAR-OLDS

A week ago, a state study released here estimated that about 100 Illinois chil-
dren are sexually abused every day.

Later last week, a child-abuse specialist from New York said in Chicago that
many children are “trapped into pornographic filmmaking by unscrupulous
operators and into prostitution by procurers. In some cases, parents offer their
own children to pornographic film producers or combine with their echildren
to make such films.”

To back up her claims, she showed two films: one of sex acts among three
boys aged 11 to 13, another showing acts between a 10-year-old girl and an
8-year-old boy. .

Those degrading films are not uncommon, Others like them, as well as books
on the same theme, can be purchased citywide.

Abhorrent? Very, And more troublesome than the simple PFirst Amendment
question that embroils so much of the debate over “adult” books, magazines and
films, Adults are involved in child-pornography cases, too—but mostly involved
are those making a profit through sexuul exploitation of minors.

Alan Reitman, an Associate divector of the American Civil Liberties Union,
points out the problem: “That stuff is gross ... but I think it's dangerous to
tackle the problem through the mechanism of censorship.” Dangerous indeed.
But what of the dangers to the children involved? They take it beyond a free-
speech issue.

New York lawyer Charles Rembar, who suceessfully defended “Lady Chatter-
ley’s Lover” in obscenity suits during the '60s, makes auother point: “Nobody’s
going to pose these kids if they can’t sell it.” That position, apparently, has
goaded New York State legislators into dvafting a biil that swould provide long
prison terms for anyone produeing, promoting or profiting from pornographic
performances by children.

The constitutionality of some of that may be questioned, but it's beyond
ques_tli)cl)n that the human parasites who profit deserve as much punishment as
possible.

Illinois itself appears to face more gencral child-abuse problems than the
making of movies or magazines. In fact, State Rep. Aaron Jaffe (D-Skokie) is
preparing legislation that would tighten laws on incest and reporting abuse
cases,

But so long as profiteers parade children as young as 5 or 6 before the eam-
eras for sex acts—and get away with it—many of the callous and twisted atti-
tudes that lead to abuse in the first place will continue.

[From Chicago Sun-Times, May 30, 1977]
To Buvers oF CHILD DPonN

FrossMoor—All of the publicity regarding child pornography is necessary
and proper but most of it overlooks the fact that it exists in response to market
demand as much as producer effort. There are those who will vent outrage over
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this phenomenon and who will call for arbitrayy efforts to halt production and
distribution of child pornegraphy.

Let none forget the line that the mobsters who bankroll these operations often
throw out: “If there wern't people to buy our products and services, we'd be ont
of business.” That credo applies to gambling, narcotics, and regular prostitution
[as opposed to the specialized typel, as it does to child pornography.

Those who support child pornography shounld be called upon to stop spending
their money to degrade and emotionally kill children. No town can have its
people supporting unpleasantness of this sort and expect to come out of it with-
out; having lost some of its spirit,

RogperT R. DIXON.

Mz, Coxyers, Our next witness is attorney Charles Rembar whoisa
private practitioner in the city of New York specializing in libel and
copyright law, representing various elements of the publishing indus-
try, He is a Havvard graduate and Columbia Law School graduate.
Te is known for his role as counsel for many publications, mcluding
“Lady Chatterley’s Lover.” “Fanny Hill", and “Tropic of Cancer,”

having served as successful appellate counsel in these three cases. He |

has most recently written an Atlantic Monthly urticle on the law of
obscenity.

Mr. Rembar, we invite you to the witness table. On your behalf we
would indicate that you do not have a prepared statement but that
based upon your recent activities and the immediacy in which youwere
pressed into service, the committee is willing to forgo anything in
writing at this time and you may subsequently send us something to be
incorporated in the record, if you wish. We would welcoms that.

TESTIMONY OF CHARLES REMBAR, ATTORNEY  FROM
NEW YORK CITZ

Mr. Remsar, The last two questions to the previous witness indi-
cates this commitfee’s concern with constitutional problems. I would
lilke to address myself to that concern.

There are two fundamental propositions that T believe we need
to keep in mind when we ave talking about the First Amendment.

One is that it deals with expression, not with action, conduct, or
behavior. The most liberal of our Suprema Court Justices have al-
ways been careful to draw a distinetion between the two. Even where
they are combined, even when you have a situation that mixes ele-
ments of conduct and expression, the Supreme Court has been willing
to allow some vestriction. It is the situation that Justice Douglas re-
ferred to as action brigaded with expression.

The second proposition that I think we ought to keep in mind iz
that the first amendment is not absolute, despite what the great Jus-
tice Black had to say on the point. The exceptions ave just too obvious.

Tiven where pure expression is involved, not action, we piace some -

limits on speech and the press, We penalize fraudulent statements
made jn connection with the sale of securities, for example. We still
have a law of libel and a law of privacy, although they have been
much diminished, We can go back to, years ago, the example of Chief
Justice Hughes—publication of information about the sailing dates
of troopships in time of war.
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~ S0 we know we have some exceptions. The question is: Does this
type of legislation fall within the exceptions? In my opinion it does.
In my opinion it is justified. It deals primarily with action, with a
-eertain kind of conduct that I believe most of us agree is a social evil.
It hits expression only s o covollary, in my judgment a very necessary
corollary. It is necessary becase, asthe previous witness pointed out,
the kind of action the bill aims at is not done in public places. Tt is an
impossible prosecutorial job to try to get at the acts themselves.

So the bill goes further. It penalizes the transport, distribution,
and sale of the product of this activity, that is, films and magazines
in which the phctography of the conduct you want to stop appears.

Now the bill does it, in my judgment very wisely, without ever

nsing the word “obscene.” I think that is wise for twa reasons.
. One is that the concept of obscenity has in the »ast been used to
Jimit the kind of expression that we don’t want tv see limited. It is
not so long ago that book sellers selling Theodore Dyeiser’s “.An Amer-
ican Tragedy” were convicted of a crime under antiobscenity laws.

So if you use the concept of obscenity to try to get at the evil you
are dealing with, you would on the one hand prompt courts to limit
the legislation for fear that by broadening the concept, they will
impinge on other areas of expression that are entitled to freedom.

On the other hand. by using the word “obscenity” to deal with a
situation that obviously appeals for a remedy, you may be inducing
‘the courts to broaden the concept of obscenity, and such broadening
has dangerous consequences for first amendment freedoms. The word
“obscenity” is unnecessary to what you are trying to accomplish, and
its use could very easily have one or the other or both of these bad
results, depending on whether the particular court was moved more
by the threat to free expression or by the need.to deal with the par-
ticular evil—in the one instance reducing the impact of the statute
and in the other creating bad precedents for the first amendment
generally. The proposed legislation wisely concentrates on the fac-
tual situation that needs to be dealt with, and avoids the word
“obscenity.” You have a bill that deals with the activity itself, with the
transport and the distribution of the photographs and with their
sale. C '

Now you are going to run into somse objections, I know, from my
friends at the Amevican Civil Liberties Union. If they come down
here to testify, they will say it is all very well to try to limit this kind
of behavior, but you must not touch the magazines or the films because
there you are getting into the area of free speech and free press.

In my humble judgment, that attitude is totally unrealistic. There
isno way to deal with the evil you are trying to remedy except through
Jdealing with the sale of the magazines and films. The sale of the prod-
‘uct is the economic motivation for the conduct. That is what fuels
‘the activity, or at least a great part of it.

So I thmk if you are going to oppose this sort of legislation, you
ought to come right out and say it is not worth bothering about,
we don’t consider this much of an evil. Don’t say that there are other
ways to doit. There are not other waysto doit.
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Once you get past the principal.first amendment. problem—and
I submit you do because you have here a narrowly defined ares and a
good practical reason for restricting the expression—once you get
beyond that, you are left with certain subsidiary problems that in-
volve both the first: amendment and the due process. clause. Is the
statute so vague that you cannot send a.man to. prison for violating
it? Is the element of scienter, the element of guilty knowledge, suffi-
ciently taken care of? Here I think the bill as drafted could use
a modification or two. , e : ’ "

In subsection 1 of section 9-a there is o reference to.an individual
who “knowingly transports ships, or mails,” and then, in subsection
2, to the individual who “receives for the purpose of selling or sells.”
I think the word “knowingly” belongs in subsection 2 as well as sub-
gection 1. _ . o .

Another problem on the void-for-vagueness objestion I think comes
in when the bill defines “prohibited sexual act.” The word “bestiality,”
for example, has two or three meanings in the dictionary. I think the
bill ought to say just which one it has in mind. It is not too difficult
to do that. (I) and (J) seem to me to be unnecessarily broad. “Any
ather sexual activity” could take in kissing, fondling-—even holding
hands, I suppose. : : .

Nudity as such is something that I think goes beyond the range
of proper legislation. Perhaps we might substitute in place of sub-
section I, some language such as “any other genital contact or activ-
ity” and then take in the second part of J as a modifier, the language
beginning with the words “depicted for the purpose.”

One other item in the bill that to my mind raises some questions
is the age 16. I believe there are still States where you can get married
at the age of 16. Also, we know that there are different rates of ma-
turation for girls and boys. Without trying to rewrite the bill, we
might use some standards such as 12 for girls and 14 for boys. I do
think 16 is a little bit aged. ‘
7" But those are small points. In general the bill, in my judgment, is
a good one and one that does not run afoul of the first amendment,

I would like to add a very small personal note here. I imagine gen-
erally when lawyers come and testify to committees, they come as rep-
resentatives of groups whose lawyer they are, who are worried about
the legislation or, on the other hand, want it supported: My clients are
mainly swritérs and publishers and people in the film and television
business. I think most of them, if they didn’t give it enough thought,
might oppose this legislation. I would think they would be wrong. I
think this legislation ought to be supported. '

The first amendment is a great shield for people in the business that
I represent and it should not be abused. By stretching it too far, by
i king it too thin, we enfeeble it, and my clients may lose the kind
of protection that they have gained from various Supreme Court de-
cisions in the last 10 or 12 years. They have to be realistic and allow
this Congress and State legislatures to act where the situation calls
for action and the impingement on first amendment freedoms is
minimal.

Thank you.
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Mr. Conyers. We are indebted to you, Mr. Rembur, for your very
precise evaluation of this prospective piece of legislation. I have only
one question. It goes to the larger area that we are concerned with.

That is, we seem to be in a permissive society in which we are hav-
ing difficulty controlling pornography of any kind, most especially this
that involves younger children. We seem to be in an age of permissive-
ness in which the movies, television and just the general atmosphere
seems to be contributing to what could be termed an era of promiscuity.
‘What effect, if this legislation were passed, do you think that it would
have on this larger atmosphere that seems to be prevailing us at this

oint ? .
P Mr. Remsar. The problem you describe is a real problem. It is one
that I think in general cannot be dealt with by the law. We cannot
regulate too much. It is very difficult to instill morals by legislation. I
think we are going through a period that I once described as an acne
on our culture. It 1s an adolescent period. I think it will go away. Acne
is not fatal.

But meanwhile, it is important that the law should not stand aside
altogether, because the law is our teacher. We don’t get our conscience
from above. We are not born with it. We learn it from our parents,
from our teachers, and from the law.

I think it is important for the law to say that the first amendment
requives that we put up with an awful lot that we don’t like, but it does
not require that we put up with everything. Lines can be drawn at
certain points.

This proposed legislation, in my opinion, provides a good place to
draw g line.

My, Convers. I appreciate your response.

Mrs. Holtzman, do you have any question ?

Ms. Horrzaman, Thank you, Mr, Chairman,.

I am sorry I missed some of your testimony. I would like to ask you
if you have had a chance to review State statutes in this area to de-
tevmine whether they would be adequate to deal with this problem if
they were effectively enforced ?

M. Remsar. This is the shortest answer I will give all day: No.

I have not had a chance to review the statutes. I have considered the
problem only from a constitutional point of view, I don’t know what
statutes exist. It seems to me statutes can be drawn to deal with that.

Ms. Horarzaan. Did I hear you correctly when you said you thought
the term child ought to be redefined so that girls above the age of 12
and boys above the age of 14 should be excluded from the scope of this
legislation?

Mr. Resear. I made that suggestion. Yes, I think the age of 16 is a
bit high, especially for girls.

Ms, Horrzman. You don’t see any constitutional problem dealing
with boys and girls differently ¢

Mr, Resear: Not where it 18 biologically justified.

Ms. Hormzaan. That argument has been made, T would say to you,
in all cue respect, to support all kinds of racist and sexist legislation.
I will just say that T would disagree that we would not want to protect
girls over the age of 12 years.

Does this bill cover those people who produce the films ?
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Mr, Remear. I would like to add to what I said in answer to your
question a moment ago, that biological justification exists. It is just
abused, the way children are abused, in many areas. _

Ms. Hourzaran. I will stick to my previous comment. Would you
answer the question I have just asked you which is, does this bill cover
those who produce the films, in other words, those who provide the
money or those who purchase them for the purpose of transportation ?
It seems to me that the only people who are covered are those who pho-
tograph children in these acts, persons who cause or knowingly permit
a child to engage in these acts, and those wlo receive the materials for
the purpose of selling them. ‘

But do we reach the producers of these materials in this bill and,
if not, should we? h

Mr. Remear. I think we should. As I read the language, it seems to
me that section 8(a) does. I don’t know how you produce the film
without doing what section 8 describes. ‘

Ms. Hourzaman. Suppose you purchase the films after they have heen
made and then retransmit them. Would someone in that category be
covered ?

Mr. Remear. I think there they are covered in section 9, yes.

Ms. Horrzazan. I have no further question, Mr. Chairman.

Mz, Coxvers. Thank you.

Mr. Gudger, do you have questions?

Mr. Gupeer. Yes, I think I can make this rather brief.

As I understand it, you are saying, Mr. Rembar, that State laws can.
prohibit distribution to minors, can prohibit the nuisance display to a
captive audience so to speak, or the marquee display of something
that is obscene or could be socially unacceptable to the unwilling
observer.

You are saying that the same prohibition upon distribution could
be drawn against the manufacture, distribution and sale of items which
depict children in unnatural acts.

Now, in saying this, are you contending that society can protect the
model, that 1s the child who poses for the pornographic pictures, or
that society can go beyond protecting the model and protect society
itself from the distribution of materials showing unnatural or socially
unacceptable conduct referrable to children ¢ Do you seek to protect the
model only? Do you seek to protect the child who is not a model but
may see these acts depicted in this illustrative material and thereby
be degraded or himself diverted in his normal acts or do you see both
of these as justification for usto move in this area ? N

Mr. Rempar. Well, I think that where you do have a captive audi-
ence, you do have another problem that can be dealt with that is not
dealt with in this legislation. : .

I would add that I think the child in the home in front of a television
set constitutes a captive audience. What is shown in theaters, on the
other hand, I think falls outside that area. If there is not public dis-
play that creates the problem for the passerby that you mentioned,
T would not favor restrictions on what is shown in theaters, except
as it might run up against something like the present bill.

Mr. Goveer. Do you see this bill as protecting the child, ‘the model,
or do you see it as proteéting society from the display of abnormal
child conduct?
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Mz. Rearear. The former, Mr. Gudger, the former. But in a broader
sense, it protects society because if you have children subjected to this,
you have children who are likely to grow up with problems.

Mr. Guneer. Do you see the provisions here relating to the actual
process of photographing, and the actual process of publishing as
being subject to State control or subject to Federal control?

Mr. Reamar, T feel it is subject to both. ‘

Mr, Gupeer., In the latter instance, that is Federal control, this
would be only in the event it is being produced for interstate distribu-
tion, therefore, interstate commerce would be involved?

Mr. RezBar. Yes, sir, right.

Mr. Gopeer. So you do see that possibly there might be a justifica-
tion for the development of State statutes prohibiting what is pub-
lished as well as the Federal statute projected here.

M. Reaear. Yes, I do,

Mr. Guperr. Mrs. Holtzman raised the problem as to the publisher
as distinguished from the photographer or the one who sets up the
arrangements involving the child, both of whom are involved in sec-
tion 2251. Do you see the publisher and anyone who is arranging for
these publications as being subject to indictment for comnspiracy to
violate even though he might not be specifically referred to, the printer,
the publisher, the man who puts the business enterprise together?

Mr. Renpar. Yes; I think Mrvs. Holtzman referred to the producer
of a film who is in an analogous position. It seems to me that the
publisher or the producer of the film is knowingly causing this.

Mzr. Gopger. Thank you.

Moyr. Coxyers, Mr. Ertel, do you have any questions?

Mr. Errer. Thank you very much for your comments. I am glad
you agreed to put knowingly in and clear up some of the other prob-
lems T saw.

I want to comment on your last answer, picking up the investor in
these films who might put his money up. It has been suggested that he
would be guilty of a conspiracy to violate and may be an accomplice or
accessory under the code which would pick him up under the pro-
visions. :

‘What happens to the man who says, “Don’t tell me anything, I just
want a return on my investment.” Could he be caught as well? That
comes under the issue of knowingly. FHe makes the process run because
without, the money, it wouldn’t go, it is a film to be produced and has
any expense, and I recognize a lot don’t have that much expense, but if
it has expense, how do we get to that individual?

Mr. RemeaR, You as an attorney knovw, of course, that what you have
there is a problem of evidence.

Mr. Errer. A very good problem and we also have the problem of
defining the terms. ‘

Mr. Rearear. I believe the word “knowingly” takes cave of that situ-
ation. From my experience in the film business I find it incredible that
anybody would invest in the production of a film without knowing
what that is about. You usually have to give them a screenplay before
they put up money.

Mr. Erren. Yes; you might do that and say it is a pornographic film,
but not having a child involved. He can say I knew or they told me
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about the adult situation without the child involved. The same thing
as in the investment in drug traffic. We have the same problem. He
fronts the money. He gets the return. He knows nothing and he
deliberately insulates himself.

I am wondering if there is some way that you can see statutorily we
can reach that individual who is probably as culpable but by not being'
informed, he avoids prosecution. '

Mr. Renar. I have not givenany thought to that. The Congress has,
of course, dealt with film investors and what goes on in their heads in
trying to knock out tax shelters. The problem seems far removed, but
it really isn’t that far removed. You are dealing with questions of
intent which are always difficult for the law.

AMr. Errrn. I thought you might just have some suggestions as to
how we cau reach that statutorily to solve some of those problems.

Thank you for your comments. I realize that is a difficult issue.

Mr. Conyers. Thank you very much. None of our other committee
members indicate that they have questions so on behalf of the entirve
subcommittee I want to thank you for coming here on such short notice
and would invite you to stay in touch with us as we wind our way
thﬁough what has been called the legislative maze on this particularr
subject.

Mr. Remear. Thank you. If consideration over a longer period
would produce any ideas, I will be very happy to submit them.

Mr. Coxyrrs. Thank you.

Our next witness is Dr. Judianne Densen-Gerber who directs the
Odyssey Institute throughout the United States, a psychiatrist, at-
torney and social activist who has lectured throughout the country
on the issue of child sexual abuse. She has worked with Congressmen
Kildee and Murphy who are the prime movers behind the legislation
currently before the subcommittee.

The Odyssey Institute was founded by Dr. Densen-Gerber to help
children involved in drug addiction and child abuse. ‘

Thank you, Doctor. We have your prepared statement which will
be included in the record at this point. That will free you to make
illuminated points about your statement and other information which,
you would like to bring to our attention.

[The prepared stafement of Dr. Densen-Gerber follows:]

STATEMENT OF JUDIANNE DENSEN-GERBER, J.D., M.D., F.C.L.M., PRESIDENT,
ODYSSEY INSTITUTE

On January 18th. of this year, I gave the first of many mnews conferences de-
signed to move America from an overall attitude of hating its childyen to concern
and caring by each and every community for its young. The Odyssey family asked
then and asks now that other Americans join with us in proclaiming 1977 “The:
Year of the Child” and making such the reality.

During the Bicentennial Year, Oddyssey Institute’s Concerns of Children Divi-
sion commenced a petition campaign to collect one million signatures to present
to President Carter urging that he declare America’s children the Nation’s fivst
priority and most valuable natural resource, and that hie establish a Special Ac-
tion Office within the White House which would eventually evolve into a Cabinet
Post for the Concerns of Children. America should have a Secretary committed
to the future sitting beside the Minister of War, euphemistically called the Secre-
tary of Defense. While our petition campaign moves ahead, many more volunteers
and names are needed. ) .

Due to the establishment of this Concerns of Children Division, Odyssey has
become a clearing house nationwide for the identifying and reporting of the many
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atrocities against our young: for instance, first, the admission by the National
Center on Child Abuse t+nd Neglect, a Federal agency, that 1 million children
at any given moment are in danger of their lives at the hands of their parents
or custodians— (Odyssey believes the number to be closer to 4 million) ; second,
while America gave the world the polio vaccine which potentially can eradicate
this seourge from the face of the earth as we have done with smallpox, 5% mil-
lion American children under the age of § remain unprotected; and third,
America ranks 31st worldwide in infant mortality for her nonwhite peoples and
16th overall. Ve, who are first in the space race, cannot be first in our own chil-
dren’s survival.,

But, today, I want to share with you yet another atroecity that has come to my
attention through Odyssey's Concerns of Children Division—the million dollar
sex for sale industry exploiting America’s children ages 3 to 16—both through
prostitution and pornography.

In August of 1976, Senator Birch Bayh sent me the excellent hook hy Robin
Tloyd, an investigative reporter for NBC in Los Angeles, entitled *“For Money or
Tove: Boy Prostitution in America.” Senator Bayh was struck by the fact that
both Lloyd and I, working at opposite ends of the country on two different areas
of child abuse (he, sexual—T, drug-related physical abuse and negleet) should
reach a similar solution; namely the establishement of a Cabinet Fost on behalf
of our young. ’

Tloyd's hook documented the involvement of 300,000 boys, aged 8 to 18, in ac-
tivities Tevolving around sex for sale. He noted there were over 264 different boy
and girl magazines being sold in adult book stores nationwide. These magazines—
well-produced—sell for prices averaging over $7 each. Most of the children ex-
ploited are runaways from extremely abusive and neglectful homes—most, that
is, if the children are 8 years old and above. However, younger children used in
the production of pornegraphy, some as young as 3, must be provided by their par-
ents or guardians who are themselves often drug addicts, porn performers, nr
prostitutes, or more frequently, parents having incestuous relationships with
their children which they wish to memorialize in photographs or movies to ex-
change with others who belong to clubs or groups advoeating this type of activity.
Thera is one group in Southern California whose slogan is “sex by 8 or it's too
‘late.,”” Too late for what? To grow up unscarred, loved and protected; this one
-repregentation of the kooky fringe claims 2,500 members. o

A common sense guesstimate on my part leads me to believe that if there are
800,000 boys, there must be a like number of girls—heterosexual -conduct still
‘being more prevalent than homosexual--but no one has bothered to count the
females involved. Lloyd postulates but cannot substantiate that only half of the
true number of children are known, Therefore, the possible figure is closer to 1.2
million nationwide—a not improbable figure, considering the Nation’s 1 million
runaways. How elge cana 12 year old support him or herself?

Tn an April Ms. Magazine article the following startling fact was noted : “one
eirl out of every 4 in the United States will be sexually abused in some way be-
fore she reaches the age of 18." Researchers working with deviant s'vomen report
that 50 to 70 percent have heen sexually traumatized as children. This is truly an
illustration of the sins of the fathers being reaped by the children. While we hide
from the knowledge of the incest violation, our concern in the area of the com-
mercial sexnal abuse of children is even less. Only six States specifieally prohibit
the participation of minors in an obscene performance which could be harmful to
them (Connecticut, North Carolina, North Dakota, South Carolina, Tennessee,
and Texas). There is no Federal statute specifically vegulating the distribution of
sexual materials to children. There is likewise no Federal statute involving in-
terstate commerce which specifically regulates or restricts the production, dis-
tribution, or marketing of this material. Forty-seven States and the Distriet of
Columbia have some form of laws pertaining to the dissemination of obiscene ma-
terials to minors., i k

State criminal statutes which deal with sex crimes often are not helpful, either-
hecause the physical activity does not meet the criteria of the statute, e.g., rape,
sodomy, sexual abuse, or because they are so broadly worded as to discourage
conrts from applying them in terms of significant penalties. } )

Many States have child welfave provisions within their education law which
regulate the employment of children in commercial activities. Unfortunately,
these same laws either abdicate confrol when the child is working for a parent
:(’n-ﬂthe sanctions are so limited as to pose no deterrent, e.g,, $10 fine or 10 days in

ail,
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Given the paucity of legislation which specifically relates to this activity,
there can be little wonder at the relatively scarce attempts at law enforcement,.
The prcblems of case-finding and evidence are compounded by 2 confusion be-
tween sexploitation as a form of child abuse and adult obscenity matters. These
problems and the attitudes of many judges discourage and actually thwart the
few criminal investigations attempted. This year, when one of America’s lead-
ing pornographers, Edward Mishken, was arrested in New York, one third of the
2,000 square feet of material confiseated involved children, Mr. Misliken pleaded
guilty and in spite of the fact that he bad many previous convictions, Judge
Irving Lang sentenced him tc-27 consecutive weekends in jail—I assume so that
his work week destroying children would not be intervupted. We, ag citizens,
must ask why Judge Lang did not give Mishken the 7 year sentence permitted.
Mishken was rearrested on like charges within one week.

On January 12th at the Crossroads Store in New York, I purchased ‘Lol-
litots”, a magazine showing girls 8 to 14, and “Moppets", children aged 3 to 12,
as well as playing cards which pictured naked, spread-eagled children. Algo X
leoked at a film depieting children violently deflowered on their communion day
at the feet of a ‘“freshly crucified” priest replacing Jesus upon the cross. Next,
I saw a film showing an alleged father engaged in uralalin with his 4 year old
daughter. Of 64 films presented for viewing, 19 showed children and an additional
16 involved incest.

I have urged citizens to write to their Federal and State legislators nrging
support of the three pronged approach suggested by Odyssey’s Law and Medicine
Institute. First, to make changes in your State educational law to require licens-
ing of all media involving children and to prohibit children from participating
in any acts which are sexually explicit, Any materials produced in violatiom
would be confiscated and fines would be imposed for violations. Second, to
strengthen the child abuse and neglect statutes to include commercial sexual
exploitation of children amd to nnhe the finding of venereal diséase in children
under 12 an automatic presumption of child ahuse and neglect. Tn 1976, Con-
necticut passed a law on venereal disease because there had been two cases of
gonorrhea of the throat in children under 18 months of age and one in a child
9 months old within that State. And third, to creafe greater penalties nnder
the criminal obscenity laws where the offending material involves persons under
16. Within this area, there must be hoth Federal and State legislation and law
enforcement roles.

In the recent months since January 1977 when I have personally purchased
magazines carrying the title “Nudist Moppets”, “Lollitots”, *Ohicken Delight”,
“Last for Clildren”. “Schoolgirls”, *“Noughty Horny Imps”, “Chicken Love,
“Child Discipline” and films such ag “Children Love” and “Lollipops No. 107
in cities such as New York, Philadelphia, Boston, Washington, New Orleans;
Detroit, Flint, Chicago, San Francisco, San Jose, Los Angeles, Sydney, Mel-
bourne and Canberra, I have become angered beyond description, There comes
a point where we can no longer defend by intellectualization or foreusic debate.
We must simply say “I know the difference between right and wrong and I am
not afraid to say ‘no’ or demand that limits be imposed.”

Common sense and maternal instinet tell me that this goes way beyond free
speech. Such conduct mutilates children’s spirits; they aren’t consenting adults,
the're victims. The First Amendment isn't absolute, Pl(ithermore, even if I had
to give up a portion of my First Amendment rights to stop this stuff, then I'a
be Willing to do it. When our Constitution and Bill of Rights were written,
Pranklin, Jefferson, Adams, and Washington were interested in guaranteeing
the right to religious, political, and philosophical debate—not to publish a
primer instructing a sex molester on how to pick up n e¢hild in the park and
subsequently assault her (*“Lust for Children™) or a booklet advoeating that
a father to have incest with his daughter and illustrating positions to be used if
she, at nine, is too small for normal penetration (“Schoolgirls”, Los Angeles,
and “Preteen Sexuality”, Philadelphia), If we use constitutional rights to
justify intercourse with children . ..! In summary, sadly, there is many a
scoundrel wrapped in the American l‘la«f

We are not going fo produce mentally healthy and happy children by issuing
an executive order that all children must be loved . . . but we ean author legis-
lation to protect them sud give them a fighting chance in this world, To para-
phrase Camus, who spoke for all of us who in some way work with children T

“Perhaps we cannnot prevent this America from being an Ameriea in which
children are tortured . .. but we can reduce the wumber of tortured children.
And if you don’t help us in this . . . who else in tkis world can .. .?"
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" You and I can make a difference. Since my initial news conference in January,
much of “kid porno” has disappeared from the Nation's adult book stores. It
was 8o simple—the answer was so real—if we can still be outraged, if we can
still care, we can begin to nurture a soil for all children to grow straight and
strong!

As Eric Ericson wrote:

“Someday, maybe, there will exist a well-informed, well-considered, and yet
Tervent publie conviction that the most deadly of all possible sins is the mutila-
tion of & child’s spirit; for such mutilation undercuts the life principle to trust,
without which every human act. may it feel ever so good, and seem ever so
right, is prone to perversion by destructive forms of conseiousness,”

TESTIMONY OF JUDIANNE DENSEN-GERBER, J.D, M.D, F.CLIM,
PRESIDENT, ODYSSEY INSTITUTE

Mz, Coxtrrs. We thank you for your interest in appearing before
the subcommittee.

Dr. Dexsen-Gerser. This trunk which I will put up here happens to
be pornography I have purchased since January 12 of this year in cities
like Philadelphia, New York, San Francisco, New Orleans, Detroit,
Chicago, and some other places.

Before referring to that material which I would like you to introduce
into the Congressional Record I should like to specifically note these
Dooks which were purchased this past weekend in Washington by a
friend of mine and my 17-year-old daughter.

My, Cowyers. I don’t know if T can introduce all those books into the
record. They will be subject to our review. You either have to leave
them with us for our examination or keep them.

Dr. DexseN-GErBER. Certainly but I would like to particularly call
the committee’s attention to the one purchased here in Washington
Thursday night, by my 17-year-old daughter who works for Congress-
woman Boggs. It was discounted for her because she was only 17. She
was not yet of age. It is entitled “Family F---, the Families Who F---
Together Stay Together.”

. 'This is a rather dangerous thing for me to do to reveal and I am sure
the distingunished Congressman from California, Mr. Dorman, who will
back up what I am now about to say. Qne week ago, I was the keynote
speaker at the Citizens for Decency through Law in Cincinnati and the
founder of that organization, Charles Keating, Jr. whose brother was a
Member of the U.S. Congress from Ohio, reported the following story:

About 3 weeks prior to that time, Larry Flynt came to Cincinnati
to speak at a college fraternity at the University of Cincinnati. He
offered a $200 bounty if anyone would obtain sexually kinky material
for publication in Flustler on Mr. Keating’s 19-year-old daughter.
‘Sadly she was sexually molested within the week. So we are not dealing

~with a nice group of people. I am now providing protection for my own

children.

Mr. Conyzrs, Would this legislation have some effect upon that kind
of conduct ?

Dr. Dexsex-Gereer. Only because we must first understand, Con-
gressman Conyers, the nature of the people inveolved in these activities.
Wo are not dealing with little old grandparents at home who want to
photograph their newborn grandchildren bare on bearskin rugs. We

‘are dealing with organized crime, the same group of people who filled
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this country with narcotics prior to their beginning to produce and
distribute this material.

. There were several questions asked of an earlier speaker about the
need for the Federal Government to be involved. Such involvement is
absolutely necessary. The materials move freely from the three coun-
tries that appear to be the major suppliers of this material. They are,
of course, the United States, producing the slickest of the magazines
and the most well put together as well as Thailand and Scandinavia.

There is no question that we need international control. I find it
singularly upsetting and outrageous that while I cannot buy Heinz
catsup in Sydney, Austriala. T can, 8 days after a new edition of
“Moppetts,” buy that- magazine there. Because Odyssey now has a
center in Sydney, Austrialia, we have purchased American-made mate-
rial in Sydney, Canberra, and Melbourne.

I think you should be keenly aware of the fact that the sexual exploi-
tation of children presents a twofold problem. The first is addressed in
part by this excellent legislation: the problems of preventing mutila-
tion and destruction to the 2 or 4 or 6 or 10,000 children that are being
so photographed. Without a doubt. it is damaging to them. -

The Kildee-Murphy bill is primarily directed to preventing damage
to children who ave sexualized at the time of production. However,
second we must look at and consequently begin to develop legislation
to protect the children who are being prostituted. The fact that these
childyen, many of them, are now on computers which enables them to
be moved from city to city depending on the specific desires of the
chicken-hawks or others was revealed to the Nation last week on CBS’s
“60 Minutes.,” This demands Federal regulation.

The fact that the children for sexual snuff films are purchased from
Mexico is also well known. Less well known is the fact that many of
our children have been sold for this purpose abroad. All this demands
Federal intervention.

At the root of all this is the disintegration of family values. That is
the next point T would like to emphasize.

Robin Lloyd, the author of “Boy Prostitutes in America,” “For Love
or Money,” and I have counted 264 different magazines produced
each month that use children. The people who support and buy this
kind of material are strengthening their pedophilic fantasies. Now
when fantasies are stimulated, people go home and act out. For ex-
ample there is no doubt that incest is on the rise. Indeed, Dr. Henry
Giarretto, the leading worker in incest in the country in his Santa
(lara, Calif., project had 50 cases reported by probation to him the
ﬁlrst year, 850 cases the second year and he will have over S00 cases
this year.

Sg, we must be concerned not only with the kind of visual material
and the children who are being exploited, but with the content of the
magazines and the crimes against children that it incites.

For instance, this magazine, “Little Girls,” featuring a 14-year-old,
on the cover promotes the three stories on the front: *My Daddy
Taught Me How to Suck C---,”” “My Cherry Is Gone But I am Glad,”
“Tt Hurts But Push Harder” and on the other side, “My Virgin C---
Is Wet and Ready,” is not the type of material gentlepersons of the
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Congress help the family stay together in spite of what magazine
Family F--- says. ) . )
A magazine like this one produced in the United States, purchased
in Philadelphia in February called “Pre-Teen Sexuality” tells the
reader how to penetrate a prepubescent girl who is not yet able be-
cause of her smallness to be penetrated in a standard missionary posi-
tion. This is certainly productive against acting out against children!
Mr. Cowyers., Pardon me just a moment. Could I ask you, since
you have defined several of the titles, in view of our time restrictions
now that the House is in session now and since it would serve no pur-
pose to merely tell us ‘what the subjects of the stories are in the maga-
‘zines, that you eliminate that part of your additional remarks here
and try to, if you will, restrict your comments to the merits or demerits
of the legislation before us.

Dr, Dexsex-Gerper. Then if T may make just one closing statement;
in this area : this material produces sexual erimes against children. And
there are many reasons we have to be against it. The prepubescent
child having intercourse does not have a vaginal pIT which protects
against infection. Work in Australia by Dr. Maleolm Coppileson, a
gynecologist and Odyssey Board member has shown that children who
have prepubescent intercourse have the highest incidence of cervical
carcinoma of all women at early ages in their twenties and thirties.
Therefore we are talking about damage physicaily as well as emotion-
ally and other psychological ways. (3irls at nine were not designed by
nature to satisfy the perverted needs of adult males.

Also, published are primers to tell people how to picknp children
in o park molest them and not be arrested.

The bill is & good bill. It is a first step. It does not do it all. Congress
must also focus in on the venereal ciisease problem in children. I know
that Mr. Osanka told you that Connecticut has the only law in the
United States which defines the presence of venereal disease in chil-
dren under the age of 12 as a presumption of child neglect or abuse.
That is because we have had, and T am from Connecticut, two cases of
gonorrhea of the throat in childven under 18 months of age and one
in & child under 9 months of age.
~ We, as a Nation of concerned citizens, must look at what is happen-
ing to the American family, what, is tearing down the values of the
family and our way of life. Permitting this type of material is very
important to.the destruction.

This is part of the activity of organized crime. I must emphasize
that. You can have many witnesses better than I telling you how it is
organized crime. It is my belief that it is a function of the Federal
Government to fight organized crime.

I wrote the act for Congressman Peter Peyser which established
the National Center for Child Abuse and Neglect in 1973. T was out-
raged to hear Mr. Osanka’s testimony concerning the centers taking
an ad with Federal tax dollars in Mr. Flynts, Hustler magazine. This
shonld be investigated immediately. I also know that the National
Center has done nothing to.fund any program to rehabilitate chil-
dven who aro the victims of sexual crime, particularly programs which
would help investig:

Y T ators identify the people who are involved in mov-
ing the children across the country,
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There should be a mandate from Congress to the HEW demanding
that the moneys go into this kind of activity—both preventive and
rehabiliative. ‘

I am open now for questions, but finally, Mr. Conyers, Odyssey has
o huge center in Detroit as you well know in which you can interview:
child prostitutes. A massage parlorin New York was recently closed in
which a 12-year-old was working, Ms. Holtzman. This kind of use of
children was easily predictable.

Long ago, the Federal Government funded magnificent work by
Harlow and Prescott to study maternally and socially deprived mon-
keys. Their work showed that when there is no family socialization
these monkeys compensated by precocious and promiscuous sexualiza-
tion. That is what wo are seeing. We have 2.4 million children in the
care of substance-using mothers. Prostitutes average 2.8 children and
they are selling their kads.

Mr. Conyrrs. I know you could go on much longer than the time
allotted to you, but tell me how Odyssey Institute works to prevent
child abuse.

Dr. Dexsen-Gerser, We have a grant in research and demonstra-
tion from the National Institute of Drug Abuse which must end this
year by regulation to study drug-related child abuse and how do you
teach parenting to mothers who have not, many of them, been parented
themselves. That is where this work originated,

For instance, 44 percent of the women presenting for treatment for
drug abuse were cross-generational incest victims, 75 percent before
they were 12, 45 percent before they were 9 and a quarter with their
mothers’ knowledge, There is a definite relationship between incest
in the young female and subsequent antisocial behavior and acting
out. Furthermore as an adult, she is expected to rear four or five chil-
dren and she can’t. Qur-parents program has shown clearly that pavent-
ing is not instinctual but a learned experience.

Mr. Conyers. What does the Institute do?

Dr. DenseN-GErBER. It runs 44 centers in 12 States. The Institute
where I am the chief executive officer has the mandate to provide
health care to the socially disadvantaged. We study the clinical mate-
rials and then attempt to find answers. We learned how and about
child pornography from our Concerns of Children’s Division and cur
medicine branch which is headed by Thomas Clark, drafted legislation
in this area. We do much, work at the interface of medicine and law.

Mr. Conyers. How many young people do you think are being af*
fected by abuse and pornography?

Dr. Densen-GerBeR. I have counted 400 different children. I postu-
lated that there were perhaps 2,000 involved in pornography, however,
in a vecent arvest in Cleveland, one photographer had 800 children in
his employ. But if we include prostitution and the advertising of chil-
dren for purposes of prostitution, then we have close to 1 million chil-
dren sexually and commercially exploited.

Mr. Conyzrs. Is that vour figure or others ? :

Dr. Densen-GErser. That figure is based pretty much on the work
of Robin Lloyd in which he counted 300,000 boys. No one has botliered
to count the girls because society never counts girls in the area of
prostitution. Because we are probably as much heterosexual as homo-
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sexual so I matched Lloyd’s figure for boys—equaling 600,000 ch’l-
dren. Lloyd however feels the number is twice what he can statistically
validate.

The Los Angeles Police Department says there are 30,000 children in
Los Angeles alone who are being used sexually. The IFBI reports 1
million runaways. The majority are being supperted sexually; how
else can these children support themselves. Funding for runaways pro-
grams 18 almost nonexistent, and so far our government has not
wanted to examine it. Most children run away for good reasouns.

Mr. Conysrs. In other words, this problem goes farther than the
abuse of children in filming and movies? Of course, I think that is
where the Congress iiust ultimately begin to address itself. We know
that there are at least 1 million runaways a year. I have been told from
the Education and Labor Committee that 1 million youngsters drop out
of school and some of these may be paxrt of the million that run away,
of course, but some of them are not.

So we have somewhere possibly in the neighborhood of 2 million
lkids who form a ready market for sexual exploitation from pornog-
raphers and their like. So that the problem, Doctor, as T am sure you
ggree with me, would requive the Congress to begin to address such
questions as the condition and nature ot the juvenile detention facili-
ties, particularly at the local level, the whole economie question of em-
ployment among young peopls which is at least a partial contributing
factor to these being lured into the kind of activities that we are trying
to prescribe by law.

Could you comment on that observation?

Dr. Dexnsex-Gereer. I could not agree with you more. In 19738, T
wroto the National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect Act for Con-
gressman Peter Peyser. Sadly, this law has done almost nothing. Since
I also had the good fortune to suggest the name of the director to Presi-
dent Ford; when faced with its failure I had to look for why. The
Center has very little power within our system; it is a third echelon
agency within HEW. Until here on the Hill America’s children are
made the Nation’s first priority and until you begin to address all the
problems of our children in a coordinated comprehensive way, Amer-
ica will not have a future.

One of the things I would like the committee to help me with concerns
this letter from the office of President Carter saying that he cannot
see me because I represent a special interest group, America’s chil-
dren. Perhaps you could arrange a meeting for ine to discuss the trau-
mas facing our children as I did with Prime Minister Fraser of Aus-
tralia. I want to give Carter all this American-made pornography. I
want action for myself or Odyssey. That our President would call
America’s children a special interest group is part and parcel of the
problem. I have totell you, children count.

Mzr. Coxnyers. Are there any other members of the subcommittee
that would care to interrogate the witness because we will either have
to recess to answer a quorum call or we will adjourn for the day.

Mr. Ratssack. I would like to.

Mr. Cowyers. All right. Then I think we will have to recess and we
will return in 15 minutes.

[A brief recess was talen.]
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My, Coxyers. The subcommittee will come to order. Dr. Densen-
Gerber, can you elaborate on the matter of erganized crime and porno-
graphic activity. or the evolvement of organized crime in connection
with sexual exploitation of children?

Dr. Dexsen-GErser. I have only been looking into this since Janu-
ary 12, and I certainly am not a law enforcement person. But it is
amazing what is known, and there are several members of the press
here today who have told me a great deal. It is my belief that “Kiddin
Porno” was started through X1 West in Seattle, Wash., by a man
named Tony Eboli, now dead, who headed the Genovese family for
a period of time. I have been told there is a great deal of information in
New York City intelligence, and a member of the police department
cnlled Francis Shini and actually one member of the press corps who
is heve, M. Chris Borgen of CBS (who has been investigating this for
at least 12 years), can give you much more information than I ever
could. It is not hard to know, anymore than it is hard to know about
narcotics. It is my belief, as a clinician in the field, that anytime we
want to stop this breaking down of our moral values we conld. There is
no mystery or difficulty. The only reason we don’t wish to is that it is
highly profitable.

Mzr. ConyErs. On this subject, do you suspect that the Department of
Justice is as fully advised as you ave ?

Dr. Densex-Grrsrr: I shotld hope they are better advised than Tam.
Tt would be a sad fact that since T hegan by chance on January 12, If I
know as much as I know now, and they don’t know. That would be
very, very sad. My belief is they know. It has to be they know. It is not
hard to find out any more than it is hard to buy these materials. There
is no secret. ’

Mr. Conyzng. We are going to have a Department of Justice repre-
sentative before us, and we hope that we will be able to find out. You
know, finding out and determining what to do is frequently two dif-
ferent things.

Dr. DenseN-Grrper. But as long as you and I commit to the coneept
that we are going to find out the truth and then do something positive
rather than mentally masturpate and play word games. The fact
plainly is that something has to be done to help the American family
Dbe able to rear its children in less oppressive permissiveness.

For instance recently I was asked to debate, in New York whether or
nat I thought it was healthy that people were now urinating in the
strects, thereby signaling the end of inhibition and repression. Backed
finally against the corner, I, exasperated, exclaimed that Thave a right
to my stockings and shoes being clean. )

We must be able to know what is vight and wrong and then institute
action., There is nothing good abont this “Kiddie Tor”. There is no
first amendment issue that can possibly justify telling 2 man to go
hiome and have intercourse with his 9-year-old daughter. Such is not
protected material. . .

Mr. Conyers. Are you here in your capacity as director at the
Odyssey Institute?

Dr. Densen-Gurser. Yes, L am. o

Mr. Covyers, And that suggests, then, that they are working in this
area?
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Dr. Densex-Gerier. Odyssey Institute works in the area of uncover-
ing atrocities to children since the beginning of our Concerns for
Children Division, whose major task is to obtain & million signatures.
from Americans everywhere to mandate that the President declare
America’s children the Nation’s first priority and take action to estab-
lish & Cabinet post for children. Since the campaign began, we have
received information on what is happening to children. I was fivst
introduced to this material by Senator Birch Bayh, when he sent me a
book by’ Robin Lloyd, “Boy Prostitution in America for the Love of
Money.’

Mr.y Coxvyers. How long has some part of the institute been working-
in this matter, and how large is the staffing ?

Dr. Dexsen-Gureer. We have worked 13: the matter of child pornog-
raphy since January 12, 1977. In September of 1976, I sent the first of
the magazines to Robert Morgenthau, New York district attorney,
asking him as well as Congressman duPont, now Governor of Delaware-
(the magazine in question had come from Delaware) to take action.
Congressman duPont responded that the address was fake for Dela-
ware, and Bob Morgenthau stated words to the effect that I should
spend my time on important crimes like mugging. My belief is that
the mutilation of a million children is a tremendously important crime..
There was no interest then; anymore than there was an interest when
Edward Mishkin, who had been first investigated by the Kefauver
Commission in 1949 and had a yellow sheet this high, appeared before:
Judge Irving Lang on January 2, 1977, and pleaded guilty to obscenity
felonies involving children. He was given 27 consecutive weekends in
jail instead of the possible 7 year sentence. I suppose so as not to inter-
fer with his work week. As long as law enforcement thinks this is not
important and judges make a travesty of our system, grassroot Ameri-
cans will have to join together to demand remedial action.

Mr. Coxvyers. May I interrupt you again, and forgive my bad man-
ners, but we are still under the pressure of time. I yield to the gentle-
man from Pennsylvania.

Myr. Erren, Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

Ma’am, T listened to your testimony here, and I saw you go through
that litany of magazines which, as a former prosecutar, I am quite
aware of. Now these television cameras have been sitting here while
you went throngh that litany, reading the titles, going through all of’
that, and assuming that will show on the 6 o’clock news tonight, don’t
you think you have been a little counterproductive in showing all
those titles and books which may appear on that press when my
4-year-old, 8-year-old, and 13-year-old watch ¢ Wouldn’t it have been
easier to submit that to us so we could review it without putiing it
across the entive press of the United States?

Dr. Densen-Gerser. Let me answer you very strongly that I believe
that the situation in this country is so terrible now and the leadership-
so poor that only if the American people become informed will we be-
able to protect our freedoms.

Mr. ErTeL. Are you going to inform my 8-year-old and 4-year-old.
and 18-year-old ?

Dr. DenseEN-Gerper, Yes; if necessary.

Mr. Errer. I thought we were trying to prevent this.




49

Dr. Densex-Gererr. I hope when your children watch the news,
they are equally upset by the violence, by the other kinds of things
that are going on. Thers is almost no other way, Congressman, now, to
‘get, across to the American people the organized way our value sys-
tems ars being torn down.

Mz, Errer. We have children watching the news. They have no way
-of selecting on a news program, and my wife would have no way of
-selecting out, what you have presented here.

Dr. Densex-Gerper. So why don’t you clean it up so I don’t have
any magazines to show? Why don’t you worry less about me and more
-about the organized crime that is making these things?

Mz, Erren. T have been here 4 months. T was a prosecutor and prose-
-cuted a few of those people, so when you make those aecusations, you
should be a little aware of what is going on.

Second, you could have presented this to us in a written statement.
We could have read it. We can read. I question whether you have to
wave those in front of the press here at this hearing, and whether or
‘not it is not counterproductive for those juveniles which we are trying
to protect.

Thank you very much. I have nothing further.

Mr. Conyers. Mr. Volkmer.

Mr. Vorxmer. No questions.

Mr. Cowyere, Mr, Railsback.

Mr. Ramseack, May I ask if you have any idea what States have
-enncted laws that may be directed against child exploitation?

Dr. Dexsex-Gerszr. Yes; when we took a survey in January, the
-only States which had specific laws on this matter of child pornogra-
phy were North Carolina, South Carolina, North Dakota, Tennessee,
"Texas, and Connecticut. Those were the States.

Mr. RamsBack. Were any of those State laws, in your judgment,
better than others or more effective to combat the child abuse exploi-
tetion you have testified alout? ’

Dr. Drexsen-Gureer. Yes; actually the State law that is the model
for the one that Congressman Kildee has introduced is in North
Dalkota. It is an excellent law. However, North Dakota does not hap-
pen to be a State that is a major producer of these materials.

Mur. Ramssack. Hasthe law been implemented ?

Dr. Dexgen-Gereer. Whether there has been prosecution, I don’
know. On the books it stands as a thorough, well-written, and thought-
ful piece of legislation. v

Mr. Ramseack. I wonder if you happen to be aware of a series of
articles that were recently published in the Chicago Tribune under
the byline, I believe, of George Bliss, who is a Pulitzer Prize-winning
investigative reporter?

Dr. Dexsen-Gerser. No. I am not aware of them.

Mr. RamsBack. I might just mention that, in my opinion, and I just
did have a chance to read most of those articles, they rather vividly
portray what I think is the message that you are trying to convey;
maybe a little bit too sensationally, but, anyway, expressing your con-
cern, I wonder if yon happen to be aware of the work of the National
Coalition for ‘Children’s Justice and familiar with Xen Whitten, a
director of that organization? .




50

Dr. Densen-Gereer. It is an excellent organization, but its particu-
lar focus is on the problem of incarcerated chbildren within institu-
tionalized settings.

Mr. Ramssack. As I read your statement, and as I tried to hurriedly
read—and I apologize for getting here late—but as I read some of the
other statements, I get the feeling that there is really no organization
or no governmental entity that has the slightest idea how pervasive
this problem is. Is that right ? ’

Dr. Dexsex-Gererr. That is absolutely correct.

Mr. Ramssack, What is your Odyssey Institute doing about that, if
anything, or don’t you have the resources to do it ? '

Dr. Dexsen-Gurser. First of all, previously I didn’t totally answer
Congressman Conyer’s question on (Odyssey Institute. The Institute
is totally nonfunded and is a voluntary organization looking into
issues. What we hope to do, because we have 44 clinics serving 12
States, is take from our experience with patients and begin to look at
canses in the society that make for the problems that these patients
suffer from. In 1971, we were faced with more female addiction and
therefore more pregnant addicts. By 1974, we knew that the majority
of women involved in addiction had been incest vietims, usually as
children. From that finding, we looked at the whole issue of sexuality
with children and around children.

Mr. Ramssack. It is your belief that the only effective way to do
something about this problem would be to have a rather inclusive
comprehensive Federal statute rather than permit the States to enact
their own laws?

Dr. Dexsex-Gereer. T am not only convinced of that: I am con-
vinced that this hopefully, as Congressman Conyers suggested, is only
the beginning of the Federal Government examining how we can
provide a better soil for our children everywhere. “Kiddie Porn" is
so outrageous that perhaps if we begin with this, we will be able to
take a look at much of what else is wrong.

My, Ratseack. Just one last question. Have you come across any
allegations of governmental entities or even judges or anybody acting
under governmental authority being a part of any child exploitation?

Dr. Densen-Gerper. Again, only by omission rather than commis-
sion; but I haven’t specifically looked into that. There is one Odyssey
patient, for instance, who was arrested in Chicago, at 13. She was a
white child. She appeaved before the judge in Chicago, your home
State. Her pimp, who was a 50-year-old black man, came into the court
and was able to bail her out for $50. Certainly the judge looking at
the two people before him, the black elderly pimp and the white child,
brought up on prostitution, would have been able to surmise some-
thing was amiss.

Mr. Ratrasack. Let me be a little more specific. T happen to think—
and I have been interested for some time in juvenile delinquency, and
so forth—T happen to think one of the greatest hopes that we have is
to perhaps provide a good environment for delinquents or neglected
children other than in some case a bad parental environment, and I
have been encouraged by what is called the foster-pavents program or,
in some cases, o foster-grandparent program. ,

Are you aware there have been allegations that in some cases the
so-called foster parents may be contributing to the child abuse?
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Dr. Dexsen-Gereer. Yes, sadly, occasionally such is true. One should
not really expect, unless there were careful monitorings and super-
vision of foster parents, that they should differ in any way from nat-
ural parents. The factis—— ;

Mzr. Razseack. Except they ave, in effect, trustees, but in some cases
are even being paid to take those children, and, in my opinion, there
ought to be a certain oversight exercised which I think, if it is not
exercised, will doom that program, which could be a good one.

Dr. Dewsen-Gerser. Odyssey, N.IH., has encouraged certification of
foster parents. New Hampshire is unique in that the Governor of that
State, Melden Thomson, has been a foster parent, himself. It is ex-
tremely important that many of us consider being a foster parent
a special privilege, rather than something done for money. Children
are a sacred trust of God, not property of parents,

There is no question that we must teach parc¢ating. Our young people
do not know how to parent. The situation is ‘worse today than yester-
day, and unless we do something, it will be worse tomorrow. Today,
there is a crisis in the American family. Present child-rearing is not
working. We can’t leave it all in the present laissez-faire state.

Mr. Rarmseack. Thank you,

Mz, Conyers. I recognize now the gentleman from California, M.
Dornan, not a member of the comuittee, but whose concern about the
subject matter led to his invitation this morning,

Mr. Dorwaxn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Doctor, I want to atford you an opportunity here to just slightly
amend one of your earlier statements so that you don’t find yourself
in the position of using up the remaining years of your long life de-
fending yourself against a battery of lawyers that feed off this pornog-
raphy money. Some of them are the finest lawyers in the country, but
they sell themselves cheaply.

In relating the story about a niece of a former member of this Ju-
diciary Committee, you said Larry Flynt had offered money for the
raping of Mr. Charles Keating’s daughter. I debated Mr. Flynt on a
television show at that seminar, and I asked him specifically about
his appearance on the campus of the University of Cincinnati, and I
will give his version, which T think is bad enough, and I think if you
amend your remarks consistent with his version, people can draw
their own conclusion and you won’t be liable for suit.

He said some student at the campus, according to his relating of the
story, told him that ke understood Miss Keating went to school there
and he would offer to put into Kinky Corner in his magazine, which
pays $100 for every insert and $200 1f accompanied by a photograph,
that if anybody would get a story on Xeating’s daughter, he would
put it in the Kinky Cerner, giving them the money. He said in no way
did he think it would turn into a rape, and he expressed his sorrow.

But throwing or offering money avound like that on a college cam-
pus—I think the way you phrased it, you might be in danger of being
taken out of the effective field you are in, going along with what you
said, that there is some danger in this area when yon come forward
and speck out forthrightly or with some sophistication and guard
your terms, you are still in danger in this area becanse you are up
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against organized crime and the most vicious, lowly, slimy type of
human heing that has ever drawn the breath of day on our planet.
Would you care to amend your remarks?

Dr. DuxnsEn-Grreer. Yes; I would. In Cincinnati I was the speaker
last week, and being the mother of a 17-year-old, all I heard was the
danger, and I maytimve overreacted or misinterpreted. I know I was
profoundly affected to hear that a child of a distinguished American.
leader in the antipornography battle would be hurt in anyway, how-
ever, it is evident that we run very grave risks, this we must under-
stand. I thank you for correcting my misstatement. I heard it the
other way. :

. Mr. Vorgumer. Will the gentleman yield for a minute? I would like
b0

Mr. Conyers. I will recognize you.

Mr. Vorxmer. I would like to comment on this. The way I under-
stand what you are saying is that Mr. Flynt, his side of it, was he did
make an offer to anyone if they found anything on lher, and if they put
it in the magazine; 1s that right ?

Mr. Dorwan. The Kinky Corner is probably the most depraved
magazine in the business. Worship of fetal matter, animal sex, and
incest are a regular feature, and to tell young kids at & fraternity, I
believe it was Sigma Alpha Epsilon, to tell them he would get them
into that column 1f they would get him something on the danghter of
an outstanding American citizen, whose brother is now the publisher
of the Cincinnati Enquirer and esteemed Member of Congress for a
-decade, to make that kind of offer on a college campus is the most ugly,
irresponsible conduct I have ever heard.

Mr. Vorknmer. He admits that was done?

Mr. Dorwaw. Yes; and told me one of the students came up to him
and offered the information tliat he had dated Miss Keating and that
is when he offered the Kinky Corner suggestion. She was raped within
-days at high noon on a major campus—the younger Keating daughter,
in high school, was tracked by two men for 2 days preceding that—
and dragged in to the woods adjoining the campus, literally 2 or 3
minutes after noon, and out of respect for the Keating family, there
hasn’t been top much publisity on this.

The daughter is in Furope now. It cost her a semester-out of school-
ing, and I think it is—when I related this to my own daughters, T
have three of them and two sons, my daughters said to me, “Are we
next, dad?” because I have been a national spokesman for 314 years
for Citizens for Decency Through Law, only resigning on December
31 after election to Congress.

It hecame an issue during my campaign by opponents that this was
- laissez-faive, wild, do-your-own-thing, if-it-feels-good-do-it, any-
thing-goes society, and I don’t think it is, and I think my winning the
most pxpensive race in the Nation proved that.

I wish there was some way we could have the Keating story told
‘without further damage to the daughter, and T hope——-

- Dr. Densex-Gereer. They did announce it at the convention. It was
a regular convention statement. I received in the mail a very interest-
ing letter last week. It offered me $100 to $1,000 reward if X could
identify celebrities in the XKinky films they had for sale. These were
people who range from the White House down.
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I interpreted this as saying to me, you are next, and I assume that
I shall shortly be seen in a film with a horse or film with some such
other activity. That is another way they blackmail people to stay out
of this field—threatening to superimpose your face, your body, or
whatever it is, in these kinds of films and distribute them.

Mr. Dorwvaw. Mr. Flynt, on the “Tomorrow Show” on NBC, offered
money for a nude picture of the First Lady of our land, He has pub-
lished a 38 x 5-foot blow-up of a nude picture of a former first lady,
Jacqueline Kennedy Onassis. It was taken by an underwater scuba
diver off the Island of Skorpios, and yet when he ran a full-page ad
in the New York Times alining himself, this is My. Flynt, with dis-
sidents like Vladimir Bukovsky and Alexander Solzhenitsyn, that ad
was signed by some of the prominent literary people of our time, and
it just shows you how outrageously sick this problem is.

Now we are down to discussing, are we going to allow, as Mr. Rem~
bar said, the prior witness, 12- and 13-year-old girls to be used in porno
films but boys until 14¢ That is sick, Mr. Rembar, and I really am
sorry to hear that kind of testimony. A child is a child, and the scarring
of their minds that take place with this type of pornography has
been—I have heard you speak before, Doctor—described as tanta-
mount to murdering them. They need psychiatric care for the rest of
their life.

Mr. Conyers. Will the gentleman conclude his statement?

Mr. Dornan. Yes; and to suggest that a heroin trafficker or dis-
tributor should be prosecuted, but in this area you are going to use
the first amendment to color it so the distributor is free and clear—
as Mr. Stanley Fleshman suggested on “60 Minutes” the other night,.
only the man who makes the film is guilty—that is also sick. Anybody
who traffics in this evil should be put in prison—heroin pusher, lab:
worker, grower, or distributor.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Coxyzrs. I will give a lecture on audience manuers before the
subcommittee the next time it meets.

At the present moment, the subcommittee stands in adjournment.

[Whereupon, at 1242 p.m., the subcommittee adjourned, subject to-
the call of the Chair.]







SEXUAL EXPLOITATION OF GHILDREN

WEDNESDAY, MAY 25, 1977

HotseE oF REPRESENTATIVES ,
Suscommreres oN CRiME
oF THE COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY
: Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:10 a.m., in room 2237,
Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. John Conyers, Jr. [chairman
of the subcommittee] presiding. :

Present: Representatives Conyers, Heltzman, Gudger, Volkmer,
Ertel, Ashbrook, and Railshack.

Also present: Hon. Robert McClory, a Representative in Congress
from the State of IHinois. '

Stafl present: Hayden Gregory and Leslie F. Freed, counsel ; Gene
Gleason, investigator; Thomas N. Boyd, associate counsel ; and Dorothy
Wadley and Martha Brown, assistants. :

Mr, Conyers. Good morning. : : ' ~

The subcommitte will come to order and the hearings of the Sub-
committee on Crime on the sexual exploitation of children will con-
tinue. : g ‘
In the course of these hearings thus far we have heard about the
numerous magazines with pictures in each issue that sexually exploit
children. Millions of dollars worth of the films each year depict boys
and girls of very young ages in sex acts. There is obviously a large
market for the literature, and photographs of children especially
abused and exploited. ‘

All of this commerce in child pornography involves the sexual abuse
of children based on the norms of any civilized society.

Unfortunately, we do not have any good data on the scope of the
problem, but the very existence and commercialization of child sexual
abuse is repugant and needs to be prevented and stopped. Most children
grow up without any awareness or involvement in thege activities, The
relatively small minority of children subjected to sexual abuse from
any source, including pornography purposes and prostitution, need the
protection of effective laws and law enforeement.

The gquestion that ariges in this subcommittee is what kinds of laws
and what kinds of law enforcement ? . E

Many of these children at one time or arother have been incarcerated
in detention centers, in training schools, in homes and institutions for
dependent and neglected children and foster care homes. They are the
victims of family breakdown and the lack of adequate child care serv-
ices and facilities. The mistreatment and neglect of these children is
yet another dimension of the problem that we expect these hearings
will also highlight.

(55)
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I am very pleased to introduce our next witness who has been work-
ing with this committee, the ranking minority member of the House
Judiciary Committee, a member who has served with some distinction
on this particular subcommittee, and who has been extremely effective
in the deliberation of many of the problems that have come before
ihe House Judiciary in the years I have been privileged to serve on the
committee. _

I refer to none other than my friend and colleague from Illinois,
the Honorable Robert McClory, to whom I will yield at this point.

TESTIMONY OF HON. ROBERT McCLORY, A REPRESENTATIVE
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF ILLINOIS

Mr. McCrory. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the
subcommittee,

I appreciate the opportunity to appear here this morning.

Very briefly, I want to commend you, Mr. Chairman and members
of your subcommittee, for undertaking these hearings. They are needed
and the American people must be made aware of the sexual exploitation
of our children.

Witnesses at your first hearing Monday discussed the horrifying di-
mensions of these exploitations, a lurking and insidious threat with
the potential to touch us all through our own families and those of
relatives and friends, and to destroy still unknown numbers of children.

As you well put it on Monday, Mr. Chairman, the connection between
the distribution of films and magazines contributes dangerously to
that exploitation and, to quote you: “Widens the vicious circle of
physical and photographic abuse.”

The focus of the media on this helps us all decide if new Federal
laws can help stop these abuses. With many other Members, I am a
co-sponsor of a bill sponsored by our colleague from New York, Mr.
John Murphy. It is virtually the same as another sponsored by our
colleague from Michigan, Mr. Dale Kildee, and I know you are con-
sidering both here.

Dr. Frank Osanka of Lewis Colluoge in Tllineis, one of your Monday
witnesses, introduced into the hearing record clippings of a series on
child pornography and child prostitution which ran recently in the
Chicago Tribune.

Mr. Chairman, the veason for mv appearing here this morning is
that you have asked the Chicago Tribune reporters responsible for
this series to appear here this morning.

Mr. Chairman, I am please that you have asked the Chicago Tribune
reporters responsible for this series to appear here this morning.

Through their resparch and their skillful and tireless investigative
reporting they have been able to expose a purgatory of perversion, the
sexual subverting of children. ' ‘

Miss Michael Sneed and Mr. George Bliss, who is a three-time win-~
ner of the Pulitzer Prize, speut 3 months investigating the problem.

Mr. Ray Moseley, who also assisted in the investigation, wrote the
series. All three came from Chicago to be here today.

Mr, Chairman, I fully agree with 2 point vou made Monday. You
said that initisly this subcommittee—and ultimately the Congress—
must decide whether new Federal laws would help stop this abuse or




whether better enforcement of existing laws, both Federal and State,
is the answer, ,

T am confident that these three witnesses will help you reach the
right, just, and necessary conclusion in behalf of the children of
America and o® all our citizens.

I appreciate this brief appearance. I know you have Sgt. Lloyd
Martin who is going to appear as a witness next and I know he is
@oing to contribute su'istantially to the hearing here this morning.

I appreciate this opportunity to appear briefly, and in a sense to
introduce to you these highly respected journalists who are going to
testity later this morning.

Mr. Coxyrrs. Thank you. Mr. MeClory. We have been working, as
you know, through your helpfulness, with these two reporters from
the Chicago Tribune and we welcome their presence here formally
before the committee, and I would like to invite you, if your time per-
mits, to join the subcommittee as we proceed through our hearings
and at whatever point you can bring yourself to be with us through-
out not only today’s hearing but any other day, obviously you are
welcole,

My, McCrory. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Convens. We now turn to the police officer who has initiated a
sexnal exploitation unit within the Los Angeles Police Department,
Investigator Lloyd IH. Martin, who has been with the Los Angeles
Police Department for 12 years, 6 of which have been assigned to the
Pornography Unit, Administrative Vice Division, Los Angeles Police
Department.

We welcome your appearance herve in Washington before this com-
mittee, and we appreciate that you have prepared a statement in ad-
rance which has been distributed tothe members,

Without objection it will be incorporated into the record at this
point, and you may summarize from it and then we will engnge in
some questions and answers afterward.

‘Welcome to the subcommittee.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Martin follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT oF INVESTIGATOR Lnovn H, MarTIN, Los ANGELES Porice
DEPARTMENT

WHO ARE THE EXPLOITED CHILDREN?

The Los Angeles Police Department conservatively estimates that 80,000
children are sexually exploited iix the Los Angeles area each year. Dr. Judianne
Densen-Gerber, u nationally known authority on child abuse, has estimated that
as many asg 120,000 children in tlie New York metropolitan area are invelved in
some type of sexual activity for money.

A child who has been sexually abused will frequently turn to prostitution,
pornography, narcotics, or other eriminal activity, or will be encouraged to en-
gage in this activity by an abuging adult after having outlived his novelty as a
sexual partner. A 12-year-old boy in Los Angeles can earn $1000 per day. Most
receive much lesg, and a pimp will retain 60 percent of what is earned.

The most difficult concept for most people to understand and accept is that,
very often, these children are consenting partners in the sexusl activity, In some
cases they initinte the sexual activity with direct propositions or with seductive
behavior, This does not fit the image of an unsuspecting child being lured into a
stranger's car with a candy bar and a promise of a trip to the beach. Ou the
contrary, the young victims we are concerned with are usually runnways, reason-
ably “street-wise”. emotionally troubled children who trade themselves for tmoney
or for what they interpret as affection. They may appear to be “hustlers”, but
they are in fact children and victims in the truest sense of the word.
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CHILD EXPLOITATION IS A NATIONWIDE PROBLEM

In 1972 a poor-quality pamphlet was published in Hollywood, California, en-
titled, “Where the Young Ones Are”, The pamphlet listed 378 places in 59 cities
of 34 states where, “ . . the young can be found”. Listed were such places ag
bowling alleys, beaches, arcades, parks and the like. Incredibly, the pamphlet
reportedly sold 70,000 copies at $5 per copy.

In New Orleans, o sexual abuse ving was discovered with adult participants
and correspondents located in all parts of this country and in several foreign
countries. Iividence seized in the investigation included correspondence from ap-
proximately 50 adult males living in the Southern California area. That inves-
tigation algo disclosed a widespread infiltration of adult suspects into all types
of national youth groups and youth-oriented orgaunizations.

In Chicago, the investigation of a nationwide prostitution ring involving ju-
veniles disclosed that some of the youthful victims had been recruited in Southern
California. Other investigations also indicate there is nationwide mobility, inter-
action and communication among adults involved in child exploitation, Suspects
advertise and establish communication through various publications,

In Los Angeles, juveniles are approached by adults for sexual purposes at
amusement arcades, teenage discotheques and other locations where minors con-
gregate. Local and out-of-state runaways flock to widely known locations know-
ing they ean find shelter and money.

Sexually explicit movies and photographs involving exploited juveniles are
made in Los Angeles and distributed throughout the world. Thousands of maga-
zines and films are available locally for distribution. Some involve children in
sexually explicit aets, while others depict simulated sexual acts and/or obscene

nudity.
THE USE OF PORNOORAPHY BY TIE CHICKENHAWK AND TIIE CITILD MOLESTER

‘The use of pornographic material by the chickenhawks and child molesters is
extensive, as evidenced by the ever-increasing volume of such material seized in
investigations of sexual exploitation. Corroborating this physieal evidence nre the
statements of the victims who in practically all cases were exposed to pormo-
graphic literature.

Since its inception on Qetober 10, 1976, through May 20, 1977, the Sexually Fx-
ploited Child Unit conducted over 50 investigations which included interviewing
over 150 victims and suspects. In all of these cases, pornographic literature has
been abundantly present. It can be concluded that pornography in many forms is
extensively used by those who engage in sexunal crimes against children,

Pornography serves as & method by which the suspect can turn a normal con-
versation with a juvenile toward a sexual theme, As an example, if a suspect
picks up a vietim in a vehicle, the suspect may leave a pornographic magazine
on the vehicle seat solely to stimulate conversation abont sex,

Pornography is also frequently used to sexually stimulate both the suspect and
victim as well as to break down inhibitions a vietim may have regarding the acts
that he or she is expected to eommit, The nature of the literature used will cor-
respond to the suspect's sexual inclinations. If the vietim displays reluctance to
engnge in such conduct, the suspect will use the literature as an element of per-
sunsion. Ie will show the vietim the publication and present the argument that
if the young boy in the magazine is willing to remove his clothing or orally
copulate the penis of another boy. why should not the vietim be willing to also
do so? If the suspect observes that the vietim is not responsive to homosexual
literature, he may also use literature depicting young girls. Viewing the young
girls may caunse the vietim to achieve an erection. The chickenhawk will then
offer to copulate the victim to fulfill the vietim’s growing need for sexual grati-
fication. Like the chickenhawk, the child molester directs the vietim’s attention
to the fact that the young givi in the magazine is posing nude and suggests that
itis all right for the vietim to act similarly.

PIOQTOGRAPHS AS USED BY THE CHILD MOLESTER AND CEICKENHAWE

Often, personal photographs are taken by or of the suspect which are not
genem}ly int(;nded for commercial sale or profit, but rather for the private use
and stimulation of the suspect. The act of taking the photographs may be so
stimulating to the suspect that it causes him to reach a climax, In all cases
inves.tlggxted. by SBC involving the taking of photographs the suspect has molested
the victim either before, during, or after:the process. In a few cases photographs
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have been used to threaten exposure of vietims who have indicated they may
leave the suspect or go to the authorities for help. C

PROFESSIONALLY PRODUCED PORNOGRAPHIC PUBLICATIONS

The production of professional pornographic publications depicting youths ex-
poses & minor to hazards as great as thiose presented by the chickenhawlk or child
molester who “keeps” a minor for his personal gratification. In almost all cases,
the professional photographer of such publications will himself be a child moles-
ter or chickenhawlk,

Models for pornographic publications are obtained in various ways. 'ljhe run-
away juvenile, alone and without support in a strange _cit.y, is a part{cularly
attractive target for these publications. Ads soliciting “kids who have just hit
town® appear frequently in underground newspapers. As in the case of the pri-
vate chickenhawXk or child molesting photographer, the prqfessional pornagraphic
photographer will probably molest his vietim before, during or after the photo-
eraphic process. In addition to sexual gratification, the photographer will reap a
handsome jrofit. A pornographic publication that retails for between $7.50 and
$12.50 per copy costs between 85 and 50 cents to produce.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL FEDERAL REGULATORY ACTION

Male juveniles state they regularly travel from Los Angeleg, California to Las
Vegas, Nevada with their adult companions for sexual purposes. There is no
equivalent of the Mann Act to prohibit this interstate transportation of maleg for
sexual purposes.

SEXUAL EXPLOITATION OF CHILDREN—THE INVESTIGATIONS CONTINUE

* VWhen investigators attempt to define the nature and scope of the sexual ex-
ploitation of children in this country, they are frustrated by the lack of research
and prior investigation in this area. They are operating on the *‘tip of the icéberg”
premise because as the extent of the problem unfolds, they are constantly finding
themselves at junctures that present new opportunities for investigation. Of this
they are certain: the problem of the sexnal exploitation of children manifests
itself in various forms and is national in scope. -

The material in this handout is intended to illustrate the nature of the prob-
lem and to give some indication of its scope, Within the I.os Angeles Police De-
partment’s Juvenile Division, the Sexually Iixploited Child. (SIC) Unit daily
invegtigates the problem. Their investigations, formed the basig for the informa-
tion in thig handout. As the investigationg continue it hecomes clear that the
“iceberg” is a massive one, indeed,

TESTIMONY OF INVESTIGATOR LLOYD H. MARTIN, LOS ANGELES
POLICE DEPARTMENT, SEXUALLY EXPLOITED CHILD UNIT

Mr. Marrry., Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I
would like to thank you for inviting me here, hecause I do beliave that
the sexual exploitation of children in the Nation is one of the biggest
problems that faces everyone. :

According to Senator Birch Bayh’s Subcommittee on Juvenile De-
linquency, he malkes the statement, “We have 1 million runaways an-
nually in the Nation.” :

I wwant to ask a question: How do these runaways survive if they
can’t get jobs, what do they do to obtain the necessities of life? I am
going to tell you. ‘

It’s either pull up their dress or pull down their pants, This is the
way they obtain money, food, clothing and shelter, basic things that
they need. .

In the city of Los Angeles, it was estimated, not by the Los Angeles
Police Department but people in the street that we have 80,000 sexually
exploited children in that city. These 80,000 children come from broken
homes, in most cases, and a lot are runaways. :
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I want to talk about two individuals this morning. I want to talk
about the child molester and the chickenhawk. I am sure when I say
the words “child molester” most of you in this room, the immediate
thing that comes to your attention is the dirty old man and the little
girl. If I say chickeithawl, most of you would say, that’s a bird that
flies around in the sky over farms.

The correct interpretation in sexual exploitation of children of the
chickenhawk is an adult male who preys on young boys.

Where do you find a child molester and a chickenhawk? You find
these adults in any location where juveniles congregate, in our case,
parks, amusement centers, arcades, the beach, et cetera.

In 1972, a Los Angeles resident put ont a book called, “Where the
Young Ones Ave,” simply a blue bonnd book, and it sold for $5 and
reportedly sold 70,000 copies.

On page 9 of the book—in the District of Columbia, it’s at Lafayette
Chicken Hut, Northwest; Arcadia, Springfield; Aveadia, North-
west; College Pavk; Roman Billiard; Rock N Que, Rockville; Town
Center; Barneys; Lums Pond, and Elsemere—these are the places for
the District of Clolumbia where the young ones are.

It’s not uncommon in Los Angeles to go to the bus station and see
a runaway boy get off the bus with a suitcase in his hand and look up
and say, “My gosh, I'm in Los Angeles.” It is also not uncommon to
see four or five adults race to meet this young boy and offer him the
comforts of home and shelter.

What are the ways children are sexually exploited? By the child
molester and chickenhawlk, through prostitution, through model
agents, porno producers, and distributors. In the prostitution area a
12-year old boy in the city of Y.os Angeles, with a proper pimp, can
earn $1,000 a day.

Moy, Convyzrs. Are inany of them doing it?

Mr, Martin. No, not many, but that is the potential that he would
turn five tricks in that particular day’s time and could earn his thou-
sand. The pimp would retain approximately 60 percent of that money
and would be smart enough to open a bank account for this young boy
and keep him going. '

We have a similar case in Los Angeles that I investigated that in-
volved a 45-year-old man and a young boy. The young boy was from
Colorado. Since that boy was 9 years old, he was leased on the weekends
by his parents to this man, and after approximately 2 years the man
then offered the family a motel to operate in Texas that he owned in
exchange for the boy.

Mr. Conyrrs. The family was clearly, the parents were clearly aware
of what was going on ?

My, MartIn, Absolutely. After about three or four weekends of the
man taking the boy on campaign trips, they started charging this man
te take this boy out.

Late last year this man, who owned a motel in Texas, offered this
couple the motel in exchange for the boy for them to operate the motel.
The family went to Texas and after approximately 2 weeks they de-
cided they didn’t really want to operate the motel, they wanted money,

The family went back to Clolorado. The man followed. and a sum of
$3.000 was paid for this boy by this man. brought the bov into the city
of T.os Angeles and also took the boy to Hawaii, Florida, and other
amusement parts.
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I would also like to tell the committee about an 8-year-old boy I
know in Venice. This 8-year-old boy is a blond, nice tan, end wears a
skimpy bathing suit. Keeping in mind I told you the chickenhawlk and
child molester goes where juveniles congregate, it’s not uncommon to
see many of these individuals at the beach areas. They will take places
on a bench and watch the young boys and young givls. This particular
8-year-old boy walks along the beach, there is eye contact made be-
tween he and an adult sitting on the beach. The 8-year-old boy walks
up to the man and he says, “Say, mister, can you tell me where the bath-

room is?” Of course, the man says, sure, son, it’s right over there. The -

boy says, “Would you take me, mister?” “Well, certainly.” He stands
up, the 8-year-old boy reaches up and grabs his hand, and they walk
to the bathroom, As soon as they get inside of the door of the bathroom
the 8-year-old looks up at the man and says, “It’s $10 and you got 10
minutes,”

Another form of sexual exploitation is the model agent. In a particu-
lar case there Is a young girl that appeared in True magazine as o
center fold, she appeared in a book called, “Desive,” and she also ap-
peared in a book called, “Little Girls.” The statement made by this
young girl and the photographs taken included explicit sex, simulated
sex and pretty girl type photographs. The only problem witk this was
that the girl depicted in the April 1976 edition of True magazine is a
14-year-old, a runaway from Georgia, and the real sexual exploitation
of her; as she appears in three different magazines.

We also have a society based in the Los Angeles area known as the
Rene Guyon society. This society boasts of having 5,000 members
im,tionwide. Their slogan is simply “Sex before eight or then it’s too

ate” ‘

Another form of the sexual exploitation of children is, of course,
pornography, and it is not a major part, but a part of sexual exploita-
tion. Fornography in general is a multibillion dollax business. Child
pornography is & multimillion dollar business.
~ Approximately 7 percent of the pornography market is made up of
child pernograpity. This includes children under the age of 14 years.
Somevhere between 5 and 10 percent of the pornography market in-
volves juveniles under the age of 18 years. An adult bookstore owner
in Los Angeles recently told me within the last year and a haif 80
percent of his customers wanted chicken material. That is material
depicting boys aud/or girls under the age of 18.

Child pornography 1s one of the biggest money-making indusivies
there is for the amout of money put into it.

For example, a book I brought simply entitled “Lollitots” distrib-
uted in Los Angeles sells for $7.50.

Mr. Cowyers. Is that the leading magazine in this kind of material
that is circulating nationally ?

Mr. Marrzn. This is one of the major distributors and this is what
he would term his front line products or one of his front line products.
I don’t think it is the major magazine, but it is, of course, one of them.
This merely just depicts what I would entitle obscene nudity. There is
no sexnal contact, just the spreading of the legs as far as they will pos-
sibly go with the focus on the genital arca of the females depicted.

I also brought just » film box of Lolita movies, It’s o series of movies,
through, mail orclers, it would sell for $50, Through an adult book store
in Los Angeles it would cost you somewhere around $30, and I think

93-18b —~77T—rb
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due to the public awareness of what is going on, the prices of child
pornography is going to skyrocket. This film will probably run as much
as $80 1n the very near future. This $7.50 magazine is going to cost you
$10 or $12.

Mr. Conyers. Can you hit highlights of your testimony ? We want
to get in so many questions about how ... police department operates
in this area, and what the problems in law enforcement are,

Myr. Marmin. I think the main problem of law enforcement—I
wanted to show you a couple more things, if I could, before I get into
that, if possible.

Mr. Coxvyzre. ¥We are trying to discourage witnesses from showing
magazines, because if we do a lot of that we can show all of the maga-
zines on TV that are being publiched, and we don’ want to aid in the
distribution overly much. We are familiar with it. We have had a lot
of these ma,yazines before the committee already.

Mz, MarmiN. You are familiar with the “Broad Street Journal?”

Mr. Corryers. Not particularly.

Mr. Marrin. The reason I wanted to bring this to your attention is
becaunse this is the way the organization of child molesters and chicken-
hawks are organized, simply an ad listing service coming out of
Colorado. I want to read you two ads that appeared in it to show you
how a runaway exists, or what causes one to run away.

The first ad says, “Gay white male, 39, sincere behavior, wants
person. 6 to 13 who needs o heme and someone to care and love him
as friend, father,” and gives name and address.

The second has, “Models, 11 and 15 in Chicago area needed for pri-
vate collection, will pay an hourly wage.” This would be similar to
how a child in Chicago would find the necessities of life.

I also wanted to bring to your a*t:ntion another publication called,
“The Better Life Monthly.” The rewson I wanted to bring it to your
attention is because it contains an editorial which is entitled, “Don’t
Rock the Boat,” and it goe= on to say, this is a boy love type publica-
tion, strictly for Loy love, and in this editorial he says, “Yes; let’s do
rock the boat, gently, knowingly, and cautiously. Society will know
that we exist, and intend to continue to exist, but most importantly,
we will know we exist, we will know we are alive and seelring those
rights we know to be ours. Rock the boat or sit sadly on the dock: The
choice is yours.”

I wanted to bring this to the attention of the subcommittee because
it shows that the people that are interested in the sexual exploitation
of children are doing something about it. They are out of the closet, and
they are actually doing something to exploit children. '

I also want to say that the victims, when you talk about publica-
tion of magazines or films, I don’t see magazines and books. I see
children similar to yours and mine, and the victims of this sexual
cxploitation are children.,

Most of my investigations, the victims I have talked te, want out of
their situation. They want out, and, in fact, I had a 15-year-old boy
that cried. He called me once a week and said thank you very much for
getting me out of my situation, I am back home with Mom, somebody
who loves me.

To me, a crime ngainst a child has no equal. It’s worse than a
homicide. A homicide is terrible, but it’s over with very shortly. The
victim of sexual exploitation has to live the rest of his or her life with
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those memories of what porn\ogmphy and sexual deviation brings
upui: them, ,

I think it’s very important that everyone concerned use all of the re-
sources that we have to pursue the adults who prey on. our children.
From a law enforcement standpoint, we need laws, better laws than
what we have to handle the situation, but I think the main problem of
W{l}i% we have to look at is not the purveyor of this material but the
child.

This is what our country is based on; this is what we all live for,
our children, and they are the ones who are mostly affected by sexual
exploitation we now have in this country.

Mr. Conyens. Officer Martin, can 1 ask you how the sexually ex-
pl}oitegd child unit got started in Los Angeles Police Department and
when? : o

Mr. MarzIn. It got started in my garage, sir, in 1978 while assigned
to the pornography detail administrative vice; I worked a case or got -
involved in several cases involved in sexual exploitation of children
and afte: about a year, a little over a year, because I was assigned to
a vice dutail, it turned out this was supposed to be a juvenﬁe type
operation, and the investigation stopped. I pondered over this for
about 2 years, seeing the influx of children being exploited, and I made
a Jarge book that I presented to the Los Angeles Police Department of
what the real problem was in sexnal exploitation of children and it
got started in October 1976. .
q I\Q/Ir. Conyers. How many officers are in this unit and what do they

o?

Mr. MarrrN. At the present time there are seven, including myself:
The only way law enforcement can combat this is to go out and seek
the vietim. The victim of sexual exploitation does not complain. In
many cases they are runaways. A runaway does not complain. You
have to go out after the victims, the same as you do a dope dealer.
You haveto seek him or her out.

Mr, Convers. So let’s describe a day in the life of the officer in the
sexually exploited child unit.

Mr. MarmiN, Without having any knowledge from any place in
Washington today, for example, I could go to a location where chil-
dren congregate and from there I would see what I would term the
sad, a sexual abnormal deviate, pick up a child, and this is the way
the investigation would start, and surveillance of him, where he goes.
Possibly you can tell from looking at the victim if an adult has picked
him up before, or her up before. It’s eye contact, the meeting. It would
be & wmatter of taking the victim into custody, into the station and
talking to him or her. :

Mr. Conyers. Let’s establish this: Now, it’s pretty clear from the
law enforcement point of view that we know that in areas of each
city that this.kind, of activity goes on. I mean, it’s published.

Mr. Marrrn. I don’s think so, sir. I don’t think there is any other
law enforcement agency in the Nation, with the exception of maybe
one or two assigned to what is known as a juvenile unit, that work
this particular problem.

Mr. Coxyers. Don’t you think that the police in every major city
know the areas in which molesters or abusers of children are pick-
ing them up? I mean, there are common facilities in every place, there
are certain bus stops, there are certain parks, parts of town even that
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would have to be lmown as common knowledge to the police officer
what was in the area, if for no other reason, even if there were no child
unit such as the one in your police department.

Mr. Marriy. That’s probably true. They do know where some of
these locations are.

Mr. Conyurs. Of course. They are published also. There is a 70,000
sale of the magazine that tells anybody who wants to know where they
are, right.

My, Martiv, That is correct.

Mr. Conyers. We are not saying that is the exclusive, those are ex-
clusive locations, but there are certain general areas that are quickly
identified. '

The problem that would seem to arise is how do you interdict
nhotographers and people that are taking movies in terms of effecting
an arvest? Has that ever happened in your unit?

Mr. Marriv., Yes; it has. In fact, in almost all of the cases that I
have worked, the suspect has photographed the victim. Most of them
don’t reach national distribution through one of these magazines, but
they actually photograph their victim and at a later time they either
show it to someone else or satisfy themselves sexually by using these
simple photographs.

Mz, Conyers. Does the youngster become witness in the case, and is
he -competent and willing to festify against the film malker or the
photographer?

Mr. MarTiv., In most cases, yes.

M. Conyers. We have had some evidence that goes to the contrary.
That is to say, that sommetimes the young people don’t want to, because
of the relationship they imagine had existed, don’t want to testify and
don’t want to turn in the adult.

Mr. Marrin. Thatis true in some cases.

- Mr. Conyzers. Have you seen that happen ?

Mr. Martin, Yes, sir, and in fact, the child molester or chickenhawk
is usually the vietim’s best friend.

Mr, Conyers. They are prosecuted under State law, is that correct ?

Mr. Marrin. That is correct.

My, Conyzrs. Do you have any problems with the prosecution when
you bring in a case like this? What happens there? Is it easily made
or is it difficult, because that brings us to the focus of these hearings.
Do we need a Federal law?

Mr. Marriy. In my opinion, we do need a Federal law, absolutely.

My, Conyers. Before you give me your conclusioi, tell we what is
going wrong, if anything, in terms of the State prosecution.

Mz, Marrin. The main problem that I have in Los Angcles is the
identification of the victim. For magazines, the films or photographs
that depict the victim, is the identification of this victim, and the way
in Los Angeles it would be better for me to operate and protect the
children would be if the distributor had to label his product, who it
is distributed by, and to also know who the producer is and keep
records of it, and also know who the victim is, to keep records of who
the children are, because my main objective in Lios Angeles is strictly
the children, and I think that is what we should all be looking at.

Myr. Conyrers. My final question is, are we fighting a losing battle?

Mr. Marmin. Yes, sir, because these victims are willing, They don’t
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come forward, and to locate a victim is one of the hardest jobs there
is.

Holtzman. .
Ms. Hourzaran. Thank yon, Mr. Chairman,

My, Coxyers, I reéognize the gentlelady' from New York, Ms.

Can you give me some more details about the commercial exploita~ :

tion of these young people in films and photography ? Are there places

in Los Angeles now which produce these books or these films that you *

have mentioned in your testimony ¢
Mr, MartIN, Yes, ma’am.

Ms. Horrzaan. What power do you have to prevent their distribu- -

tion, their publication, or their sale?

Mr. Marrin. The only thing we have right now in Los Angeles -

would simply be the obscenity laws that would govern the distribution
of those particular films, magazines or whatever. Obscenity to me in

this particular issue is really not an issue. Sexual exploitation and child
abuse to me, is the issue. ‘ :

Ms. Hourzaran. I understand, but I am trying to get at the present
tools you have to deal with this problem. Has there been a book
publisher in Los Angeles County against whom your unit has taken -

action?

Mr, Marriv. Yes, ma’am. .

Ms. Hourzaraw., What laws did you use to act against this book
publisher?

Mr. Marrin. Simply the obscenity laws.

Ms. Hourzaran, Was a conviction obtained ¢

Mu. Marrin. The prosecution is pending at the present time.

Ms. Hourzman. Are there any child abuse laws in California? Is it
o crime to molest a child sexually ?

Mr. Magrrin. Yes, ma’am. Section 288 of the Penal Code is child
molesting.

Ms. Horrzman, Were these statutes used with respect to the book
publisher?

Mr. Martin, No, ma’am.

Ms. Hourzman. Are those statutes available in cases where young-
sters are commercially exploited in the production of films and books?

Mr. Marman, Yes; against the producer, because in most cases the
producer of this type of material is he himself, the child molester, or
the chickenhawk, and almost all vietims you see depicted in com-
mercial material have been sexually molested. So I would, thevefore,
combat that in going after the producer, but that does not cover the
distributor. ‘

Ms. Horrzaiaw, Have producers been prosecuted under these child
abuse statutes?

My, Marrin. Yes; they have.

Ms. Hovrzman. Do you think the present laws in Colifornia with -

respect to prosecuting the producers of these films are adequate?

Mr. Marrin. No; I don’t. I don’t think they are adequate from
the standpoint I find very few laws directed to who distributes, who
produces, and who the kids are, and I would be able to obtain with
much greater success and get the children out of fheir situnations if
I knew who the children were, _

Ms, Horrzmaw, You say the distributors would be iramune from
prosecution under general statutes?
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Mr. Martin. Under child molest, yes.

Ms. Hourzman. What statutes do you have to prosecute the
distributors?

Mr. Martin, Obscenity.

. Mse. Horrzaan. Have you prosecuted distributors under obscenity
aws?

Mr. Marrin. Yes; I have worked pornography for 514 years. I have
worked many distributor cases.

Ms. Horrzaan. Have convictions been obtained in those cases?

Mr. Marmin. In some yes, and some no. Are you asking me about
all pornography or asking me about child molesting?

Ms. Horrzaraw, I am limiting my questions to areas in which the
films or books involved the sexual exploitation of children, »

Mcr. Martrn. The one particular case I worked was Guy Strait which
started in T.os Angeles. In 1973 he was a producer and distributor of
child pornography, and he was prosecuted under the child molest
section. He jumped bond and I think he is now in jail in Illinois for
the same thing.

Ms. Hourzaax. What legislative changes or action are you asking
Congress for?

My, Marrrx. I think it weuald be beneficial to law enforcement if we
knew who the distributor was, the film, magazines and books had to
be labeled.

Ms. Horrzaax. Labeled how?

Mr. Marmin. Distributed by John Jones, 141 East First Street, Man-
hatten Beach, Calif., just a simple sticker required upon the film or
book or magazine as te who the distributor is, and also to identify
that the distributor has to keep records of who the producer is and of
the models depicted in his film, book or magazine, and that these
records be available to law enforcement.

It would be a crime for them not to keep these records,

Ms. Horrzaan. Do you snggest a change in the Mann Act as well ?

Mr. Martrx. Definitely. I think we are all well ware that the Mann
Act only covers females, and I think that has been outdated for a
long time, because there are as many males that go across State lines
for sexual purposes as there are females.

Ms. Horrzman, Thank you very much. I have no further questions.

Mr. Coxyers. I recognize the gentleman from Illinois,
Mz. Railshack.

. Mr. Ramnspacr. I want to thank the chairman.

I wonder if you happen to know by what authority the Federal
officials are involved and cooperate with local police departments. In
other words, what gives them the right, and I would say duty, to
cooperate with local officials ?

Mr, MarTiy., I am currently right now working with postal and
the BT on a child pornography case out of Washington, D.C.

Mr. Rammspacs. What 1 am really wondering is by what authority
are they doing that now? In other words, why do we have to expand ?

Mr. Marrin. The only authority I know of is they are going on the
obscenity statutes. I don’t know what title, title 18 or whatever, I don’t
know, but it’s under the obscenity statutes.

Mzr. Ramssacs. That is certainly true with respect to the postal
authorities. I am just wondering myself what really gives the Depart-
ment of Justice their right? It may be title 18, section 1305,
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Let me ask you this: Whatever resulted from your investigation of
the producer of the pamphlets that 1 think was entitled: Where the
Children are Located, that in your testimony you indicate that there
were something like 70,000 pamphlets distributed?

Mr. Marmin. It is reported there were that many distributed. There
is nio violation of the law, to my knowledge, of that particular maga-
zine, none whatsoever.

Mr. RatrsBack. Is that right? '

Mr. Magrin. It’s just sunply typewritten pages containing ad-
dresses, locations, and phone numbers. There is nothing restrictive of
that and there is nothing restrictive of Broad Street Journal, for
example. They are open to place ads.

Mr. Ramspack. Is it your belief that even the children that are
willingly participating, that they are, in effect, victims as well as
those that are abused?

Mr. Marrin, Absolutely, sir, absolutely.

Mr. RatLsBack. Why is that?

Mr. Marriv. The victim, there are two key things that cause a
child to be sexually exploited or sexually molested, and those two
things are attention and affection. This is what causes them to be
in the situation they are in, because we all need attention and affec-
tion, you and I and everyone else here, and they weren’t receiving
this. The child then looks for this and there are adults out there who
give this, and in return, he gives himself up or herself up because of
this attention and affection. ‘ B ‘

Mr. Ramssack. What has been your experience as far as those
children with whom you have worked? Have they for the most part
indicated any apprehension ahout acts of retribution that may be
performed against them, or have they generally been cooperative?
Has the Los Angeles Police Department provided protection for them
or how does that work? ' :

Mr, Marrin, In most cases the victims are cooperative with the

_police department. As I said before, they are very glad to get out of

the situation. These kids are looking for a way out, and to a runaway
or someone else, a police department doesn’t seem like the way out,
but after talking to the children 3 or 4 or 5 hours, they find that it is.
They very much want to get out. ,

Mr. Ratspack. Is it further your feeling that some kind of a ¥ed-
eral law is absolutely necessary to help mount a massive effort to deal
with a problem which really extends across jurisdictional boundaries
as well as State boundaries? ‘

Mr. Marrin. This is a worldwide problem, sir, and especially it’s a
nationwide problem, and I think law enforcement, local, State, and
Federal have got to forget about all of the jealousies involved in law
enforcement and work together to protect our children.

Mr. Ratssacs. Do you have any idea how extensive the problem is,
and for instance, do you know how many other police departments
have separate divisions dealing with the problem?

Mr. MarTin, To my knowledge, there is no other police department
other than the Los Angeles Police Department dealing with this prob-
lem specifically. How extensive it is no one knows, but I will tell you
from my experience that it is gigantic. If we have a million runaways
annually, nationwide, just talking about runaways, not talking about
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‘any-tliin + else, then let’ssay that 400,000 are able to.find the “good
guys.” %ou tell me how the other 600,000 exist? L L
Mr. Ramssack. I must say I was very, very much impressed with
that part of your testimony which called to our attention the difficulty
in really getting to the heart of the problem, because the children are
not about to seek your help and you actually have to go out and try to
investigate and determine the extent of the problem yourself, and I
think it poses an extremely difficult problem for the American public
to get a handle on just how extensive 1t is. ,
' fjust want-to commend you for the work that you have done, and
indicate my hope that we can be responsive to what I think is a very,
very serious problem. .

Mr. Martin. Thank you, sir. It is a very serious problem.

Mr. Conyers. Mr. McClory, do you have questions?

Mr. McCrory. No, thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. )

Mr. Conyers. I recognize the gentleman from Missouri, Mr.
Volkmer, : '

Mzr. VoLxMER. Just a couple of brief questions, )

One, how many producers can you identify without naming, but by
number, in Los Angeles? Not an estimate but actually that you have
lmowledge of #

Mr. Marmiw. Sir, that would be, when you talk about a producer, as
I said earlier, most chickenhawlks and child molesters are themselves
producers, because most of them photograph their victims, and most
of the stuff doesn’t get into the commercial publications.

Mr. Vorxumer, What T am talking about is commercial producers
right now; that is what I am talking about, one that does the publica-
tions, the one that makes the films.

Mr. MarTIN. Strictly producers?

Mr. Vorugazr. Yes,

Mr. MarT1n. In the neighborhood of 30+to 50. ~

Mr. VorrmEer. Now, how many distributors would you estimate there
are that distribute the films and the books and the magazines in Los
Angeles?

Mr. Marriv. Probably 200.

Mr. Vorraer. Thank you very much.

Mr. Conyers. The gentleman from Ohio, Mr. Ashbrook.

Mr. Asmrroox. Thank you. T just had one question. ,

I arrived late and you may have touched on it, but I assume from
what you are saying that you think there is a need for Federal action in
this field, because State and local investigators and law enforcement
agencies are at a disadvantage in this particular area. Am I right in
assuming that or wounld vou care to comment on that ? -

Myr. MarTix, Sir, T believe that the problem is not only just in the
State and city of Los Angeles, it ooes all over the Nation, and T def-
inifelv think we need something federally that the Federal agencies can
assist Jocal law enforcement in these investigations.

Mr. Asmmroor. You would contemplate the Federal Government,
throueh the Justice Department assisting your effort, or do you look
up them takine a lead in the area ?

Mr. Magrrx. T always look upon a Federal agency as taking a lead
because they are nationwide. I am restricted to the city and county of
Los Angeles, and I. therefore, would look up to the Federal agency to
take the lead. I think it’s their responsibility.
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-7 My, AsmBrook. I guess the last question, do you think it’s the type of
situation where the city, State, and local law enforcement agencies can
and are handling the problem. Would you envision, let me phrase it
again, would you envision the city of Lios Angeles being able to curb,
-prevent these abuses without a Federal law ?

Mz, Marzrn. Absolutely not. -

Mr. AseBroox. Thank you. o
- Mr. Coxyers. The gentleman from Pennsylvania, Mr, Ertel.

Mr, Errer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. - o :

T was interested in your comment about the labeling and the sugges-
“tion that we require labeling and the distributor to keep a log or book
.on this. What would you da akout the forgery of a false name situa-
tion? Obviously the producer would not give a true name, and he would

malke up a false name. Then, going to the distributor, if you look.ab his
ook, he would have a false name, which would prozbably not be very
productive in prosecution of the producers.
-~ How would you suggest we handle that situation ? -

Mr. Martin. I would probably think the producer that produced the
“material in some cases would use  £alse name.

Mr. Erter. Don’t you think he would always? ‘

Mr. MarTin. That wonld make it more difficult, of course, and prob-
-ably the model might use a false name also. The only thing I can say
would be to get some kind of legislation that requires them to give a
‘true name. ' :

Mr. Erren. I guess then what we would be doing is prosecuting
people for giving false names on a statute. We still have really the
‘same problems of locating one, the producer, and two, locating the vic-
-tim. We really have the same problems in the final analysis. '

Mr. Marrn. Yes, sir, that could pose a problem. How do I answer

"that question ? I don’t know. I don’t have an answer for it.
-~ Mr. Erree. I am just suggesting that possibly that isn’t a real tool,
and you suggested that maybe the labeling, your idea, would be a tool
“to get back to the people and be able to identify them. I can understand
‘zvhir you want that. T am just wondering why that would be the right
“tool. :

Mr. Martin. If you are in business and handling a product, I am
"sure in your own mind you know who brings in your product, who

your salesmen are, and I am sure that the distributor of material
~wonld know who the producer was.

Mr. BrrEL. We get back to the same problem with the drug enforce-
ment, the false names, the runners, the people of that sort, which really
“are the throwaways, if you want to call it that. You get the runner but
'vou never get the principal; isn’t that pretty much what we will be
doing here? :

Mr, Marrrv. I think you are going after the principal when you go
after the producer and distributor, o

Mr. Errer. But he is going to insulate himself under this, A.

_ Mr. MarTIN. If we only get to the child involved, then we would be
oing a credible job. ‘ ,

Mr. Errer. I would like to turn to another area and you probsbly
have some knowledge of this. By organized crime I mean not jiust a
local syndicate within it but I mean a nationwide group. Can you give
me any idea of your knowledge of participation of organized crime in
this urea, not just pornography but child pornography specifically ?
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Mr. Magrrn. T don’t think to my knowledge that I lnow of any di-
rect ties. In other words, distributors of this material are not family
members. I do know that some of the people that distribute child por-
nography deal with organized crime. )

Mr. Errer. I guess you are suggesting they have contacts into orga-
nized crime, but are not the principals of organized crime; correct?

Mr. Marrin. That is correct, to my knowledge.

Mr. Errer. The other question I have is you talked about the maga-
zine Broad Street Journal; am I correct? How is that distributed?

Mr. Marrin. By mail order only, through the mail.

Mr. Erren. Obviously, as you said, that is legal. You are not sug-
gesting 2We try and prevent that thing from going through the mail,
are you?

Mr. MarTin. No, sir. I don’t think there is any way we can.

Mr, Errer. Constitutionally.

Mr. MarTIN. Any way.

Mr. Erter. I appreciate your testimony. I understand some of the
problems you face, and that is why I was trying to get to those to see
if there was some way we can give you some tools to work against that

roblem.
P Mr, Marmin. Thank you very much.

Mr. Convyers. We are all indebted to you.

We have our colleague from North Carolina, Mr. Gudger.

Mr. Gupeer, My, Chairman, I have one question and one only, be-
cause you have resolved most of the matters I have been concerned
about this morning.

Mr. Martin, do you know of anything being done by the National
Association of State Legislators to bring about uniformity of obscenity
laws? My reason for posing this question is that North Carolina just
like your own State apparently has a statute making it & violation of
the obscenity laws to use an infant in photography of this type, and
what I am asking you is do you know whether or not any effort is
being made to bring about uniformity by the Association of State
Legislators? Have you testified before them to express these concerns?

Mr. Marmiv. No, sir, I haven’t, but as X understand the obscenity
laws it is & community that makes up what is obscene in their own
community, and I think what would govern is what community you
ar~ in as to what material would be declared obscene.

Mr. GupeEr. You have made no particular study of the various State
statutes?

Mr. MarTin, No, sir.

Mr. Gopeer. In this field. You are referring, I am sure, to the recent
Supreme Court cases, and you have answered my question. You just
don’t happen to be knowledgeable in this field.

Thank you very much.

Mr, MarTIN. Yes, sir.

Mr. CoxyEers. I want to thank you on behalf of the subcommittee,
but I would like to just close by raising this question for the record.
Have there been any systematic investigations of the production and
distribution of child pornographic literature of films in California
anywhere ?

Mr. Magriw, Yes, sir.

Mr., Conyrrs. Where ?

Mr. Martan. In Los Angeles.
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Mr. Conyers. Tell me about it. . .

Mr. Marrrx. In 1973 I was involved with Guy Strait. Guy Strait
was a producer, in my opinion was one of the largest producers and
distributors, and the investigation started from two films that I re-
ceived from a lab. The film ﬁepicted young boys, involved in explicit
sex.

I found that Guy Strait lived in a home in Hollywood Hills himself
and placed a surveillance on his home one night when I found a
vehicle in a driveway. The first two people that walked out of the home
that morning were two of the boys that had been depicted in the films.

T served search warrants there, finding a shooting location. I went
to a trailer in Redwood City, Calif., which was used as an editing
trailer by Mr. Strait, and some children involved with him. I picked up
a film, an unedited film, which showed Mr. Strait with a 16 millimeter
camera on his shoulder with 8 boys laying in a bed, and this came out of
the reflection in the mirror in the Holiday Inn.

Mr. Convyers. Of course, this is one case. I am talking about a sys-
tematic investigation of the production of porno films involving
children. That is one case. What about the whole area?

Mr. Marrin, I don’t understand your question, sir.

Mor. Convyers. Well, you say that there are about 80 to 50 producers
and lr)na‘%ybe—-what did you name—about a couple hundred distributors
maybe?

Mr. MarTIN. Yes, sir. ‘

lsz:é Coxvyer. Has there been a systematic investigation of all of
them ?

Mr. Marrin, Absolutely. I worked at it for 514 years, and it dealt
with the distribution. I was more concerned at the time with adult
pornography than I was child pornography. In the last year and a
half T think child pornography has started rising rapidly because
the pornography industry has done everything that I know of
imaginable.

Mr. Coxzers. Just to short circuit what could be a much longer
discussion, would you agree with this statement: that most law en-
forcement agents give very low priority to children except when they
are public nuisances, and that this lack of attention by law enforce-
ment reflects low priority generally for children in the society, maybe
in addition to the Iack of laws on the subject ?

Mr. Marmin, That is a hard question to answer, Mr. Chairman.

As far as giving low priority to children, in some areas, yes, I
think law enforcement gives low priority to a hustler type child that
has existed. I do believe that because most law enforcement handles
cases that come to them, not cases they go out and make, I would have
to say yes, probably, it is a low priority.

Mr. ConyErs. What the subcommittee wants to know if you are in
a unit that is combating this problem you have idersified maybe 50
producers, a couple hundred distributors. You have told us about the
law. You tell us about your concern. What goes wrong? I mean how
come they are winning and we are losing? Why don’t we go in with
the laws that we have? They are clearly violating the laws. Why don’t
we make the case and prosecute ?

Mr. Marrin. I think the main concern of the Federal level that you
talk about the obscenity standards—-—
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‘Mr. Coxvyers. I am not talking about the Federal level. T am talking
about Log Angeles, Calif., to which we are indebted for starting the
first sexual exploited child unit. I am not trying to deprecate your
“fvork, or the work of the police department, but what we have to find
-out is where is the causal connection broken., We have criminal con-
sdluct. We have a law enforcement unit dealing with it, and yet you say
‘we are fighting a losing battle, and there are more of them than there
are of us. How come?

Mr, Marriv. I cannot answer that point, how come.

* Mr, Ramssack. Would you yield?

Mr. Conyers. I certainly will., _ )
© Mr, Ramseack. Along those same lines, Mr. Martin, you would
eertainly not say that you have adequate staff, or that there is ade-
quate legal authority throughout the country, forgetting Loos Angeles
I think the chairman is asking you why haven’t we been more success-
ful, and to me that translates do you have enough men? L
- My, Marmx. Absolutely not. I could use 100 men in my unit right
now in the city of Los Angeles alone to combat the problem that I
know about, and I have 6. So this is the problem. _

. L don’t think the public is really aware of what the real problem is,
and you don’t become aware of that until you start talking to the kids,
and start talking to the people involved, and really find out how big
this problem really is, and how far it runs.

- ‘Mr. McCrory. Would the chairman yield to me for a comment?

‘Mr. Convyrrs. Yes.

Mzr. McCrory. Mr. Chairman, I think that the extreme importance
-of this hearing, the importance which to me especially the Chicago
Tribune was glving to this subject, is focusing national attention on
the need for beefed up participation by police departments and law
enforcement agencies and for the need of some additional legislation,
perhaps Federal legislation, and that is the importance of this hearing.
Thank vou.
~ Ms. Hourzaran. Mr. Chairman.

. Mr. Convers. Yes; Iyield to the gentlewoman.

Ms, Horrzaran, I think the chairman has raised a very important
question, one which I was trying to get at earlier.

Let me see if T can pose the question this way. If you had 5 or 10
times the number of police officers and investigators on your staff,
would that assist you in dealing with this problem? Are we really
talking about a lack nf people to do the investigating, to do the appre-
hension ? Is that really what the problem is?

- My. Marrrn. That is a problem, but I think really the problem is
public awareness.

My problem, No. 1 problem that T have, is locating the vietim, of
knowing who the vietim is. I don’t have any laws currently that would
help me and assist me in identifying the victims of child pornography.

Of course, manpower is always a problem, and I could certainly
use more manpower in the city of Los Angeles to work this problem.
But this is a new area. No one has really investigated it before.

'Ms. Ionrzaaw. But you say there are 40 producers now. It scems to
that you already have plenty of information in terms of going after
these people.

Mr. Martry, That is correct.
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Ms. Horrzaran. And if you had enough staff and enough police
working on it you probably would get all 40 of them; is that correct?

Mr. Marrrx. That is correct, one at a time.

Ms. Horazaran. Maybe all at one time you had enough people? -

Mz, Marrry. That is true, but they don’t work from § to 5 like most
people do, and it is a very time consuming type of mvestigation througl
surveillance and whatever, They may shoot once a week, or once &
month, or something like that. o

Ms. Horrzaraw, Thank you, Mr, Chairman. )

_ Mr. Conxymgs. Mr., Martin, we ave going to need your continued as-.
sistance to us as we try to make & nexus, and 1 em-going to, after we
veturn from the vote that is taking place on the floor, continue the
question of law enforcement and the legal considerations of Congress-
man Kildee and A.ttorney Bob Leonard, who heads the National Dis-
triet Attorneys Association. We want to continue this line of question-
Ing in 15 minutes.

The subcommittee stands in recess.

[Brief recess.]

M. Conyers. The sabeommittee will come to oxder.

I am very pleaged to call to introduce our next witness our distin-
guished colleague from Michigan, My, Dale Kildee, who represents:
the Tth District, and who has introduced H.R. 3918, along whicli he
has gathered a number of sponsors, and is the subject of our consid~
eration here today.

We welcome you to introduce the next witness forus.

TESTIMONY OF HON. DALE E, KILDEE, A REPRESENTATIVE IN -
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE 0F MICHIGAN

Mr. Kmpee. Thank you. )

Mr. Chairman and colleagues, as suthor of I.R. 3913, T would like”
to say that the existence of sordid sexual exploitation of children
deeply shocks and outrages me, as I am sure it does you. The sexual
abuse of children is presently being encouraged by the greed of people
who have no sense of social responsibility or decency.

I feel that existing State and Federal statutes do not adequately’
address the problem. For the most part, States have not yet addressed.
the problem of the commercial sexual abuse of childven. The existing»
TFederal statute which prohibits interstate shipment of obscene mate-
rials has not prevented an increase in sexually explicit matsrials em-
ploying children. o

I'might comment that the psychological impact of sexual abuse is:
well documented. First, there is a disturbing tendency for parents who
abuse their children to have been victims themsely~s while they were;
children. The increaso in sexual abuse creates frigh ¢ning implications:
for future generations. Second, children who have been sexually abused
tend to have sexual dysfunctions Jater in life in terms of promiscuity”
orin terms of inability to have a sexual life at all,

" In the early part of this century, the Congress took action to regu-.
late the conditions of the employment of children because of the:
atrocious working conditions that existed. I deeply believe that just
as pernicious as fhe sweatshops which left physical scats are the mod-
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ern day conditions which have psychic scars. T feel that responsible
legislation is needed to prevent these activities. .

nder the child labor law, not only was certain child labor declared
illegal, but the products of that child labor could not lawfully be sold.
T am joined in this attitude by a close personal friend who has been
asked to testify before the committee today. Bob Leonard has been
Genesee County, Michigan’s prosecuting attorney for 14 years. In
addition to being an excellent prosecutor of criminal activities, he has
been particularly responsive to the needs of the people in our home
community. He founded and has operated an extremely effective Con-
sumer Protection Division. He was responsible for setting up one of
the first rape crisis centers in the country. His concern for the problems
facing our community has been widely recognized. On a local level,
he was in the enviable position in the last election of having no oppo-
sition.

His activities have even been recognized on a national level. He is
the president-elect of the National District Attorneys Association. L
think that that recognition is indicative of the thoroughness and hard
work that goesinto his job.

Bob has now undertaken the task of addressing the problem of the
criminal sexual abuse of children. He played an infirumental role in
setting u%) the task force of the National District Attorneys Associa-
tion which is dealing with this problem.

I take great pride in introducing my prosecutor, Robert Leonard.

Mr, Coxyers. The subcommittee welcomes you, Attorney Robert
Leonard. You are well known to a number of us. We congrutulate you
on becoming the president-elect of the National District Attorneys
Association.

You prepared a thoughtful statement and ezliibits which, without
objection, we will incorporate into ouv record at this point and then
will allow you to proceed in your own way.

[ The prepared statement of Mr. Leonard follows:]

STATEMENT BY ROBERT F. LEONARD

‘We're here today to address a problem fhat was virtually unrecognized as
recently as six or eight months ago.

The problem of sexual abuse of children has long plagued our society, Such
offenses have proven difficult for law enforcement because of an inability to
detect the crime where many perpetrators are for the most part relatives and
friends and youth workers with ulterior motives and where the victims do not or
cannot complain to someone who will listen. If complaints about such offenses
are made, the child very often will ultimately yield to family pressure to cover
up the embarrassing abuse. Or, the victims' fragile memories und child-like per-
ceptions often preclude successful prosecution.

Recently, reports of sexual abuse of children have come from widely scattered
points across the country and information gathered by investigating these inci-
dents has made it apparent there is & new and pericious dimension to an already
grave problem.

Abuse for profit is manifested in child prostitution and kiddie porn and has
created a multimillion dollar industry built on the physical and psychological
brutalization of thousands of our young citizens.

Pornography should not be the major focus of our concern. It is brutalization
of our children suffering percverted physical and psychological abuse that has
brought us here today, and the reading and viewing material depicting such acts
is but a spin-off of the underlying victimization.

The tentacles of this illegal activity form an underground network reaching
from New York to California and Michigan to Louisiana. Prosecutors in cities
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across the country have uncovered and compiled information pointing to a i:igh
degree of exchange and communication among those who prey on our chilaren.
Seemingly isolated cases of such deviancy reveal a frightening set of sophisticated
intercommunications upon closer scrutiny. Please permit me to review a few of
the more recent headline storvies:

A Michigan Scoutmaster, once einployed as a Scouting executive is charged with
criminal sexnal conduct stemming from incidents with young boys.

Four Michigan men are arrested separately for sexual exploitation and pander-
mg of more than 30 boys between the ages of 10 and 14, While not an organized
ring, they informally exchange victims or names and the number of hoys invoived
may ultimately range to as many as 300,

Six adult men ave charged in Illinoig for running a nationwide organization
aﬂeged to use camps and churvhes as vehicles for luring runaway youths into be-
coming male prostitutes to serve wealthy homosexuals,

Two Illinois men are picked up for allegedly using two 14-year-old boys in a
pornographic movie which they planned to distribute acrogs the country.

New Orleans police arrest a probation otficer and foster father of two state
wards for aggravated rape and aggravated crimes against hature on 8 to 12 year-
old-boys, He is also a former Scout troop leader.

An Bpiscopnl priest is under arrest in Tennessee on 16 separate counts in-
volving child abuse and pornography at the boys’ farm he directs and where he
receives wards of the Tennessee courts.

The operator of a Michigan nature camp for boys is now serving time in prison
for criminal gexual conduet svith a 10-year-old boy.

A Michigan pbilanthropist is being sought on state and federal charges for

two counts of criminal sexual conduct involving 8 and 14 year-old boys which ~

took place on an island he owns and for which a nature camp was planned.

A New Jersey “Church” purportedly functions as the front for boy lover
movement publications. Many of these people and organizationg interrelate
through the exchange of information and even the exchange of the child vietims
themgelves. .

One of the best illustra tons of this tragic phenomenon was revealed just last
week as four men were the first of many expected to be convicted in a whoizsale
sex operation based in New Orleans, but with national, and even international,
connections. These men grganized a boy scout troop to attract their young vie-
tims. They sre also linked to a boys school in TFlorida and one of them is sought
on an earlier. child molestation in England. They made extensive use of under-
ground pedophiliac publications as a technigue for locating and distributing
children. Negrly all of the offenders in this scheme are well educated and
sophisticated individuals who have used taeir responsible community positions
ag a “cover” for deviant and destructive behavior.

These stories are surfacing in state after state and through coopemtion among
members of the National sttnct Aftorneys Association, we have discovered
that these child abusers are zealous proselvtmels of their pmverted notions, We
have evidence connecting offenders in Michigan, Illinois, Liouisiana, California,
Tennessee, New Jersey, and other states.

In Februavy of this year the Wational District Attorneys Association formed
a Task Torce to cope with these nnique cases. In early March we contacted Mr.
Benjamin Civilettl, who heads the Criminul Division of the Justice Department,
out of a realization that federal involvement is absolutely necessary to effectively
surmount the obstacles created by local jurisdictional limits, He has adviged us
that the FBI and Postal Inspectors’ Service now have pending between 25 and 80
separate investigations involving commercial sexual exploitations of children.
Mr. Civiletti’s work.and cooperation with our member prosecutors has been an,
indispensable aid.

Our local experience clearly illustrated the need for a federal attack on fhe
problem County distriet attorneys face enormous difficulty and expense in seek-
ing to investigate multistate offenses. My county budget permits us to extradite
perhaps a dozen out of hundreds of offenders each year who might be subject
to such process. When a conspiratorial group of individuals froem several states
combine to molest children and even produce movies across state lines depicting
their abuse, where else but in federal court should the prosecution take place?
‘What state should try such a case? What state would want to prosesute it?
‘What state has the money to prosecute it ?

A reporter for the Traverse City Record-iagle hag tracked the activity of a
single suspect who disappeared from a Michigan county a few months ago,

.

.
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shortly after he was charged with two counts of criminal sexual conduct involvs
ing 10 and 14 year-old boys.

Dwyer Grossman has been linked to four organizations suspected of being
fronts for child pornography. One of the organizations is deseribed as a “chils
dren’s mission”, Another is a ‘“church” and “educational foundation” for youth.
They are believed to have reaped the benefits of full tax exemptions from the
Internal Revenue Service and state tu\mg units as charitable oxgamzatlons.
One of the “fronts” is headqumtered in New Jersey; another is pu1p01tedlv
based in Xllinois,

The suspect lived in a fAlthy New York apartment for at lesst five months,
where the walls were covered with “tons of photographs” of children at play af
his summer camp, according to his apartment owner,

The product of a wealthy Long Island family, Grossman was graduated from
Corrnell University, then taught for 10 years in an exclusive boarding school for
boys in New Jersey. He then spent two years at a private boys' academy for
students in fourth through ninth grades. He is alleged to have been director of a
hoys' camp in Vermont,

Records reveal that Grossman applied to serve as a Big Brother in a California
county while scouting locations for a hoys’ camp in that state, :

He apparently actwely sought fonds from wealthy contributors, including a
Michigan phﬂanthloplst, in order to get iiis camp underway.

While there is a need for a multi-faceted attack on this problem, no simplistie
answers exist and we must find an approach that respects sacred First Amend-
ment and privacy rights.

- Supreme Court Justice Hugo Black once remarked that, “laws adopted in time
of dire need are often very hasty and oppressive laws, especially when, as often
happens, they are carried over and accepted as normal”. I responding to public
concern over child pornography and abuse we should not prohibit offensive con-
duct by trampling upon the rights of expression guaranteed by the First Amend-
ment of the U.S. Constitution. In fact, I have some questions about the langnage
used in parts of the proposed Child Abuse Prevention Act derived from my con-
cern for Mirst Amendment vights.

And yet, I have an overriding belief that federal legislation is desperately
needed and that line-drawing, if it occurs, should be to protect the now defense-
less minds and bodies of our children. We all know of the tremendous emotional
and physical growing pains experienced in a normal childhood. We can only
imagine the frustration, anguish, fear and devastation that might result from
a single aberrant sexual encounter,

A respected Michigan psychiatrist-psychoanalyst states a generally-acceptable
view of child development that if a child gets through the first six years of psy-
cho-zexual development in a healthy state, then a single seduetion or molestation,
whether heterosexual or homosexual in nature, will not alter nis sexual role.
However, a chiliq with a flimsy sexual identification at age seven ov eight may
suffer permanent /. velopuient damage and r, reversal of his heterosexual identi-
fication by an environmental trauma of concact wich a pedophiliac of either sex.
The doctor concluded that such encounters are more likely to tip the balance for
a seven or eight year-old than for a ffteen year-old who may have more fully
gcted out or sohd‘ fied his sexuality.

The solution is also made difficult by the types of people we have dlscovexed
as the perpetrators of sich exploitation. They are not always the stereotyped dirty,
old men in sleazy trenchcoats. Most are clothed with respectability as priests,
counselors, camp officials, bus drivers, coaches, Scout Ieaders and Big Brothers.
Certainly thwe overwhelming majority of people in these service functions are
contributing and ennchmg influences on the lives of our children. So we must
find a means of screening out the abusers without destxoymg the valuable con-
tributions made by Ot..xel.n

‘We cannot arrive at solutions to these somplex and rtmmphous circumgtances

. without further study. We might explore the desirvability of requiring some

screening or criminal-records-rheck of individuals working for organizations
foousmg on children's activities. Perhaps civil liabilities for fmhues to properly
sereen workers should attach.

Federal sanctions might be directed against organizations receiving Federal
funds, directly or indirectly and who per nnt sexual exploitation to occur behind
the facade of legitimacy.
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There certainly should be a national effort to educate parents and children,
TWhole communities must be warned of the infiltration of a small number of in-
dividuals who would prostitute friendships and organizations for self-gratifica-
tion. We must guard against making courts the unwitting accomplices of these
eriminals who take advantage of wealk state supervision and licensing standards
to receive funding and children for their own abusive purposes.

With offenders who are unusually bright, yet sick individuals, we need special
legislation that carries uhusual penalties. We may want centralized mental treat-
ment or behavior modification cenferg designed to alter the deviant acts of these
people, if possible, before they are returhed to society, if we cenclude they should
be returned af all, We need also to study their methodology so that we can better
ferret out, con /sict, and control other offenders.

As one of the legislative means of addressing this complex problem, I am in
agreement with 'the basie thrust of the proposed Chlld Abuse Prevention Act. The
proposal succeeds in aiming eriminal sanctions as directly as possible at the acts
of sexual abuse that are inexorably tied to the material produced, The Act also
succeeds simply by its recognition that the problem is national in scope and re-
quires at least in part, a federal solution.

However, I do entertain some guestions about the broad language of the
statute which I raise for discussion with this distinguished group.

For example, might thig statute be interpreted to include the newsperson, the
anthropologist, or documentary filmmaker who may face criminal sanctions
under the broad language of thw statute even if aeting responsibly for legitimate
news or academic purposes. On the other hand, Congress might decide that even
for serious artistic statements it shounld be illegal to permit a child to simulate
or carry cut any sexual act on the screen because of the possibility of
psycholugical damage to the child-actor. Or Congress might ¢onclude that such
a decision should be left to the pment or that to impose federal 1aw as the bill is
currently worded would overreuch the limits of governmental acnon in constitu-
tionally pmtected areas.

Unfer Section 2252 (a) (2) of the proposed Act, are we imposing an un-
cons"citutioual mandate on individual adult bookstore operators to bear the
Burden of determining whether each and every persor “ppearing in svery movie
or buok in his store is over or under the magic age of 16, The real questlon here
is whether the law is enforceable against the local bookstore seller? Or is this a
matter that might better be left £ - «cal government to control?

In my opinion the federal government might better focus on the actual physical
abuse of the child, the mterst’xte trangportation of children for that purpose, and
the photog raphmg, filming and wholesale distribution of such materials hetween:.
states.

Perhaps we should review already existing federal law for possibie revisions
that would help in stopping this abuse, even if ag a supplement to the proposed
statute. For example, the AMann Act Section 2421 might be amended to refer fo
the transportation of “persons” rather than being limited to “women or girls” as
it now reads. We now know that young boys are transported across state lmes
for the same immmoral purposes.

These general considerations, of course, are offered to ‘ISSISt you in arriving
at the best possible legislation after considering all argumesnits.

Pernaps, I have raised more questions today than I have answeved. I hope,
however, that I have acted as a catalyst in moving forward to protect children
while at the same time helping to avoid undue interference with the constitu-
tionally protected rights of all our citizens. Thank you. .

List or DxmImITs

Membership of National Dlstnct Attorney’s Association Task Force on Sexusl
Abuse of Children.

Hermes Magazine. (May be found in subcommittee files.)
+ Letter from Robert F. Leonard, Proseculing Attorney, Genesee County, to.
Benjamin Civiletti, Assistant U.S. Attorney General, March 4, 1977,
- 11,8.0.A.18 § 2421, Mann Act.

Flow chart of national connections within boy-lovers community construeted,
by convicted child molester.

Newspaper articles.

8
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NATIONAL DISTRICT ATTORNEYS ASSOCIATION TASK FORCE ON SEXUAL ABUSE OF
CHILDREN

Hon. Bernard Carey, States Attorney, Cook County, Civie Center, Chicago, 111
2,

606I%on. Harry Connick, District Attorney, Orleans Parish, 2700 Tuland Avenue,
New Orleans, La. 70119. .

Hon. Joseph Freitas, San Francisco County District Attorney, Hall of J ustice,
880 Bryant Street, San Francisco, Calif. 94103.

Ion. Robert I'. Leonard, Prosecuting Attorney, Genesee County, 200 Court
House, Ilint, Mich. 48502.

Hon. J. William Pope, Jr., District Attorney General, 18th Judicial Circuit,
P.0. Box 280, Pikeville, ™ n. 3T367.

TIon. Dennis Ryan, St . - s Attorney, Lake County, Court House, Waukegan, Ili
60085.

LETTER TO THE ASSISANT U.S. ATTORNEY GENERAIL

NATIONAL DISTRICT ATTORNEYS ASSOCIS TON,
Chicago, Ill., March 4, 1977.
Mr, BENTAMIN CIVILETTI,
Assistant Attorney General-Designate, Criminal Division, Department of Juslice
‘Washington, D.C.

DeEar Mr. Crvitertr: Just a note to express my appreciation to you and your
stail for the courtesies extended us when we et with the Attorney General and
you in your offices on Friday. I believe such frank exchange of ideas will be
beneficial for all.

As I mentioned to you on the phone yasterday, the National District Attorneys
Agssaeiation is anxious to develop a close working relationship with your depart-
ment and to meet with, you to get some insight on your thoughts and philosophy
on the problems of the Criminal Justice Systew.

Since it is impossible for you to attend the San Diego Conference this month,
hopefully you will be able to attend our spring Board of Directors meeting in
Chicago May 11-13 at the Continental Plaza. If this is posible, we would be
happy to make accommodations fcr you «t the hotel. There are approximately
75 board members and about 60-65 generally attend.

Also pursuant to our phone conversation, I would like to briefly expand on the
matter of sexual child abuse, The problem appears to be national in scope and
obviously its implications are tragic. It involves primarily children between
ages b to 15 being sexually abused by adults. It sev ns there may very well be &
national conspiracy made up of an inter-relating network of foster homes,
churches, nuture camps and other similar programs ostensibly set up to handle
wayward, incorrigible, homeless youngsters. These groups are nof, always tied
togethe: by any common denominator other than many have the same M.O. or
the same organizer. Someone that needs investigation is a person by the name
of Dyer Grossman, who it appears, goes from state to state sefting up these
organizations, and in some cases, affiliating with 2 New Jersey church under
circurastances which avoid any serutiny by the IRS.

These phony organizations are -established in such a way as to be the conduit
to accumulate youngsters to be used in making porno films and being available
for sexual activities with adult perverts. Some of the expenditures for these
youngsters are nnknowingly being provided by public funding, These programs
are being stocked with young children by over-burdened courts, insensitive
parents, and in some cases, well-meaning officials. Once the youngster is placed
in the program whether Michigan, Tennessee, Louisiana or any other state, he is
trapped and Becomes the easy prey for the sextual deviates who in most cases
are running the programs.

These adult perverts appear to be aware of the network and travel between
states attending these camps and sexusally abusing these children for money
usually paid to the camp officials, Many of these people involved in this type of

activity. are very wealthy individuals and some are respectable comivunity
leaders in their home towns,
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The district attorneys with whom I have spoken who have this problem have
told me that their communities are outraged and they are anxious to couperate
in any way in dealing with this matter. They feel very restricted in confronting
the issue because of the jurisdietional limitations, This is the reason I brought
the matter to your attention. If our suspicions are borne out and there is a na-
tional network, it would seem that the federal government could be helpful in
assisting local district attorneys in attacking this problem, If you would, please
let me know your thoughts on this matter.

The Liaison Committee between the National Distriet Attorneys Association
and the Attorney General is being set up and the names of the Committee should
be to you in the next four or five days.

If I can be of any further assistance in this matter or any matter of mutual
concern, please contact me.

Sincerely,
. RoBERT . LEONARI
President-Blect.

CHAPTER 117—WHITE SrAvVE TRAFFIC
Sec.
2421, Transportation generally.
2422, Coercion or enticement of female.
2423, Coercion or enticement of minor female.
2424, Filing factual statement about alien female.
! § 2421, TRANSPORTATION GENERALLY

Whoever knowingly transports in interstate or foreign commerce, or in the
District of Columbia or in any Territory or Possession of the United Statesy, any
woman or girl for the purpose of prostitution or debauchery, or for any other
immoral purpose, or with the intent and purpose to induce, entice, or compel such
woman or girl to become a prostitute or to give herself up to debauchery, or to
engage in any other im.noral practice; ov

‘Whoever knowingly procures or obtains any ticket or ticksts, or ainy form of
transportation or evidence of the right thereto, to be used by any woman or girl
in interstate or foreign commerce, or in the District of Columbia or any Terri-
tory or Possession of the United States, in going to any place for the purpose of
prostitution or debauchery or for any other immoral purpose, or with the intent
or purpose on the part of such person to induce, entice, or compel her to give
herself up to the practice of prostitution, or to give herself up to debauchery,
or any other i moral practice, whereby any such woman or girl shall be trans-
ported in interstate or foreign commerce, or in the District of Clolumbia or any
Territory or Possession of the United States—
b Slllmll be fined not more than $5,000 or imprisoned not more than five years, or

oth, .

June 25, 1948, c. 645, 62 Stat. S12; May 24, 1949, c. 139, § 47, 63 Stat. 96.

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES

Reviser’s Note. Based on Title 18, U.8.C., 1940 ed. §§ 897, 898, 401, 404 (June
25, 1910, c. 395, §§ 1, 2, b5, 8, 36 Stat. 825-827).

Section consolidates sections 397, 398, 401, and 404 of Title 18, U.8.C., 1949 ed.

Section 397 of Title 18, U.S8.C., 1940 ed., containing a definition of the terms
“interstate commerce” and “foreign commerce’” was omitted as unnecessary in
view of the definition of those terms in section 10 of this title,

Section 401 of Title 18, U.S.C., 1940 ed., preseribing venue was dmitted as
unnecessary in view of section 3237 of this title.

Section £03 of Mitle 18, U.8.C., 1940 ed., was omitted, No definition of “Terwi
tory” is necesary te the nevised section as it is phrased, Construction therein of
“person” is covered by swtion 1 of Title 1, U.8.C. 1940 ed., General Provisions,
as amended. Last paragraph of said section relating to construction of this
chapter was omitted gs surplusage.

This chart was drawn by Gerald 8. Richards, now serving 2-10 in Jackson
State Prison, Jackson, Michigan, for sexually molesting & minor male.

The contents of the chart have not been verified in full.
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NEWS
Porno RiINg Uses CHURCH, Tax LAaws

(By Marilyn Wright)

TrRAVERSE CiTy.—A nationwide child pornography racket is hiding behind the
moral aura and tax-exempt status of a church.

1A four-month investigation conducted by The Record-Eagle has determined that
the Church of the New Revelation of Kearay, N.J., is tied to an underground
network that uses young boys for homosexual and pornographic purposes.

The investigation has further disclosed that the “church” and several other
organizations like it have been granted income tax exemptions by the Internal
Revenue ‘Service, which considered t*em to be charitable organizations.

It was also Iearned that principals behind the homosexual pornography racket
had duped at least two states into paying for the care of children while they
were used for homosexual and pornographic purposes. Plans to apply for simi-
lar aid in other states, including Michigan, were in the works before they were
uncovered by police.

This new information reinforces the theory held by law enforcement and child
care authoritisv across the country that child pcrnography is not the work
of a few “sick #:mateurs, but of interconnecting organizations designed to profit
substantially thruugh the exploitation of children.

“It seems to be like spider webs strung out all over the nation,” says Mason
Spong, a New Orleans juvenile detective.

Three supposedly “charitable” organizations have already been pinpointed
by police as alleged “fronts” for the production of pornography using young
boys. They are Boy Scout Troop 137 of New Orleans, Boy’s Farm Inc, of Alto,
Tenn,, and Brother Paul’s Children’s Mission, located on North Xox Island,
which is part of Leelanau County just off Grand Traverse Bay.

In addition, three other corporations were set up as “tax dodges” and used
as rfronts for the production of homosexual child pornography, according to the
confessions of Gerald Richards, now serving time in Jackson Prison on a criminal
gsexual conduect convietion. Richards has identified the organizations as the
Church of the New Revelation and the Ocean Living Institute, both of New
Jersey, and the Bducational Foundation for Youth of Illinois. e said all threa
were involved in promoting homosexual behavior between boys.

(Richards was president of Brother Paul’s Children’s Mission and director
of ibs nature camp, which was created and operated under the auspices of the
Church of the New Revelation.)

An investigation of incorporation papers in three states confirms that a central
fizure in all the organizations cited by Richairds goes by the name of Adam
Starchild, an alias according to New Jersey authorities. Starchild is listed as
the president of the Church of the New Revelation and was the primary incorpo-
rator of Brother Paul's. He is also listed as president of Qcean Living Institute
and a trustee of the Bducation Foundation for Youth,

His name may be an alias but it's listed in the Kearny, N.J., telephone book
and the man who answers says his name is Adam Starchild. In an interview
with The Record-Tlagle (see related story), he said the four organizations were
not set up to be fronts for homosexual pornography but it is possible they may
have been “used” for that purpose by Dyer Grossman, who has been identified
as vice president of Brother Paul’s, executive duector of Ocean Living In-
stitute and youth director for the Church of the New Revelation.

(Grossman, & New York teacher, is currently considered a fugitive from
justice with federal flight waircants issued for his arrest on two counts of
criminal sexual conduct with boys, Also being sought is Ann Arbor millionaire
Francis D. Sheldon, who owns the island where Brother Paul’s is purportedly
located. He's also charged with two counts of criminal sexual conduct with boys
and being sought under a federal flight warrant.)

Authorities in Tennessee and Louisiana have already admitted that their
welfare departments were duped into making payments to help support chil-
dren used for homosexual and pornographic purposes, in the belief they were
aiding legitimate charitable organizations. Not until police raids closed down
the Boy Scout Troop in Louisirna and the camp in Tennessee did the states
realize the kind of camps they were subsidizing.

A plot to establish homosexual pornography camps in several other states
with the help of state and federal aid was exposed by Michigan State Police

A
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with the arrest of Richards. They found in his possession a letter purportedly
from Grossman suggesting prospective sites for “child care” organizations.

The letter gpeaks of how lucrative such “child care” sites can be, explain-
ing that counties wonld pay up to $150 per month per boy; state agencies would
pay up to $400 per month per boy; and federal ageucies would pay up to $700
pexr month per boy.

The letter and other information obtained by police suggest government funds
could be used to help support current or potential child care operations in Michi~
gan, New Jersey, California, Arizona, Texas, Vermont, Washington, Oregon,
and the Distriet of Columbia.

The letter also suggests that profitability can be maximized if each such child-
care site is set up under the auspices of the Church of the New Revelation ox
the Bducational Foundation for Youth because of the income tax exemptions they
had been granted by the Internal Revenue Service.

A check by The Record-Eagle confirmed that the IRS had indeed declared
both organizations to be exempt from taxes without challenging or investigating
their claim of being charitable organizations. The sawme “auntomatic” exemption
was also granted to Qcean Living Institute. :

On the surface, all three organizations appear to be legitimate religious and
educational institutions in compliance with the IRS Code governing federal tax-
exempt status.

Both the church and the institute were incorporated in Delaware in 1974,
ligting principal places of business in New Jersey.

The church was formed to train and indoctrinate ministers and brothers and
sisters in the prineciples and teachings of 4he church and to ordain them to
carry out its worlk, aceording to its articles of incorporation.

‘Ostensibly, Ocean Living was formed to promote education and research in
oceanography.

Bduoeational Foundation for Youth was more difficult to trace. The Secretary
of State’s office in Springfield, I1l. could find no record of its existence.

However, a clerk in Secretary of State’s Chicago office, where the foundation
allegedly was located, said it was a non-profit arm of a profit-making corporation.

Described as an import-export business, the parent company v'as incorporated
in 1962 and was involuntarily dissolved in 1975 for failure to pay state fran-
chise taxes. .

Better Life, with publishing offices listed at 256 S. Robertson, Beverly Hills,
Calif. (a mail-forwarding address), was advertised in literature distributed
within the homosexusl community as “a monthly paper serving the interest
of pedophiles (for whom children are the preferred sexual objeets) world
wide. Features legal advice, media reviews, photos, poetry.”

In another offering, Better Life Monthly was advertised as a “paper w;th
articles, photos, poems, etc. relating to the subject of boylove. Also ads which
put you in touch with others of like interest.”

Tts masthead proclaims that it is “the news magazine of Better Life, an inter-
national service ¢rganization that is seeking liberation for boys and boy-lovers.”

Shelden, the missing Ann Arbor millionaire, has been named by Richards a8
a staff writexr of the publication, police say.

According to Richards, the church offered to help Better Life readers set up
child care organizations and camps.

Richards replied to the ad, he told police, and “Reverend” Grossman came to
Port Huron from New Jersey to help set up Brother Paul’s Childrens Mission.

It was on this frip, state police say, that Grossman is alleged to have com-
mitted homosexual acts with fwo Port Huron boys, ages 10 and 14, Police have
photographs of the 10-yvear-old in the motel room where police say the incidents
took place.

Shelden is aceused of criminal sexual conduet involving a 14-year-old boy at
Port Huron and with an eight-year-old boy on North Fox Island.

Pory RiNe Finps Gars 1Ny CHILp Canmp Laws
(By Marilyn Wright)
TRAVERSE C1rY.—Muost adults have happy childhood memories of summer camp.

Among them are carefree days of cookouts, making leather belts, earning Red
Cross swimming badges, and singing around the campfire late at night.




84

It comes as a shock, then, to learn that places such as Brother Paul’s Nature
Camp for Boys, alleged to have been a front for a child pornography operation
located on North Fox Island just off Grand Traverse Bay, can and do exist.

State police are investigating charges that young boys between the ages of
seven and 16 were drawn to North Fox Island with promises of an “unspoiled
paradise,” only to be lured or coerced into committing homosexual acts. This
Aletivity. was then photographed by adult directors, according to reports made to
the state police, for use in hard-core pornographic magazines.

‘Thersy are laws governing the establishment and opemtlon of camps for chil-
dren and the state Department of Social Services is charged with enforecing
them along with regulations governing other child care organizations.

State Act No. 116 of the Public Acts of 1973 is specific about how such in-
stitutions should be run,

And, unlike the state laws governing charitable trusts and non-profit corpo-
rations, there are no exewnptions. All child care organizations, including those
xrun by churehes, must be licensed.

The rules under which child care organizations ale licensed concern such
aspects as:

The operation and conduct of child care organizations and the responsibility
these organizations assume for child care.

The character, suitability. training and qualifications of camp operators and
other persons directly respoasible for the care and welfare of children.

The general financial ability and competence of applicants to provide necessary
«care for children and to maintain presecribed standards.

The number of individuals or staff members required to insure adequate super-
vision and care of the children.

The appropriateness, safety, cleanliness, and general adequacy of the premises,
including maintenance of adequate fire prevention and health standards to pro-
vide for the physical comfort, care, and well being of the children.

Provisions for food, clothmg, educational opportunities, programs, equipment,
and individual supphes to assure the healthy physical, emotional, and mental
development of children.

Provisions to safeguard the legal rights of children.

Maintenance of records pertaining to admission, progress, health, and dig-
charge of children.

Filing of reports with the department.

Discipline of children.

"Transportation safety.

"The rules certainly sound all inclusive, but the key seems to be whether or not
eamy operators apply for a license.

The directors of Brother Paul's Children’s Mission did not apply for a license.

According to its promotion literature, the camp was in operation for two years,
but the state Department of Social Services (DSS) was not aware of it until
the Record-BEagle revealed it in a story.

DSS official Milt Firestone said all camps must be licensed under the law; how-
-ever, unless the camp operators eopply for a license or a citizen makes an inquiry
into whether a particular cainp is licensed, the department has no way of knowing
if a camp is operating.

Failure to acquire a license before operating a camp does carry a penalty under
the law : A fine of not less than $25 nor more than $100, or imprisonment for not
less than 30 days nor more than 90 days, or both. The charge is a misdemeanor
and would not appear to be a strong deterrent to thove who might wish to ignore
the law.

Asked if hig department, ever checked with the state Department of Commerce
to get names of new corporations which list as a stated purpose the establishment
aof a children’s eamp, Firestone said the idea had never occurred to the DSS “but
it certainly seems like a good idea.”

Put even if Brother Paul's had in fact applied for a license, there is reason
to believe that without an unusually thorough investigation of all concerned, it
might have been granted. On the surface, the prinicipals involved appeared to be
the right kind of people to run a children’s camp.

True, Gerald Richards, the president of the corporation and director of its
nature camp, is now serving a two-to-10-year term in Jackson Prison on criminal
sexual conduct charges. But before his arrest, he was a physical education
teacher at St, Jusepl's Catholic School in Port Huron, a businessman in that
city and a candidate for local political office.

e
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© Franels D. Shelden, a - director of the cmpomuon and owner of North Fox
Island, the alleged location of Brother Paul's is being sought by state and federal’
authoutles on two counts of eriminal sexual conduct involving young boys. But
he is also the millionaire son of a prominent Detroit-arvea family, was a part—
time university professor, a former director of Boys Republic and Cranbrook
Institute of Science, and a volunteer Big Brother for the Ann Arbor YMCA.
program,

Dyer Grossman, vice president of Brother Paul’s, also is a fugitive from justice.
He is wanted on two charges of eriminal gexual conduct. But he, too, is veported’
to be a member of a wealthy Long Island, N.Y. family, and taught science at
two exclugive boys schools on the east coast.

These three men apparenfly had all the credentials—education, wealth, and’
respectability—to make them ideal applicants for licensing under Act 116.

Certainly Norid Fox Island—assessed at $312,000—would have met most of”
the criteria set down for camp facilities.

In addition, the camp was given even more of an air of respectability by the-
fact that it had a “church” sponsorship from the Church of the New Revelation.
Without looking deeply into the background of the organization, DSS licensers
would not likely have turned up the fact that the Church of the New Revelation:
is also suspected by police to be a front which set up similar child pornography
camps elsewhere.
~ There appears to be evidence based on Brother Paul's own brochures, that the
camp was operatmg since 1975. If it was operating without a license, it cleariy-
would have been in violation of the law.

The basic problem still 1emams, however. How can you enforce the law when
you don't know such camps exist in the first place? And how powerful a deterrent
does the law provide when violating it may mean as little as a $25 fine?

FosTER DaADp Is AccUsED oF SEX ASSAULT oN Boy
SUSPEOT ZiCENSED BY BTATE -
(By Jfovsz Walker-Tyson and Eileen Foley)

- A 83-year-old Detroit man, licensed by the stute to provide temporary group:
liomme carve for adolescents, has been charged with first-degree criminal sexual
conduct involving a 1H-year-old boy who hiad been in his care.

Raymond Pilara of 17214 Westbrook was arvested by Detroit Police Thursday
night after the youth testified that Pilara forced him to perform lhomosexuall
acts during the eight monthg the youth was in his care.

Ralph Patterson of the Michigan Department of Social Services (DSS) said’
that Pilara had been under investigation for similar aects for some time.

“The police and prosecutors were aware that we were investigating him, Pat--
terson said. “He had been picked up before and we removed all the children from
his care about & month ago.

“There wasn't enough to book him on. We had heard some whxspexmgs but:
there were no hard facts to go on.”

A spokesman for the Wayne County Prosecutor's Office said that this was the-
first time they had been able to get one of the youths to testify. He pointed out
that Pilara was in a position of authority over the children and they were afraid’
to refuse to do what he agked.

DSS Director John T. Dempsey had declared earlier this month that the de--
partment was seeking ways to tighten up the licensing of such homes. The move:
ccame after the Dec. 29 fatal beating of a teenaged girl in a foster home in Antrim:

ounty.

“We're looking at the whole question,” Dempsey said. “YWe'me going to see if
we can tighten up the procedure.”

In the Antrim County case, a Bellaire District Court judge ordered Wayne:
Stubbs, 31, of Mancelona, bound over without bond for trial on an open chawe of
murder.

The victim, Marilyn Kimball, 17, also of Mancelona, died of a skull fracture
inflicted in a beating while she slept, according to witnesses who testified before
Judge . Patrick Murray. Witnesses disputed previous police reports that the girl
was raped before her death.

. Stubbs was operator of a state-licensed foster care home, and Miss Kimball,
a runaway, was his ward.
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¥e had held a foster home license for nearly six years although he was on pro-
bation from a 1962 commitment to a mental hospital for assaulting a woman in
Benzie County and had been diagnosed at the hospital as having homicidal
tendencies.

Stubbs will be arraigned Monday in Cirenit Court.

Dempsey and local DSS officials point out that the need for foster and group
homes far exceeds the number of people whko apply to operate them.

“By and large those (adults) in foster care are well-motivated people,”
Dempsey said.

Locally the investigation will continue into the allegations against Pilara, Pat-
terson said. :
" Pilara is being held in lieu of $50,000 bond.

Pilara is supervisor of technical programmers for the judicial data system of
the Michigan Supreme Court. Ie has been in that position since the spring of
1974, a court spokesman said.

Porno RING WEAVES INTERNATIONAL ‘WEn'
(By Marilyn Wright)

TRAVERSE Crrv—A network of homosexual pornography, described by law en-
forcement authorities as a “spider web,” slowly but insidiously weaved its way
across the country and abroad, ensnaring eight-to-15-year-old boys in its path.

In the latest of a geries of development, Boston area police last week arvested
two prominent Massachusetts men wanted by Louisiana authorities in connec-
tion with an alleged pornographic ring operating out of New Orleans.

The suspects, charged sith conspiracy to commit homosexual rape and ag-
gravated crimes against nature, were identified as industrialist Richard C. Jacobs
and realtor Xngh Scott Mellor.

Jacobs, 41, is single and lives in Waltham, Mass. He is listed as president of
Jet Spray Corp., with corporate offices in Brookline, Mass. and subsidiary offices
throughout the world. He was also reported at one time to be a part owner of
the New Englap? Patriots.

Mellor, 54, is uarried and lives in Brighton, Mass., anthorities said. He is re-
ported to be the owner and president of Reservoir Regra, Ine, a real estate
holding company.

The alleged homosexual conspiracy was publicly revealed last month when
the Record-Eagle reported that North Fox Island, the lush, S35-acre hideaway
off Grand Traverse Bay owned by Ann Arbor millionaive Francis D. Shelden is
Dbelieved by police to have been the site of alleged eriminal sexual conduct in-
volving young boys. )

The North Iox Island allegations reporfedly involve various erimes against
nature, including sodomy, oral sex and the filming of these acts.

Shelden, scion of n. prominent Detroit area famly, is still being sought by police.

An investigation is continuing into the possible involvement of other Michigan
men in the homosexual ring, with Tennessee authorities indicating at least one
additional warrant is expected to be aunthorized.

“It seems to be like spider webs strung out all over the nation,” said New
Orleans Juvenile Detective Mason Spong following a September raid on a Boy
Scont troop headquarters.

The scout leader, Richard Halverson, 51, and 12 other men, inclnding Jacobs
and Mellor, have heen charged with conspiracy to commit aggravated rape
and congpiracy to commit aggravated crimes against nature.

Tour of the suspects, including assistant scoutmaster Harry O. Cramer, 23, of
Mt, Pleasant, 8.C., are still at large.

Documents seized in the raid have led police to believe the men were running
a gophisticated homosexual ring which may have involved as many as 30 youths,
ineluding wards of the Louisiana Welfare Department and members of the now
disbanded Boy Scout Troop 137.

All of the New Orleans victims were eight to 12 years old, police said.

A search of Halverson's home also yielded card files with the names and
addresses of boys in other states and stacks of pornographic snapshots and
mpgazines, police said.

Many of the suspects, including Halverson who was a volunteer probation
nfficer, apparently had worked with loeal voluitteer agencies that deal with boys
who are runaways or come from broken homes, according to New Orleans
authorities.
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Police said Halverson had even drawn up applications for state and federal
money to establish homes for boys.

Similar allegations have surfaced regarding Shelden and his associates in
Brother Panl's Childrens Mission, sponsors of the alleged homosexual nature
camp for young boys on North Fox Island,

The 48-year-old Shelden, sought by State Police in 8t. Clair and Traverse
City on two counts of eriminal sexual conduct—one involving a 14-year-old
boy in Port Huron and one involving an eight-year-old Port Huron boy on North
Fox Island—is a member of the bonard of directors of Boys Republic Inc., a
residential center which provides care for emotionally disturbed, sociologically
maladjusted adolescent boys.

The director of the Farmington Hills center, Gordon K. Boring, expressed
both shock and relief following the revelations first reported in the Record-Eagle.

“I ean't tell you how shocked I was when I read the stories,” Boring said,
but indicated he also felt a sense of relief because Shelden had “no direct
contaet” with any of some 75 boys housed at the center.

“Thank God, only professional therapists, not board members, work with our
residents,” he said.

Shelden, a life-long bachelor, was reported in a 1975 interview with a downstate
newspaper as devoting much of his time to Big Brothers, Inc., a nonprofit
;)lrgnnization devoted to providing “father figures” to youug boys from broken

omes, :

However, spckesmen for the Big Brother organization in Defroit, Flint and
Port Huron veliemently deny Shelden was ever connected with {hat group.

Two associates of Shelden in Brother Paul's Childrens Mission, Gerald S.
Richards, of Port Iuron and Dyer Grossman, of Carmel, N.Y., tried unsuceess-
fully to join Big Brother, but their applications were rejected, avthorities said.

Richards is presently serving a term in Jackson Prison on criminal sexual
conduet eharges involving a 10-year-old Port IJuron boy. Grossman, sought by
police on criminal sexual conduet charges also involving a Port Xuron. boy, is
now belicved to be in the state of Washington.

Richsrds was listed as president of Brother Paul's Childrens Mission and
director of the nature camp believed by police to have been operating on North
Fox Island. Grossman was listed as vice president of the parent corporvation.

Brother Paul's, incorporated in 1975, claims to be dedicated to the prevention
of juvenile delinquency and operates “through the philosophy of naturopathy
and naturalism,” deseribed as o system of trenting diseases by the use of herbs
and physical manipulation.

Courses at the “au naturel” camp included hygilene and care of the body,
elementary anatomy aud sex education, according to literatwre distributed by
the mission.

Michigan State Police firgt began looking into Shelden’s activities following
the arrest of Richards, a Port Iuron physical fitness teacher allegedly involved
in procuring young boys for homosexual purposes and in fibming those aetivities.

Wtate troopers from the Ypsilanti post raided Shelden's Axum Arbor home on
July 29, but no new evidence was turned up, authorities said.

Detectives from the Traverse City post were unable to obtain a seareh warrant
fo investigate Shelden’s home and cabing on North TFox Island, police said,
because under Michigan law, information on a crime must be current before
warrants are issued.

Sgt., Don Chappell told the Record-Bagle that police in Michigan must move
“within 24 or 48 hours” of a erime to obtain a search warrant.

However, pornographic films found in Richards’ possession at the time of his
arrest in July, plusg films seized in the New Orleang roid on the Boy Scout head-
quarters, did lead Tennessee anthorities to raid Boys Farm, Inc, in the Roarks
Cove community, near Alto, Tenn., after police there recogunized a couple of
“actors” in the films, authorities said.

The boys farm, which housed wayward boys from throughout Tennessee, was
founded and operated by an ordained Episcopalian priest.

The Rev. Claundins I. (Bud) Vermilye Jr., formerly the rector of the Alto
Episcopal Chureh, was indicted on 16 separate charges, including three counts
of crimes against nature, eight counts of aiding and abetting crimes against
nature, four counts of contributing to the delinquency of minors and one count
of using minors in the production of pornographic materials,
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Among - the items seized in the raid were pictures ang films depicting hon}o-~
sexunl acts between youths at the farm and a Iist of more than 270 “active-
sponsors™ of the farm.

According to Tennessee authorities, Vermilye had opemted'the farm for the-
past five years, District Attorney General J, William Pope said the young pqys:.
had been sent to the farm by the state correction department, juvenile authorities
and welfare agencies. - i

Pope said he has evidence that the boys were shown obscene movies to arouse-

them sexually and given liquor to stifle their inhibitions before sex orgies were
held. They were then allegedly filmed by a hidden camera.

Some of the pictures were sold to “active sponsors” to raise money for the:
farm, the distriet attorney general said, and some of these sponsors allegedly
came to the farm to engage in homosexual activity with the boys.

Shelden, the sole owner of North Fox Island, the alleged site of an alleged
homasexual nature camp, is also listed as a sponsor of the Tennessee farm.

The Rev. Vermilye is divorced and the fathev of five sons, the oldest of whom:
disappeared mystericusly two years ago.

The charges against the 47-year-old priest have caused Tennessee authorities.
to look on the disappearance of his 22-year-old son “with a different light”’
although they have been unable to establish any link between the disappearance-
and the father's alleged aciivities at the farm.

“pa us he's still just a missing person,” said Pete Bouldin, an investigator-
with the disirict attorney genernl’s office. ““We don’t have a body, and until’
we do, we don’t have a crime.”

. The younger Vermilye disappeared July 5, 1974. His car was found several®
days later behind the student union building of a Sewanee seminary, and his.
empty wallet was found by a neighbor on Alto Road.

The priest told authorities at the time that his son was believed to be carrying -
about $300 and that he was “absolutely certain” that the son had been killed:
and buried in tlie Roark’s Cove area.

He subsequently ran newspaper advertisements offering a reward for informa--
tion about his son.

Authorities believe that the investigation into North Fox Island, New Orleans:
and the Tennessee boys £arm has “only scratched the surface.”

Correspondence and f$lms seized in the raids came “from Australia and
Canada and virtually every state in the Union,” anthorities said.

Police said they are (nterested in tracking down and prosecuting the sponsors:
who either enganged ur attempted to engage in homosexual activity with these-
boys.

Tour MEN CHARGED IN SuxXUAL Arvsp o FLINT YOUTHS

(By Daniel B. Richaxds)

More than 380 boys between the ages of 10 and 14 allegedly were sexually
exploited and pandered by four Flint men who have been charged with sexual
misconduct, according to the Genesee County Prosecutor’s Office.

Lenore Terber, the assistant prosecutor in charge of an eight-week investiga-
tion, said the men are accused of engaging the Flint youtis in sex acts.

Three of the men have been arrested on charges of first- and third-degree
criminal sexual conduct, Ms. Ferber said. A fourth man is being sought on
similar charges, she said.

Pirst-degree sexual conduct carries a maximum penalty of life in prison,
and third-degree conduct carries up to 15 years in prison.

Thig is not an organized ring, Ms. Ferber said, but some of the men do know:
each other and “traded” boys or referred the youths to other men.

- In some cases the boys decided they enjoyed what was happening to thenr
and sold themselves to one of the men for money, drugs, alcontol or gifts, ac-
cording to Ms. Ferber.

Investigators have talked fo more than 30 boys who were involved with
the men. but believe at least 100 youths and possibly more adults are involved.

The ease began in Decemher when a school principal noticed a man hanging
avound his school. He becaine suspicious when one of the boys went home with
the man and notified the Flint police.

No foyce was used on the boys, but they were coerced into the sexual relations
by implied threats, general respect for adults and the prospect of receiving gifts.
drugs or alcohol, Ms, Ferber said. ’
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iShe said it iz hard to make cases against persons involved with children
because the latter often are vague on details—names, places, time—and are
afraid notonly of the men but of their families and friends.

That, said Prosecutor Robert F. Leonard, is something that must change
Parents should explain to clh:ildren that they should not be afraid to tell their
Tolks about odd incidents they may not understand.

He called the case an “absolute tragedy” because gullible youngsters were
«easily led into what he called *these perversions.”

At such an age, Leondard said, some of the victims have an identity problem
concerning their sexual 1-e1at10nsh1ps and were further confused by the homo-
.sexual aets.

He said he consider pornography dxstmctmfr and demoralizing.

“It is a plague on our community, but I don't think the hw and eriminal
ccourts are the proper way to deal with it” because of First Amendment nghts
«of freedom of the press, he said.

But, Leonard said, it is a different issue when pornography involves children.

Sexual exploitation of children can be avoided if parents and the public are
:more aware of what can happen to youngsters, the prosecutor said, and he
urged parents to watch for any suspicious activity.

Parents should be suspicious of any unusual or overly dctive interest in their
«hildren by adults they do not know well, Leonzrd said.

And they should be suspicious if their children receive gifts from adults for
210 apparent reason.

In the cases his office is investigating, the youngsters were given records, radios,
«clothes and even a motorbike.

Hard-core porno found in a child’s room could also tip parents off that some-
thing is wrong, Leonard said; not the typical porno youths are interested in,
such as girlie magazines, but literature dealing with what is usually called
perversion.

Leonard said parents should not allow children to have too free a rein or
spend extended periods—overnight trips, for instance—with adults they do not
know well. :

“This is a very difficult area,’ Leonard said, “because we don’t want parents
{0 be afraid of natural relationships. But they have to be alert.

Most important, the prosecutor said, children should not be afraid to tell
their parents about things that happen to them. They should be made to feel
free to report incidents to their parents.

“This sort of thing frightens kids, and it can pevvert them.” Leonard said.
“quents’must make kids understand to respeet it without getting hurt and to
report it.”

There is no indication any of the four men used weapons to coerce the
soungsters into sex, Ms. Ferber, said, but it is possible they might have been
hurt eventually.

She said one man had fantasies of strangulation, and chocked one boy until
he pasged out. It took 30 minutes to revive him, she said.

Leonard said the men were dangerous in that they might have become violent
-if they had thought they were about to be arrested.

For that reason, and because a youngster's story might be a product of an
~ove§ly active imagination, investigations of this type are confidential, Leonard
said.

He said the men most often met the boys when they picked them wup hitch-
“hiking, or through one of the boys they already knevw.

But, he said, there apparently were incidents where the boys were introduced
sto the men through educational, athletic or civie programs staffed by volunteers.

Most of these programs are excellent, Leonard said, and are staffecd by well-
-intentioned people doing their best to help the youths.

But, he said, programs involving boys should carefully scereen volunteers.

Boy PROSTITUTION RING REPORTED

CuI10A60~—(AP)-—Chicago police say an investigation of child pornography
has led to evidence of a nationwide organization that allegedly lures runaway
~youths into becoming male prostitutes to serve wealthy homosexuals,

The ring, headquartered in Chicago, hias been sending young boys to all parts
~of the nation, police said Sunday. The Chicago Tribune reported that police in
«Chicago, Los Angeles and Dallas are participating in the investigation.
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Officers said they were close to identifying six key adult members of the
prostitution ring called the Delta Project. Authorities reporiedly also are search-
ing for 20 yonths connected with the ring.

Authorities said a clandestine newsletter known as Hermes is published in
Chicago to promote the ring. The newsletter also allegedly promotes the use of
minors as models and actors in pornographie films.

The newsletter says the aim of Delta is “to provide educational, travel and
self-development opportunities for qualified young men of character and
integrity.” .

Part of Delta Project was the establishment of Delta dorms around the coun-
try. According to 'the newsletter, “each (Delta dorm) is a private residence
where one of our sustaining members acts as a ‘don’ for two to four ‘cadets’ ...
The nature of the relationyaip between the cadet and the sponsor is left entirely
to the two of them.”

Authorities said Delta Project began in the Cook County Jail last spring when
one or more inmates began using the jail’s printing facilities to publish the.
newsletter secretly.

The Tribune said John Norman, 49, a convicted sodomist serving a four-year
sentence in the Illinois state prison at Pontiac, admitted that he started the-
newsletter in the jail while he was awaiting trial on charges of taking indecent
liberties with 10 teenage boys.

“This has nothing to do with sex.” Norman told the newspaper in an interview-
at the prison. “I don’t want to get young kids involved in sex.”

The Tribune said authorities have labeled the “dons” as adults with a sexual
preference for children. The authorities claim the cadets are prostitutes, the-
Tribune said.

The male prostitution evidence surfaced during a pornography investigation
that resulted in the arrests of two men Saturday, police said.

The two were arrested for allegedly using two 14-year-old boys in a porno--
graphic movie which they intended to distribute across the nation, police said.
The men were identified by authorities as David Berta, 82, and John Bell, 19,.
both of Chicago.

They were charged with taking indecent liberties with a child.

Booxs AND MAGAZINES

Show Me—Picture book of sex for children and parents, by Will McBride..
Bxplanatory text—by Dr. Helga Fleischhauer-Hardt, $12.95, St. Martins Press, .
175 Fifth Ave., New York, N.Y. 10010. Naked adults, teenagers and children.

Bare Boys (2)—Spring 1976, Surreg Limited, Inc., 9465 Mission Park Place,
Santee, Calif,, 920771. Young boys 12-20 years, all nude photos very little-
editorial. $4.00.

Boys Exklusiv—Don Busby Studio, 2000 Railton Road, Herne Hill, London.
SE24, All nude boys 1418 years old.

Action-Kids—No. 2—Don Busby Studios, et cetera. All boys 10-14 years old..

Best Of More—Album 2—§6.00, Charles Anson, P.0. Box 60092, Houston, Tex.,.
77060. Nude males 17-22 years, various positions.

Swingers—Amerigala Publications, Inc, P.0. Box 2287, York, Pa. 17405.
Photos; male adults; female adults various states of dress with state they
reside and type of person they want to meet.

America’s Brotic Past-—1868-1940, by G. G. Stoctay, Ph, D. A. Greenleaf Classics
Collection Edition of Authentic Photographs. Greenleaf Classics, Inc., 3511
Camino DelRio So., San Diego, Calif. 92120, Nude male and females in many-
and various poses and combinations.

Cheer-Comix Tor Adults Only—$3.00. Golden Newcomics, Ltd., Printed in-:
U.S.A. Sexual acts as comies with characters shown as aduits.

Sex and The Seventies No. 1—§1.95—Ad Publishing Co., 8250 BE. Lansing Rd.,
Durand, Michigan, 48429, Same ag Cheer. :

Krazy Kroteh—Published same as Cheer.

Boy “Howdy’ (2)—Published. Department BH, 256 South Robertson, Beverly-
Hills, Calif. 90211—Paper——males 14-18 years old, Nude—Issue 2, .$1.00. Adults:
only—also Issue 1.

Gay Sunshine—P.0. Box 40397, San Franecisco, Calif., 94140 (415) S24-3184,
Some nude males—some female photos—many stories. 75 cents Spring, 1975. No..
24—Summer, 1975 No. 25.
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Fetish Times—B & D Co., 7109, Van Nuys, Calif,, 91406—213-345-2255.
Males and females some teénagers—various positions—many stories and ads.
Number 19, The World's Most Outragcous Newspaper, Adults only—$1.25.

Go Go Jelly Roll (1)—Monthly Publication of Leisure Goods and Services,
Tne, 1540 Broadway. Suite 300, New York, N.Y. 10036. Attention: Iddje
‘Warren—Publisher: Ron Martin, Rditor-In-Chief: Dddle Warren, All young
male adults, stories and ads—Vol. 1 No. 2—§1.25.

Screw—Milky Way Productions, Inc., P.O, Box 432, Old Chelsea Station, New
York, N.Y., 10010—Tel. (212) 741—9060 Men and women stories, photos ads,
ete., No u:)Z—No 368, $1.25.

The Advoc'lte—"l‘)l So. Bl Camino Real, San Mateo, Calif., 94403 Tel. (415)
574~7100—photos of young 1ale adults news articles, many ads. No, 159,
Mar. 12, 1975; No. 161, Apr. 19, 1975 \To 180, Dec. 31, 1975; and No. 186,
Mar. 24, 1976; No. 82, Jan. 28. 76 Sept 22, 1979 ; No, 200, Oct. 6, 1976.

The I~Iole—3-]3‘inge1 Louie, 1M Q Box 417, Dumud Mi. 48429, Issue 12 stories,
remainder ads and preview of coming attmetions at the various theaters.

Sex In Comics—Greenleuf Classic. Same as above.

Sex Comics No. 1—$2.75. No publisher. Same as above.

U’zshiilbian Nights—1428. $3.00 special 2 for $2.00, Golden Newcomics, Ltd,

Male Order—Romulus Publications 48742 Hyde Street, San Francisco, Calif.
94109. Male nudes 16-20 years. Charcoal pad with cut out photos of young nude
males 14-17 years,

Climax Number 1—§10.00. No publisher given. Nude adults—various sex acts.

Life-Boy No. 1 and No. 2—Tidsskriftet Coq, Ltd., NorreFarimagsgade 65-67
D IS, 1007 Copenhagen K~phone (01) 12 45 11. Young boys 10~17-—photos in
various stages of dress aiso hoy 4 mag—same as above.

Moppetts & Teens—Issue three—$5.00. Crismund, P.O. Box 1459, Studio City,
Calif,, 91604. Young boys and girls 814 years nude photos.

Kids No. 2——$1.50 Three Acres Press Inec., P.O. Box 567, Midtown Station,
New York, N.Y. 10018. Nude boys photos 8-14 years. Special type pad—cut out
photos of male and female in various sex acts,

Erotic Art. Drs. Phyllis and Bberhard Kronhsusen—Bell Publishing Co.,
Crown Publishers, Inec., 419 Park Ave., South, New York, N.Y. 10016. Broti¢ Art
haslibrary of Congress Catalog card no. 68~57504_

The Boy—Arco Publishing Company, New York {a photographic essay). Young
boys 8-14 years—various photos, few nude, no explicit sex acts shown,

POCKET BOOK— (ONLY FIRST AND LAST WI'TH ANY PHOTOS)

Teen Boys—Proctor File Illustrated $2.25—Willing Boys--Older sex partners,
5 or 0 artist sketches—Printed in U.8.A.

They Loved Little Girls—Linda Jansen, $1.95, Surreg Limited, Inc., 9465 Mis-
sion Park Place, Santee, Calif,, 92071, no photos.

Teenage’ 69 Memoirs——Curt MacLean, $1.95—Same as above, no photos.

Choice Chicken—Stuart Brown $2.25—S8ame as above two, no photos.

Truckers Stud Son—DBob Hancocek. $2.25—S8ame as above three, no photos.

Tricking The Chicken—=Samuel West $1.95—Same as above Four, no photos.

Chicken Troup—DLyle Jennings $2.25—Ss:ze as above Five, no photos.

The Boys of St. Barnabas—~QColin Murchison—=Greenleaf Classies, Ine,, 3511
Camino Del Rio South, San Diego, Calif., 92120.

Bare IKnees, Boy I\ees——C J. Bmdbury Robinson—Ditto.

Young Thomas—C, J. Bradbury Robinson—Ditto.

School for Lovers—Patriek Doyel—Ditto:

Arabian Boys—C.J. Bradbury Robinson—Ditto.

Sucker Boys—Curt McLean—Greenleaf Classics Inc., 7525 Raytheon Rd., San
Diego Calif. 92111.

The Boy Master—Kurt Kimble—Ditto.

Bed Boy—Lyle Saunders—Ditto,

The Boy Keeper—Carl Strater—Ditto.

Jail Bait Boy—F.W. Love—Ditto.

14-Year Old Stud—James Martin—=Star Distributors, Ltd.. P.O. Box 862, Canal
St. Sta., New York, N.Y. 10013.

The Schoohnasters Tust—Paul Stevenson—Ditto.

Pimmy’s Pirst Time—Marty Ross—Ditto.
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Al's Willing Wild Chickens—Buck Wilson--Ditto. .

Daddy’s Tasty Chicken—Thomas DeAugilar—Surrey House Inc., 6314 River-
Lale St., San Diego, Calif. 92120, o

Chicken Farm—George Wilson—Ditto.

Pickin’ The Chicken—James Duncan—Ditto.

Chicken Lickin’ Good—Thomas Roberts—Ditto. .

Boy Lover—Harlan Mallory—Greenleaf Classics, Inc,, 7525 Raytheon Rd., San
Diego, Calif. 92111. )

Hard Boys for Teacher—Bruce Baron—=Star Distrib. Ltd., P.O. Box 362, Canal
“St, Station, New York, N.Y. 10013.

Choice Chicken—Steuart Rowen—Surrce Lid,, Inc., 9465 Mission Park Place,
Santee, Calif, 92071.

Boy Loves—George L. Close—Neptune Readers, U.S.A.

A Boy for Hire—Robert A. Guy-—Printed and bounded the U.S.A.

AMad About a Boy—Jon Marsh Olympia Press, Inc, 220 Park Ave, So. New
“York, N.X., 10003.

I Love a Laddie—Greg Anderson—Continental Classics, U.8.A,

It's Show Biz—John Jackson—Parisian Press, U.8.A.

Homosexual Incest—Douglas H. Gamlin, Ph D.—Phenix Publ. Ltd., 3511
Caminodel Rio, South San Diego, Calif. 92120.

Tanny Lushbottom—Fred Engleman, U.S,A.—Drawing of proported cartoons—
sex acts, UB.A, :

Boys For Sale—A socialogical Study of Boy Prostitution, by Dennis Drew &
Jonathan Drake—TForeword by Dr. Andrew Bradbury, Ph D., Brown Book Com-
pany, 519 Acorn St., Deer Park, Long Island, N.Y., no photos.

_Male International Nude—Don Busby Studios—2000 Railton Rd., Herne Hill,
London ST 24 (mag). Nude boys 14-16 years.

Tror Money or Love—Robin Lloyd, Introduction by Senator Birch Bayh-Van-
guard Press, Inc, New York, 424 Madison Ave., 10017. Also published in Canada
by Cage Publishing Com, Agincourt, Ontario. .

Film No, 1—8mm color, no title, no sound.

Film No. 2-—Licita Movies—Children Love, no sound.

Tilm No. 3—8 mm, no title, no sound.

Filin No. 4—8 mm, no title, color, no sound.

Film No. 5—8 mm, no title, color, no sound, in box-Color picture, 7 nude 8-12
wears old boys on a couch.

I'ilm No. 6—Locita Movies—Children Love, color, no sound.

Tilm No. 7-—8 mm, no title, color, no sound.

Film No. 8.—The Coliection—Sweet Sixteen—Color, no sound.

TESTIMONY OF ROBERT LEONARD, PRESIDENT-ELECT, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION OF DISTRICT ATTORNEYS; AND LENOR M. FERBER,
ASSISTANT PROSECUTING ATTORNEY, GENESEE COUNTY, STATE
OF MICHIGAN

Mpr. Lrowarp. Thank you very much, Mr, Chairman and members
of the committee, and Congressman ICildee,

First, let me express my appreciation for being invited te ppear
here today and talk about a very important subject matter, always a
CONCEr.

Before I begin I would like to introduce the young lady sitting
alongside of me. She is assistant prosecuting attorney in my office, and
is In charge of the prosecution of the rape and sexual abuse cases in the
office, so I think you all recognize that probably she has more knowl-
edge about the problem than I do because she deals with it on a daily
basis, so if there are any specifics you may want that I don’t know, I
am suve that she will have the information for you.

I am here speaking as a prosecuting attorney now for over 20 years
and for the membership of the National District Attorneys Associa-
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tion which has over 7,000 members. As Congressman IKildee indi-
cated, we have a National Committee of District Attorneys who are
worlang on this problem of sexual abuse of children. ‘

T might say to you I won’t read from my statement. I would not be
so presumptuous as to do that. I may allude to certdin areas of'it,
and make some other observations, and I am Sure you will have sone
questions. ‘ o ‘

But I think that we arve here, as I understand it, to make a deter-
nmination as to whether or not Federal legislation is needed in this
area and other arcas, and as Congressman Kildee indicated, e sup-
port the concept in the bill. We think there is a need for sorie kind of
Federal legislation in this arvea, and as we will indicate in our com-
ments, we have some reservations, first amendment reservations, that
we will bring to your attention that we submit might be corrected. But
at the same time I think that we haveto also acknowledge that the por-
nography aspect of thisparticular problem is really just kind of a §pin-
off of the real problem. The real problem is the actual abuse of young
children. -

I think we must address ourselves to that particular problem also’
and, as was mentioned here and we mentioned in our own statement,
there may be a simple solution to it, and that is in the Mann Act just
changing the words from *women™ to *“persons” so that we can deal
with the problem of the interstate distribution and interstate trans:
portation of young children.

I think there is another area that we ought to look at. We have been
talking a lot about runaways, and we have been talking a lot about
Liomeless children. This has been a problem, and it is a problem in this
area, but there is an interesting curious phenomenon that has devel-
oped in this area of sexual abuse of children, and that is thut we are
always looking for the depraved, degenerate, the sick, dirty old man,
and I think that because of that looking we have missed a lot of the
problem that we have found existing in this country today.

We have found a different type of person who is preying upon young
people, In many cases they ar: wealthy, mobile, educated, sometimes
very important members of a community, and as a result they are able
to infiltrate organizations and groups which deal with young children,
and that is their MOS. :

Their method of operation is to infiltrate many of these organiza-'
tions, and that is where they get access to young children. As a result
of that they axe able to have an unlimited source of young people, and
they exchange them, and that is where we think some laws are needed
also, in exchange of young children between these individuals, between
States, and in some cases even between countries, Mexico, Canada, the
isiands in the Caribbean. .

~We have young people being exchanged, being abused. and in many
cases there is no film being taken or being made, or nv pictures being
taken, but the abuse is there, and it is just as substantial.

So we would respectfully request this committee also consider what
might be done in relation to the actual physical abuse of young chil-
dren, and I might give you a couple of examples of problems that we
have as local prosecutors, and as local law enforcement people in
dealing with that specific problem.

93-185—T77-—T
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Because of the wealth of some of these people and when I say
wealth T am talking about wealth which permits them to move from
jurisdiction to jurisdiction, wealth which permits them in many cases
to set up camps, to set up boarding schools, to gain access to. young
children, wealth and influence which allows them to set up in some
cases like in New Orleans boy scout troops in order to attract young
children and exchanging with a school in Florida that was sexually
abusing children, influence which in my opinion breaks down the usual
sensitive response that parents-have in turning their children over to
certain individuals to afford them recreation such as scouting, such as
little league, such as other recreational areas, Big Brothers, and what
have you.

Now, I should say parenthetically here that this is not the tradi-
tional scout leader. This is not the traditional Big Brother I am talk-
ing about, The great majority of the people in scouting and Big
Brothers and other recreational areas are well meaning people who
enrich the lives of our yonng people. But they are infiltrated by these
types of perverted degenerates, and as a result they prey upon these
young children. !

I think that we have te develop some kind of legislation to deal with
that problem. whether it be requirements by the Federal Government
that record checks ke made of all people coming in. because, interest-
ingly enough, many of these people have previous c¢riminal records
which deal with sexual violations, and they could have been ferreted
out if there were record checks made, or there might even be civil
penalties suggested if they don’t make these record checks to make
the organization very aware that these things have to be done.

Again I am not suggesting that the organizations are not con-
cerned. They are concerned. But like any volunteer organization they
are always Jooking for people who come into their organization and
assist them, so there may have to be some kind of Federal vegulation.

Another significant problem that we find is many of these camps
and these organizations are financially supported by the Government.
For example, when I say they are financially supported by the Gov-
ernment, 1 am talking about probate courts, juvenile courts, adminis-
trative agencies that have the responsibility of placing runaway
children, or children whose parents ave deceased, orpkans and what
have you, and they place them in these organizations, and they place
them in many cases outside of their own States, and there is no super-
vision ab all, '

The vesult is the child, once he or she is in such an organization,
and it is being funded by the State or the Federal Governmont in some
cases, has no place to go. There is nobody supervising that situation.
The court doesn’t supervise it, The Federa] Government doesn’t super-
vise it. And these children I have to believe must feel just totally
alone, no place to go, and then they become sexually abused, and they
are_preyed upon whether in films or whether they ave actually as-
saulted by these particular individuals in many cases running these
homes. We have examples of that all over the country. v
. The Tennessee case is an excellent example of that. That is a case
in which an Episcopul priest was running a camp for young boys,
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and many of these young boys would come from not only Tennessee
but from Michigan. In fact, the case was broken in Michigan. One
of the people that was arrested in Michigan for sexually abusing
children, who was a counselor in a school, revealed to the prosecuting
authorities that this camp in Tennessee existed and had film from this
camp, and many of the children whose pictures were in that film were
from Michigan. As a result of that the arrests were made. But it was
just a happenchance that this individual was arrested in Michigan, and
that camp was exposed in Tennessee. ‘ '

I am sugpesting that there ought to be some kind of legislation on
the Federal level that would require the Department of Justice, for
example, to periodically check those homes to see what is going on in
these homes. I think that our children deserve no less. And if that was
done it seems to me many of these abuses could be prevented, and at
the same time as 1 suggest to you that pornography is kind of a spin-
off of this problem, if you are going to deal with the whole problem of
child abuse, sexual child abuse, as I am suggesting, we have to deal
with the pornography problem because this is a necessary ingredient
t, many of these perverts, and this is the way they earn their money,
this is the way they keep their organizations going, this is the way
they interchange information relatize to what children are available,
how they switch these children around, and exchange them. So it is
important it seems to me to have legislation that will deal with not

onlyft‘he actual abuse of the child, but also the pornography prohlem -
. itself.

So I am sure you have some questions, and I am sure that yvou ma
3 ¥

have some comments that you want to make. I won’t continue at this.

time, but Le available to answer any questions rou may have.

Mr. Coxyzrs. We want to thank you. We have a very good state-
ment that I would recommend to all the committee to consider care-
fully if they haven’t already. &

Mr. Ramseack. Mr, Chairman, can that be made part of the record?

Mr. Coxvrrs. It has been already. Thank you. ,

I have a whole list of questions here. Let me just run through the
questions that you stirred in my mind through your very excellent
statement, and yon can answer which ones you want, and maybe other
members of the subcommittee will go into detail. ,

I am interested in the organized crime involvement in the produc-
tion of pornography, and I am thinking now of juvenile detention
facilities, many of which are a source of initial homosexual contact
that may predispose children to get moved into the kind of activities
that you subsequently described. I am interested in specifically the first
amendment problems that you may have as the Congress begins to
look at this avea. Let’s stop at those. ‘ ;

Mr. Lronanp. All right.

Let me first address the organized crime aspect of it. I think I can
say from my own experience and from the knowledge that has been
imparted to me by other district attorneys on the committee, such as
Mvr. Carey from Chicago, Mr. Freitas from San Francisco, and others,
that we have not been able yet to detect the involvement of organized
crime as we understand it, that is, the so-called syndicate and what
have you.
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Certainly it is organized in the sense that these people exchange
young boys and young girls, and exchange films and pictures, and
travel throughout the country making these exchanges. So it is or-
gunized in that respect. Also the magazincs and books have reference
to individusls, organizations, and locations of people who can pro-
vitle this information, so it is organized on that basis. It is organized
in the fashion that I described in the New Qrleans case in which four
of the people have been convicted as of last Friday, where they formed
the scout troop in order to have access to young kids and then ex-
changed them with a school in Florida that was involved in the same
kind of activities.

Again, many of these youngsters came from homes where there were
parents in the home who were just misled into believing that theze
youngsters needed some help, and this particular school would provide
them that help, and in many cases the funding was provided by those
wealthy peop%e who were involved in the degenerate activity. Tn other
cases the parents themselves paid for the children going to school, and
in other cases the Government provided the funding. So what happens
is that the Governiment in many cases becomes an unwitting participant
in some of this activity. I think that is all I can teil you about the
organized crime feature of it :

I would add as a footnote based on my experience with organized
crime if there is any money in this, which apparentiy there is, you can
be sure I think that eventually if we don’t stop it or confront it that
they will become involved in it.

Mr. Conyers. I want to tell you about my surprise at this kind of
recitation. It comes to me as a distinet shock that organized erime would
somehow not be in presence in full force in the pornographic industry
in this country. I mean why on earth wouldn’t they be? Here is 3
prime field, high profit, apparently difficult to prosecute for the reasons
that bring us here today. Wouldn’t it be fair to say, Mr. Leonard, that
maybe your association hasn’t detected or established it——

Mz. Lironaro. I think that is a fair statement.

Mr. ConyErs. But it seems to me for us to be meeting here to ques-
tion whether they are there or not, the question is degree. If that is
bothering the subcommittee, I am sure it will be clarified in the course
of these hearings.

Fr. Tmonarp. I might say if I may, Congressman, that I think that
is » fair statement to make, and I was going to make that myself be-
cause actually the committee that I talk about was formed about 2
months ago, and we are really just getting into it.

All we have seen now is some of these people that I have described
to you that have been generating this kind of activity, but I believe,
like you do, either they are in it or they are going to be in it because
there is tremendous profit, and as you say, it is very difficult to detect
them, and the distinet problems that we in local law enforcement have
in pursuing these cases, for example, if a local law enforcement official
attempts to make a case on an individual who jumps from one State
to the other, and this is happening all the time in these particular cases,
it is very difficult to try to gather together the resources that that local
official has so that he or she can sul?pena witnesses from other States.
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That is one of the reasons why we think the Federal Government
would be much more effective.

We have had a number of examples of that problem where, for ex-
ample, in the New Orleans case the person ran to Boston after he was
charged down there, a flight warrant was issued by the FBI, and all
of the procedure was instituted to ge. him berk, and in the process
of doing that he skipped to someplace, where we don't know, and
probably some foreign country, We think he skipped to a foreign
country. It is our belief that if the Federal Government was involved
right in the very beginning and could have executed warrants against
him for Federal crimes, that this individual would be in custody today,
but because of the jurisdictional problems we have we weren't able to
prosecute him as yet.

In regard to the second question, I think you asked——

Mr, Errgr. If the gentleman will yield on this point just a moment,
I think maybe what we are talking about are a couple of diffevent
things, Mr, Conyers, and if I might, maybe you are talking about
pornography as such, if organized crime is involved in it.

Second, we have the issue of child pornography, which may or may
not, be organized crime. ‘

And, ﬁird, wao have the sexual molestation of children which maybe
isn’t as profitable as the pornography situation. Maybe the illustrious
istrict attorney, and I happen to be a member of his Association,
formed 4 months ago, is veferring to child pornography where he does
not believe organized crime is involved, but in the pornography field
they would be. In the child molestation field, which is entirely differ-
ent, that is probably not organized because that has a lot of overtones
to the wealthy individual, the individual who molests children.

We are talking about apples and oranges. Maybe that is why we
are not communicating, 1 am just suggesting we are not breaking it
down fine enough.

Mr. Conyers, My reference went to pornography in a general sense.

Mr. Leonarp. I am sorry. Then I misunderstood. There is no ques-
tion that organized crime is involved in the distribution of pornog-
raphy in general. There is no question about that.

We have not seen it yet, I am saying, and I don’t kmow, but that
doesn’t mean they are not involved in the commercial sex exploitation
of children in pornograply. YWe have not seen it yet. It may very well
be there.

Mr. ConyErs, Very good. I am glad the gentleman from Pennsyl-
vania clarified this discussion.

Mr. Leowarp. I think there was a question regarding the juvenile
detention centers about: this kind of activity,

Mzr. Convyers. Yes.

Mzr. Leoxarp. I think that that is a problem, those centers and how
they are handled and the treatment of young people in there. That has
been an unending confrontation and discussion between police and
prosecutors and the public and the courts.

I really frankly don’t know the answer to that. T suspect it has a
lot to do with supervision, better supervision. I think that there is, like
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in every governmental agency, a lot of money spent and wasted that
could be better utilized in this area. I don’t want to suggest that there
ought to be more money spent here, but I think that that might be the
only way to deal with that problem. )

I think that many of these young people who ultimately become
involved in the sex offenses or the commission of sex offenses against
them are young people who have been in these centers and have learr: 1
for the first time in those centers the involvement with homose. il
activity.

L am sorry, Congressman, the third ?

Mzr. Conyzrrs. The first amendment problem. I think that while we
have the author of this bill here, a dear friend of all the committee,
that we might as well examine that problem from your point of view
48 & prosecutor.

Mr. Leovarp. Let me just say so no one misunderstands my position
un nbscenity, and T don’t want to be thought flying in false colors
hers, I am basically opposed to obscenity laws that would restrict any
adnlts from the reading or viewing of films or pictures. I think they
are basically violations of the first amendment itself.

I also feel it is a very low priority in my office, that I have many
othex problems to deal with, and as far as what adults read and view,
that is something that should be between them and their own
conscience,

With regard to child pornography, it is a little different situation as
far as I am concerned. I think that it does have an impact on young
people first to be exposed to this kind of reading material and film,
and especially if they are at a very impressionable stage in their life,
usually even before they ave 14 years of age.

I think according to the psychiatric information that we have ac-
quired it takes a great deal to flip a child from heterosexual concerns to
homosexual concerns when it comes to film and things like that-unless
they are totally preoccupied with it. But, on the other hand, that is not
necessarily true with the actual abuse itself, with the sexual abuse
itself. That I think with the young child who really hasn’t fully de-
veloped emotionally and sexually can flip a child and cause him to go
in a different direction than he would have if he were not exposed to
thiskind of sexual abuse. '

So I think that though there is a need to protect children from view-
ing this material, but X think the whole thrust of this law, and of
course the author is here, and he probably can correct me if I am
wrong, the whole thrust of this law is not so much as to providing such
material to young children, but to try to prevent the development or
the filming, or the photographing of young children, making that a
crime, so that they will not become involved in not only the commercial
sex exploitation but the actual sexual abuse itself. I think for #hat rea-
son thit the law is very important.

As T mentioned to you, we have some concern about the fiue,  zend-
ment issue., Wo have discussed it with Congressman Kildee and his
aides. T have reference to, for example, the all-inclusive terms, or ror-
tainly could be interpreted that way, relative to whom could not film,
for example, simulated sexual activity, or sexual activity.
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As T mentioned in my statement, I have some concern about docu-
mentary film malkers, anthropologists, and people like that who may
legitimately be taking film or making film and pictures concerning cer-
tain activities that might be interpreted to fall under this statute.

I think that all T am saying is I am not saying it would. I am just
saying we ought to consider the statute in light of that concern.

I think that there is another concern in regard to holding bookstore
owners responsible, for example, of knowing how old a child is in the
picture in the book. Let’s suppose that the book depicts a picture of a
child in the nude, or engaged in any kind of sexual activity, or at least
it appears to be a child, while if the child were over 16 or whatever,
the bill suggests, he would not be violating the law, and he would be
protected under the first amendment. It seems a heavy burden for him
to be held responsible to determining whether that child is 16, or 17, or
15.

I understand that Dale has indicated, or one of his aides has indi-
cated, that they are apparently making some changes in that aspect of
the law to put 1t “knowingly,” and I think that is very important to the
bill itself. I just became aware of that.

Mr. Kiroee. We don’t claim that my bill itself was written on Mount
Sinai, although I would say that I think these acts were covered on
Mount Sinai, but my bill certainly is something that any committee has
a right to repolish as we have curselves, and I think very concerned
people have raised some questions that have made the bill better than
when wo first drafted it. I am open to any suggestions,

Mz, Con yers. My last question along this line is there is nothing in
your bill that would make prosecutable the viewing or possession by
someone who is not knowingly receiving it for the purpose of sale or
distribntion, so that that part of the constitutional question that: I raise
would seem to he avoided by adding “kmowingly™ in section 9.

Are you aware of the Comstock law, the Federal law that prohibits
the shipment, of obscene material in interstate commerce ?

Mr. Ieovanp. Yes. v

Moy, Coxvyers. Which was the subject of the Supreme Court decision
that was released only yesterday in which the conviction under that
law was upheld arising out of an Towa case. Do you have any observa-
i‘ionsqto make about that? How does that differ from what we already

1ave ¢

Mr. Lieonarp. On the Comstock bill ¢

Mr. Coxvers. Yes.

Mr. Lronarp. Frankly, I am not familiar with the language in the
Comstock bill, so I really won’t be able to address myself to that.

Mr. Coxyers. It deals without referring to yonth and sexual abuses,
but obscenity in a general way, which suggests the more specific ques-
tion that maybe this kind of conduct might be presently punishable
under the law, which is really the question that this committee has to
examine very carefully. We will have the Department of Justice rep-
resentatives here to join us in making that analysis, but do any of you
have any comment on that?

Mr. Lroxarp. T am not sure about the penalty in the bill.

Do vou recall what the penalty was under the Comstoclk bill? The
reason I ask is that you may want to deal more severely
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Mr. Coxyers. Welhave 5 years or $5,000, and/or.

Mr. Lrowarp. My thought is that you may want to deal much more
severely with the sex exploitation of children than you will in just the
transportation of pornographic material, and I would suggest that
vour bill does deal more severely than 5 years.

T might also add that in my statement I mention that we have been
working with the Justice Department in relation to these cases, and
Mi. Ben Civiletti, who is very interes’~d in the area and has talked to
me on a number of occasions relative to, the matter, tells me that he has
approximately 20 to 25 cases that he is aware of that the Postal Di-
vision and the FBI are working on, that deal primarily with the eco-
nomic sex exploitation of children, photographs and things like that,
but they are working with us, and I know they are very interested in
this area.

Mr. Coxyrrs. Mr. Railsback, do vou have any questions?

Mr. Ramrspack. Yes, I do. Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Leonard, I want to thank and congratulate vou for what I think
has been a very good statement, and T want to ask you some questions
and ask vou if you can to try to make your answers as short as vou can,
because I don’t want to deprive any collengnes, But I think with your
expertise we would be remiss if we didn’ ask you some rather prac-
tical questions,

To what extent has it been your experience or Miss Ferber’s that
dll)'ugs?huve been kind of an ancillary or incidental problem in child
abuse ?

Mr. Lroxarp. In child abuse or the sexual child abuse ?

My, Rarnspack. Sexual child abuse.

Mr. Lroxarp. I think it has been a significant, plays a signifeant
role in many of the cases, because once these people are so depraved
when they are invoived in this kind of activity that there is no end to
which they would not go, and we found in a number of cases drugs and
even narcotics were involved. So I think it does play an important role
in many cases.

On the other hand there were numerous cases in which, if you can
use the term integrity, these people had some, some of these people had
:i*ome.1 integrity about the use of drugs. I use that word very, very

oosely.

Mr?r Ratrssacr. Miss Ferber, what are the problems in actually
presecuting a child exploitation or a child sexual abuse case? Can you
very quickly catalog some of the problems that you have?

Miss Fererr. Yeg, The problems are children have poor perceptions,
poor memories. As the first witness mentioned, they don’t want to come
forward: they have a relationship with these people sexually abusing
them, and they don’t want to jeopardize it. They have no one to whom
to go to complain. They ave runaways and sometimes status effenders,
but the committee I think wants to hear what special preblems Fed-
eral legislation could solve, and I think any abuse that occurs in the
State. which a county, local prosecutor would have jurisdiction over,
because of the new nature of the offender, that is the mobility, the fi-
nancial resources: any crime, sexual offense, would be much more
likely now to have interstate ramifications.

The problem is both with the abuse and with prosecuting anything
relating to the depiction of the abuse, in other words, the production
and the distribution of this literature.




101

Mr. RatLspaox. May I interrupt to ask either one of you, as I read
the bill and I give credit to the author of the bill for his interests and
for what he is trying to do, I am not at all certain that we cover, for
instance, the transportation interstate of a child for sexual purposes;
in other words, it seems to me we may want to include a provision that
would either amend the Mann Act or get to that particular problem.

Do you agree with that?

Mr. Lzowarp, Yes. I think the bill i primarily concerned with the
trangportation or distribution #f pornographic materials, and that is
the point of my actual comments. I think we have to begin really to

deal with the issue of child abuse as well as the distribution of the

results of the child abuse, which are the pictures and things and that
may be w"srre we can very simply amend the Mann Act to cover that.

Mr. Ratrsack. I would agree with that. : »

Let me ask you, can you make available to the subcommittee or are
you willing te make available to us any reports that maybe come to
yon as a result of our task force’s study ¢ :

Mor. Lizonarp, Absolutely, sure. -

My, Ramssack. I think that information would give us an idea as
to the extent and scope of the problem. I think it would be very
helpful. :
the other district attorneys would fee! the same way.

Mr. Conyers. Would my colleague make that available to the sub-
committee so we can put it in the vecord ?

Mer, RamsBack. Yes, if T can amend my request, I will make it for
the subcommittee. :

Mr. Conyers. Thank you very much.

Mr. Rawseaok. Thatis all LThave, Mr. Chairman,

Mr. Conysrs. Thank you for your questions,

Mr. Volkmer, do you have any questions of the witness?

Mr. Vouxmer, Yed, I would like them to just direct themselves to

the problem briefly. if at all possible, to the accessibility to the vie-:

tims of cooperation by victims in proseeution, and the problems in the
prosecution of these types of cases, if you would.

Mr. Lronarp. The first witness mentioned that it’s extremely hard
to locate these vietims, and I would definitely concur in that. We had
many of our cases result from an alert agsistant prineipal {¥ho saw
these men who ultimately became defendants hanging around the

school. The childven did not come forward. It’s very, very rars they -

ever do.

If you find some pornographic material in your jurisdiction, it is
virtually impossible to recognize any of those children depicted in the
literature as being from your county or from your State even. The last
four pages of the exhibit packet that you have lists about 75 pieces of
literature that we confiseated from one defendant in Michigan, and
none of the material was produced in Michigan.

So, wherever that material was produced or wherever it’s found, the
chances of finding the victim are very, very, véry small. ‘ .

Miss Frreer. I think that is why- we suggest, Federal legislation
would be very helpful in this area. You can turn it over to the FBI. .

Mr. Vourymer, Now the first witness, Detective Martin, also ad-~

“dressed the problem of perhaps trying to have some legislation that

Mr. Lroxaro, Fine, I would be very happy to do that, and Tam sure
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would aid law enforcement in getting perhaps the identification of
some of these victims.

Miss Fererr. Let me just say before I answer that or Mr, Leonard
does, that I think perhups California is an unusual State in even hav-
ing a law that would enable them to prosecute for the distribution or
the producing of pornographic material. Michigan does not have such
a law ; child photography I am tallking about.

Mr. VoukmEer. You just have a regular child abuse law, and
delinquency laws?

Miss Ferser. That is correct, and to my knowledge only six States
have statutes regulating the commercial abuse of children, the com-
mercial aspect of it. ‘

Mr. Vorxmzer. If we agree that the first amendment may permit
distribution of the material, but does the first amendment prohibit
requirements as to what persons, like labeling as to who is the pro-
ducer of that-or identifying the persons in it? In other words, you see
a regular movie, do we kno.. who all of the actors ave? What if that
were required and make it a felony offense if that was not in there?

Moz. Lronarp. It presents an interesting constitutional question and
legally whether or not first you could require them to do that and-
second, if these people are engaged in surreptitious activities to pro-
duce these films, they are certainly not going to put their names on it
and identify it. I think you can get at the problem without the neces-
sity of requiring that in the law, because you are going to be:going
after people who are violating laws. : =

Mz, VoLeMER. I agree on that. L - !

Mzr. Ligowarp. To suggest they will sign it, T don’t think is very
realistic. ‘ :

Mr. Vorrmer, If it is unsigned or unidentified, it would be illegal.
_ Mr. Lizonaro. I understand that, but I am just saying I wonder if
it’s just a law that really isn’t necessary, because you probably should
go one stép further back and say the activities of even producing the
film are iliegal. - ' ‘ - -

Mr. Vourmer. All right, but the distribution

Mr. Lzonago. Usually the distributors in this case are the people -
who make the film. ' o

Mzr. Vorgaer. Not neenssarily, though. ' -

Mr. Leowarp. I don’t think it would necessarily do any harm, but
I am just wondering if you are enacting a law just on the books, no-
body would pay any attention to it anyway. o ’

Mr. Vorrnzr. Let me ask you another question: On the cases that
you have had so far, what las been your experience and success in
convictions? , L

_Miss Frreer. The cases that we have been successful at the State
district court, preliminary example, we have been able to get articu-
late, for the most part, intelligent victims who were able to put in

~.enough evidence.

‘We have had no trials to date. We have had two defendants plead
guilty as charged. '

Mr, Vorryer. On plea bargaining ?

Miss Fererr. They plead as charged, so I wouldn’t necessarily call
that a bargain. '
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Mzr. Leoxarn. T might say in the other jurisdiction where cases have
developed such as New Orleans and Virginia and some of the other
places there has been successful prosecution. Generally if we can get
the witnesses to come forward, especially in these types of cases, there
are usually more than one, and that adds credibility to the individual
youngster who is testifying if you have four or five or six of them that
can testify, and they are generally charged on this comnt, so you are
able to do that.

Mr. Vorxmer. Thank you very much.

Mr. Coxvers. Mr. Gudger, do you have questions of the witness?

Mr. Gopeer. Very limited.

In the State of North Carolina we have still on our books—and it
has been held constitutional-—the criminal offense of crime against
nature. It is written in statute laws in very ancient terms, “akominable
and detestable crime against nature shall be punished by imprison-
ment up to 60 years.” In many States this statute or statutes of similar
import have been either reduced or a defense of consenting adult hias
been written into the statutes or at least implied in.the courts.

Now, you don’t have a consenting adult when you have & child. What
is your situation in Michigan with respect to the use of these-statutes
and what is the:present status ¢ * . aese statutes ? ‘ o

Mr. Lroxarp. We have a ney criminal sexusal statute in Michigan,
and it has pretty well eliminated all of these otner statutes, and it does.
cover abuse of the child, sexual abuse of the child and the penalty
could: be substantial. We can locate the individw.!,in the State and
prosecute the individual in the State. ;

Mr. Gupeer. Mr. Leonard, I come from one of those six States which
hes adopted statutes dealing with obscenity with reference to chil-
dren, suggesting a somewhat different standard to be applied by the
trial jury which determines whether or not there has been.a violation
of the pornography or obscenity statutes. ‘ . o

However, North Carolina, with this fairly progressive addition to its.
statute law in this field which was enacted i 1975, has not gotten down
specifically to a definition of wihat publication or pornography is a
violation of law, because it contains nonheterosexual depiction of
children. -~ . : :

‘Do you feel we perhaps need to have the States approach this prob-
lem of defining specifically what is te be obscenity or pomography
involving children? I am talking now of the States doing it rather than
the Federal statute doing it, and then perhaps the Federal statute deal-
ing with the transportation in interstate commenrce,

Mr. Liconarp, Congressman, that is a very difficult question in the
sense that certainly States have an obligation in this area, and should
be meeting that obligation. ‘

I think the question: is whether or not as far as the citizens of the
various States of this country can be better protected, we have a Fed-
eral law or individual State laws.

T am always a little concerned about when you get to such areas as
pornography having individual State laws. That would cover, if we
can have Federal law, because I keep thinking of the Supreme Court
decisions that have come down which, depending on what community
you are in, whether you will be held guilty, be made guilty of a erime

]
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for reading or distributing one book in one community, and not guilty
of a crime in distributing in another community maybe 50 miles away,
that has always bothered me, So the only thing I can say is I think there
is a need for Federal legislation in this area, and this bill I think
would meet many of the problems that we have seen relative to the
commercial sexual exploitation of children,

1 still think though the States have some responsibility. I would not
say to you the States should have the only responsibility. I think
there is a Federal responsibility also.

Myr, Guperr. One final question, Mr. Chairman.

Mz. Leonard, do you see that the photographing of a child engaging
in any of these acts prohibited in the first section of this bill, ipso
facto, and by that mere set of circumstances presumes that the pho-
tograph is going to be transported into interstate commerce or dis-
tributed on a national market? If it does not, don’t we have to ask
the States to act with respect to it ?

Mr. Lronarp. Yes. I think from a Federal standpoint, as far as the
Federal enforcement, there has to be some way of either showing in
interstate commerce or the presumption has to be set up so it’s not
unconstitutional. In other words, the presumption has to be reasonable
it will be distributed in interstate commerce. Maybe this person we
can establish after he is arrested, say in North Carolina, with a large
number of these films, that we can show that his business from his books
and records would indicate that it’s almost all sold out-of-State. This
would be, I think, a reasonable presumption that he was going to sell
these out-of-State, and we could go to court on that basis and 1t would
be constitutional.

Mcr. Gopgrr. Thank you.

Mr. Convrrs. Mr, Ertel, do you have questions of the witness?

Mr. Errer. Thank you, Mr, Chairman, T have a few.

Mr. Leonard, I appreciate your comments, You have covered quite
a broad range of activity beyond the bill we are discussing.

One of the things you did discuss was the Mann Act, and amend-
ing it, but I wonder, has the Mann Act ever been or has it been used or
utilized within the past few years for the interstate transportation of
children, female childrven, which would come within the Mann Act?
Axe we looking at a problem where there may, in fact, be statutes which
could be utilized, and there has been no high priority by police depart-
ments or law enforcement officials to prosecute ?

Mr. Leoxaro., T think I really have to plead ignorance to whether
or not there has been any enforcement of the Mann Act as it relates to
young females. I would suspect there must be some cases around the
country it has happened because the Mann Act has been used rather
frequently, I think less frequently today than it was 10 ox 20 years ago.

When you are dealing with pedophiliacs who are these people that
prey upon young children for sexual gratification, you have to include
both young boys and young girls, and I think if the Mann Act, in my
opinion, if you merely amend the Mann Act to cover that area of
women and substitute the term “persons,” I think you would cover all
of the problems thit we ave talking about as it relates to the actual
abuse itself.

Mr. Erren. In other words, by doing that, you are taking care of’
the one area we talk about, the child abuse in interstate transportation,
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as far as the Federal Government is concerned, we have had that
pretty well covered and covered most of the antisocial activity with
children. L

Mzr. Lioxarp. The physical abuse of them, yes, I think it would.
That is my opinion. ) .

Mr, Errer. I guess we then have to go to the next issue in the prob-
lem which is: Will it be enforced ? Will, in fact, Federal law entorce-
ment officers muke that a priority item? Since we do have the Mann
Act on the books, at least it covers half the population, and includes
children. If that is not being enforced, how do we get a priority?

Mzr. Lroxarp. I think my experience with the Justice Department
and Mr. Civiletti, as T mentioned, would indicate they are very inter-
ested in that. That is why I would suggest that the responsibility for
the enforcement of this law, if you can legally do this, be imposed on
the Justice Department, first because I think they have or they can
establish the resources and the mechanics to do it, and second. I think
they are predisposed to do it now, and I think their attitude is they
want to do something about it, and my experiences with the FBI would
indicate that they are anxious to become involved and to do something
about it, and I also feel that if the Congress of the United States, as
you are here conducting these hearings, indicates to the Justice De-
partment and indicates to others they feel very strongly about it, that
something would be done. )

My, Erver. If T might turn to another point of your testimony, you
indicated at one point that there was very low observation or surveil-
lance or review of records for people being employed with young
children, :

I wonder about that, because we do have a uniform crime reporting
system, the FBI wrap sheets, and as a prosecutor I used to get routine
requests to check somebody’s record who was being employed in the
Boy Scouts or somebody else. ‘

I just wonder, is the reporting system good, and how far you can go
in that area before you start impinging on the rights of innocent peo-
ple by raising these 1ssues ? ‘

Muy. Lieoxarp. I think the procedure you talk abont that you have
experienced in your own community as a prosecutor is not the general
procedure in this country. In fact, we have had to call in all of our
organizations that I have mentioned to you and sit down with them
and again say to them we offer you whatever help we can in relation
to these checks, keeping in mind that we can’t put somebody full time
on it unless it becomes absolutely essential, and then we have to go and
get funding and everything clse, but we would like to help them.

What I am suggesting to you is that this be made a requirement of
the agency, and that the mdividual, when he or she is applying to come
into the program, be advised that this will be done, and that they have
the free choice of either saying fine, we want to go into the program,
and we have no concern about the record check, or question, we do ob-
ject, and if they do object, then they shouldn’t be taken in, and I think
that will discourage a lot of those people from getting involved.

You raise, I think, the real issue, which is how far you can go before
you impinge on somebody’s right of privacy, and I think that is a very
unportant question, and I don’t have the answer for it.
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Mr. ErteL. Are you suggesting Federal legislation in this area, spe-
cifically we are dealing many times with church groups, we are deal-
ing with volunteer organizations, Boy Scouts, we are dealing with
schools, private schools, public schools, anybody that deals with chil-
dren, you are talking about a very broad spectrum, and are you sug-
gesting Federal legislation to do that? )

Mr., Lroxarp. I am suggesting this should be considered to see
whether or not it’s feasible. I don’t know if it’s feasible. I think it
should be considered, and in those areas where the Federal (tovern-
mont has authority to do it, such as providing Federal funding in
many of these private organizations, that this could be done legiti-
mately under Federal requirements?

What I am saying to youis I recognize—— ‘ :

Mz, Erren. May I interrupt a mement? Then are you going to pre-
clude anybody who has had a sex offense, even though they may have
gone through some relabilitation status or some sort of the psycniatric
care, from taking a job? .

Mr. Leoxarp. L think that decision ought to be made by the volun-
teer organizetion that has requested or that he or she has requested to
join, and I think that shculd be an independent decision that you make.
I would say this, that if I have a child that was going into the Boy
Scouts and that Scouting organization determined one of the volunteers
that would be working with my child had a serious sex offense, I cer-
tainly wounld not want my child in that Sconting organization, if, in
fact, that individual was taken on. , S

Mr. EpteL. I appreciate your comments on that, but I just wonder
how much you are going to have the Federal Government intrude into
private organizations, mto church groups, and what kind of statute
could be drawn. Certainly we have a separation of powers, we have a
separation of church and State, we have a lot of separations, and just
how much intrusion you are going to have the Federal Governmen*, do,
and, second, the bureaucracy that is going to be created to do that.

That gives me some very serious problems, ’

Mr. Leoxarp. It does me also. '

Mz, Erprr. I would like to know if we are going to, how we are going
to draw that legislation, if that job is ours. :

Mr. Lroxarn. I am not saying it should be withdrawn. I just say
there is a possibility that should be investigated. I think the question
of intrusion on the one hand is involved, and the question of protecting
youngsters from sexual abuse, and I don’t want to get inflammatory
and suggest that is really the issue. ‘ ‘

I think it’s part of the issue. I think when you look at the cases we
have run into and district attorneys are running into all over the
United States, and we recognize that these deviants and perverts use
these organizations to gain access to young -hildren, I think we cannot
ignore that fact, So I am saying to you when we begin to talk about
legislation, shouldn’t we consider some kind of legislation that will
deal with that problem ?

T only throw out the record check because I know many of these peo-
ple have previous criminal records, but then at the same time, many
of them don’t,and the record checl would be no good.

Maybe we would have to consider, for example, how much of the
record check or how many people would be ferreted out in the record

]
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check. If we find only about 2 or 8 percent and we have set up a
tremendous bureaucracy to do it, it may not be worth it. Maybe we
will have to go someplace else. I only suggest we consider it, and I am
concerned about the problems you raise.

Mr. Errer. I appreciate your comments very much.

Thank you.

My, Coxzers. Thank you. : :

This is an all-purpose question that we close with, because I won’t
have to repeat it to our witnesses from the Chicago Tribune or the
American Civil Liberties Union if I say it now. , ,

There ‘are vast numbers of children and youngsters who are, in
effect, throwaways, castouts, rejected in our society and therefore,
vulnerable to all kinds and forms of victimization, and I refer to
500,000 children in homes and institutions for dependent and neglected
children, another 500,000 children in detention centers, jails and train-
ing schools, 250,000 in foster care facilities, plus the general estimate
of about-1l million runaways a year, I refer back to:your opening re-
marks, Mr. Leonard, which I think put this subcommitteé back on
track, that the problem is not just a youth abuse in porno, but. it’s
youth sex abuse, and this goes to the vulnerability of literally miilions
of children who are potentially exploitable because our society hasn’t
tuned in on all of the other related problems that put them into a
state of predisposition. ' :

What are your reactions? ‘ ,

Mzr. Lronarp, That is exactly the point, and I think we have to be-
gin to deal with the problem of the abuse of children, but we have
to, as you suggest, know where they are coming from. Certainly the
runaways, certainly the court-placed children in many cases, certainly
all of the administrative agencies that have anything to do with chil-
dren on the one hand, and on the other hand, as I suggest to you,
young children, all children in this country who have legitimate inter-
ests, whose parents are concerned about them, who live at home, who
have a model life, who go to school, who are exposed to organizations
who are inflltrated by these perverts and deviants, we have to be con-
cem%eid with that, and I think we have to recognize that in itself is a
problem. ° -

We can enact all of the laws in the world here in this country, but——

Mr. Conyers. We sometimes try to. :

Mr, Lzonarn. Yes; but I think we fool ourselves if we think that by
enacting Mr. Kildee’s law, which is I think necessary, or any of the
other laws we talked about here today, it is going to solve the problem.
The parents in this country must recognize that these peop%e are in
their communities and are preying upon their youngsters, and I think
they must become more involved and they cannot be just summarily
turning their children over to organizations without knowing what is
going on in that organization, and themselves becoming involved in
the organization.

It’s a total problem, as you suggest.

Mr. Coxyers. Does our colleague from Michigan desire a last word ?

Mr. Kmpee. I want to thank you for having Mr, Leonard and his
colleague testify. I think the committee has had very good hearings,
and as I state, we are certainly interested in having a bill that mests
the real needs.
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I would like to add just one thing: You do raise a very good ques-
tion, Congressman Conyers, on those who are more liable or more
prone to exploitation, but I do know, and I know prosecutor Leonard
will indicate in our community some of the children who were abused
did not fit that pattern, that these exploiters of children really might
find it easier to exploit those who are some prone, or in a position of
not having a strong family life. . o

It’s amazing really how comprehensive the victimization is. Some
come from homes where there is even a deep religious background i1
the home, and the parents are very careful about their children and
think they have put them into a setting where this cannot, happen.

Mz. Conyers. In other words, you are suggesting it’s hard to profile
the abuse, the abuser and the abuse. It’s very difficult to draw a clear
profile on either of them. .

Mr. Kizoze. I think that is true, and I think one of the reasons it
is true, Mr. Chairman, is the phenomena of great mobility. When I
was being raised not too many years ago, my parents generally knew
I was right in the neighborhood, but now we have great mobility
among young people. They can move from one town to another out-
side of the area, and this is done for legitimate reasons, but because
of the mobility they are becoming more prone to approaches by peo-
ple that have less than legal motives.

Mzr. ConyErs. As the subcommittee has said, we are, indeed, grateful
for your legislation, Mr. Kildee, and for your joining us, Mr. Leonard
and Attorney Ferber. ' '

Mzr. Leoxarp. Thank you for having us.

Mr. Gudger Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I might make a brief obser-
vation for the record, and that is this:

Mr. Leonard has been an outstanding public servant. He has served
as his district attorney in Flint, Micﬁl., with great distinction. e
came before the Solicitor or District Attorneys Association of my
State some 2 or 8 years ago at a meeting which I attended, and there
spoke to matters of significant public concern, including juvenile
delinquency and juvenile problems on which he had become an
authority.

He also testified, and 1 was present there in Houston, Tex., at an
undertaking called, Operation Impact, sponsored by the Association of
Junior Leagues of the United States, and there demonstrated his spe-
cial knowledge in this field of juvenile delinquency and juvenile
corrections.

I want to say that L commend Congressman Dale Kildee in pre-
senting this very qualified witness before this committee.

Mz. Leowaro. Thank you very much.

Mr. Conyers. I am sure the committee joins in that accolade.

Mr, Lroxarn. Thank you very much. ,

Mr. Coxvyers. Our witnesses are now from the Chicago Tribune,
who in some respect should be commended for causing the Congress to
take this minute concern about; the subject.

I call Mr. George Bliss and Ms. Michael Sneed to join us at the
witness table at thas time.




108

TESTIMONY OF MICHAFL SNEED, GEORGE BLISS, AND RAY
MOSELEY, REPRESENTING THE CHICAGO TRIBUNE

Mr. Brrss. M. Moseley.

Mr. Coxyers. Please identify him and then whichever of you would
like to begin the discussion may proceed. We welcome you before the
subcommittee, :

Mr. Brass. Ray Moseley, and Miss Sneed will be our spokespeople.

- M. dCONYERS. All right. That seems like a gentlemanly way to
proceed.

Ms. Sxeep. Thank you for appointing me spokesperson.

Gentlemen, thank you first of all for having us here. I would also
like to commend Michigan for their active investigation of child por-
nography, and Sergeant Martin, who has been very helpful,

I will give you a brief synopsis of what the Chicago Tribune has
done. The Chicago Tribune began an investigation of child pornog-
raphy and child prostitution last February fol%owing legislative heax-
ings 1n our State. The Chicago Tribune attended these legislative hear-
ings during which child pornography was first brought to the fore.

During the attendance of these hearings we discovered that child
pornography was in fact available in the Chicago area. We were not
aware of this. We were horrified and shocked that this material was
available,

' Mr. Coxvyzrs. These were State hearings?

Ms. Sxeep. These were State hearings in Chicago on obscenity and
the legislature at that time was trying to decide exactly what they
were going to do with our lack of obscenity laws, and they almost
concluded their hearings whey they discovered that child pornography
was in fact available in the State of Illinois.

We looked at the materials that were presented and were horvrified
at what we saw, shocked. It was based on this that we decided to in-
vestigate to find that, No. 1, were these materials in fact published
in the United States, or were they from Rurope, and, No. 2, were in
fact American children becoming victims of this very lucrative form
of child abuse. : o

Based on this we traveled to New Orleans, to Lios Angeles, all over
the country, trying to determine answers to ouy questions. v

Mr. Coxyers. You should be glad no Members of Congress were
there because that would have called for the greatest international
travel that we were capable of. You didn’t go overseas?

Ms. Syeep. No; we did not, although we certainly did inferview
people who had gone over.

Anyhow, it vesulted in a four-part series that was published in the
Tribune May 15 to 18. We interviewed police officials, child pornog-
raphers, and child vietims in various parts of the country. In Chicago
in particular, we worked very closely with the Chicago Police De-
partment in their own investigation, and accompanied police officers on
a number of surveillance missions, and were alse there during the ar-
rest of two pornographers caught in the act of making a pornographic
movie. :

I might add in Chicago our investigation recently centered on por-
nogrwpzilers, the victims, actually young children that were being
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filmed. We also identified the victims and questioned them, and were
able to locate an actual place where the films were made.

We also were able to purchase pornographic magazines and films
from our so-called adult bookstores in Chicago, and interviewed ex-
perts in the fields of psychiatry, sociology, and law. We believe the
Tribune investigation is probably the most extensive that has been
made into this problem in the United States to determine whether it
is nationwide in scope, and we believe we have established conclusively
that child pornography and child prostitution, which are inextricably
tied to each other, are multi-million dollar industries exploiting thou-
sands of children as young as 3 years old, operate without benefit of
an overall organizational framework but through the connivance of
aroups of individuals in various parts of the country, and I believe
the Michigan prosecutor did an excellent job of explaining this.

The child exploiters maintain liaison with one another through so-
called “boy love” newsletters and share their child victims, They also
have had some success in obtaining Federal, State, and county funding
for phony child-care institutions set up as fronts for their illicit opera-
tions, which again was brought out by the Michigan prosecutor.

Following are some of the major findings of our investigation. I
believe this personally is very important to you gentlemen:

John D. Norman, a convicted sodomist, is now serving a 4-year term
in the Illinois State Prison, and I might add he is eligible for parole
very soon, heads a nationwide ring that sends you_ngbboys across the
country to serve a network of podophile clients,

A Norman mailing list of more than 80,000 clients was seized by the
Dallas police in 1973 and forwarded to the State Department in
Washington, D.C. According to the department officialg, the list was
destroyed, entirely destroyed, after it was determined that the names
on the list were not found or used in any passport frand violations.
The department has given no explanation as to why the list was not
turned over to the FBI for further investigation.

In explanation of this, John Norman, as Lieutenant Martin pointed
out, has been working since 1955 using various names of organiza-
tions, specifically designed to send children across State lines to serve
clients. His children were called Cadets. His clients were called Dons.
The homes they were sent to were called Delta dorms. He had a news-
letter that he would send to subsciibers telling ther when these people
could be available. This index card contained 80,000 names of Dons,
Cadets, et cetera. These were the cards that were in fact destroyed
by the State Department. We have in Illinois, however, available an
index of 5,000 names. He was arrested in Illinois for contributing to
delinquency of minors. .

Also a group of Chicago-area men have been publishing clandes-
tinely a “boy love” newsletter called IHermes, one of the several prin-
cipal publications of this type in the United States. The newsletters
contain photographs and line drawings of nude boys, articles on “boy
love” and coded advertisements that tell pedophiles how to obtain the
services of young boys.

Also pornographic movies have been made in various parts of the
United States, shipped to Europe and sent back to the United States
on the pretext that they were filmed in Europe. Some pornographic
films have indeed been made in Chicago.
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Male perverts in New Orleans established a boy scout troep for the
sole purpose of having sex with boys in the troop. o

Also an estimated 80,000 children have been exploited in pornog-
raphy and prostitution in the Los Angeles avea, including children
smuggled in from Mexico in speci.. Iy constructed automobiles.

Also children in Michigan have been sexually abused at a summer
camp on an island owned by a millionaire pecophile who is now in
flight from Federal prosecution. )

And the children involved in pornography and prostitution are for
the most part runaways and children from broken homes, and in some
rages parents have actually sold their children into pornography and
prostitution, but there are also many cases of neighborhood parents of
childyen whe for all intents and purposes are first class citizens,

Mr. Cowyers. Thank you very much. ~

Mr. Bliss, do you have anything you would like to add?

Mz, Briss. Nothing specifically that I know., Organized crime has
been infiltrating this racket. They made their move in Chicago about
3 months ago when they offered some of these distributors their stores
and told them they were their new partners, and caused a little problem
there, However, two of the men were arrested there. They are being
prosecuted now. The heavy ones we call them. One of them represents
the erime syndicate that went into these book stores.

My, Conyers. Mr. Moseley. ’

Mr. Moserey. I can discuss briefly the legal situation in Illinois. I
am not a legal expert, but I have investigated this area somewhat.

Mr. Conyers. Their obscenity statute was struck down, was it not?

Mr. Moserey., It was ruled unconstitutional by a Federal court last
June. There are now several bills before the legislature to amend this
law and get it back on the books.

There also seems to be quite a division of opinion among legal ex-
perts in Illinois as to whether obscenity laws are the right approach to
this or not. Some people feel that there are sufficient laws on the books
in the child abuse area to prosecute. They wish to avoid all the en-
tanglements involved in the obscenity laws.

M. Coxrers. Do you have a view on that subject?

Alr. Mosrey. Well, as I say, I am not a legal expert. My own feeling
from our investigation is that probably the area that needs attack
most i§ the sale of this material, because of the difficulties in appre-
hending people involved in production of child pornography.

Mr. ConyErs. We are indebted to you for bringing this matter to
the attention of the chairman of the Judiciary who has had us and
staff working with you for some time, and I think you very properly
deserve the credit that Mr. McClory has indicated that should be paid
you.

Mr. Volkmer, do you have questions of the witnesses ?

Mr. Vouruzr, Yes; I have a couple.

One, can you identify—it is not necessary now if you don’ wish to
do so. If you wish to do it and submit it m writing at another time
that would be fine I am sure with the chairman. The statement that you
have. heve says:

“They also have had some snccess in obtaining Federal, State and
county funding for phony child-care institutions set up as fronts for
their 1llicit operations.”
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Do you have any proof of any specific i}lsta.nccsZ . i

Ms. Sveep. The Michigan man mentiored Father Bud's farm in
Tennessee.

Mr. Vorrmer. Yes, I recall that.

Ms. Sneen. That is one specific instance of it.

We also find children in foster homes in the State of Iliineis, that
have been abused by their foster parents and, as Lieutenant Martin
pointed out, these people love to take pictures of their vietims. They
trade these pictures. They like to point to how young the victim is, a
point of pride with them. Sometimes the pictures end up in magazines
nationally. There is no telling where the pictures are going to wind
up.

PMr. VorraER, On this Mr. Norman, who is presently in the Illinois
State Prison—at Joliet or where?

Ms. Svzep. Statesville.

Mr. VourMmeR. As far as your investigation has determined, is he
still operating this ring from the penitentiary

Ms. Snerp. While Mr. Norman was in the penitentiary he was ac-
tually publishing these newsletters on the jail press. Mr, Norman does
have a cohort wlo was a convicted murderer who is out on the streets
who has been checking mail, waiting for Mr. Norman’s release from
prison.

I believe Mr. Bliss can tell you—he talked to Mr. Norman—he
indicated that he is planning on beefing up his operation, although
Mr. Norman refuses to admit to us it involves young boys.

Mpr. Briss. May I correct one thing ? He sent his newsletter out from
the county jail, not the State penitentiary.

Mr. VorryEeR. From which? ‘

Ms. Sxeep. This is from Cook County. When he was first arrested
he was sent to the Cook County Jail.

Mr. Vonsmzer. From the Cook County Jail in Chicago he was send-
ing these letters?

Ms. SneeD. Yes.

Mr. VorgnmEer. Thank you very much.

Mur. Coxyers. Mr. Railsback, do you have questions?

Mr. Ramssack, Yes.

Mr. Coxyers. You are recognized.

Mr. Ramwseacrk. May T ask is there any particular part of this city
where you found these practices more explicitly conducted ?

Ms. Sneeo. In Chicago, yes, it has been called Dewey Clark Uni-
versity area, is our equivalent to Los Angeles, the Clark University
area in Chicago where chickens, which are young boys, will walk up
and down the streets and wait for chickenhawlks, who are on the street
or cruising the entire strect. In interviews with young boys who have
been involved in this they say that 9 times out of 10, pictures are
actually taken of them. Pornographic films are shown to them. It is a
wav of getting them around to it.

My, Ramssacxk. Were many of the boys from other States? Were
most of them from the Chicago area?

Ms. Syrrp. They were from the Chicago area.

Mr. Ramssacr. Could you give us a profile of what you would say
typifies the typical victim, and the reason I am asking is the previous

o
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witness indicated that he thounght it would be very diffieult to gen-
erally charvacterize any vietim being from a certain class. I kind of
gather from what you have testified that may not be your experience.
You have alveady indieated runaways and so forth.

Ms. Sneen, Right, Definitely a large percentage of them are run-
aways, but I do agree wholeheartedly with what he said. In New
Ovrleans it was a boy seout person. These children have parents. These
were not runaway children. In Los Angeles many of them are runaway
children. In Chicago they are foster children, or they are children
who do have parents ab home. In many cases the parents decide they
are psychologically absent, or in fact absent, but it is very hard to
pinpoint. Every child pornographer we interviewed said it is the
easlest thing in the world to get a child.

Mr. Ravssack. When you say foster children, are we talking about
children who have been assigned to foster parents by a court?

Ms. Sweep. We are talking about these Department of Children and
Family Services.

M. Raruspack. That part of your testimony bothers me a great deal,
and others have testified along the same lines. The reason I say that
is the foster parent programs, which I think are relatively new in
many cases, have resulted in a great deal of help and assistance and a
support to neglected delinquent children, what worries me is, and I
think you would agree, it is very apparent that there is going to have
to be some kind of better serecening of prospective foster parents or
grandparents. There is going to have to be some kind of judicial over-
sight of exactly how they are condneting their foster home. I say that
as & big supporter of the fioster grandparents program that has been
initiated in many different States. ‘

Ms. Sxeep. There have been instances in Illinois of children being
sent to homosexunal foster homes. The Department of Services coun-
ters that they do not have proper authority to ask ave you homosexual
or are you not, because they would be violating their civil rights, and
the children in fact have been placed in these homes,

AMr, Ramspacx. Mr. Chairman, I just have a couple of quick
questions.

When you began your investigation I take it that you had no dif-
ficulty at all and you expressed your shock and surprise that these
materials were so easy to obtain, Is that correct?

Ms. SxeeD. Yes.

Mr. Moserey. Mr. Bliss and I went out to several shops in the State

treet arvea and we had no treuble buying them. Several dealers told
us that they did not have it available, and then we find it on shelves
right in front of us.

Mr. Ramnspack. Mr. Chairman, T have bad a chance to read the
articles which T think T agree with Mr. MeClory are excellent, T
wonder if we might make them a part of our record ?

Mr. Coxyers. Without objection it is ordered.

[The information referred to can be found in app. D at . 422.]

Mr. Ramssack. Let me just say in closing I think the Tribune, as
well as some other papers, but I think the Tribune probably more than
any other newspaper has veally served to focus attention on what
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I believe is a national or even international problem, and I think they
are to be commended.

Mzr. Convyers. Thank you, Mr. Railsback.

Mr. Gudger, do you have questions of the wituess?

Mr. Gupeer. Mr, Chairman, I have one only, and it is move for pur-
poses of clearing the record I think than as a direct question. I infer-
pret that someone who applies for and gets license authority te
operate a foster liome or to take a child in a foster parent situation
is being granted the privilege by the State and, therefore, the State
could require disclosure of any previous conduet or any patterning
of sexual attitudes which might be inimical to the interest of the chil-
dren because the operation of a foster home is not a right but is a
privilege granted by the State. Do you agree with that suggestion?

Ms. Swmep. Yes, sir, The Illinois Legislature is investigating that
right now. _ ;

Mr. Guoeer. And I take it the Illinois State Legislature is pre-
sumably planning to set regulations or restrictions which would afford
sonie protection to children in this area?

Ms. Sxrep. We certainly dohope so.

One thing T wanted to point out and that is, talking about the
distribution and publishing of this material, if it is as lucrative an
operation as we found it to be, and money is being made, then that
applies to the victims somehow, and one of the cases that was so vivid
to us was in Los Angeles a child molester was arrested with a §-year-
old child before he was able to do anything to her. There ‘were two
briefeases that -~ere found in his possession. The first briefease con-
tained child lollipops, whatever, to entice the child, but most important
is the second briefcase contained pornographic literature of children.
I guess T don’t have to insert the title of this pornographic literature,
put it showed the child molester actually how to pickup this child,
what to do with her once he got her, and through looking at these
pictures he could tell all kinds of ways to sodomize this child that
wouldn’t actually hurt her because in the picture she didn’t seem to
be hurt, and it seems to me that this kind of material, I certainly have
not: done research on exactly what happens to a person who reads this
klipd of material, but it seems to me he was given instructions to do
this.

One of the important aspects of these newsletters with their coded
classified advertisements is that people subseribe to this all over the
country, These people make contact with other people who feel the
same way they do about children, and there isn’t a tremendous guilt.

‘We have read letters that they have written back and forth, gentle-
man, “T am so glad that I finally met somebody who feels the same way
I do about children.”

Mr. ConyErs. Would the gentleman yield ?

I would like to ask these members of the journalisin profession
what they perceive to have been the impact from their series of articles
upon the citizens and readers of their paper in the Chicago area? Has
there been a perceived response ?

Ms. Snenp. It has been a tremendous response.

Mr. Convers. Tell me about it.
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Ms. Snzep. It is very interesting. Part of the response has been
obviously from the parents who. are-very shocked and very upset
with what is going on. They all want to know do you know about
this club? Do you know about anything about this boy scout troop,
et cetera, Obviously they ure now concerned about what clubs their
children participate in. They want to know background. So we ave
hoping, of course, that parents ave aware that they should know what
people are involved in the group.

Secondly, we have received letters from the homosexual community
who seem very disturbed by the articles in the Tribune because they
want to go on record as saying that even in the homosexual commu-
nity many homosexuals would not want to use children, that they
are heterosexuals who go after the girls. _

But we have also received letters from pedophilés who will testify

their love of children, and whe will go into great length describing.

how they feel that they would never really want to abuse g child,

bub yet they will, go into explicit sexual activity that they. do have

with these children, even to say that when these children grew up
and got. married their wives thanked them for teaching them about
sex when they were children, S oo

Mr. Coxyers. Do you have any reactions, gentlemen, from cifizens
about your series of articles? :

Mr. Moserey. On the official level the Cools County State’s attorney
is conducting o grand jury investigation. The U.S. attorney has also
done an investigation using FBI agents and Pos: Dilice inspectors.

Mr. Buss. The Chicago Police Department has formed a special
unit something like the one Lieutenant Martin has since the publiea-
tion of these articles. S

}%r. Conyzers. Mr. Gudger, I don’t know if I am on your time or
not?

; Mr. Gupeer. No, Mr, Chairman, I yield back the balance of my
ime.

Mzr. Conyers. The question is, what is your assessment of the police

activity and conduct in enforcing the law against these abuses and
the prosecutor’s office activity in the Cook County area? Have you
made comments or do you have opinions about that?

Ms. Sweep, Last year, early last year, the State’s attorney’s office
tried getting information on various adult bookstores that ia-fact did

sell child pornography. When the obscenity law was struck down, it

ended their pursuit. ~

Then, independent of that, the Chicago Police Department re-
ceived an anonymous letter from California saying, “I think you
ought to be interested in the fact that there is & nationwide boy prosti-
tution ring that is now headquartered in Chicago. It is ealled the Delta
project . . ., et cetera. Based on that, the police department also
found themselves with child pornography literature hecoming very
inveolved in this. o .

T am not saying the Chicago Police Departmient was naive when it
came to actually the fact that the child pornography was going on,
but T don’t think they realized to what extent it was happening until
earlier this year, They have had a section of their Youth Division
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investigating it. New Orleans has a special unit that has been in-
vestigwiin ¥ this. ) o )

Mr, Cowyers. Was anybody in Chicago inclined to say if Daley
had been mayor this wouldn’t be happening?

Ms. Sweep. 1 take the fifth amendment on that.

Mr. Conyers. Very sound procedure.

Mr. Ertel, do you have any questions?

Mr. ErreL. Just a couple, Mr. Chairman, . .

I was curious about the fact that you said that organized crime had.
now mov-d into this area. Within the last 3 months they have tried
to take over tuis sort of thing? Was that your first indication that
organized crime has moved into it?

Mr. Briss. Yes, Mr. Congressman, the first time I had seen or heard
about, it. They contribnted some stuff behind the scenes, but now th.ere
is definitely a move by the syndicate to take over because there is a
tremendous profit in this racket. ' .

Mr. ErreL. Were they involved in pornography, not child
pornography ? .

Mr. Briss. No. They said, “We want to be your partner, and that is
it. We want to be your partner and become your partner in business.’

Mr. Erter. In the pornography area I think there have been sta-
tistics that organized crime has been in that, but-the question now is,
Are they just moving now into the child pornography area as a new
area ? ‘

Mr. Briss. No: 3 months ago they moved into pornography per se.

Mr. Errer. Now they are in your area for the first time ?

Mr. Briss. Yes, which would include ¢hild pornography, of course.

My, ErteL. Yes, of conrse, part of the field.

The vihier question I have is I was curious about the statement that
these recovds, these 30,000 names, were destroyed by the State Depart-
ment. Can you tell me just a bit more about that? Were they young
girlsinvolved with men, or was it strictly male?

Ms. Sweep. It was strictly male,

Mr. Erren. Didn’t anyone keep a copy of that before you sent it to
the State Department ¢ ‘

Ms. Sneep. We would certainly like to know if they did. They say
they have not.

Mzr. ErTEL. It sounds like a normal precaution to keep a copy of what
you send.

Mr. Brrss. Lieutenant Hancock told us there are names of many
govilmmental employees in the WWashington, D.C., area among his
cards.

Mr. Errer. I would think that would be more reason to keep a copy.

Mr. Coxvyers. I suppose someone has to ask the question, why did
those records go to the State Department rather than the Department
of Justice?

Ms. Sxeep. Exactly. That is the question we put to Lieutenant Han-
cock. His answer was that, “We had contacted the FBI.” His recollec-
tion, which was in 1973, was he contacted the FBI and somehow or
other found it a possible passport fraund viclation, and because of the
amount of names in the Washington area that the State Department
would be the rightful agency to handle this.
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Mr. Errer. If the gentleman will yield, it probably was not a crim-
inal violation because of the Federal law, because the Mann Act doesn't
cover males. That is why I asked the question whether it was females
ornot? :

My, Rarwsgack, Mr. Chairman?

Mr. Coxvers. I vield to the gentleman. _

Mr. Ramssack. I wonder, in the light of what they have testified
about concerning that, if it would not be proper for us to get a state-
ment from the State Department as to why they have destroyed the
secords.

Mr. Conyers. I think it’s an excellent snggestion, and we will so in-
struct the staff.

Ladies and gentlemen, we ave indebted to you. I think the Chicago
Tribune moved without an attempt to sensationalism a subject matter
subject to that. I think you have done a service not only to your reader-
ship in your mnmediate area but more importantly to the entire coun-
try, and we thank you for joining us, and we know vou will continne
your work with the committee as we proceed to, hopetully, an effective
resolution of at least some of the problems raised.

Ms. Sneep. Congressman, I interject one other thing: One thing
we found also in investigating one person Lieutcnant Martin men-
tioned, Gray Strait.

Mr. Strait is now in prison in the State of Illinois for having come
to Illinois and photographed in pornographic films three foster chil-
dren who were ages 13, 14, and 16 years old. He was not, however,
charged with the photographing of these children in sex action movies;
he was charged with actually having sex with one of the boys after
the movies were filmed.

These people have records an arm long of having whatever you want
to call it, abuse of children or aggravating crimes against nature, or
whatever. They have gotten probation after probation after probation;
or they have 3 months psychiatric care here, 6 months there, and these
pecple go on and on and on and on and they apparently don’t feel
there is any teeth in the law to keep them in jail and they continue
doing this. : .

Mr. Strait never voiced to us any sorrow for what he had done, et
cetera, He did say, however, that he would stop sex action films of

children, if he could, but he was very open with us as far as his sexnal

commitments to young boys were concerned, and too, he estimated he
made between $5 million and $7 million in his own particular industry.

Mr. Coxvers. I want to close; I shouldn’t ask one more question be-
cause it can open up an important field that we are going to get into
with a psychiatrist later, but do you perceive in this case a matter of
deliberate, willful criminal conduct, or do you perceive some sort of
aberrent sexual psychopathic condition operative that would diminish
his ability to refrain from these acts? o .

Ms. Sneep. I see both, sir, mainly because there is a lot of money to
be made in this, and they do not miss one chance to make it whether it
be pamphlets, films, reselling prints, reselling negatives, they do it, and
they make a lot of money. ‘

ne pornographer said he could not stop, wuat he wanted to puf that

rubber stamp down, and the mail just kept pouring in.
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Mr. Conzers. That certainly doesn’t speak .to any psychopathic
nature. That is the usnal vicious greed of a criminal nature,

Ms. Snerp. By the same token, he will talk about his love for chil-
dren and his sexual involvement with children.

Mr. Convers. We thank you very much for coming before us, and
we urge you to continue to work with the subcommittee,

Ms. Sxeep. Thank vou.

My, Conymrs. Thank you.

Qur next witness is the representative of the American Civil Liber-
‘iies E&ssociation, Ms. Heather Tlorence, an attorney from a New York

aw firm.

She chairs the media and communication committee of the American
Civil Liberties Union, and was previously chief counsel representing
the American Publishers Association.

‘We presume, Ms. Florence, that by hearing the testimony preceding
you, that that would in some way be of assistance in terms of your
statement, because you will have heard many other points of view that

may differ from that held by the ACLU, and we appreciate your
appearance.

L want to state that from the outset, and we also have a very specific
and readible document constituting your statement, and it will be in-
corporated in its entirety in the record at this point, and that will
leave you free to proceed in any way you choose. ’

‘Welcome to the subcommittee.

[The statement referred to follows:]

STATEMENT OF AMERIOAN Crvin LinprTiks Uwiow IN OpposItTIoN To H.R, 3913

I am testifying today on behalf of the American Civil Liberties Union. My
name is Heather Grant Florence and I am an attorney in private practice in New
York as 4 member of the law firm of Lankenau Kovner & Bickford. I sit as a
member of the ACLU’s Communications Media Committee, which studies current
issues with impact on First Amendment rights. :

INTRODUCTION

The problem of “child pornography” or “kiddie porn”, as it has been dubbed
by the press, has recently come to the attention of the ACLU which, after much
consideration, has developed views on the issue which I shall be articulating here
today. In discussing the issue, generally, and H.R. 8913 specifically, I shy away
from the phrase “child porn” as that confuses two distinet issues—child abuse
which is unlawful activity and the dissemination of printed or visual materials
which is constitutionally protected.

The problem we are discussing today is a diffienlt one, not only for society and
for this Congress, but also for the ACLU. For, unlike many issues on which the
ACLU speaks out, it fully supports the purpose of the proposed legislation. The
ACLU wholeheartedly joins with the many legislators, private individuals and
community groups in condemning the sexual exploitation of rchildren for any
purpose, ircluding commercial purposes. The actions of those responsible for
these ahuses are reprehensible. The ACLU believes, and strongly urges, that
eriminal laws prohibiting child abuse and contributing to the delinquency of a
minor should be vigorously enforced, and if appropriate and useful, enhanced in
order to eliminate this repugnant activity. So long as the imposition of eriminal
penalties upon those responsible for the sexual exploitation of children is done
with the constitutionally-required due process, it raises no civil liberties prob-
lems and will be fully supported by the ACLU. .

Yet, however unlawful the sexual exploitation of children for commercial pur-
poses may be, and however repugnant the resulting materials may be, the Con-
stitution requires that any legislation designed to cure these evils not trample




on First Amendment rights in the process. H.R. 8913 does. Accordingly, the
ACLU opposes this proposed legislation. )

The ACLU’s basic position is that while it is perfectly proper to prosecute those
who engage in illegal action, constitutionally protected speech cannot be the
vehicle, Accordingly, the ACLU submits that those who directly cause and induce
a minor to engage in a sexual act, or engage in it with a minor, are those who vie-
late the laws; those who recruit and offer children for sexual acts clearly should
be prosecuted. Indeed, the ACLU believes that even the activities of one who
records the event of the sexual behavior, such ag the photographer at the scene,
can be found within the group of persons who have caused the act to occur. In
contrast, those who have not participated in causing or engaging in the sexual
activity but who may profit as a result of it, such as a publisher, editor, distribu-
tor or retailer, are not violating the law, While we may vigorously dislike and
reject what they do, their activities in publishing and disseminating printed or
visual materials are wholly proteecfed by the First Amendment.

OVERVIEW OF II.R. 3913

H.R. 3913 (the “Bill") is divided into three sections, The first section, § 2251,
entitled “Sexual Abuse of Children”, would outlaw the engaging of a child in
prohibited sexual activity as well as the photographing or filming of a child so
engaged. The ACLU believes that with some modifications and amendments, thig
section of the Bill could be made to be congtitutional. The second section of the
Bill, § 2252, entitled “Transportation of Certain Photographs and Films”, is, the
ACLU submits, patently unconstitutional since it relies entirely on the dissemina-
tion of written or visual material. It is in this section that the Bill goes beyond
the prohibition of physical acts and encompasses speech; fully within the First
Amendment protections. The third portion of the Bill, § 2253, contains a list of
definitions which, when incorporated into § 2252, are impermissibly vague and, in
some cases, facially unconstitutional.

Beeause the entire Bill hinges on prohibiting protected speech and would pun-
ish those who are engaged solely in its exercise and not in the violation of laws
prohibiting conduct, it is unconstitutional.

SECTION 2251

The problem with the first section of the Bill, § 2251, is its vagueness and over-
breadth in extending criminal penalties to those who “knowingly permit” a child
to engage in the prohibited acts. Because of overbreadth this could be applied to
the publisher, editor or distributor of material who had no participation in ar-
ranging, causing or engaging in the child abuse itself.

Indeed, to cover those persons actually participating in the unlawful acts, this
Committee might consider elaborating on the phrase *“causing” to include pre-
senting or delivering a child for the illegal acts, paying and/or obtaining compen-
sation for a child to so perform, participating in the acts both physically and by
obtaining others to engage in them with the minor, setting the stage and running
the camera. i ‘

However done, it must be emphasized that the definitions be clear and specific
‘so that they do not draw within their ambit those who, while they may benefit
from the bebavior through publication and sale, were not a direct party to the
illegal conduct. Even legislation with a constitutional purpose can, through too
broad a sweep, become unconstitutional in its overbreadth, see Graynard v. City of
Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 114 (1972) and Gooding v. Wilson, 405 U.S. 518 (1972).

SECTION 22452

This portion of the Bill, § 2252, is patently unconstitutional and in the view of
the ACLU cannot be redeemed with any conceivable amendments. The section
makes it unlawful to distribute or receive specified visual materials, with penal-
ties of up to $25,000.00 in fines or 15 years imprisonment. The gross defect with
the section is that the materials, the distribution or receipt of which is the sole
offense, are constitutionally protected. If the First Amendment means anything,
it means that except for thoge few very limited and carefully drawn exceptions
discussed below, speech cannot be ~estrained nor can its exercise be punished.

That the Bill relates to pictures instead of words makes no difference as visual
expression. is just as entitled to protection. See e.g., Joseph Burstyn, Inc, v. Wil-
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son,.843 U.S. 495 (1952) : Kingsley Corp. v. Regents of U. of ¥.¥., 860 U.8. 65¢
(1939) ; Jenkins v. Georgia, 418 U.8. 153 (1974) and Brznoxnick v. Oity of Jack-
sonville, 422 U.8., 205 (1975).

The aveag of “unprotected” speech are small, indeed, and the material pro-
hibited by the Bill does not fall within any of them. Even those narrow areas
where the Supreme Court held that protection is not always available are care-
fully drawn to preserve protected expression: sexually explicit material (aliller
. California, 413 U.S. 15 (1973)); harshly critical opinions and defamatory
statements of facts (Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc, 418 U.S. 323 (1974)) and
exposure of secrets involving the Nation's foreign policy and national security
(New York Times v, United States, 403 U.S. 713 (1971)).

Moreover, the Supreme Court and other courts following its dictate have up-
held as constitutionally protected speech which many, if not most, people would
find hateful, offensive, of no value and of potential harm: advocacy of racial
hatred and violence (Bradenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444 (1969)) ; discussions of
illegal sexual conduct (Gay Students Organization of University of New Hamp-
shire v. Bonner, 509 F. 2d4 652 (1st Cir. 1974) ; vulgar expressions, symbols and
illustrations (Cohen v. California, 403 U.S. 15 (1971) aud Papish v. Bogrd of
Curators of U. of Mo., 410 U.S, 667 (1973)). ’

Above all, it is clear that the Constitution does not tolerate restraint or
punishment of offensive speech, We have had only a few days to research these
legal questions, but our research has revealed no case which has deviated from
this cardinal rule. For recent decisions, see, e.g., Papish, supre, Oohen, supra,
and, most recently, Erznoznick v. City of Jacksonville, supre, and Pacific Foun~
dation v. FCC, —— P24 , 2 Media L.Rptr, 1465 (D.C.Cix. 1977). Just within
the last month, the Supreme Court of Louisiana struck down as clearly uncon-
stitutional a state statute proscribing the depiction of patently offensive acts of
of violence (Lowisiana v. Hensley, (No. 58,495).

It is equally clear that the fact that material may advocate illegal behavior
by its arguments or its attractive and even seductive portrayal of illegal or
antisocial acts provides no basis to suppress it or to punish those . “p publish,
produce or disseminate it, Kingsley Corp, v, Regents U. of N.Y., 36. U.S. 684
(1959). Equally protected by the First Amendment is the dissemination of
published material obtained through illegal means. See New York Times v.
United States, supra, and Doedd v. Pearson, 410 F.2d 701 (D.C. Cir. 1969), cert.
denied, 89 S. Ct. 2021 (1969). What the ACLU suggests to this Committee is
really no different from what the Courts in the “Pentagon Papers” case and
the Dodd case stated to be the law——if the actions allowing the publication to
occur are unlawful, proceed against the perpetrators of those acts, but do not
punish those who publish or disseminate the material, which acts are constitu-
tionally protected.

SECTION 2253

Because § 2252 of the Bill is, in its entirety, unconstitutional, the definitions
in the following section, § 2253, cannot cure the defects, When read into § 2252,
however, they exacerbate the problems, Clearly, portrayals of nudity cannot be
proscribed; see Jenkins v. Georgia, supre, and Erznoznick v. City of Jackson-
ville, supra, and the phrase “any other sexual activity” simply is too vague and
overhoard to withstand constitutional challenge when directed to printed or
visual materials. See, e.g, Miller v. Celifornia, supra. Of course. if § 2252 is
deleted from the Bill, the definitions in § 2258 would he appropriate in defining
the conduct prohibited under the first section of the Bill.

EFFECTIVE CHILD ABUSE PREVEXTION

In view of the foregoing summary analysis of the law, the ACLU concludes
that, as drafted, XLR. 3913 is unconstitutional, Passing it in its present form
cpuld have no deterring effect on the true harm-—the abuse and sexual exploita-
tion of children—as such a law could not withstand judicial serutiny. Amend-
ing the Bill to omit § 2252 completely and to cure the deficiencies in § 2251 is
an option the Committee certainly has.

]3(3(3:1115:51 the ACTLU fully supports conslitutional legislation to battle the prob-
lem, the illegal conduct at its core, it has considered additional ways in which
the Fe(]ern]_ Government might assist in the battle against child abusers. Among
the legislative alternatives this Committee might consider are amendments to
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the Mann Act (18 U.S.C. 2421 et seq.) to substitute minors of both sexes for
“girls and women" as the law currently provides. . . .

Another legislative possibility would be amendments to the Child Abuse Pre-
vention and Treatment Act (42 U.S.C. § 5101 et seq.). That Act creates a com-
mission which, among other things, may provide financial assistance to states
with effective child abuse programs, The Committee may wish to congider adding
in § 5103, as a prerequisite for grants of Federal funds to a state, the reguirement
that a state have and enforce a constitutional Iaw prohibiting the sexual abuse
of minors for commercial purposes. As this Committee is aware, many state
legislatures are examining the problems udey discussion here and the Congress
could be of assistance in assuring through appropriate guidelines thaf such new
state Jegislation be constitutional and effective.

CONOLUSION

The. ACLU hopes that the presentation of its views will be of assistance to the
Committee, and it would welcome the opportnnity to continue to share its thoughts
on how best to solve this most troublesonie problem. Thank you for the opportu-
nity to come and speak with you today. Do

TESTIMONY OF HEATHER FLORENCE, COMMUNICATIONS AND
MEDIA COMMITTEE 0F THE AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION

Ms. Frorexce. Thank you very much, Mr, Chairman.:

I want to assure you that the American Civil Liberties Union is most
F] eased and honored they were invited to send a representative to these

1earings. »

T was asked to come as a volunteer lawyer for the ACLU, as I have
been active, as you mentioned, in the Media Communications Com-
mittee. = - '

I would simply like the minutes to reflect a correction. I am not the
chairperson of that committee, but simply a member of it. ‘

The other sort of introductory remark I would make is I did find
sitting here this morning a very enlightening experience, and perhaps
contrary to your and the other Congressmen’s assumptions, the views
of the American Civil Liberties Union o not really differ from much
of the testimony you have heard today. : ~

T am here because I am an attorney familiar with the constitutional
issues, and T am not equipped to talk about the actual problems of the
fhild abuse and sexual abuse of children, as some of the other witnesses

have. :

I do want to clarify at the outset that to the extent there is a problem,
such as you have heard testified about today, the American Civil
Liberties Union certainly believes that the existing laws to prevent
the abuse of children should be effectively enforced, and would hope
that the States and this Congress, if appropriate, can enact further
legislation to protect children from abuse, whether it be sexual abuse
for commercial purposes or not. .

‘With that introduction, I do want to point out I start largely where
most of the other witnesses you have heard.

Mr. Conxyzrs. That is very reagsuring, maybe cven disarming. The
committee usually holds its breath when ACLU comes because we say
here comes the hair-splitters, we are now going to get a lot of constitu-
tional arguments about why we can’t do what most people-feel cught
to be done. : . S A

We feel most reassured by the fact that our concern about ‘constitu-
tional rights is not altogether missing, and that your concern about our
moving dispdsitively on the question 1s also present, . - .. - . .
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Ms. Frorexce. Of course, one of the things we hope we can be help-
ful with is obviously if you end up passing an unconstitutional bill be-
cause it does violate first amendment rights, in addition to the Civil
Liberties Union and other people getting exercised about that, you are
going to find yourself without an effective law to do what should be
done, so it is largely in the interest of law enforcement that I am going
to proceed to perhaps split some legal hairs and point out to you the
ways in which we think the current proposed legislation is unconstitu-
tional and does give us first amendment problems. |

We do that not just because we don’t want you to step on first amend-
ment rights, but because we think it is important that legislation passed
in the area be effective, and that when the first, second or third person
is arres*~* under it and prosecution begins, you don‘t find the whole
thing ¢ ¢ wn out and dismissed on the basis of an unconstitutional
statute,

Mr. Coxvers. The chairman should have known he couldn’t talk
you out of our statement.

Ms. Frorence. I did make my statement available to the staff of the
committee late vesterday, so I don’t know if I can assume with the
busy schedule of the morning any of you have had an opportunity to
read it.

Let me quickly summarize the positions I have made, leaving out of
the case citations and the like, and then perhaps the time can be more
usefully spent in questioning.

As you know, of course, the bill before the committee has been struec-
tured in three sections.

The first section which is called 2251, deals with actual child abuse.
It has nothing to do with sending materials interstate, It goes after
the people who caused the child abuse and the person who photograpls
with knowledge or belief that it will end up in interstate commerce.

Qur feeling is, with some rather minor amendments, this section of
the proposed bill would be perfectly constitutional. We have no prob-
lem with enacting further legislation and Federal legislation, in partic-
ularly, to those who cause a child to engage in these sexual acts. ~

We feel that that could even be xpanlc?led 50 as to include people who
seb it up, induce it, make money from it, receive money for it, hire the
photographer, and the like.

Our sole problem with section 2251 in the bill is that we feel it’s a
little broad in its sweep by including those who “knowingly permit”
those activities to happen. ‘

We feel that that phrase does run into vagueness and overbreadth
problems .which the Supreme Court has addressed in any number of
cases before it over the years, inasmuch as it could pull in those
people who are distributing materials that portray these acts, but who
themselves had absolutely nothing to do with setting up the acts, ar-
ranging them, engaging in them, paying for them, or the lilze.

Our real problem with the bill then, of course, is with section 2252,
That section relies entirely on the acts of transporting materials, visual
and written materials in interstate commerce. There is nothing in that
bill that links the person involved at the scene of the act itself, and
there is nothing in the bill which would make the materials them-
selves unlawful. It is simpy anyone who distributes pictures of chil-
dren engaged in acts or nude pictures of children would be subject to
rather substantial, indeed, very substantial criminal penalties.
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It is our belief, after review of the first amendment law, that that
section of the hill is patently unconstitutional, and we don’t perceive
how that section could be amended so as to comply with first amend-
ment law. ‘ ‘ o

As you will see in my statement, I think at page 4, I have listed
some of these areas in which the Supreme Court has held that certain
kindts of speech are not fully and always protected by the first amend-
ment.

The material here in question would not fall into any of those cate-
gories. ,

‘What many would say—and one tends to be sympathetic with it—
is, this material has to be objectionable because it was only made by
the actual engaging of the illegal acts themselves; it’s not simply
writing about something, but it’s portraying an illegal act of child
abuse in the first instance.

We feel, however, that even here there is Supreme Court constitu-
tional law to the effect that if that is the case, your remedy is to go
after those people who engaged in the illegal conduct, but that you
cannot, prohibit or restrain or punish the dissemination of the material
which is available as a result of the illegal conduct.

I am sure it would strike you as an inept analogy, but I do think
it’s useful to think of the Pentagon papers case.

Granted that material is very different from what we are talkin
about today, there was an instance where the Supreme Court acknowi-
edged in the opinion that there might have been criminal activity in-
volved in obtaining these documents.

There was, you know, just theft, larceny problems, perhaps under
the Espionage Act, but the material itself could not be restrained and
its publication should not be punished.

So, we feel that the fact there was illegal activity, does not provide
a basis for punishing those who simply disseminated the material.

Second, to the extent the material portrays child abuse or engaging
in sexual acts with children as attractive or desirable activity, as
offensive as we find that, again, we feel that the law is quite clear,
that you cannot prohibit the mailing of the material or the obtaining
of the material for those reasons. -

I guess, on balance, our feeling is there is really nothing you can do
to preserve the section, but we feel you would have a viable piece of
legislation if it were amended to eliminate that section, slightly amend
the first section, and the definitions in the last section of the-bill we
would find perfectly appropriate when addressed to the acts in ques-
tion.

Should the bill remain in its present form with the three sections,
we do feel there are further constitutional problems with some of the
definitions. .

For example, nudity ds included, and we have two Supreme Court
cases within the last 2 or 8 years which have made it clear that mere
nudity cannot be proscribed. )

The phrase “other sexual activity” would run afoul of many of
the Supreme Court cases on vagueness and overbreadth ; and, of course,
in particular the Supreme Court’s major obscenity case in 1973, Miiler

v. California, which held as one of its principal holdings that the

statutes must be very specific in defining the conduct to be prohibited.
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So in looking where we come out as a result of this analysis of the
bill, our feeling is that certainly we would support and encourage en-
actment of this bill as amended, as we suggest.

We have always tried te think ot other things this committee might
consider to get at the heart of the problem, and the heart of the prob-
lem is, of course, the abuse of the children themselves. The two sug-
gestions we have made in our statement, one of which has been dis-
cussed in a variant form already today, is an amendment to the Mann
Act. Our suggestion i§ somewhat different from that which has been
voiced, which is that we substitute the phrase “minors” for current
language of “girls and women?. o "

We think this would give the act a little new life. I think it was
mentioned here this morning that there have not been many prosecu-
tions under it in recent years and perhaps it is because the applica-
tion to women seems a little avchaic in our society today, and perhaps
it you included “minors” of both scxes and left out adults, it would
really give the act new life. '

We think you should consider that.

The second thought we have come up with and have not had an
opportunity to ascertain whether it ig really viable, both legislatively
and practically, would be some kind of amendment to the existing
Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act. That sets up a center to
study child abuse treatment and the like, and as I understand is em-
powered to grant Federal funds to the States,

The act currently contains a nttmber of requirements that the State
Taws must meet in order to obtain that Federal funding, and we think
you might want to consider amending that act to include, as a further
requirement, that the State have legislation which is both constitu-
tional, effective, and being enforced in this area of the sexual and
commercial exploitation of children.

I would be very happy to answer any questions that my comments
have raised. I do want to emphasize that the American Civil Liber-
ties Union in general, and I, of course, personally, would welcome
the opportunity to continue to work with the committee and to give
vou the benefit of our thoughts in the area.

Thank you very much. ,

Mr. Coxvers. That was an excellent statement, and I don’t think
it left too many members of the subcommittee overly distraughi.

I think the suggestions are ones that we should consider very
thoroughly in terms of constitutionally perfecting the legislation in
this field.

I also am very grateful for additional recommendations that you
made that go beyond the legislation. All of us, I think, are beginning
to get the feeling that we may have won part of the problem here
that we are trying to deal with legislatively, and that perhaps the
larger part may not be addressed, may not be appropriate that this
particular subcommittee in the Congress deal with.

We certainly want to make it clear we know we are not taking care
of the entire problem, even if we move to specific Federal legislation
against child abuse and pornography. So we are grateful for those
reasons for your statement. '

Do you think even a perfected constitutional bill enacted into law
will effect much one way or the other the nature of the industry, given

¥
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the society and the other sociological dynamics that have been dis-
cussed in the hearing

Ms. Frorence. First of all, let me emphasize I can’t speak to that
as an expert. I am happy to give you my own thoughts. ‘

I first request, however, that you define for me the industry. By
that are you referring to the distribution of specially explicity mate-
rials, whether involving adults or children, or to the child abuses them-
selves, abusers themselves?

Mr, Convyzrs. To the first instance.

Ms. Frorence. I guess my own feeling on the pornography issue
overall, and I believe to a certain extent this does reflect the views of
the ACLU, and, indeed, as was stated by Mr. Leonard of the District
Attorneys Association earlier today, we believe little purpose is served
by the obscenity laws as they currently exist, and that people are going
to want this material and they are going to manage to get it and to
the extent there has been substantial infiltration by organized crime,
as has been testified to here today, that infiltration probably is going
to be the result of the fact that it is considered contraband, and that
there are risks attendent to it. ;

Whether this particular legislation or some version of it would have
an effect on the industry itself, my hunch would be the largest effect
it would have, at least in the fivst instcace, until enforcement is fully
under swing, is to increase the involvement of organized crime.

M. Convers. By enacting the legislation?

Ms. Frorenos. Because it becomes much more difficult to get, the
{))eople don’t want to take the risk, so instead of having legitimate

usinessmen engaged in it, it’s even more likely to go underground
more than it is. Now, that is presupposing a law on the books and
questionable enforcement.

Mr. Convers. That is very discouraging. I would hope this would
arm the prosecutorial forees around the country to deal more effec-
tively with organized crime rather than less effectiveiy,

Ms. Frorexce. I guess from what I heard this morning—and I am
neither a prosecutor nor a defense counsel in these kinds of matters—
but what I heard this morning, the real problems with law enforce-
ment are getting the victims, getting the necessary witnesses, and I
really don’t see how the bill would assist in that.

To the extent the bill were enacted as we have suggested with just
a section on the child abuse itself, that does, of course, give the Federal
Government a role to play in the area, and I am suve that the Federal
prosecutors could be very helpful, indeed, it’s even possible that by
convening grand juries and subpenaing those people who distribute
the materials, which does raise some first amendment questions but
they are not quite so obvious as the legislation as drafted, perhaps
you could get & handle on some of it which is not being done through
the existing State enforcement programs.

My, Coxyzrs. Thank you very much.

My, Gudger, do you have any questions, sir?

Mr. Gupger. Mr. Chairman, I have only one question.

If the publication and distribution of published maferials, porno-
graphic materials, is constitutionally protected, isn’t the only thing
which is not protected a violation of State rather than Federal law?

98-185—77———9
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Ms. Frorexce, As I understand, currently that is absolutely true.

Mr. Goperr. Therefore, can this Congress act if your propositions
of unconstitutionality are valid ? , A

Ms. Frorence, We feel you could act. First of all, in the other ways
we have discussed, such as the Mann Act and the Child Abuse Pre-
vention Act encouraging the States to pass further legislation, but
we also feel that the first section of this bill would give you the right
to, or' give the Federal Government a handle on the problem, because
it does link the commission of the criminal acts to the photographing
of those acts, with the knowledge or reason to believe those photographs
will end up in interstate coramerce.

It is a somewhat tenuous link for Federal jurisdiction; it is an area
in which there could be first amendment arguments made. There is
no question, but we feel we would support it.

The American Civil Liberties Union would support that, and it
could be helpful.

Mr. Guneer. Would you contend it was constitutional for the Fed-
eral Government to prohibit the taking of the photographs, and the
abuse of the child for the purpose of legally, as you contend, publish-
ing and transmitting the published material in interstate commerce?

Ms. Frorexce. You ask me o very difficult question., Certainly if I
were defending a defendant in that kind of a case, which again is not:
my practice, I want to make clear, certainly I would raise the argu-
ments that you make, that there are constitutional problems. I believe
similar arguments have been made in connection with prosecutions
under the Mann Act.

A woman being transported over State lines to engage in immoral
purposes, the defense has been raised that part of the activity was to
make & movie, and that is a protected first amendment activity, and
therefore, I can’t be prosecuted, or the act itself is unconstitutional.

I have not rvesearched the area carefully. I have come across those
annotations, and I believe those defenses have not been sustained, so
on the basis of that precedent I believe that the first section of the
bill, as amended to make it clear which group of people we are talking
about, probably has an excellent chance of withstanding constitutional
serutiny, but certainly arguments could be made.

Mr. Gupncer. I thank you for drawing that parallel, because I am
aware of that line of decision you make reference to.

Thank you.

Mr. Conyers. Thank you, Mr, Gudger.

Mr. Brtel, do you have questions ?

Mr. Errer, Yes, Mr. Chairman, Thank you.

I have a couple of questions about your analysis of section 2251
which involves the words “knowingly permit.” You indicate that that
may be unconstitutionally vague. I wonder, do you know any.cases
which hold the term “knowingly permit” unconstitutionally vague,
because that term is used in the model penal code extensively, and has
been enacted in many States who have enacted the model penal code in
relation to other criminal conduct, and therefore, I wonder if that is
not, in fact, precisely defined.

Ms. Fronrevce. I will certainly confess ignorance. No one case comes
to my mind where that clause has been found too broad. Our feeling




127

was really linked to Congressman Gudger's point that because there is
a, connection in that section to distrihution of materials interstate, it
has a sort of first amendment penumbra about it, and to the extent it
could be construed to pick up the distributor or the producer, some-
body who was not involved in the act bvt who is obviously getting
material from the source of supply, it certainly could be argued that
that person knowingly permitted the acts to go on. ITe knows what his
source of supply is, and he hasn’t stopped that supply from
happening. : ‘

That is really the kind of analysis that has led to our objection.

My, Errer. It seems to me that that is used in part 1, the first section,
“knowingly permitted a minor to engage,” which is directed at a
guardian or someone else. I don’t happen to have a copy of the bill in
front of me, and part I or the first section, would you agres that is
constitutional?

Ms. Frorexce. Certainly I think it would be constitutional and
proper to include language which would encompass a guardian or
anyone responsible for a child who lets the child engage or be induced
into these acts. I also understand from much of the testimony this
morning that, indeed, it’s often the parent who, in effect, produces the
child, (xivho presents the child and certainly we think that should be
covered. :

Perhaps one way to do it is, instead—even the legislative history
could be helpful, of course, in making it clear you ave not talking about
the people involved in sale or distribution of materials who had
nothing to do back at the scene of the ast itself—but other alternatives
would be to spell out a little bit more fully the phrases in that section:
which are “cauge or knowingly permit.”

Mr. Erver. That is where I want to stop you, if I may.

I hate to interrupt. I want to try and get that, becanse I think this
is very important to us with regard to this bill, and I would like to get
your views and see, if we, in fact, were going to pass the bill, what you
think.

Section 2251 reads: “Any individual who causes or knowingly
permits a child to engage in a prohibited sexual act or & simulation of
such an act shall be punished.” ) )

Dogyou have any problems with the vrord “knowingly permnit™
there ?

Ms. Frorence. When you stop right there as if there were nothing
else, then I would not have a problem, but necavse that section con-
tinues to the act of photographing with the knowledge that the

hotographing is going to end up in interstate commerce, that is when
Estop and say, “I have a problem.” ’ .

Mz, Brren. Where, in fact, it does, We arg testing then the intent
of a person’s mind, and we have tried those traditionally as to whether
they go into interstate commerce, if they “knowingly permit,” know-
ingly is a state of mind, it's a definitional term, and it has been very
clearly defined, especially in the model penal code. It has been defined
throughout the Nation. That is what causes me the concern. Maybe I
am getting too technical. )

Ms. Frorexce. You may be too sophisticated for me, I will be happy
to look into it further, but let me give you a hypothetical question.
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Take, for example, a book which méiy have come to the attention of
this committee, and I am sure it has, ¢alled “Show Me,” which was
published by St. Martins Press, a very substantial and respectable
Eook publisher in this country.

It contains photographs of nude children and a lengthy introduc-
tory text about sex education and so forth. The book identifies the
origins of photographs which in this case were from Germany. Would
your feeling be that the phase “knowingly permit,” and assuming that
that book fell within the proscriptions of the legislation

I\%r, Erren. I guess that is an assumption we are going to have to
analyze.

Ms. Frorexce. As curvently drafted it would.

Mr, Errer. I think the word “nudity” in here in and of itself is un-
constitutional. Using the word “nndity,” I think that is unconstitu-
tional without any question, knowing and permitting the child to be
‘photographed nude. I think that is out because that is a baby picture,
“thus eliminating that possibility. However to simulate a sexual act
with a minor at the age of 16, how about that, knowingly ?

Afs. Froxewoe. My problems I am having with the publisher who
‘aequired that material and might know that somebody was in the
Jprocess of setting that up to be pahotographed, would that publisher be
Jmowingly permitting this activity to go on? That publisher would be
buying in effect a product after the fact, would not be

My, Errer, You missed one defining term, knowingly permits a
child, He may know it is going on, but he is not knowingly permitting
the child, The child is the object of that and it has to be knowingly
permitting the child, which means involved with the child. I thmnk
your definition when you drop the word “child” obviously then you
have a constitutional problem. Let’s leave the word “child” out.

Ms. Frorexce. Certainly if it were addressed to somebody who had
knowledge and permitted a particular child in a particular circum-
stance to be subjected to these activities, I am sure we would find that
appropriate to punish and probably constitutional.

I would like the opportunity, if it is acceptable to the subcommittee,
to look into the precedents you raised and see if we can provide some
more educated thoughts on this.

Mz, Erter. I would certainly ask the subcommittee chairman to
ask you to submit that. I think that would be appropriate because I
think that is going to be an issue that we are going to have to face,
and we are going to have to face it very strenuously when we consider
this legislation. I don’t want to go through 2252 because I have the
same problems there.

I personally have tried cases knowingly permitting a person to drive
a vehicle. An owner allows a person to drive his car knowingly when
the person is drunk. T have never seen an attack that has been success-
ful on that section. That is why I am raising this.

You have raised this issue knowingly permit. Knowingly usually
defines and limits and usually keeps it out of the constitutional morass.
At least T hope it does. That is why T whnted to raise the problem.

I appreciate your comments and yous detailed knowledge. I would
like to know if you would do that because it would certainly be help-

ful to me, and I hope it would be helpful to the committee,
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Ms. Frorence. I would be happy to.
1 would simply like to point out that is not the question of course,
section 2252. We are talking about 2251 ; right ¢

Mr. Erren. We wers talking 2251, T would be glad to tallk 2259.

Ms. Frorence. I think the problems with 2252 are so much greater.

Mr. Errer, All right,

May I pose a question on 2252 at this point? I know it is late in
the day and we have to go. Would knowingly trazsport, ship or mail
any photograph or film depicting a child engaged in a prohibited sex~
ual act or simulation of such an act, are you contending that that is un-
constitutional ? Miller, as I recall, says that we can define obscenity. If
we get the Miller definition in there that a person knowingly transmits
prohibited material which would fall within the definition of Miller,
do you not think then we would have a constitutional section ?

Ms. Fromewor. Certainly that is an amendment that wouid probably
bring you within the Supreme Court guidelines, and would be con-
stitutional. The American Civil Liberties Union would not support
that as it finds that the obscenity laws as they exist and have been
construed and applied by the Supreme Court are troublesome to us,
and it concurs with Mr. Leonard that adults should be able to obtain,
see, and read what they want, but it could go quite a way in solving
our constitutional probiem.

I question whether it would add much to the effect of law enforce-
ment. Inasmuch as, as has @lec been mentioned here today, there are
Jrederal obscenity statutes which you already have, and persons with
this material, to the extent it falls within the definition there, can be
prosecuted against under those existing laws, and those laws have con-
tinuonsly been upheld by the U.S. Supreme Court as late as yesterday.

Mz, &rrer. Yes; but I think when you are talking the Supreme Court
has defined children and minor differently than adult material.

Ms. Frorence. That is in coniection with what is appropriate for
minor to see.

Mr. Errer. I would imagine the Court will go along with what is ap-
propriate for a child to engage in. If they cannot see it they certainly
cannot engage in it. ‘

Ms. Frorence, I wonld hestiate to speculate about the Supreme
Court, but it would be a case of first impression I believe.

Mr. Krren. Tt may be a case of first impression. I think it is an
& fortiori argument as I remember it. So I can see us cleaning up 2252.
I think it has some problems if you take and tie the nudity section into
the prohibited sexual act, but T happen to vary with you a bit, and I
understand the American Civil Liberties Union. I appreciate their
position, But I do believe that we have to legislate within the con-
fines of what the Supreme Court now defines as a free speech area, and
what you are saying is you don’t agree with the Supreme Court’s
decision,

Ms. Frorexce. Yes; that is what T am saying, but my integrity as a
lawyer requires that I acknowledge that if appropriately amended to
be tied to the constitutional definition of obscenity the substantial prob-
lem with that section would be resolved.

Mcr. Errer. Thank you very much. I appreciate it.
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Ms. Frorexce. But I would not advocate it. : :
Mpr. Erten. I can appreciate your comment on thai. I find your testi-
mony very helpful, aud I appreciate it very much. I think it is very

“important to us to have your views because obviously the American

‘Civil Liberties Union, if we go too far, will be the one probably to

-spearhead the attack to mnock it down because it does encroach on im-

_bermissible areas. So I appreciate your testimony.

Mr. Cowyers. Thank you both.

"The subcommittee counsel ias 2 couple of questions.

Mr. Gregory. I have two questions that I am asking at the request
of Mr, Volkmer, who had to leave.

The first question relates to the subject just discussed. The Supreme
Court decision on Monday in the Smith case held that a community
standard set by a jury rather than State standards set by a legislatv. 3
should apply even though it was a Federal prosecution. What impli-
«cations do you see, if any, of that decision for this legislation, viewed in
terms of the legislation, or in terms of the effect upon the prosecution
of existing laws?

Ms. Frorexce. First of all, let me state clearly that I have not yet
read the decision. I read a report of the decision in the paper, and I was

familiar with the case, familiar with the briefs, and the argnments

before the Court, but I haven’t read the opinion, and I really haven’t
had an opportunity to analyze it.

I think what it probably does though is male it clear that the Fed-
eral Government can prosecute in any jurisdiction so long as there
has been some raovement in interstate commerce regardless of what the
State law or local obscenity standard is, It really will depend upon
what the particular jury selected within the distriet where the trial
takes place. Presumably still on de novo review, the appellate courts
will continue to make their own independent judgment as to whether
the material could conceivably be obscene as a matter of constitutional

law, but it would appear certainly to strengthen the hand of Federal

prosecutors around the country. : :

- One of the things that I find very troublesome abont this situation
as a civil libertarian is the whole question of selecting the venue in
which such a prosecution would be brought to the extent that the
prosccutors helieve that it is more likely to result in a conviction in
one eommunity beeause of the nature of the community. Some of the
material we are talking about can be mailed into that district and
prosecution begun in that district and, of course, that will have an
im]iavt on national distribution, so we have very serious problems
with it.

As far as State legislation is concerned, my feeling would be that.

the Smith decision would give it some life and it would be vespected
and applied in. States regardless of what the State legislation was.

Mr. Grrgory. But this was a reaffirmation of the Miller case which
as I reeall expressly encouraged State and local prosecutions rather
than Federal. Tt is my understanding that following that decision
there has been a decrease in U.S. attorney-brought cases. Is that con-
sistent with your opinion?

Ms. Frorexcn. I really don’t hiave any knowledge of the statistics
.on how this is proceeding. Understandably cnough, though, of course

vv
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in the Miller decision one of the things that the Supreme Court em-
phasized was that by going for the local standards and allowing the
local community to set its own standards there could be.some com-
munities that would want to be more liberal and more lax about this
material than they would be able to if a national standard were used
even though there might be a crmmunity someplace else that was

much more restrictive. .

It would seem to me, and again I have not read the Sméth decision,
that perhaps the Court is pulling back from that language in M:ller
because they are allowing the more restrictive standard of the Fed-
eral jury to override what was a clear statemént of the community
standard by the State legislature. ‘ : :
. Mr. Gereory. I think you were here earlier this morning and heard
mvestigator Martin’s suggestion that legislation be enacted requiring
the producers and distributors to label the material being sent in in-
terstate commerce, including the names and addresses of the children
depicted in the photos and films. Do you find any constitutional prob-
lems raised by that suggestion? )

Ms. Frorence. Yes: I do. Again T haven’t had a chance to fully an-
alyze it, but T think there are two substantial constitutional problems.
One is of course the potential fifth amendment problem to the extent
the legislation is drafted to apply only to contraband materials in
which you should not be dealing, if those are the materials on which
vou haye to put this information. Simply doing it is to be admitting
some kind of involvement in eriminal activity, and of course under the
terms of furcing somebody to identify the source of his material. I
think again this is an area where I would, if the committee is inter-

Second, however, I think it does raise first amendment problems in
fifth amendment that cannot be required.
beconzes a burden it is kind of a tax on the exercise of first amendment
rights, and this the Supreme Court as far back as to the Grosjean
case, might prokhibit as well.
ested, welcome the opportunity to do some research into it and respond
subsequently, but my recollection is that there are a nuwher of cases
which have held that that kind of forcing someone to identify hir:-
self in certain kinds of statements do run amock of the first amend-
ment, the anonymous political advertising cases, and to the extent it

So T think there are serious problems with it. It might not even be
something you want to consider because I think it was pointed out by
members of the committee and others it might be of questionable value
in any event as a practical matter that it won’t get you very far,
anyway.

Mr. Conyers. The subcommittee counsel, Tom Boyd.

Mr. Boxp. I had a couple of questions that I wanted to direct. My
(uestions go again to section 2252.

The approach taken thus far seems to be in direction of the use of
“consenting adults” and setting obscenity standards, which I think
presents some degree of difficulty, but if you take 2252 as drafted with
certain modifications you are suggesting then that the distribution of
certain prohibited material depicting consenting adults is unconstitu-
tional?

Ms. Frorevce. I am sorry.
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Mr. Bovyp. The laws and regulations of the distribution of certain
types of prohibited materials, specifically ‘involving consenting
adults

Ms. Frorence. Is unconstitutional.

24r. Boyp. And there is no difference if it involves minor children?

Ms. Frorence. Yes, that is my position, there would be no difference.

Mr. Coxvers. I think your presentation here has been most help-
ful and we have reached a mutual agreement that where you can help
us on several points that have been raised but perhaps not precisely
resolved we will have further association, and we thank you very much
for coming before us and being our last witness for today.

Ms. Frorewce. Thank you very much, and I will look forward to
working with you further.

Mr. Cowyers. The subcommittee stands in adjournment.

| Whereupon, at 12:45 p.m., the subcommittee adjourned.]
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SEXUAL EXPLOITATION OF CHILDREN

FRIDAY, JUNE 10, 1877

U.S. House oF REPRESENTATIVES,
SuscoMMITTEE ON SELECT EDUCATION
or 2 CoMMITTEE ON EbUcaTIoN AND LABOR,
AND THE SuBcOMMITTEE 0N CrIME
or THE COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittees met pursuant to notice at 9 a.m. in room 2175,
Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. John Brademas [chairman of
the Subcommittee on Select Education] presiding.

Present : Representatives Brademas, Miller, Kildes, Biaggi, Jeffords,
Pressler, Quie, Conyers, Volkmer, Gudger, Iirtel, and Railshack.

Staft present : Hayden Gregory, Jack Duncan, counsel ; Leslie Freed,
assistant counsel; Tom Burch, legislative assistant; Roscoe Stovall,
associata counsel ; Martin LaVor, senior legislative associate.

Mr. Brapemas, The Subcommittee on Select Education of the Com-
mittee on Education and Labor and the Subcommittee on Crime of the
Committee on the Judiciary will come to order for the purposs of con-
tinuing hearings on the issue of the sexual exploitation of children.

Until recently, the problem of the sexual abuse of children in this
country received little attention, yet there is increasing evidence that
young people are being exploited for prostitution, that there is a
startling number of cases of incest and that children are being used
in poronographic films and magazines. ‘

It is to one particular dimension of the problem of the sexual
exploitation of children that our hearing this morning is addressed,
tl}lglébrodllcbion and distribution of pornographic materials depicting
children. : :

Bills dealing with this problem have been introduced and referred
both to the Subcommittee on Select Bduecation of the Committee on
Education and Labor and the Subcommittee on Crime of the Com-
mittee on the Judiciary. L o

The Subcommittee on Select Education has leld hearings in Los
Angeles and New York on the proposed legislation. At those hearings
we received testimony from individuals about the severity and extent
of the sexual abuse and exploitation of children. The Subcommittee
on Crime, chaired by Congressman John Conyers, has also held hear-
ings on this matter. o

"Today our witnesses represent the Department of Justice, the U.S.
Postal Service and the U.S. Customs Service. We will hear, teo, from
Kenneth Wooden, director of the National Coalition for Children’s
Justice. C
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We are pleased to hear from these witnesses for their comments and
observations on the proposed legislation.

Before calling our first witness this morning, the Chair would like
to call on his friend and distinguished colleague, the chairman of the
Subcommittee on Crime of the Committee on the Judiciary, the gentle-
ma:ln from Michigan, Mr. Conyers, for any statement he may wish to
malke.

The Chair would observe that he will hold the chair for the first
few witnesses and then twrn the chair over to the gentleman from
Michigan, Mr. Ccnyers.

Mr. Covvers. I want to thank my colleague from Indiana, the
chairman of the Select Education Subcommittee, and indicate that
we are doing what malkes preeminently good, commonsense, that where
we have an area in which there is joint concern by more than one
committee of the Congress, the witnesses that might be called are
asked to appear before both committees in a joint hearing.

So I commend my colleague and his subcommittee for joining with
u§ to this end.

The witnesses from the Government agencies that have jurisdiction
over Federal obscenity statutes have been asked to testify; we feel a
need to determine, as we move into this subject matter, the adequacy
of State laws and enforcement, as well as the adequacy of Federal
enforeement of present law before we can presume to determine what,
if any, changes need be made in the present Federal statutes.

Consequently, this hearing will, of course, concentrate on the nature
and scope of child sexual abuse, but we want to concern ourselves with
the concept of what new Federal law would be acceptable in this area.
So we welcome those witnesses from the Justice Department, Postal
Service; Customs Service and our other witnesses that may join us.

I am very pleased to undertake these hearings with my colleague
from Indiana. :

Mr. Brapemas. Thank you very much, Mr. Conyers.

Our first witness this morning will be Mr. John C. Keeney, the
Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Criminal Division, Department
of Justice. , -

Mr. Keeney, we are pleased to have you with us this morning.

TESTIMONY OF JOHN C. KEENEY, DEPUTY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY

 GENERAL, CRIMINAL DIVISION, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,
ACCOMPANIED BY PHILIP WILENS, CHIEF, GOVERNMENT
REGULATIONS AND LABOR SECTION; DONALD NICHOLSON, U.S.
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Mr. Kzevey. I would like to introduce my colleagues.

On my right is Mr. Philip Wilens, who is Chief of the Government
Regulations and Labor Section, which is responsible for the obscenity
laws; and on my left, Mr. Donald Nicholson, who has worked ex-
tensively in the area of obscenity.

Mr. Chairman, I submitted a prepared statement to the committee

.and I would, like to offer the statement in its entirety for the record;

and if I may, I would very briefly describe the bills, some of the prob-
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lems we have with respect to them, and some suggestions we have

to malke.
Mr. Brabenmas. Without objection, that will be so ordered.
[The prepared statement of John Keeney follows:]

STATEMENT O0F JoHN KEENEY, DEPUTY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL, CRIMINAL
DivisioN, DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

My name is John Keeney and I am Deputy Assistant Attorney Geneml i

“the Criminal Division of the Department of Justice. It is a pleasure to appear

before you today to discuss the position of the Department oft Justice on sev-
eral bills which would prohibit the sexual exploitation of children and the
trangportation and dlssemmahon of photographs or films depicting such
exploitation.

H.R. 4571 and H.R. 7093 amend the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment
Ant (42 U.8.0. 5101-5106) by adding proposed sections 8, 9 and 10. Section &
provides a fine of not more than $50,000 or imprisonment for not more than
twenty years or both for any individual who causes or knowingly, in the case af
H.R. 4571, or willfully, in the case of H.R. 7093, permits a child to engage
in a prohibited sexual act as defined in the bill or the simulation of such an
act if such individual knows, has reason to know or intends that such act may
be photographied or filmed and that the resulting photograph or film may be
transported, shipped or mailed through interstate or foreign commerce or may
affect such commerce. The same penalty would apply to any individual whe
photographs or films a child engaging in a prohibited sexual act or in a sim-
ulation thereof if such individual knows, has reason to know or intends that
any resulting photograph or film may be transported, shipped, or mailed through
interstate or foreign commerce or may affect such commerce.

Section 9 provides that any individual who knowingly transports, ships, or
mails through, or in such a manner as to affect, interstate or foreign commerce
any photograph or film depicting a child engaging in a prohibited sexual act or
in the gimulation of such an gct, or any individual who receives for the pur-
pose of selling or sells any such photograph or film which has been transported,
shipped, or mailed through, or in such a manner as to affect, interstate or for-
eign commerce shiall be fined not more than $25,000 or iraprizsoned not more than
fifteen years or both. Section 10, as set forth in H.R. 4571, defines “child” as
any individual who has not attained age sixteen and defines “prohibited sexual
act” to include sexual intercourse, anal intercourse, masturbation, bestiglity,
sadism, masochism, fellatio, cunnilingus, “any cther sexual gctivity” or “nudity ;
if such nudity is to be depicted for the purpose of sexual stimulation or gratifi-

cation of any individual who may view such depiction.”” H.R. 7093 uses the terms
“gexyal sadism® and “sexual masochism’ in place of “sadism” and “masochism’™
and uses “person” instead of “individual” throwghout the bill, T should note
here that the term “person® would appear to be preferable to the term *indi-
vidual,” since it would permit prosecution of business entities, as well as in-
dividuals, where appropriate. In all other respects the definitions are identical.
Buth bills vest enforcement authority in the Attorney General. . -

HR., 3913 and several other bills amend Title 18, United States Code, bv
adding proposed . sections 2251, 2252, 2258. I note that Title 18 of the U.S.
Code, which contains the bulk of our Federal criminal statutes, would be the

-most appropriate location for the proposed provisions, These bills are identienl

in all respects to H.R. 4571 except for HL.R. 5474 and H.R. 6747, which impose
minimum penalties of $10,000 and four years in section 2251 and minimum pen-

. alties of $5,000 and two years in section 2252, and H.R. 5522, which contains

certain additional substantive provisions not found in the other bills, In addi-
tion to the other provisions, section 2251 ag set forth in H.R. 5522, punishes with
a maximum fine of $50,000 or a prison term of 20 years or hoth any individual
who. canses or knowingly permits a child to engage in prohibited sexual act
or stimulation:thereof if he knows, has reason to-know or intends such act
may form a part of a commereial live show and such show travels in or affects
interstate or foreign commerce, The same penalty extends to an individual who
travels in, uses a facility in or otherwise affects interstate or foreigsn commerce
to induce or permit a child to commit a sexual act for the piirpose of prostitution.

I should like first to set forth the Department’s views concerning the provi-
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‘gions of the bills which are common to all of them. For the sake of clarity my
comuments will be in terms of the provisions of H.R 4571, I shall then comment
on the provisions that are peculiar to X.R. 5522, .

Ve share the concern of the Congress with regard to the production .of films
and photographs portraying sexual abuse of children, However, we think that
the proposed legislation needs to be modified in certain ways in order to deal
with the problem. . .

In the first place, the bill is, in our opinion, jurisdictionally deficient. It is
well settled that Congress may bar articles it deems undesirable from interstate
or foreign commerce or from the mails. .9, United States v. Orito, 413 U.S._139
(1973) ; United States v. Darby, 312 U.8. 100 (1941) ; and Periara v. United
States, 847 U.S. 1 (1954). Leaving aside for the moment the effect of the First
Amendment, there is little doubt that the Commerce Clause authorizes the enact-
ment of criminal penalties for persons who mail or ship in interstate or foreign
commerce or receive in the mail or from interstate or foreign commerce for sale
films or photographs of the type in question.

It is also settled that Congress may prohibit the manufacture of an article
within a state if the article will enter or affect interstate or foreign commerce.
B.g., United States v. Darby, supra; Wickard v. Filburn, 317 U.S. 111 (1942);
and United States v. Warightweod Dairy Co., 315 U.S. 110 (1942). Congress may
also punish conduct which has only a potential effect on commerce. B.g., United
States v. Addonizio, 451 ¥.2d 49 (8d Cir. 1971) ; and United States v. Prano, 385
F.2d 887 (7th Cir. 1967). Congress could, therefore, prohibit the manufacture of
the films or photographs in question if the producer knows, has reason to know
or intends that they will move in or affect interstate or foreign commerce.

Congress could also prohibit causing or knowingly permitting a child to perform
a prohibited sexual act where the person responsible knows, has reason to know
or intends that the acts will be filmed or photographed and will be placed in or
will affect interstate or foreign commerce. Congress could rationally conclude
that children below age 16 are incapable of making a free and understanding
decision to participate in the acts which the bill prohibits. See Ginsberg v. New
York, 890 U.S. 629 (1968). Moreover, adults who permit children to participate
4in these activities play an essential role in the production process somewhat akin
+to the supplier of an esgential material. See United States v. Perry, 389 F.2d. 103
(4th Cir, 1968) ; and Call v. United States, 265 F.2d 167 (4th Cir, 1959), wherein
-suppliers of sugar and containers to illicit distillers were convicted under 26
U.8.C. 5686(a), which forbids possession of property with intent to violate the
-internal revenue laws.

However, the bill extends liability to cases where a child “may” be filmed or

-photographed and the resultant material “may” enter the mailstream or enter
or affect interstate or foreign commerce. Since what “may” occur also may not
. oecur, the bill could cover a purely local act of child abuse in which there is, in
~faet, no filming or photographing and no possible effect on interstate or foreign
commerce. The bill, therefore. would reach situations nnt properly cognizable
-under the Commerce Clause. This defect can be remedied by changing the word
-““may” where it occurs in the bill to “will”.

The words “affect interstate commerce or foreign commerce” should also be
«deleted from the bill. Without this change the bill would cover a purely intra-
:state photographing and distribution operation on the theory that comimerce is
“affected” in that the processing of the film or photegraphs utilize materials
that moved in interstate commerce. See United States v. Addonizio, suprae, and
United States v. Prano, supra. In our opinion, the invesiigation or prosecution of
purely local acts of child abuse should he left to local authorities with Federal
involvement confined to those instances in which the mails or facilities of inter-
state commerce are actually used or intended to be used for distribution of tie
fllm or photographs in question.

The same language which renders the bill jurisdictionally questionable also
poses problems with regard to intent. Under the proposed legislation. a person
may be convicted if he “intends” that the act in question “may” be photographed
and “may” be shipped in interstate or foreign commerce or mailed. We suggest
that a person may intend that something happen or that it not happen. The
standard of intent used in this bill, which is based on the mere possibility that
certain acts will oceur, would seem to he an insufficient basis on which to predicate
criminal liability, An individual may also be convicted if he “intends"” to “affect
interstate commerce or foreign commerce.” While an individual may intend to
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- mail or ship an article, which is a physical act, the question of whether an action
“affects commerce” is an ultimate conclusion based upon the assessment of physi-
cal acts rather than g matter of intent. For these reasons also, we recommend
that the bill be limited to situations in which a person knowns, has reason to
know or intends that the act in question will be photographed and mailed or
shipped in interstate or foreign commerce.

Second, the bill does not distinguish between material which is obscene and
material which is protected by the First Amendment. In Miller v. Californida, 413
U.8. 15 (1973), the Supreme Court reguired that material must be evaluated as
a whole in determining whether it is obscene. However, the present bill Wouldg
forbid the manufacture and distribution of a film containing one brief scene of
prohibited conduct and otherwise innocuous. For example, the bill would apply to
the film “The Hxoreist,” which contains a scene in which a minor simulates:
masturbation but is cleariy not legally obscene.

T would like to emphasize at this point two very significant results which would+
follow from the enactment of this legislation. First, an existing motion picture,
such as “The Bxoreist,” could no longer be distributed in interstate commerce so

long as the simulated Scene involving the minor is retained in the film, and-
second, any future production of & motion picture filn which contains & depiction:

of a minor engaged in a prohibited sexual act would be criminally proscribed even.

though, a¢ in the case of *““The Exorcist,” the offensive scene is merely a small-

part of the film which, taken as a whole, would not be legally obscene under the®

standards set forth by the Supreme Court in Afiller. This would be a clear state--

ment of public policy by the Congress which would undoubtedly create severe
problems for the courts, particularly in situations wlhere the offensive materials
is merely a small part of what is otherwise a socially acceptable product,

LCertain infringements on protected expression have been justified under the
principle expressed in United States v, O'Brein, 391 U.8. 367 (1968), wherein
the Court ruled that a regulation is sufficiently justified if it is within the con-
stitutional power of the government, if it furthers an important or substantial
governmental interest unrelated to the suppression of free expression, and if the
ineidental restriction on alleged First Amendment rights is no grater than is
essential to the furtherance of that interest, Viewed against the background of
this prineipl it would appear that the bill would further government’s legitimate
interest in protecting the welfare of children, See Ginsberg v. New York, supra;
and Prince v. Massachusetts, 821 U.S. 158 (1944).

On the other hand, the Court has held that, as a general rule, a eriminal statute
which would reach protected expression as well ag obscenity is void on its face
for overbreadth. See Hrznoznik v. City of Jacksonwville, 422 U.S. 205 (19753) ;
and Butler v. Michigan, 852 U.S. 880 (1957). Although the Court has modified this
doctrine in the case of a statute dealing with distribution to children only, see
Ginsberg v. New York, supra, the proposed bill would prohibit distribution to
anyone. In the face of the strong constitutional protection accorded material
which is not obscene, we cannot say with any certainty that the proposed legisla-
tion would withistand constitutional challenge.

Thiréd, certain of the definitions of “prohibited sexual act” set forth in sectiom
10 do not appear to be appropriate to deal with the conduct sought to he pro-
hibited. “Sadism” and “masochism” are broad enough to cover activities which:
are not necessarily sexually oriented. They could include filmed episodes of’
physical mistreatment of orphans, child Jaborers, or inmates of a juvenile deten-
tion facility or a child inflicting injury upon himself. Such portrayals would have
no sexual appeal except, perhaps, to some itiny segment of society. Either these:
terms should be deleted or the terms “sexual sagism” and “sexual masochism,”
found in FLR. 7093, should be used and the legislative history should state what
forms of conduct are intended to be covered. The term “nudity . . . depicted
for the purpose of sexual stimulation or gratification of any individual who may
view such depiction” is also troublesome. This definition differs from the “aver-
age person” test for obscene material set forth in Miller v. Californie, supra, and
it would be difficult to determine by what standard the “sexnal stimulation or
gratification” could be assessed. We twyould suggest as an alternative definition
“lewd exhibition of the genitals,” a phrase used by the Chief Justice in Milier
v. California, supra, to describe one of a variety of types of conduct which could
be prohibited under state obscenity statutes. Congress could make clear in the
legislative history of the bill what types of nude portrayals of children were
intended to be encompassed within this definition.
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TFourth, the bhill should be expanded in two respects. TFirst, the coverage of the
bill is limited to “photographs or films” of prohibited sexual acts. Since photo-
graphs may very well end up as inclusiong within magazines before they are
mailed or shipped in commerce, the title of the bill and subsections S(a) (2),
8(b), 9¢a) (1) and 9(a) (2) should be amended to include “printed -matter con-
taining photographs” in order to avoid possible problems of admissibility at trial
based on the contention that the bill does not include such magazines. Second,
since we view the Dill as an attempt to deal with the commercial exploitation
of sexual activity involving children, subsection 9(a) (2) should be amended to
include any person who manufactures, reproduces or duplicates the subject films
or photegraphs with the requisite intent as well as those who receive or sell such
films or photographs. This will enable the bill to cover film processing labora-
tories and others who are instrumental in the distribution process and who are
aware of the nature of the material and the use of the mails or facilities of inter-
‘state or foreign commerce.

Fifth, there will be difficult problems of proof under the bill. The bill is limited
in its application to activities involving children, and the term “child” is defined
to mean “‘any individual who hag not attained age sixteen.” Since in a great many
cases the age of the subject will not be readily apparent from a observation of
the film or photograph, the Government will not be able to sustain its burden
of proof in such cases unless the actor himself is identified and produced in court
or other competent evidence of his age is available. In light of the clandestine
fashion in which many of these films and photographs are produced, it will often
not be possible for the Government to produce this necessary evidence, In addi-
tion, the Government will not be able to prove interstate transportation unless
it ean egtablish where the films or photographs were made.

Sixth, the word “knowingly” in the second line of section 8 is unnecessary and
should be stricken. It can be established that the defendant knew that he was
permitting a child to engage in a prohibited sexual act by proving, as the Gov-
ernment is required to do, that the defendant knew, had reason to know or in-
tended that “such act” would be photographed and the product transported in
+he mail or in interstate or foreign commerce. In the context in which it appears,
“isuch act” clearly means a prohibited sexual act. Unless “knowingly” is deleted
Tiere, the bill might be subject to an interpretation requiring the Government to
prove the defendant's knowledge of everything that follows “knowingly”, includ-
ing the age of the child. We assume that it is not the intention of the drafters
to require the Government to prove that the defendant knew the child was under
age sixteen. In this respect, the bill would resemble 18 U.S.C. 2423, that portion
of the White Slave Traflic Act which makes it an offense to knowingly induce
or coerce girls under the age of eighteen to travel by eommon carrier in inter-
state commerce for immoral purposes. There is no requirement under that statute
that the Government prove the defendant knew the girl’'s age. See United States
v. Hamilton, 456 F.2d 171 (3rd Cir. 1972).

On the other hand, tlie use of the word “knowingly” in subsection 9(a) (1) is
appropriate to make it clear that the bill does not apply to common carriers or
other innocent transporters who have no knowledge of the nature or character
of the material they are transporting. To clarify the situation, the legislative
history might refleet that the defendant’'s knowledge of the age of the child is
not an element of the offense but that the bill is not intended to apply to inno-
S'entltra;lsportution with no knowledge of the nature or character of the material
involved, - : :

Finally, the penalties are excessive to the point of making eonvictions extremely
diffienlt to obtain except in the most aggravated cases. We suggest that the penal-
ties should be comparable to those found in 18 U.S.C. 2423, namely, a fine of not
more than $10,000 or a prison sentence of not more than ten years or both.

As noted above, we have concerns abouf the bill, as to both its constitution-
ality and the problems of proof it creates. We also believe its utility would be
limited. Nevertheless, if the changes we recommend are incorporated, the Depart-
ment of Justice would not object to this legislation. )

It is onr understanding that many of the photographs and films the legislation
would attempt to cover are in fact produced abroad; the legislation would not
apply to such materials except for that portion of subsection 9(a) (2) which
punishes receipt from foreign commerce. Moreover, with regard to material which
iy produced in the United States, recent newspaper accounts have indieated that
Inw enforcement agencies whe have investigated in this area for years have had
little if any success in ascertaining where and how the filtns and photographs
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are made and in discovering the persons responsible for making them. Finally, to
the extent that such investigations may prove fruitful there are appropriate
local statutes and ordinances, such as child abuse laws and laws prohibiting
contributing to the delinquency of a minor, which would apply to the conduct
made criminal in section 8 of the proposed bill ; and we do not think it likely that
local prosecutors would hesitate to bring charges, The principal advantage to be
gained from enactment of this legislation would be to provide the Federal Bureau
of Investigation and the Postal Service with investigative jurisdiction in an
area that is basically a local law enforcement problem.

To the extent that section 9 deals with obscene material, the offenses are cov-
ered by existing Federal statutes. See 18 U.S.C. 1461-1465. The Postal Service
and the FBI have informed us that they presently have several cases dealing with
obscene material involving the use of children under investigation. In one respect,
the proposed bill is more restrictive than present law because it requires mail-
ing across state lines. The offense denominated in 18 U.S.C. 1461 is complete
once material is deposited in the United States mail. Of course, to the extent that
the bill deals with material which is not obscene, it is an extension of present
law.

II would like to conclude by discussing the provisions which are found only in
IL.R. 5522, . .

e are not aware of the existence of any live sex shows traveling in interstate
commerce. In the absence of a showing that there is, in fact, a problem to be
addressed by Federal legislation, we see no necessity for the provisicns punishing
an individual who causes or permits a child to engage in a prohibited sex act
for the purpese of such a show, In any event, because this provision dealg directly
with sexual conduct rather than the shipment of materials in the mails or inter~
state commerce, it would appear to cover conduct peculiarly appropriate for
prosecntion by local authorities under local sex offense statutes.

That portion of section 2251 that imposes penalties upon an individual who

travels in, or otherwise affects, interstate or foreign conumerce to induce a child .

to engage in prostitution would appear to reach an individual who travels in
interstate commerce with the intent to induce a child but who takes no further
action. If no overt act takes place it wonld be extremely diffienlty to prove a viola-
tion, since it would not be possible to establish the defendant’s subjective intent,

If the defendant, in fact, thereafter induces a child to engage in prostitution,
the conduct would be punishable under present law. See 18 U.8.C. 1952, which
malkes it a criminal offense to travel in interstate or foreigr commerce with in-
tent to promote or carry on prostitution activities in violation of state or Federal
law, and the White Slave Traffic Act, 18 U.8.C. 2421-2423, mentioned earlier in my
testimony, which deals breadly with the transportation of females in interstate
of foreign commerce for the purpose of prostitution or other immoral conduect.
This latter statute could easily be amended to include the prostitution of males
should there be a demonstrated need.

In closing, let me offer the services of the professional staff of the Criminal
Division to work with the staft of eitlier or both Committees in developing the
hest plossible legislative approach to the problem of sexual abuse aund exploitation
of children. :

My, Beevey, Mr. Chairman, these bills provide, if I may speak in

general terms because we ave dealing with & number of bills, substantial
penalties for one who (1) permits; (2) photographs or films; or (3)
transports in commerce, or (4) receives for sale or sells photographs or
films of a child under 16 engaging in a designated sexnal act o simu-
lation thereof, if the film or photograph was, or was intended to be,
shipped in, or may affect, Interstate or foreign commerce. *

‘We support the concept of legislation of this type and have certain
suggestions which I will go into at this point. These suggestions in-
clude that the bills go beyond the commerce clause in covering what
may be shipped in commerce as well as what is shipped and is intended
to be shipped in commerce. They also cover what may be filmed or
photographed as well as what is filmed or photographed. |
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The possibility of something happening is an insufficient predication
for criminal liability. Both of these deficiencies can be corrected by
merely substituting “will” for “may” so that a person would be re-
quired to know, have reason to know or intend that the acts in question
be photographed and the product shipped in commerce—we note that
the concepts of sadism and mascochism are terms broader than neces-
sary if only sexually oriented conduct is intended to be covered.

Also the bills cover photographs and films but might not cover pro-
seribed photographs which are part of a magazine or other publication.

Further, the bills could be more specific so as to preseribe with pre-
cision the manufacture, processing and reproduction of the film and
photographs so that if that is the congressional intent, persons en-
gaging in this activity would be clearly covered by the statute,

The use of knowledge in section 8 is unnecessary and might require
proof that the defendant knew the child was under 16, a result we con-
clude the Congress did not intend.

On the other hand, we think “knowingly” would be an appropriate
insertion in section 9(a) (1) so as to exclude innocent transporters,
commercial carriers and so forth who are not aware of the nature of the
film or photograph.

Finally, we believe the penalties ave excessive, particularly for a first

_offender, and might create unnecessary problems with judges and

uries.
: 'We suggest that the Mann Act penalties of 10 years and a $10,000
fine for o first offender might be more appropriate.

We also have some reservations with respect to mandatory mini-
mumns. Our experience in the Justice Depurtment is that mandatory
minimum sentences which take away from the court the discretion to
sentence ave inappropriate for most criminal statutes.

Just as another aside, as betweea putting the child abuse statute in
title 42 or in title 18, the Federal Criminal Code, our preference would
be that any statute be put in title 18. That would be consistent with the
philosophy of the code revision which is presently before the Congress
in putting all or virtually all Federal criminal statutes in title 18 of the
Federal Code.

Now there are certain evidentiary problems which might make it
difficult to prove a violation of these statutes. One of those is that
the statute, of necessity, will require proof of the age of the child. If
the child is not available or there is not other competent evidence
to establish the age of the child, there would be a failure of proof
in this particular respect.

We would also be required to prove where the act took place so
as to show the shipment in commerce. That has been one of the prob-
lems we have run into in the investigations conducted to date. These
are highly mobile, moving operations and we have had some diffi-
culty In establishing where the filming or photographing took place.

Now, turning to what we consider the most serious problem in
this legislation, the constitutional problem, we believe that Congress
can keep this type of material out of commerce. We also believe that
Congress can constitutionally male criminal the production and dis-
semination of this type of material for shipment in commerce; and I
point out by definition most, if not all, of the categories of conduet that
are covered by the bill could probably meet the obscenity test of Miller.
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Further, we might point out that the congressional interest in pro-
tecting children from being exploited might well outweigh any first
amendment rights of defendants or viewetrs.

That, I think—if I may, Mr. Chairman-—is a very open question,
a very serious problem; however, to the extent that Congress intended
to cover publications or films in which the offensive conduct is merely
a small part of the publication or film, then there is a constitutional
problems and the A/7ller test—the AL<ller case in the Supreme Court—
the test of viewing the product in its entirety, could be applied and
the statute held unconstitutional for overbreadth.

Now in my statement I make reference to “The Exorcist” which
is a popular film, socially acceptable. It has one offensive scenc
in there involving a minor which literally would come within the
terms of this statute. Viewed in its entirety “The Exorcist,” in our
judgment, is not legally obscene, but if this bill were enacted as pres-
ently drafted and there were a subsequent shipment in interstate
commerce of the film “The Exorcist,” it would come within one of
the provisions of the bill, I think, section 9. ,

Insofar as we ave concerned, the principal effect of this bill would
give jurisdiction to the FBI and the Inspection Service of the Post
Office Service to investigate what are essentially local violations.

It would be helpful in situations where the filming is done abroad
and shipped into the United States; it would also be helpful where
we are dealing with a highly mobile filming or photographing opera-
tion and local authorities cannot cope with it. :

Mr. Chairman, despite the practical, legal, and constitutional prob-
lems that are inherent in legislation of this type, we support the con-
cept of legislation in this area and if the modifications we suggest
are adopted, we would be pleased to have the legislation.

I will take any questions, Mr. Chairman,

Mr. Brabenas. Thank you very much, Mr, Keeney.

I spoke to you—ryou ought to be put on warning, that as a non-
lawyer I am particularly pleased to be surrounded by lawyers here
today, although I am not unmindful of Carl Sandberg’s old obser-
vatim%,, ,“Why does the hearse horse snicker when they take a lawver
away ?

11:1y any event, your statement has been very helpful and is cer-
tainly going to require, on my part, very careful study because you
have in effect summarized your statement; you have referred to
practical, legal, and constitutional problems, and I wonder if I could
ask you to speak a little bit further about the last point, and could
you elaborate on the question of how the legislation might be shaped
50 as to, on the one hand, meet its purpose of preventing the abuse
of children for pornographic purposes, while, at the same time avoid-
ing first amendment conflicts? )

Mr. Keexey. Well, one way to do’it, Mr. Chairman—it might not
carry out the intent of the committees—would be to amend the obscen-
ity statutes and proscribe specifically with increased penalties the
utilization of children for this type of filming. .

Now also as a parallel act in connection with that, amend the White
Slave Traffic Act, the Mann Act, which now only covers the trans-
portation in ¢ommerce by common carrier of a female under 18; that
could be expanded so that it would cover both females and males

93~185—~7 710
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and set the age at 16 or 18, whichever Congress deemed appropriate,
and broaden the scope of the interstate jurisdiction so there would be
jurisdiction and there would be a violation if any instrumentality
of interstate commerce were used.

In other words, the plain travel across the boarder of a State would
be sufficient and it would not require that the travel be in a common
carrier.

We would also suggest—I think this is the intendment of both these
committees—I would suggest that we could expand the obscenity
laws to include the producers and manufacturers. We have great diffi-
culty in getting at the producers and manufacturers, the people who
provide the core material under existing laws. That could be amended.

Now the vice in this as far as Congress is concerned, I will be
perfectly candid, is that if we put it in the obscenity laws. we arve
probably going to have to meet the obscenity test, and the obscenity
test would require that this photograph, this film, be viewed in the
context of the magazine, the publication, or the motion picture of
which it is a part. It wounld have to be found that the film, the photo-
graph, the magazine appealed to the prurient interest and otherwise
met the tests of Af¢ller, which would require that it really have no
social, artistic, scientific, or politically redeeming features.

But that is something that could be considered %y the subcommittees,
Mor. Chairman.

Mz, Brap,aas.-I have a number of questions, bt because we want
to be sure everybody has a chance to ask some, I will just ask you one
more, then vield to Mr. Conyers.

You made the point in your testimony, you touched in your testi-
mony on a point that has been a subject of considerable conversation
in the Select Education Subcommittee on the part of all of us who ave
concerned with the matter, as all of us are, and that is, that you felt it
would be more appropriate to deal with the particular problem,
namely, that of the use of children for pornographic purposes through
title 18 of the Criminal Code rather than through amending the Child
Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act. ‘

That is a fundamental policy, legislative question that is of very
great concern to us, and I wonder if you could explain a little more
fully why you make that statement;, at least for my own benefit?

Mr. Xzeney. First of all, Chairman Brademas, we defer to the
Conygress’ wisdom whether or not it be in title 42 or in title 18.

The only point we are making is that we have a preference as re-
flec.ed in the so-called S. 1,if T may use the term—1I thinlk it is S. 1437
this term—of putting in one place all the Federal criminal violations.
Tt has some merit, T am sure that S. 1437 will not be totally effective
in accomplishing that; it is a desirable thing, but it is not a matter
of overriding importance, sir. '

Mr. Brabeaas. Thank you very much.

Mr. Conyers? ;

Mr. Conyers. Well, I want to again commend my good friend from
Indiana for establishing the case for brevity with two committees
meeting, so I am not surprised that he would do that.

What I would like to do is just take a couple of minutes to describe
generally my reaction to this long-awaited statement from the Justice
Department, and then you can give me back a general reaction.
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The first thing that concerns me, Mr. Keeney, is whether or not
we need another law. We must in the Congress honestly confront the
fact that this is a precty sensational subject. We use the language, “is
it a ‘sexy’ bill or not?” In this case, it literally applies all the way.

Now the question becomes whether the existing Federal law is
adequate or not, and I cannot see what is wrong with the Comstock
law, just for sake of discussion, 18 U.S.C. 1461, our obscenity law,
which prohibits mailing and distribution of such material, of obscene
material. Couldn’t existing law handle this right now ?

As a matter of fact, in your statement you observe that by passing
additional proposed legislation it would bring in the FBI for invest:-
gative jurisdiction. It seems to me we ought to have that, or come close
to having it now, and so what I want to satisfy myself with is, is this
law necessary ; and, secondly, what is the intent of the Department of
Justice in terms of prosecutions of this type; and then if you have
any notions about what the State enforcement problem might be, I
would e interested to know; and, finally, the final question is, how
many cases are we dealing with? T mean in.-terms of all of the pornog-
;‘ap?y ?violations that there are, how many involve minors in pornog-
raphy?

E&nd with that collage of questions I will let you pick and choose
among them.

My, Kerney. I have been acdvised by My, Nicholson that the Post
Office Service and the FBI now have under investigation 20 cases
where children are being depicted as being engaged in what we might
deseribe as hard-core pornography acts.

Mzr. Conyers, addressing yourself to “Do we need another law?”,
we have had a number of convictions in the last yéar—we had 84 con-
victions of all types of pornography. They didn’t all include children,
obviously. We have had some—I believe you have noted in the papers
in the last 10 days there have been instances of local proceedings
against people engaging in child abuse, the situation in Tennessee
being one example—I really can’t give you statistics better than that
with respect to the scope of the problem. =

With respect to handling the problem from a constitutional stand-
point. I try to make the point that to the extent that you can treat
the offensive conduct in isolation and it can constitutionally be treated
in isolation, so that anytime we find the use of the interstate facilities
to disseminate or distribute depictions of this conduct, that would be
an improvement.

TWe do have a serious constitutional question though as to whether
or not the courts would go along and allow criminal penalties to be
imposed where the offensive conduct is found or the portrayal of the
offensive conduct is found in what would be a totally acceptable prod-
uct when it is viewed in its entirety. ‘

I did make certain suggestions, Mr. Conyers, as to alternatives,
none of which would be totally satisfactory if the intent of the com-
mittees is to totally proscribe the use of interstate commerce facilities
for the transmission of this type of conduct.

There are certain things, as I mentioned to Mr, Brademas, that we
can do. We could broaden—I think that would be desirable in any
event—hroaden the Mann Act so it includes males as well as females,
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and so that it includes all facilities of commerce in addition to common
carriers.

Mr. Conyers, this is a very difficult area. I think that Congress has
to face up to a very serious public policy issue as to how far it wants
to go in testing the constitutional power of Congress to proscribe cer-
tain conduet that is obviously offensive to all.of us.

Mr. Conyers. Well, I thank you for your response.

I would like to just share with our colleagnes in the Congress that
our staff is working on a change in the Mann Act. There are several
sections of it and we will keep you advised; and we are aware of that.

Isn’t the problem, as I hear you articulating it, a question of how
far we want to go in prosecuting people that may be involved in
this conduct ?

Let’s start off with the moviemaker and the procurer and the backer,
the parties who are clearly starting out with a notion of breaking the
law and of involving young kids in a terrible kind of act. There 1sn't
anything in Federal and State law right now that prohibits a pros-
ecutor, an assistant U.S. attorney, from going after these people all
the way right now ; isn’t that the case?

Mr. Kreexey. There is nothing to preclude the State prosecutors
from going against them; that is true. With respect to Federal pros-
ecution under the obscenity laws, we have some difficulty in that the
statutes do not clearly cover producers and flmers and so forth.

Mr. Conyers. Wait a minute. You mear: the fellow taking the pic-
ture is not covered under the existing law ?

Mr. Keeney. We have to somehow bring in a conspiracy charge,
where we have to show they have knowledge of the fact that they are
involved in the total conspiracy with the disseminators of the product.

Mr. Conyers. Well, let me read a summary of the Federal law that
I think applies to them. There are presently five Federal laws which
prohibit distribution of obsence materials in the United States. One
preoaibits any mailing of such materials, 18 USC 1461; and another
© prohibits the importation of obscene materials into the United States.
Another prohibits the broadcast of obscenity and two laws prohibit
the interstate transportation of obscene materials or the use of common
carriers to transport such materials,

In addition, the 1968 Kederal Antipandering Act authorizes postal
patrons to request no further mailings of unsolicited advertisements.

Now in all of those five Federal %ftws are you suggesting that a
person. who deliberately starts out taking obscene pitcure of young
people isn’t covered ?

Mr. Keeney. He would have to be responsible for the mailing or
to have caused the mailing. That is an area where these statutes could
be improved.

Mr. Conyers. Well, couldn’t we merely amend any one of these
present acts to just include that language in it ?

Mr. Keeney. I suggested that, Mr. Conyers, that I th'nk it would
be a good idea, that 1s, as an alternative that could be done.

Mr. Conyrrs. All right. Now let’s look for a minute at using your
judgment and experience at the State lJaws. There are a number of State
prosecutions going on with pornography. We know it is a new, increas-
ing phenomenon, especially in urban areas. Many of the big cities are:

"
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in locked battles. In many areas one attorney represents many of the
producers and distributors of obscene film and, of course, he stands
ready with injunctive relief to go in for any of his clients who are
closed down or prosecuted or arrested or padlocked by local police.

Is there any problem that you see broadly with State prosecution
being increased at the State level, simultaneously perhaps with us
amending the Mann act and making the kind of description of viola-
tions that would catch filmers and produrers that are associated in the
production.

How do you see the State laws, in short, on this subject?

Mr. Keeney, The State laws insofar as the filming or production
takes place in an individual jurisdiction, the State laws inagfar as 1 am
aware, in my judgment are adequate. Most of them would come within
contributing to the delinquency of a minor or similar child abuse
statutes.

I don’t have much problem in finding that if you can demonstrate
the conduct was done in a State jurisdiction that the State laws, I
think all of the State laws, would adequately cover it.

The question of enforcement comes up with respect to State man-
power available to enforce; but the question also comes up, Mr. Con-
yers, in relation to the material that is produced in other jurisdictions
and then is exhibited in the particular jurisdiction. I suppose that is
where the Federal Government properly belongs because it is an arvea
of difficulty, particularly if you are dealing with something that was
produced outside the country and then brought into a particular State.

The State can only proceed if they have an appropriate statute and
then against the person who is actually showing the film in their area.
They really cannot get at the other people. That is an area where by
one means or another, I suppose—I know it is—the responsibility of
the Federal Government, the Department of Justice, to try to move
into those situations.

Mr. Conzers. Thank you very much. I would like you to send me a
breakdown of those cases that have been prosecuted federally after
these hearings.

Mr. Kerwey, Yes, sir.

Mr. BranEmas. Mr. Jeffords?

M. Jerrorps. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I think we ought to focus on the question of whether we ave going
to be talking in our actions here on child abuse or obscenity, and most
of our attention has been focused on obscenity, and it seems to me that
if we took an approach more dirvected at child abuse that we wmight
have more flexibility in our statutes and perhaps be able to approach
it from different directions. But before I get into that, T would like to
talk a little bit about what you were talking about, that is, enforce-
ment problems. At least from our testimony out on the west coast, the
primary problems with prosecutors out there of enforcing the State
laws are involved with venue problems and involved in this case of this
statute of ever being able to establish the age and not knowing where
the filming tock place. '

I wonder if you have given any thought or if you might consider
the approaches which were taken when we had problems with child
1abor laws, und that is, to try and rule out abuse of child labor requix-
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ing certain things to be done? And primarily I am referring to certifi-
cation situations where it might be possible for us to require thaft
anyone that produces any film or picture or photograph be required
to disclose, and not anything other than disclosure, the time, place
and the ages and names and addresses of anyone involved in sexual
activities of the age of 18 or under which would have the primary
purpose of assisting local prosecution in being able to establish the
scene of the crime; and that, combined with similar State statutes,
then make the violation the failure of anyone distributing or selling
or making this, of doing so without filing such certification or pur-
chasing or distributing or anything, without a certification attached,
so that the penalty from a Iederal point of view would be merely
the filing or the failure to file, the failure to have attached a certifi-
cate indicating the names and ages, so we can get out of the obscenity
problems and merely help the local prosecutors be able to establish
where the scene of the crime took place, and to prosecute under their
existing statutes.

I realize that may come to you as a matter of first impression, but I
wonder if you might have any thoughts or discussion on that?

Mr. Keeney, Mr. Jeffords, that is an interesting idea. It was men-
tioned to me this morning, that thought, and I think it is worth
exploring. ‘

I gather that you would have in mind a certification by the pro-
ducer of a film that all of the persons appearing in the film are
under a certain age, over @ certain age, 16, I suppose, as in these
blmi’l and also certifying as to where all the scenes in the film were
shot? ,

My. Jerrorps. That is all it would require, “In our film we have a
sexual act by a person under age 18; it was filmed in Los Angeles®—
whatever location might be necessary, to make sure we establish
venue on a gpecific date,” and at that time Joan Smith, age 15, was
involved in the production.” That is all that would be required.

So we wouldn’t have to-~there would be no censure aspect attached
to the certificate but merely establishing the time and place and
where the actions took place; then the States would have that infor-
mation available to them, or if they didn’t certify or try to sell it in
the black market, it would be a very easy way of trying to bring the
distribution of such material under control, rather than getting in-
volved in the Hustler problems and all the other obscenity problems
we get when we try to amend or attach it purely to an obscenity
approach. :

Mr. Keeney. I see several problems in connection with it.

I am not sure any of them are insurmountable. I think it is some-
thing we should explore. ‘

T think one of the threshold problems we face is that in imposing
this penalty on the producers, say, of motion pictures, is it a sub-
stantial interference with their first amendment rights. My initial
reaction is that it is not. )

The second problem is, are we trying to accomplish indirectly what
we may feel we cannot accomplish directly; namely, proscribing
criminal conduct which would not meet an obscenity test.

The first problem I see is what we in the Department of Justice
call the Grosso-Marchetti test; that is, where you require somebody
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to file a document or make a certification in an area that is surrounded
by criminality, and the courts have struck that down. I am not sure
that we have a Grosso-Marchetti situation here but I would like to
think about all of these areas; T think it is an interesting suggestion.

Mr. Jurrorps. I want to then move to what I originally talked
about, and that is, it seems to me we ought not to focus as much on
obscenity as we ought on child abuse, if the conduct we are trying to
proscribe is at least—if there is evidence, I suppose, it would take
more expert testimony than we may have had on the kind of conduct
which we are trying to proscribe here—whether or not it is the abuse
of a child. ‘ '

If it is, as I believe it would be under most independent cases
under the Kildee bill, ought we not to take it in terms of child abuse;
and it would seem to me we would have much more flexibility as far
as getting away from first amendment problems if we looked at it in
terms of it being abusive to a child rather than obscene to the viewers
or having it looked at in public; and if we proscribe these activities,
as we have done in other areas, certainly in the child labor laws, it
would seem to me if we were to say, for instance, that some of these
activities, abnormal sexual acts, are proclaimed to be abuse of a child,
if we could uphold with that expert testimony and call it child abuse
rather than obscene material, would we not have more flexibility and
more likelihood of being able to meet the first amendment test,
especially when we are talking about minors, than trying to deal
with it In terms of obscenity?

Mr. Keexsy. If we deal with it in terms of child abuse, it is obvi-
ously a much simpler problem in one respect; but the problem that T
tried to address in my statement—I am not certain that the courts
will allow us to say that the Congress under the health and welfare
clause of the Constitution has constitutional authority to legislate in
this area—I am concerned and that is what I was trying to suggest
in my statement, maybe the conrts wouldn’t let us make that dicho-
tomy that you suggest, and I am not certain—I don’t kn.ow the
answer, Mr. Jeffords. I am just suggesting that we are in a problem
arvea and that the courts may get into the first amendment and they
may get into obscenity tests in determining whether or not the child
abuse legislation is constitutional. -

Mz, Jerroros. It seems to me that if the conrts have allowed us to
getinto the area of saying you can’t-work a child over a certain numnber
of hours, especially in mines or areas of hazardous activity, it is hard
for me to say, unless we couldn’t back it up from any expert testimony,
that allowing children to perform abnormal sex acts wouldn’t be such
a kind of labor activity which we couldn't get at as being against the
health and welfare of the childven involved. »

M. Keexey. I can understand and appreciate your analogy but I
still fee} that there is a problem there, Mr. Jeffords.

Mr. Jerrorns. Thank yvou. | '

T would like to ask one final question : I

How many convictions have we had under the Mann Act in the last
3 or 10 vears?. ' E : o

M. ey, Just a second. We would have to provide that for you,
We have got several statutes that -deal in the area of that type of con-
duct, one of which is the so-called Travel Act, 18 U.S.C. 1952, and in
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the Mann Act. If you wish, we would be glad to try and get
together—— :

Mr. Jerrorps. I would appreciate that, because it seems to me enforee-
ment is the big problem we are dealing with, and that is why I suggest
the other approaches.

Mr. Xeenzy. I might, if I may, finish on Mr. Jeffords’ question. I
think yon will find that the figures on the Mann Act will be highly
disproportionate in favor of rings or groups who are transporting
women interstate for immoral purposes, and thet there would be rela-
tively few that deal with the provision of the trangportation of women

under 18 in a common carrier, which is a very narrow, restricted
statute.

Mr. Brapenras. Mr, Gudger?

Mr. Gopesr. Mr. Chairman, just two questions, I believe,

I want to compliment Mr. Keeney on the quality of this brief. It
is an excellent résumé, as I read it, of the problems that this bill
presents and how they impinge upon existing Federal law.

Yesterday the Supreme Court, I believe, recognized that minors have
constitutionally protected rights of privacy. This was declared in a
case having some connection with the distribution of nonprescription
ccontraceptives—I think that was written up today in news publica-
tions; I have not read the case. It seems though that this case may
impinge somewhat upon this problem and I particularly refer to the
statement that appears on page 4 of your transcript: “Congress could
rationally conclude that children below age 16 are incapable of making
a free and understanding decision to participate in the acts which
the bill prohibits.”

I wonder if this case yesterday impacts upon that conclusion which
I think was certainly a valid conclusion in light, of the Glinsberg case
and other earlier decisions? Aren’t we now gelting into a twilight
area of concern here?

Mr. Kzeney. Well, Mr. Gudger, I wasn’t aware of this decision.
I was out of town and just got in last night. T didn’t even read the
newspapers.

My reaction is that the Congress can legislate in this area and they
can rationally conclude that children below the age of 16 are incapable
of making a rational decision with respect to the type of heinous
conduct that these bills are intended to cover. ’

I think I would still stay with my statement, absent a study of
yesterday’s decision militating a change of opinion.

Mr. Gupeer. I think your proposition is sound and that we have a
point of departure here which we must have before we can validly
step out into this field of frequent Federal intervention.

Now I have no trouble with the proposition which you developed
because plenty of case law supports it, that the offender, the violator,
does not have to know the age of the victim. This, T think, is fairly
«established under the Mann Act decisions, firmly established under
the statutory rape in State case decisions.

My concern though is this: You illustrate in your brief the difficulty
-of establishing the fact of age of the subject of this transportation.
Say, if we had a Mann Act amendment which made the transportation
‘for immoral purposes of a boy or male under 16 years of age a Federal
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violation, as the transportation of a woman for immoral purposes by
public carrier under 18 years of age is now a violation, how are we
gomg to prove that age factor without the direct participation of the
subject child? How are we going to determine that subject child’s
age in the normal course of investigation without possible invasion
of privacy?

Mr. Kep~ey. Well, that is an interesting thought, Mr. Gudger. I
hadn’t thought of it before. You are talking about the invasion of
privacy of the child?

Mr. Gupger. Yec.

Mr. Keevey. And Congress has mandated an interest in looking out
for the welfare of that child, I think that would override any privacy
interest in the child concealing information with respect to the back-
ground and age; but the problem you address is the same here as with
respect to the suggested legislation, that it, in all of these events we
would have to prove the age of the child.

Mr. Gupger. Let me ask you one final question : Since age 16 is your
suggestion as to the——

Mzr. Keeney. Not really, Mr. Congressman; age 16 is the age that
hasbeen used in all the legislation. ‘

Mzr. Gopeer. Your brief mentioned it.

Mr. Kreney. Because it was reflecting the provisions of the pro-
posed bill, sir.

Mr. Gupeer. What is your situation where you have two persons,
say, one age 17, one age 16, going across the State line for this sort of
& purpose, by some prearrangement, would the 17-year-old be auto-
matically guilty of the act in connection with the transportation ?

Mz, Keeney. The 17-year-old takes somebody who is under the age
interstate for immoral purposes, he would technically, or she, would
be technically in violation of the statute. That is an area thoungh,
Mr. Gudger, In which we as prosecutors would weigh the circumstances-
in determining whether or not it would be appropriate to prosecute.

Mr. Gupger. The reason, Mr. Keeney, for that question, we wrestled
with the child molester problem in connection with the development of
certain child-molester legislation in the State of North Carolina and
had great difficulty in trying to establish what should be the span of’
years between the violator and the victim of the violation. It is a diffi-
cult problem to deal with.

Mr. Keexey. Somebody with a history, the fact that the perpetrator-
had a history of child molestation would be a factor that would be
weighed in making the prosecutive judgment.

Mr. Gupcer. I have gotten away from the bill itself. I think the brief’
has very firmly and effectively dealt with the bill and its weaknesses,.
but I had some concerns about these other areas.

Thank you.

Mr. Brapesias. The Chair recognizes the gentleman from Michigan,.
Mr. Kildee, who has shown particular leadership in this area.

Mr. Krwoze. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. A

- Mr. Keeney, you say you do not feel strongly—you have a preference
this be in title 18 rather than title 42—you have no strong feelings:
where we would put such legislation.

Mr. Keeney, That is right, sir.
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Mr. Kmpre. Thank you. ‘ .

In reading 4571 you mentioned you did not like mandatory mini-
mums. In both 4571 and 7078 we do not have mandatory minimums and
I share your feelings on that. We decided not to go to the mandatory
minimums. That has been my general feeling for years.

You mentioned that if you use the basic obscenity laws you have to
take into consideration the whole work and see how it fits into that
whole work and then you mentioned the problems with the films such
as “The Exorecist.” Well, if we really address this bill to child abuse,
and that is what we have tried to do in writing the bill, where we pro-
seribe the filming of certain acts of child abuse and sending and selling
of those fruits of that act in interstate commerce, if we really empha-
sized and make the bill a child abuse statute, it would seem to me then
child abuse is child abuse whether it takes place in a million dollar
Hollywood- studio or in some back alley garage. In other words, if
certain acts are proscribed then does the fact that you own a million-
dollar studio give you special privilege or whether you can only afford
a back alley garage for this act to take place. ‘

In the Exorcist, for example, the act that you are referring to, the
question would it, it would seem to me, is that abuse of a child, and if it
is abusing a child, then I would submit that no one would have the
privilege or right to abuse that child.

Do you think there is any distinction between a Hollywood studio
and a back aller garage? ‘

Mr. Keeney. Noj I wasn't making the distinction. I was making the
distinction between an act, o proscribed act that is in a film or other
and what would otherwise be a proscribed act that is in a film or other
production that has literary merit. ,

I understand what you are saying. I understand that we focus on
child sbuse and I understand that an argument can be made that under
the buealth and welfare clause that Congress has the authority under
the Constitution to protect children to the extent that it deems neces-
sary. My problem is that we are moving into the area I am not certain
that the courts will allow us to make the distinction when we get in-
volved with matters that might have some literary, political, scientific
merit, That is the point. It is the issue as far as I am concerned. That is
it right cold. -

Mzr. Krnze. T do appreciate your brief; I think it is very well done.

Really, whether the courts will allow us to make this distinction
whether we can proscribe dertain acts of child abuse, then whether we
have to determine whether they take place in the context where there
is some literary redeeming value to it, whether the courts can say we
can proscribe those acts‘in se, whether the Congress can make that dis-
tinction, we won’t know the answer to that, will we, until the courts
would have a case proscribed by this act before it %

Mr. Kurney. That is right; we will not. We pointed out for both
committees the problem that is involved here and if we were «ertain,
which we are not, that the Congress cannot do that, we would have said
so and opposed the bill. The problem is, I we; t to reemphasize, we think
the problem is serious, it is a very serious problem, and I think the
chances of the bill being stricken down if the obscenity tests are not met
is considerable. - ‘ ‘
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Mr. Kirpee. So you feel that we have to address ourselves both to
-child abuse, whether or not Congress has the right to control certain
actions of children to protect those children, and also apply the
-obscenities? B ‘ :

Mr. Keeney. Well, what T am suggesting really is that Congress
might take the former approach and might be upheld, the approach
might be upheld. The safer approach I am suggesting, to the extent that
we can fashion a bill, that will protect children and at the same time
meet the obscenity tests, then I think we are home free as far as the

-constitutional issues are concerned. Speaking for myself, I have no
particular problem with respect to the authority of Congress to pro-
scribe the interstate shipment of depictions of an individual child
being engaged in the type of acts deseribed in these bills, the designated
sexual conduet, deviate and otherwise. My problem is when that prod-
uct is not viewed in isolation but it is part of a larger context, a film, for
instance, where the film has some socially acceptable merit.

Mr. Knpre. We have, by the way, followed your suggestion on the
question of sadism and masochism. In FL.R. 7098 we put the abjective
sexual before those two. o

Mz, Kueney, Yes, sir.

Mr. Kxuoee, To meet your objections there.

I thank you very much, Mr. Keeney.

Mr. Keeney. Thank you. '

M. Bravesras. Mr. Ertel.

Mz, Erren. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

T have very few questions, I think they all have been covered very
well, and T thought your brief was very good.

I want to go back to the one suggestion that was made here, the sug-
gestion that you put a label identifying where the film was talken or the
acts performed and also certifying that the people are under 16 or over
16. Do you really think there would be any useful purpose in that? In
fact, would not anybody, who is basically in illicit or the pornographic
type activity, just put any kind of label on it, so it would disguise the
issue, and then you would still have the same investigatory problems
finding out? For instance, in California they might put made in
Mexico. You would be right back in the same problem.

Mr. Krexey. We would be back to the same problem in proving that
the statement was false when he said it was made in California,-when
it was made in Mexico. If it is otherwise acceptable, that is somhething
we would like to think about. It would give the advantage of proceed-
ing criminally against the individual for the false certification, then all
you would have to prove, it might be difficult, as you suggest, is that
the film, that the motion picture, whatever it might be, was filmed in
Mexico, whereas he certified it was filmed in California.

It would eliminate some of the other problems with respect to
obseenity. '

Mr. Errer. It would eliminate some of the obscenity problems, but
the problem of proof would be the same.

Mr. KrenEy. Yes, sir. .

Mr. Errer. You would get the same people, locate the same evidence,
to prove it is a false statement.
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Mr, Keevey, You would have to prove the false statement, you
wouldn’t have to prove the age of the child, you wouldn’t get into the
1ssue of the merits of the film taken in its entirety, and so forth.

Mr, Erren. You would still have to locate the same people.

Mr. Keenzey. Still have to locate some of the same people, yes, sir.

Mr. Erter. The other question concerning your focus on two differ-
ent issues. One is the obscenity issue, which is production or film which
is talken, and the second involves the child abuse or the child acts.
Could we not enact two statutes or put several building clauses in,
just defining the acts themselves which then would be prosecutable by
those who either condone or permit or help to accomplish, the accom-
plice-type statute for those involved in child abuse, then define sepa-
rately the interstate transportation so we could take off the film the
product that results? Therefore, we have two different statutes. You
might lose the second part of the statute on an obscenity angle but cer-
tainly the first would be aimed only at the acts themselves?

Mr. Keeney. Well, in that case, you would be facing head-on an
interference with the police powers of the State because what you are
proscribing is conduct to take place in California or Illinois, wherever
you are filming the child engaged in this sexually explicit conduct, it
1s found by Congress to be offensive, and that is an area traditionally
reserved to the States.

Mr. Errer. Yes we have to get some connection with interstate com-
merce or health or education or something with the children which
would come under the powers of the Constitution to enforce or to
prohibit that kind of conduct.

M. Kreney. To give us jurisdiction.

Mr. Errer. We have to have a jurisdictional basis, I understand that.
Then we would have two different parts of a statute, one which has a
better chance of remaining for proscription of the acts themselves. It
seems to me your concern is basically with the first amendment, which
is the obscenity section. If we focus only on the act themselves and find
a jurisdictional basis, we would be better off : Then defining, second.
the interstate transportation of the film or product, we wouldn’t hit
the first amendment on the first face of the problem.

Mr. Keeney. I agree with you in theory, Mr. Ertel. The problem is
coming up with the jurisdictional basis.

Mz, ErTrr. I think that is the whole gist of everything that you have
talked about here.

Mr. Keeney. Yes, sir.

Mr. Errern, What jurisdietional basis would you suggest ?

Mr. Keeney. Well, traditionally we use the use of facilities of inter-
state commerce. We have used affect and it has been used with some
affect on interstate commerce and theoretically it could be used, I don’t
recommend. it because basically you are dealing with & Jocal law en-
forcement problem and you are making, you are getting Federal juris-
diction out of the fact that the filmer, the photographer imports his
film, his camera equipment or other things in interstate commerce. It
seems to me that we are stretching Federal jurisdiction in going that
way.

Mr. Erren. I guess the question is we may be stretching but is it
unconstitutional?
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Mr. Xpeney. Idon’t know because I think we are invading the police
powers of the State and we get into the question as to whether or not
16 1s improper.

Mr. Xiroez. Would you yield ¢

Mpr. Errer. Yes.

My, Kmper, Thank you. Just this week or last week the Supreme
Court on the gun law extended that a great deal, they stretched that
point aigreat deal, where a criminal in possession of a gun at any point
had been involved in interstate commerce, they upheld that statute.
Are you familiar with that?

Mr. I{eexEy. I am ware of the decision, Mr. Kildee, but it wasa gun
that traveled in interstate commerce at one time, The jurisdictional
element was clearly there. The only question before the Court was
whether or not the transportation of the gun in commerce had to come
before or after the conviction, and they said it was all right for Con-
gress to proscribe it where the interstate transportation was prior to
the conviction.

Mr. Kroge, It did surprise the attorneys, the Supreme Court’s ex-
tention of that.

My, Keeney, It surprised me, too, Mr. Kildee.

Mr. Kmore. Thank you.

My, Errer. Thank you very much.

Mr. Braoearas. Mr, Biaggi.

Mr. Bragar. I only have one observation, Mr, Chairman. I am sorry
T wasn’t herve to listen to your testimony. However, we have been deal-
ing with the problem for some time. The question that seems to plague
all of us, and we all have a mutual objective, is the question over con-
stitutionality. We have had witnesses testify, witnesses who are schol-
ars of the constitution, who have said that legislation could be
enacted to deal with the behavior of man. This would not be an en-
croachment on the first amendment. But I think the last remark you
were surprised by the Supreme Court’s decision, I would suggest that
we (o the best we can in connection with the problem of legislation and
submit it to the Supreme Court and perhaps they will surprise us, I
refer to history when President Roosevelt had the Congress enact the
National Reecovery Act. It was clearly unconstitutional and it was
contended at this point there was a critical problem in our nation that
needed dealing with. By the time that act was declared unconstitu-
tional the problem had been met and resolved.

I suggest that constitutional or otherwise, which will be an open
question until the courts decide, that legislation dealing with this prob-
lem forthrightly would have similar eftect. Most of the people involved
in my judgment are just merchants out there trying to make money
and they know there is no penal sanction at this point, Once a law falls
in place, with personal sanctions, the results might be rather salutary
in that there will be a fall off of production and penalty may not be
worth the profit. That is my only observation, Mr. Chairman.

AMr. Braperas. Mr. Railsback.

Mr. Ramussack. Thank you, Mr, Chairman. .

May X ask, Mr. Kenney, I thinlk it ought to be very, very apparent
from all of our questions that I think we are kind of struggling with
the legislative problems of drafting a Federal statute that would deal
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in a meaningful way with child abuse or child exploitation, and I
have rather quickly read your brief and I must say that I share with
you many of your concerns. o :

Is it a fair characterization to say that you think there are real
problems in drafting a statute that would make it a Federal offense
to deal with the problems of, say, child prostitution as contrasted with
obscenity? : :

Do you think we have real constitutional problems drafting what I
will call & child exploitation statute or child abuse statute ?

Mr, Keexey. Well, the only problem thers I would see with child
prostitution, the problem wouchl) be looking for, as suggested by Mr.
Ertel, a jurisdictional hook so there wouldn’t be invasion of the police
power of the State.

Mr. Ramwspacs. I understand that. If you were sitting where we are
and you were awa: ¢ of a problem that appears to be a very persuasive
one, a very great v ue, I am wondering what you think the best solution
would be to deal with that kind of problem, forgetting just the literary
publications or the obscene publications, but dealing really with child
abuse, where somebody is really capitalizing upon and abusing a child.

Mr. Kzeney. Well, I don’t have serious problems with that where
there is shuse of the child and we are dealing with the abuse of the
child in isolation, and we have a jurisdictional basis for the Federal
Government to act, Mr. Railsback. I think that is an area in which the
Congress can act. I see no substantial problem. '

Mr. Rammspack, What is the jurisdictional basis in that case? That
is what I am struggling with. What do you think the jurisdiction
nexus is? :

.Mr. Keexey. The jurisdictional basis is in that situation would be
that Congress would have to determine that under the health and wel-
fare clause it felt it had to act to protect children in this situation.
Then we are faced head-on with the problem before the courts as to
whether or not the health and welfare clause of itself gives the Con-
gress the Federal Government jurisdiction in this area, and they would
have to balance off the rights reserved to the States because what we
are dealing with here is an invasion of the police powers of the State.

Mr. Rarzssack, T agree with you. What, if anything, could the De-
partment of Justice do, for instance, in helping in the formulation of
some kind of uniform statute? Has the Justice Department ever been
involved in that kind of an activity?

Mr. Keeney. A uniform statute for the States?

Mr. RAmsBacE. Yes.

Mr. Kzeney. We have to the extent there is a mechanism, The
Council of State governments in which we have representation and we
have been involved from time to time with various States on this
specific council. I don’t know but it seems to me that that is not the
problem, that insofar as my experience is concerned the State statutes
are adequate insofar as covering the conduct. The problem is for the
States to deal with, they have a problem to deal with and it’s a ques-
tion of whether or not they can handle it. The statutes are there. I
think the problems are enforcement.

Mr, Ramspacr, May I just indicate my disagreement with you on
that. I have been led to believe that there were something like six
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States that had meaningful child abuse statutes and that there are
now 22 some States that are consideringnew laws, so I don’t know how
you can say that the States have acted, at least not very many of them.
Maybe I am wrong on that.: - e o

Mr. Kerney. Well, when I say child abuse statutes, I am talking
about virtually all of the States having statutes which proscribe con-
stributing to the delinquency of a minor. o : »

I would bhe very much surprised if all of the States didn’t have
gtatutes that could in one manner pr another cover the type of conduct
that is being described in these bills when you are dealing with minors.

Mr. RamsBacr.: Maybe I am in error. But if you had heard the
testimony that we have heard to date, including the chairman of the
States attorneys association, you would get the strong feeling there
has been a demonstrated unawareness of the pervasiveness of the
problem. There are also apparently, according to many, great diffi-
culties in even prosecuting child abuse cases under the existing
statutes. ‘

In other words, I am inclined to think that you are not aware of the
seriousness of the problem or pervasiveness of it. I must say I wasn’t
either until I heard the testimony that we have heard.

Mr. Keeney. Mr. Railsback, 1 don’t purport to be an expert on the
State laws on child abuse. All I was giving you was my reaction based
on my experience as a lawyer. It seems to me that State laws are
broad enough to cover these problems, that the problems are less lack
of adequate laws than enforcement problems. If you are right, then
through the council of State governments or some other mechanism
effective State laws should be sought. A

Mr. Ratssack, OK, thank you.

May I ask one further question, Would you favor a law that, you
alluded to, using the health and welfare clause, in other words, do
you favor that kind of law? You have suggested that might be one
jurisdictional basis for us to legislate. Do you favor us doing that?

Mr. Keeney. That is o difficult question, My, Railshack, T see it as
an area permeated with problems but I think in the final analysis if
that is the best effort that can be made in the area of child abuse we
would favor it. - S ’

© Mu. Ramssack. Thank you very much.

Mr. Bravemas. Mr. Miller of California. -

Mxr. Mrrzer, I have noquestions, Mr. Chairman,

Mr. BrapEmas. . Mr. Pressler, . o

Mr, Pregsuer. No questions,  « « . -

Mr. BrapEmAs. Does any member have another question? - ,

Mr. Jeffords. . - L ST

Mr. Jerrorps. First, I would like to briefly for Mr. Ertel’s pur-
poses and others explain what I think.s certification system would
workand I have one other question, ‘ L ‘

If we required just a certification at the time of the filming before
it can be distributed in interstate commerce, with the names, dates,
all the information necessary to establish the area and scene of the
crime, then require an attachment of certificate to whatever is distrib-
uted in interstate commerce, then you have a situation where you can
quickly and immediately bring this under control and provide the
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necessary information for enforcement, if you combine it with State
laws which require similar certification so that you can’t claim it was
done within the State. Then you would be able to either prosecute for
false information on a certificate for failure to have a certificate. All
you would have to do is check to see where the certificate was fouled.
Obviously, very quickly, whoever was accepting the certification
would know that ghey won’t probably have to check many materials,
but if it was Joe Smut’s picture they would want to check and see if
the certificate was fouled and they could doit.

Mr. Erren. Bub the point being you are going to get the under-
ground operators certifying it was done in a foreign country.

Mr, JerrorDs. Yes, sir.

Mr. Erren. Every one of them, when you have a movie set or any
kind of set, you are not going to be able to tell by looking at a film
where in fact it was. I don’t think that is going to add jurisdictional
basis, to the venue, and you are not going to be able to locate anybody
as a result, If the guy is going underground with it he is going to go
all the way.

Mur. Jerrorps. You modify your import laws to require the certifi-
cation, I think you can clamp down to it all.

I would like to briefly ask what kind of problems do we get into
when we try to prove something is child abuse when we get into this
arvea when you have the question whether it is child abuse or obscenity.
I don’t know whether you can comment on that. If we say such as
these activities are child abuse, what are we going to have to prove to
the courts?

For instance, let us say, take the Exorcist, suppose we were trying to
prove having a child simulate masturbation was child abuse, what
kind of evidence would we have to produce in the courts to be able
to prove that was in effect abuse of the child ?

Mr. Keeney, There is a psychological impact on a child that either
engaging in this conduct for profit or engaging in the simulation of
of the conduct for profit and that is what we would be dealing with.
Proving the impact on the child, the psychological effect.

Mcr. Jerrorns. Would that be subjective or could it be objective?

Mr. Xzexey. I think you could draw some objective inference
from this type of conduct. at least a psychiatrist could.

Mr. Jerrorps. Do you think there is some conduct that would be
objective and some that would be subjective?

Mr. Keeney. I think Congress in legislating in this area is making
an objective finding that this is conduct that is not appropriate and
it is conduet that a child of this age is incapable of protecting himself
agi;inst and, therefore, Congress is legislating to provide that pro-
tection,

Mz, Jrrrorns. Obviously, I would think, for instance, a nude pic-
ture, some people would consider a nude picture of a child as being
child abuse. We have had people who have said they would. Do you
think a court would just because Congress said that taking a picture
of a child nude is child abuse would say that without any additional
proof it is child abuse? '

Mr. Keeney. I wouldn’t say so,no.

Mz, Jerrorbs. Mr. Conyers.
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Mr. Coxvymrs. A final question. Is it correct, Mr. Keency, to ob-
serve that the obscenity test that is devived from /¢ler would apply
and does apply not only to the existing Federal laws but would apply
to any law that we have under consideration sbout pornography and
young people?

Mr. KeenEy. In as far as children ave concerned?

Mr. Convyers. Yes.

Mr. Keeney. Well, I think that is the real problem, Mr. Conyers,
and that is what I have been trying to say here, is that if we can view
this, if we can view child abuse as child abuse and not as part of any
literary effort, then e have got a much simpler problem, but I am
not certain that the courts will allow us to do it. I am afraid that,
well, we have to recognize the fact that the courts may read into any
child abuse legislation the first amendment standards and would
apply the A/dller test. .

Mur. Coxyers. Novw, the one thing that gets us part way around that
is that the obvious hardecore pornography that we are talking about in
terms of the magazines and the films clearly have no redeeming value
whatsoever. The closer question wonld come where those who would
attempt to anticipate this kind of question would start trying to
simulate some redeeming social or scientific interest in the question.
Would you agree with that?

Mr. Krexey. Yes. The clear hardeore material would be covered
under the proposed legislation, it would also be covered under the
existing obscenity laws, except that the existing obscenities laws could
be amended so that we would more clearly bring within their gambit
the producers and permitters and whoevey else is involved in the total
production and dissemination of the material.

We do have a grab bag there, the people who are sponsors for the
production of the film and its filming and so forth turn it over to
somebody else for distribution. Use of interstate commerce facilities
is niot in connection with the orginal effort-—-thus we have a prosecu-
tive problem. That is an area that could be addressed.

Mr. Conyzrs. Very good. I ara grateful to you for your testimony
and your prepared statement. I would like to suggest to my colleagues
who are chairing these hearings that perhaps both our subcommittees
would want to in the relatively near future meet together without
witnesses to go over these legal considerations that have been raised
here and will probably continue to be raised with other witnesses.

Mr. Brapeaas. If the gentleman would yield, I think that is a sensi-
ble suggestion because I think we all want to try to frame a bill that
will respond to the problem and not run into constitutionai difficultieg
and write the best bill possible. So I would certainly welcome that. I
am sure members of our subcommittee would and I am glad to hear
you feel members of your subcommittee would.

Mr, Keeney. We are at the service of the committees. ;

Mr. Brapmaras., I think it would be helpful also, Mr. Conyers, if
we conld get the Justice Department at some point into helping us
on this matter so that we can respond to some of the concerns that have
been voiced here todsy.

Mr., Mrrer. If T might ask one question. Is it your testimony that
there seems to be two avenues—we keep talking about approaching
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the problem—is to go the child abuse avenue and the other some type:
of obscenity standard? If you were to go to the child abuse route you
may find the Miller test folded in on the question of what you are
doing to peoples’ first amendment rights.

Mr. Kervey, Exactly. '

Mr. Mirizr. And when we talk about this as it is zclated to chil-
dren, we talk about as if that is as of today 2 distinctly separate clause,
the fact that you use children in a magazine or photograph or movies
show makes that unacceptable to the community. Let us say in the
Miller standard on its face that is not necessarily so, would it be?

Mr. Keeney. I am not sure I understand the question.

Mr. Mrrrer. The Miller standard, as I understand it, provides what
a community finds acceptable and nonacceptable.

Mr. KeeNey. Yes, sir.

Mpr. Micrer. The simple fact that you have young clildren depicted
would not lessen that standard necessarily in terms of you burden of
proof, w.uld it? We would assume as laymen it would. The question
1s legally does it lessen your burden of proof ?

Mr. Kernry. I think the #ller test would—is a single test for botlx
adults and children but let us be honest and candid. A jury, a judge.,
a Supreme Court, where children are involved, are going to take a
little different view of it and I think we do have a little more leeway
when we are dealing with children.

Mz, Mirrer. Then the reason I raised the situation, we heard testi-
mony in Los Angeles of a publisher who publishes a magazine which
depicts young children, which it is his claim this is done for the pur-
pose of the nudist community, that they have been publishing this
magazine, a very small publication, for 25 or 30 years. Under this
legislation, it seems to me on its face you have a clear violation, but
under the M<ller test, not necessarily so. Would that be corrvect?

Mr. Keenzy. I wasn’t c&uite clear as to your example. It was a pic-
ture of just nude children? -

Mr. Mixrer. Just nude children in a nudist camp setting. He claims
it is for people who enjoy this mode of life.

Mr. Kzeney. If we are dealing with nudity and nothing—

Mr. Mirzer. Pardon ?

Mr. Kzeney. I think we are getting into a different area if we are
dealing with nudity and nothing else. The various bills that we are
discussing, I chink most of them have in addition to nudity, they
have some sort of a sexual conduct, heterosexual, or deviate-type
conduct.

My, Mirer. They go into the question of simulation.

Mz, Keenvey. Which is offensive as far as children are concerned.
Nude pictures of children presuraably would not necessarily be deemed
offensive by——

Mr. Myxurer. Or necessarily that small part of the Tixorcist or that
smell part of the American Graffiti, where you have a scene with a
young child,

Mr, Krenzy. It is more than nudity. v

Mr. Mizter. It is more than nudity but again it is a question. of
community standards and what a jury, as-you say, let us be sensible,
what would the jury say about the Exoreist, 2 film that earned over
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$100 million and people were going to the American Graffiti where
parents dragged their children to see their life style of the 1950’s, They
wanted their kids to see what it was like to hang out at a drive-in.
Also in the flic was a scene where a 12-year-old girl gets a date with an
18-year-old guy and somebody would find that stimulating, T am suve,
That test still remains taken as the whole, whether it 1s a nudist
magazine, whether it is Exercos or whether it is a blatant child por-
nographic film or magazine. :

Mr. Kerney, Yes, if we are dealing with obscenity laws per se and
if we are not dealing with some otfier constitutional power of the
Congress. :

Mz. Mirrer. Thank you.

Mr. Braoeaas. Mr, Keeney, thank you very much for your time
and effort in answering our questions. Your observations have been
most helpful to us in understanding these difficult problems.

Mz, Keevey. Thank you.

Mr. Bravemas. We are pleased next to call our distinguished eol-
I{’agll;% Hon. John M. Murphy, a Member of Congress from New

Cork,

TESTIMONY OF HON. JOHN M. MURPHY, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF NEW YORK

Mr. Moreuy. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is a pleasure and I
appreciate the opportunity to appear before this unique meeting of
two subcommittees on behalf of legislation which Mr. Ilildee and I
have submitted on behalf of approximately 142 cosponsors, a little
more than 82 percent of the Flouse.

I believe the breadth of that support indicates an overwhelming
nationwide response to a problem which, until recently, was swepb
under the rug.

Both the subcommittees here have already held hearings on the bill,
so I need not describe in great detail the horrible use of children in
pornographic materials. Previous witnesses have graphically outlined
the type and scope of available materials, and more important, the
abuses to which the children involved are subjected. Almost without
exception, everyone agrees that some sort of legislation is necessary—
that “something must be done”—and most agree that the legislation
before the subcommittees is an excellent vehicle. I shall therefore not
take additional time in repetitive statements of the problem, but will
instead address myself to the legislative solution,

In much of the testimony preceding mine, there seem to have been
two major recurring themes of concern. One focused constitutional and
first amendment reservations, and the other on the language in the bill
and some possible redundancy with already existing statutes, and in
a few instances, some alleged misdirection of our bill.

I would, therefore, like to give the subcommittees the benefit of an
author’s perspective, so that the all-important aspect of legislative
intent can be successfully molded into an acceptable and effective Jaw.

Let me first point out that we cannot take comfort in existing stat-
utes. They simply do not work. There ave five Federal laws, for ex-
ample, which vrohibit the distribution of obscene materials. One pro-
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hibits mailing, one blocks importation, one proscribes broadeast, and
two prohibit interstate transportation or use of common carriers to
transport obscene materials. But all have a single major failing, in
addition to their lack of specificity regarding the use of children, Be-
fore any can be enforced, 1t must fivst be determined that the materials
are, indeed, obscene. The courts, including the Supreme Court, have
been trying for decades to arrive at a suitable and acceptable gunide-
line. None have surfaced.

A Library of Cengress study done at my request indicates that while
47 States have legislation governing display of obscene materials to
minors, only six States have had the insight to prohibit the nse of
minors. Everyone seems concerned with physical abuse, neglect, and
similar problems, but there has been very little legislative cognizance
of sexual and em>tional disabilities which result.” And finally, many
existing techniques of prosecution depend either on witnesses to a
cerine, or on catching someone “in the act.” The nature of the pornog-
raphy industry makes either case unlikely. And we already have
ample evidence of the unenforceability of obscenity statutes, as well
as the apathy such as allowed a Chicago man to continue publishing
his “chickenhawlk” magazine on the prison printing press.

. All this points to the need for State legislation which parallels
Federal statutes. The Congress is limited to an interstate jurisdiction,
and the bill before you is drafted in such a fashion. It does not pre-
sime to be the final answer for cessation of all pornography, but a
reasonable starting point upon which to develop this and other ap-
proachesto an exceptionally difficult problem.

Let me underscore that point. The bill does not try to function
within existing obscenity parameters. The word “obscenity” does not
appear, nor is it intended to apply, in this bill. Qur bill does not
presume to define the listed sexual acts as obscene; rather, it defines
them as prohibited when children are involved. The focus of the bill
is on the sexnal and emotional abuse of the child per se, rather than
whether such an abuse might be obscene. So much for obscenity.

"There has been considerable commentary regarding the language,
definitions and verbal structure of the bill. Mr. Kildee and I are the
first to admit that we are not constitutional scholars. The purpose of
the bill is to present a base of operation which provides ample oppor-
tunity for refinement, clarification, fleshing out and modification in
the congressional process. Let me touch on a few points.

Some of the observations of allegedly “broad language” are well-
taken. For example, our definition of “cther sexual activity” might
be made more specific by substituting such a phrase as “other genital
or anal conduct or activity.” Similarly, we might add the word “know-
ingly™ just before “. . . receives,” which would help to protect the
innocent bookstore operator who cannot control the content of his
wares. However, I would very strongly argue against an alteration
which would change the language to “knowingly cause.” Such a loop-
hole would allow a producer/entrepreneur to simply place his money
into a blind venture, with instructions to return a handsome profit,
but to keep him ignorant as to the source of the profits.

There is a substantial legal precedent for such an approach in our
contributory negligence laws. Even though you might run through a
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red traffic light without knowingly breaking the law, you are still
liable for the resulting manslaughter when you hit a pedestrian or
another vehicle. ‘

T must also oppose & change in the age limitations stated in the bill.
The age of 16 was not an arbitrary choice. It is the existing Federal
age of sexual consent where Federal jurisdiction applies, such as
military installations, Indian reservations, et cetera. Suggestions to
lower the line of demarecation to the age of puberty ignore the differ-
ences in rates of development between girls and boys, or from one
child to the next. What might be considered under such a phrase
to be legal for an early-blooming 9-year-old would be illegal for his
or her slow-growing 12-year-old brother. :

There has been a suggestion that we consider the licensing of film-~
malers, requiring a certification that the children they might use be of
an appropriate age. I contend such a requirement is futile. The burden
would be placed upon legitimate producers who want to comply with
the law, while those pornographers who are already breaking the law
by their actions are highly unlikely to worry about not filling out an-
other Federal form Wilich, in effect, would constitute an admission
of either guilt or perjury.

Another area which might be further defined includes the commer-
cial showing of pornographic films involving children, where the
product is not sold, but rather, tickets or admission. I would suggest
we incorporate language which would preclude the commercial show-
ing or display of such materials involving children, where tickets or
admission is charged (such as a theatre or a quarter-machine found in
the back of bookstores), or where any other solicitation is made for a
showing before an audience . . . which would preclude advertising, ora
“pass-the-hat” money collection at a stag party showing.

Any fears that enforcement and prosecution of this legislation would
differ from region to region have ignored the nature of the bill: It is a
Federal law, and as such would have suits initiated by a Federal dis-
trict attorney, not a local prosecutor. And scenarios which depict a
vindictive judge imposing execessive penalties also ignore an Ameri-
ean tradition called “trial by jury.” Exceptions can be formulated
for every law on the books, We have allowed some dicretion by the
judiciary. : :

T would also haye to admit to a slight lapse in technological aware-
ness when our bill was drafted to speak of photographs or films. It
seems that a medium such as video tape might not be covered under
such language. I would therefore suggest that a substitution might be
in order to include “any photographic or electronic visual image, de-
piction, or representation.” :

Exception has also been taken with our inclusion of the simultation
of a sexual act on film. I believe this to be a necessary restriction,
since pornography depends on the presentation of sexual acts in all
their forms, If penetration does not occur, or a pre-pubescent child
cannot “perform?® the sex et to conclusion, the filmed result is no
less pornographic in nature. Their luerative show simply continues
with a different camera angle or different perversion on the nonerect
performer. :
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The legitimate movies and stage productions have also been men-
“tioned as affected by the legislation at hand. While I agree that they
‘might, indeed, be affected, the fact that the legitimate theater chooses
"to portray sexual activity among children does not lend any respect-
-ability to the act, or to its filming and distribution. Pornographic ma-
‘terials are not limited to those produced by pornographers. The only
difference in the portrayal of identical acts by the pornographer or
the legitimate theater is perhaps the quality of the product and the
«hannels in which it is distributed. The depiction of the delowering
of an 8-year-old girl is no more acceptable simply because 20th Cen-
tury Fox brought it to the silver sereen, or David Merrick brings it to
Broadway. The bill does not take issue with talking about the event,
only its actual depiction. Thus, such scenes as the one in Remeo and
Juliet which include a bedroom scene are not affected. In that case, the
script obviously picked up after the sex act, which was not viewed by
the audience. '

Finally, I would like to address some of the concerns about the
effect ¢f this legislation upon our first amendment rights. I would
underscore the remarks of Charles Rembar, the attorney who handled
the cases of Lady Chattlerley’s Lover and Fanny Hill, when he ap-
peared before this subcommittee. He offered his opinion that this
bill “does not run afoul of the first amendment. The first amendment,”
he said, “deals with expression, not with behavior or conduct.” I
wholeheartedlv agree. The first amendment is not absolute. There are
laws against libel, slander, invasion of privacy, making false state-
gnents in securities sales or in criminal conduct, and so on. It is totally
-absurd to suggest that the first amendment protects my young daugh-
-fer’s rights against being libeled or having her privacy invaded, but
-that pornoraphic films of her would be protected as some pervert’s
-freedom of speech. ,

Similarly, the ACLU’s position is ludicrous. They have stated be-
-fore this subcommittee that the abuse of the child should certainly be
sdealt with, but once those abusive films are made, we should not restrict
their interstate movement. The ACLU suggests we should go after
the preducers. And that is precisely what we have done.

A child of 5 simply does not hop 1n a cab to go to his local pornog-
rapher to shoot a “skin flick.” In every instance there is the guid-
ance of an adult who is in the business for the money. The best, and
perhaps the only way, to attack the problem is by removing the eco-
nomic incentives. Production will stop if there is no market for the
results, or if the penalties for transporting and marketing make it
impossible to do business economically or profitably. Do not confuse
pornographers with molesters. There is a difference between those
who ave in it for the money and those who are mentally ill. Some,
of course, fall into both categories. But our bill deals with the eco-
nomic reality of pornography, and the growing marketability of
children on film. .

T would also point out that there is ample precedent for our legis-
lation in other fields. The most obvious are the existing child labor
laws, which say ia essence that the fruits of oppressive child labor
may not be shipped or sold in interstate commerce. )

This presents an interesting paradox in which a film or book might
be seized if it were produced with the use of children behind the
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«camera, underoppressive conditions—substandard wages, long hours,
dangerous surroundings—but the moment the child steps in front of
the camera, some magic transition is alleged to have occurred which
protects the film as an expression of ideas under the first amendment.
‘That is absurd.

Other supportive legislative precedents include laws regarding con-
tributory negligence, accessory after the fact, as well as before and
after the fact, statutory rape, contributing to the delinquency of a
minor, and so forth. All require certain types of proof for prosecu-
tion. In the legislation before you, the films, magazines, books, and
the like are their own evidence—the fact that children have been
used is obvious, and prosecutable.

The ACLU says we should enact no more Jaws, but should enforce
‘the existing obscenity statutes. Yet they are in the vanguard of those
who violently attack those statutes as unconstitutional. If the ACLU
will simply choose which side of the fence they wish to remain on,
e can pursue their point of view in a rational manner.

Let me close by reminding both subcommittees that the bill before
them is not an antiobscenity bill. It is aimed at stopping the sexual
abuse and emotional annjhilation of hundreds of thousands of chil-
dren nationwide in the gutter industry of pornography. If the de-
fenders of the child-abusing pornographers will allow the filming
of their own naked children, with or without sexual congress, for
sale avound the country in sleazy bookstores or out of car trunks, then
Tmight be able to accept the sincerity of their arguments.

Interviews with social workers who must deal with children warped
for life by early sexual abuse show that they consider as a successful
termination of their case the simple expedient of getting the case off
their books and into any other agency except their own. While that in-
licates an important shortcoming in our social welfare structure, it
also indicates the seriousness—and virtual impossibility—of dealing
with the wrecked lives of these chiidren. ;

The prok’ .m must be dealt with before the abuse occurs, at the very
-core of the pornography industry—its economic foundation. Many
years of overturned obscenity cases have shown the futility of that
approach. Our legislation makes in financially unsound, and legally
fearsome, to even consider the use of a ¢hild in such a manner. And
" remember that our bill only applies to children, not consenting adults.
A 7-year-old child is in no position to consent, or even to understand,
" the events surrounding him. .

I trust that both subcommittees will view the bill in the manner
which. was intended : A vehicle to be refined, strengthened, broadened,
and ultimately passed into a law which is absolutely necessary to pro-
teet our children from the most vicious creatures that breathe, the
pornographers who live off the blood of children.

Mr. Bravemas. Thank you very much, Mr. Murphy.

Mr. Conyers?

Mr. Conyers. I wanted to commend by colleague for the fervor and
‘the emotion with which he obviously invests in this subject matter and
-also assure him that this subcommittee will be very careful in explor-
ing the benefits that he recommends as the ultimate necessity of addi-
‘tional legislation.
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There are a number of things that I would want to discuss with
him further on the record, but will do it off the record because we
do have a serious time problem now.

You should be aware, however, that the American Civil Liberties
Union before the subcommittee on crime was not opposed to addi-
tional legislation. They were concerned about the constitutional ques-
tion which if you heard the represeutative from the Department of
Justice before us, indicate under my questioning that the cbscenity
test is going to apply no matter what law that we come up with, and
evenr the bills that are now under consideration are going to whea
they reach the courts be subject to the same test that has already
been erected by the courts.

So we are very mindful of these kinds of pitfalls and we would like
to do more than just add another bill to the box, so I think we are
all grateful to our colleague for coming before us.

Mr. Brapemas. Mr. Jeffords?

Mzr. Jerroros. No questions other than to echo the comments of
the chairman of the Subcommittee of the Judiciary.

Mr. Brapeaas. Mr. Gudger?

Mr. Guopeer. I want to commend Congressman Murphy upon the
sincerity and effectiveness of his presentation. I come from one of
those six States that have been trying to deal effectively in this area,
and have a very sincere appreciation of your concern, your objec-
tivities, and share your desires to see some legislation develop here.

I will not undertake any questions at that time. I have already in-
dulged to some degree in questioning the previous witness who testi-
fied. But I do look forward to discussing this matter with you
personally.

Mr. BrabpEmas, Mr, Miller?

Mr. Mizrer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Cengressman Murphy, just one question. You comment on page 5
in your statement on the question that had been raised regarding
perhaps the requirement of certification as to the appropriate age of
children, and you claim that “The burden would be placed upon le-
gitimate producers who want to comply with the law, while those per-
nographers who are already breaking the law by their actions are
highly unlikely to worry about not filling out another Federal form
which, 1,51 effect, would constitute an admission of either guilt or
perjury.

It seems to me there is some merit to certainly looking at that pro-
posal in the sense that legitimate filmmakers, since we have just
heard very possibly “The Exorcist” would be in trouble, a legitimate
filmmaker who still wants to make the scene now, mavbe wants to
nse an 18-year-old female who looks 14 or 15, or whatever, for the
purposes of carrying out what he conceives to be his produet, can say,
“T am not prepared to use a young child for this purpose, yet I want
to make the film in this way.”

Also, it scems to me more for the illegitimate filmmaker person
using minors for profit on expiration vou have a handle by which to
really intercept and grab the product.

Mr. Morery. To address the question of that particular flm I
think the producers generally agree that scene was not necessary to
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the plot and they could have done without it where they use a child
who falls in this category. But the question of filling out a form
and filing it just seems to me to be another form that only legitimate
businesses and legitimate producers would comply with.

My, Mizrer. 1t is a little bit like also filling ont our tax forms. It
is just another form until you do it illegally and do it with the pur-
pose of committing fraud and then it becomés more than that form.
It becomes a piece of evidence and a vehicle by you would start the
search or vehicle by you can match the product against the evidence,
and that would be my concern, because they may or may not, people
may have conceded now because it has been used o many times. As
an example, “The Txorcist” could have been made without that scene
but somebody exercised their sense of filmmaking and made that film,
or as was pointed out by Richard Dreyfuss, the actor, in “American
Graffiti,” the point would be, should they have the ability to avoid
prosecution, and still not be brought by censorship, have a vehicle by
which to escape it in the legitimate filmmaking industry.

Mr. Moresry. I would say that would be a matter fov the committee’s
judgment. I just expressed my own personal feeling on it.

Mr. Brabmaras. My, Murphy, I want also to jomn my colleagues in
expressing warm appreciation to you for your statement and I am
well aware of your ¢ vn deep interest in this problem and your con-
cern we shape some legislation to deal with it responsibly.

Because I must go to another meeting, T am going to ask the gentle-
man from Michigan, the chairman of the other suﬁacommittee, to as-
sume the chair, and then if he finds it necessary to in turn go to another
meeting, ask the gentleman from California, My, Miller, the ranking
Member on our side, to assume the chair.

Again, Mr. Murphy, I want to thank you and especially want to
thank my colleague from Michigan, Mr. Conyers. _

Mr. Coxyers. L want to thank you. Are there any questions further
of the gentleman from New York. Mr. Murphy ?

We want to thank our colleage for his contribution. He can
be assured we will take his recommendation into very thorough
consideration. '

[The prepared statement of Hon. John M. Murphy follows:]

SratEMeENT BY How, Jonn M. MurrHyY, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS RO
THE STATE oF NEW YORK

Mr. Chairman, I thank you for the opportunity to appear before this rather
unique joint session of two House Subcommitfees on behalf of the legislation
which Mr. Kildee and I have submitted on behalf of approximately 142 cospon-
sors—30 percent of the House of Representatives. I believe the breadth of
that support indicates an overwhelming nationwide response to a problem
which, until recently, was swept under the rug.

Both the subcommittees here have already held hearings on the Dbill, so I
need not deseribe in great detail the horrible use of children in pornographic
materialy. Previous witnesses bave graphically outlined the type and scope
of available materials, and more important, the abuse to whick the cehildren
involved are subjected. Almost without ekception, everyone agrees that some
sort of legislation is necessary—that “something must be done"—~and most agree
that the legislation before the subcommittees is an excellent vehicle. I shall
therefore not tuke additional time in repetitive statements of the problem, but
will instead address myself to the legislative golution.

In much of the testimeny preceding mine, there seem to have been two major
recurring themes of concern. One focused on constitutional and first amend-
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ment reservations, and the other on the language in the bill and some possible
redundaney with alrendy existing statutes, and in a few instances, some alleged
“misdirection” of our bill. . . X

I would, therefore, like to give the subcommittees the bengﬁt of an author's
perspective, so that the all-important aspect of legislative intent can be suc-
cessfully molded into an acceptable and effective 1aw.

Let me first point out that we cannot take comfort in existing statutes. They
simply do not work. There are five Federal laws, for example, which prohibit
the distribution of obscene materials. One prohibits mailing, one blocks importa-
tion, one proscribes broadeast, and two prohibit interstate transportation or use
of common carriers to transport obscent materials. But all have a single major
failing, in addition to their lack of specificity regarding the nse of children. Be-
fore any can be enforced, it must first be determined that the materials are, in-
deed, obscene. The courts, including the Supreme Court, have been trying for
Gecades to arrive at a suitable and acceptable guideline. None have surfaced.

A Library of Congress study done at my request indicates that while 47 States:
have legislation governing display of obscene msterials to minors, only six States
have had the insight to prohibit the use of minors. Bveryone seems concerned
with physical abuse, neglect, and similar problems, but there has been very little
legislative cognizance of sexual abuse and emotional disabilities which result.
And finally, many existing techniques of prosecution depend either on witnesses:
to a crime, or on catching someone “in the act.” The nature of the pornography
industry malkes either case unlikely. And we already have ample evidence of the
unenforceability of obscenity statutes, as well as the apathy such as allowed &
Chicago man to continue publishing his “chickenhawk” magazine on the prison
printing press. ’

_All this points to the need for state legislation which parallels federal statutes..
The Congress is limited to an interstate jurisdiction, and the bill before you is
drafted in such a fashion. It does not presume to be the final answer for cessation
of all pornography, but a reasonable starting point upon which to develop this
and other approaches to an exceptionally difficult problem.

. Let me underscore that point. The bill does not try to function within exist-
ing obseenity parameters. The word “obscenity” does not appear, nor is it intended’
to apply, in this bill. Our bill does not presume to define the listed sexual acts as
obscent ; rather, it defines them as prohibited when children are involved. The
focus of the bill is on the sexual and emotional abuse of the child per se, rather
than whether such an abuse might be obscene. So much for obscenity.

.There has been congiderable commentary regarding the language, definitions
and verbal structure of the bill, Mr, Xildee and I are the first to admit that we are:
not Constitutional scholars. The purpose of the bill is to present a base of opera-
tion which provides ample opportunity for refinement, clavification, fleshing out
and modifieation in the congressional process. Let me touch on a few points.

Some of the observations cf allegedly “broad language” are well-taken, For ex~
ample, our definition of “other sexual activity’” might be made more specific by
substituting such a phrase as “other genital or anal conduct or activity.” Sim-
ilarly, we might & °< the word “knovingly” just before ... receives,” which would
help to protect the innocent books'iore operator who cannct control the content of
his wares. However, I would very strongly argue against an alteration which
would change the language to “knowingly cause.” Such a loophdcle would allow a
producer/entrepreneur to simply place his money into a blind venture, with in-
structions to return a handsome profit, but to keep him ignorant as to the source:
of the prefits.

There is a substantial legal precedent for such an approach in our contributory
negligence laws, XBven though you might run through a red traffic light without
knowingly breaking the law, you are still liable for the resulting manslaughter
when you hit a pedestrian or another vehicle.

I must also oppose a change in the age limitations stated in the bill. The age of"

16 was not an arbitrary choice. It is the existing federal age of sexual consent
where federal jurisdiction applies, such ag military insta’lations, indian reser-
vations, ete, Suggestions to lower the line of demarcation to the age of puberty ig-
nore the differences in rates of development between girls and boys, or from one-
child to the next. What might be considered under such a phrase to be legal for
an early-blooming 9 year old would be illegal for his or her slow-growing 12 year
old brother.

There has been a suggestion that we consider the licensing of filmmakers, re-
quiring a certification that the children they might use be of en appropriate age.
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T contend such a requirement is futile, The burden would be placed upon legiti-
mate producers who want to comply with the law, while thoge poronogmphers who
are already breaking the law by their actions are highly unlikely to worry about
not filing out another federal form whicl, in effect, would constitute an admis-
sion of either guilt or perjury. . .

Another arvea which might be further defined includes the commereial showing-
of pornographic films involving children, where the product is not sold, but rather,-
tickets or admission. I would suggest we incorporate language which would-
preclude the commercial showing or display of such materials involving children,
where tickets or admission is charged (such as a theatre or a quarter-machine
found in the back of bookstores), or where any other solicitation is made for &
showing before an audience . . . which would preclude advertising, or a pass-the-
hat money collection ot a fraternal lodge showing.

Any fears that enforcement and prosecution of this legislation would differ
from region to region have ignored the nature of the bill: it is a federal law, and
as such would have suits initiated by a federal district attorney, not a Iocal
prosecutor. And scenarios which depict a vindictive judge imposing excessive

‘penalties also ignore an American tradition called ‘trial by jury’. Exceptions can

be formulated for every law on the books. We have allowed some discretion by
the judiciary simply because 20th Century Fox brought it to the silver screen,
or David Merrick brings it to Broadway. The bill does not take issue with talk-
ing about the event, only its actual depiction. Thus, such scenes as the one in
Romeo and Juliet which include a bedroom scene are not affected. In that case,
the seript obviously picked up after the sex act, which was not viewed by the
audience.

Finally, I would like to address some of the concerns about the effect of this
legislation upon our First Amendment rights, I would underscore the remarks of
Charles Rembar, the attorney who handled the cases of Lady Chatterley’s Lover
and Fanny Hill, when he appeared before this Subcommittee. He offered his
opinion that this bill “does not run afoul of the Pirst Amendment, The Fivst
Amendment,” he said, “deals with expression, not with behavior or conduet.” X
wholeheartedly agree, The First Amendment is not absolute. There are laws
against libel, slander, invasion of privacy, making false statements in securities
sales or in criminal conduct, and so on, It is totally absurd to suggest that the
Tirst Amendment protects my young daughter’s rights against being libeled or
having her privaecy invaded, but that pornographic films of her would be pro-
tected as some pervert's ‘freedom of speech.’

Similarly, the AOLU’s position is ludierous. They have stated before this
Subcommittee that the abuse of the child should certainly be dealt with, but
once those abusive films are made, we should not vesfrict their interstate move-
ment, The AQLU suggests we should go after the producers. And that is pre«
cisely what we have done. A child of five simply does not hop in a cab to go to
his local pornographer to shoot a “skin flick.” In every instance, there is the
guidance of an adult who is in the business for the money. The best, and per-
haps the only way, to attack the problem is by removing the economic incentives.
Production will stop if there is no market for the results, or if the penalties for
transporting and marketing mwake it impossible to do business economically or
profitably. Do not confuse pornographers with molesters. There is a difference
between those who are in it for the money, and those who are mentally ill, Some,
of course, fall into both categories. But our bill deals with the economic reality of
pornography, and the growing marketability of children on film,

I would also point out that there is ample precedent for our legislation in other
fields. The most obvious is the existing child labor laws, which say in essence
that the fruits of oppressive child labor may not be shipped or sold in interstate
commerce.

This presents an Mnteresting paradox in which a film or book might be “,eized if
it were produced with the use of children behind the camera under oppressive
conditions . . . substandard wages, long hours, dangerous surroundings ...
but the moment the child steps in front of the camers, some magic traunsition
is alleged to have occurred which protects the film as an expression of ideas under
the First Amendment. That is absurd.

Other supportive legislative precedents include laws regarding contributory
negligence, accessory after the fact, as well as before and during the fact, statu-
tory rape, contributing to the delinquency of a minor, and so forth. All require
certain types of proof for prosecution. In the legislation before you, the films,
magazines, books, und the like are their own evidence . . , the fact that children
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have been used is obvious, and prosecutable. The ACLU says we should enact
10 more laws, but should enforce the existing obscenity statutes. Yet they are
in the vanguard of those who violently attack those statutes as unconstitutional.
If the ACLU will simply choose which side of the fence they wish to remain on,
we can pursue their point of view in a rational manner,

T.et me close by reminding the two Subcommittees that the bill before them is
not an anti-obscenity bill, It is aimed at stopping the sexual abuse and emotional
annihilation of hundreds of thousands of children iationwide in the gutter in-
dustry of pornography. If the defenders of the child-abusing pornographers will
allow the filming of their own naked children, with or without sexual congress,
for sale around the country in sleazy bookstores or out of car trunks, then I
might he able to accept the sincerity of his argument.

Interviews with social workers who must deal with children warped for life
by early sexnal abuse show that they consider as a successful termination of
their cage the simple expedient of getting the case off their books and into any
other agency except their own. While that indicates an important shortecoming

“in our social welfare structure, it also indicates the seriousness . . . and virtual
“impossibility . . . of dealing with the wrecked lives of these children.

The problem must be dealt with before the abuse occurs, at the very core of
the: pornography industry: its economic foundation. Many years of overturned
obscenity cases have shown the futility of that approach. Our legislation makes
it financially ungound, and legally fearsome, to even consider the use of a child
in such a manner. And remember that our bill only applies to children, not con-
senting adults. A seven year old child is in no position to consent, or even to
understand, the events surrounding him,

I trust that both Subcommittees will view the bili in the manuner which was in-
tended: a vehicle to be refined, strengthened, broadened, and ultimately passed
into a law which is absolutely necessary to protect our children from the most
-vicious creatures that breathe: the pornographers who live off the blood of
children,

Mr. Coxvnrs. Qur next witness is the Chief Postal Inspector of the
T0.5. Postal Service, Mr. C. Neil Benson. Mr. Benson has a prepared
statement which we will without objection have reproduced in full
into the record. That will allow you to summarize or proceed as you
chooge, My, Benson, :

[The prepared statement of Mr. Benson follows :]

STATEMENT oF C. NEIL BENSON, CHIEF POSTAL INSPECTOR ON CHILD PORNOGRAPHY

Chairmen and members of {he two subcommittees, my name is C. Neil Benson
and T am Chief Postal Inspector of the Postal Inspection Service. Accompanying
me is Inspector Kurt Similes, manager of our prohibited mailings branch at
our national headquarters. I appreciate the opportunity to appear this morning to
(1i§cuss legislation concerning the sexual abuse and exploitation of children. I
might note at this time that we have already supplied the subcommittee staff
Awith some examples of ehild pornography shich we have acquired in the course
oﬁ postal-related investigations. Upon request, we ean exhibit additional mate-
rial fo the subcommittee members or staff. To avoid compromising possible pros-
g_cumms, however, we do not wish to insert such material in the reccrd at this

ime.

Before discussing oyr activities in the aren of child pornography, I would like
_to briefly touch upon the history and composition of our organization. The postal
inspection service traces it origin to the year 1777, making it the oldest law
enforcement and investigative agency of the Tederal government. Our present
complement of personnel numbers about 5,600. This includes about 1,700 postal
Inspectors, 152 .special investigators, and 2,600 security police officers.

Under 39 Un}ted States Code 404(a) (7), the Postal Service has the specifie
power to investignte postal offenses and civil matters relating to the postal serv-
ice, As the law enforcement arm of the Postal Service, the postal inspection serv-
ice enforces some 85 federal eriminal statutes. Postal inspectors have statutory
authority to serve subpoenas and warrants and to make arrests under 18 United
ﬁtétetes Code 3081, Generally, our investigalive responsibilities fall into three main

ategories—
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The investigation of all violations of federal stntutes refating to the Postal
Service;

The protection of mail, postal funds, and postal property; and

The internal audit of Postal Service operations. .

The United States Postal Service and its criminal investigative arm-—the
postal inspection service—enforee several federal statutes concerning the mailing
of pornographic material, Any investigation of child pornography would neces-
sarily be carried out within the framework of these statufes, none of which
specifically addresses the question of sexual exploitation of children, _\\’e have
attached copies of the relevant statutes and statistical data regarding their
entorcement for your convenience, -

The first of the relevant postal statutes—the “pandering ndvertisements’”
statute, 39 United States Code 3008—affords a measure of self-protection to in~
dividual mail recipients. It allows an individual who receives an advertisement.
which he, *in his sole diseretion,” believes to be “erotically arousing or sexually
provocative” to obtain an administrative postal service order which directs the
mailer of the advertisement to refrain from further mailingsg to his address.
Violation of this administrative order may subject the mailer to injunective
proceedings in federal district court, Since the inception of thig statute in 1968,
the Postal Service has issued about 500,000 such crders.

The Postal Ingpection Service has investigative responsibility for the “sexunlly
oriented advertisements” statute, 39 United States Code 3010 and 3011 and 18
United States Code 1735-1737. This statute alse affords the individnal mail recip-
ient protection against the receipt of unwanted sexually oriented mail matter,
It requires the Postal Service to maintain a list of persons who do not desire
to receive unsolicited sexunally oriented advertivements and prohibits the mail-
ing of such material to any individual whose name and address have been on
the list for more than 30 days. This list contains the names of abont 320,000
customers, In order to effect the purposes of this statute, the list is made avail-
able to mailers upon the payment of a service charge.

The Postal Service may request the attorney general to file a eivil action
against a mailer who sends a sexnally oviented advertisement to an individual
on the list. Criminal penalties are provided tor willful violations of the statute
awdd for the sale, rental, or misuse of the list maintained by the Postal Service.

I would like to mention at this point that the pandering advertisements statute
and, in particular, the sexually oriented advertisements statute have been sue-
cessful in cutting down the number of customer complaints received by the Tostal
Service, In fiscal year 1970, the United States Postal Service received 284266
complaints regarding sexual advertisements, In fiseal year 1976, this namber had
decrensed to 31,157, Although some of this decrease may reflect changing public
attitudes, we believe it is preponderantly due to the fact that mailers, in their

‘own self-interest, are learning to channel sexually oriented mailings away

from those individuals who do not want to receive then.

Tinally, the Postal Inspection Service is cluirged with investigative respon-
sibility for the postal obscenity statute, 18 United States Code 1461, This section
contains the basic restriction of the use of the mails to distribute porno-
graphic material., In language dating, In part, from 1865, it forbids the mailing
of “every obscene, lewd, lascivious, indocent, filthy or vile article, matter, thing,
device, or substance.”

Violation of this statute is punishable by five years’ imprisonment, a $5,000
fine, or both, and penalties are doubled for recidivists.

The postal obscenity statute affords a good denl of prosecutorial flexibility.
Under a 1958 amendment to Section 1461, a eriminal nction may be brought
againgt o mailer not only in the jurisdiction where the material is deposited for
maliling, but also in any district through which it passes, and in the district of
address, The postal obscenity statnte has heen sustained vepeatedly in tf' :courts
48 o proper exereise of the postal power delegated to Congress under Lyticle 1,
Section §, of the constitution. ‘

The main thrust of our enforcement efforts in this area—in accordance with
gnidelines set by the Department of Jugtice—is directed toward major deglers
who use the mails both for advertising and selling of pornography. We develop
evidence from complaints of recipients of unwanted mail matter, from adverfise-
ments mailed to postal inspectors using test names, and on the hasis of adver-
tisements appearing in tabloids offering mail order pornography for sale. The
resuits of our investigative efforts are Dresented to United States attorneys
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to be considered for prosecution. We closely coordinate our effprts in this area
with the Department of Justice to ensure that our investigative and prosecu-
tive interests coincide, o .

Our investigations of child pornography are conducted within the ambit of the
statutes which I have described. Accordingly, in these investigations we look
for evidence of mailings which could be considered to violate statutes under our
investigative jurisdiction. As a practical matter—although the postal obscenity
statute does not deal specifienlly with child pornography—we belleve that the
“shock value” of such material should make cages involving it especially attrac-
tive froin a prosecutorial standpoint.

At thig point, T should also mention that we notify local authorities who have
Jurisdiction over laws regarding child abuse and related topics in any case in
Svhich we uncover evidence of matters which may be their particular concern.

Our total investigative euvironment includes child pornography. Howerver,
past experience hiay shown us that child pornography tends to account for a rela-
tively small but stable portion of the totnl market in mail order pornography.
‘The greater part of this material appears to have originated in the foreign
market, or to have been reproduced domestically from imported matter. In con-
sideration of these factors, we must defer to Congress regarding the need for
legislation specifically addressing child pornography.

Our review of proposed child pornography legislation has focused on provisions
which might make it difficult or impractical for us to develop the evidence to
support a suceessful prosecution of a mailer of cinld pornography.

Among these provisions, which are also addressed from a prosecutorial stand-
point in the statement of the Justice Department, are—

The refiirement that the gnvernment establish the age or identity of a
child participant in a pornographic production;

The requirement that the government establish the defendant’s knowledge
that individuals depicted in pornographic material are less than 16 years
old ; and

The requirement that the government establish that material has been
mailed neross state lines. .

Rignificant revisions would be necessary to make the proposed legislation work-
able from an investigative point of view,

In general, we concur with the detailed critique of the legal issues and problems
in this area presented by the Justice Department. We would be happy to consult
with the subcommittee and the Justice Department in the develonment of legis-
lation which would avoid the technical, practical, and constitutional problems in
the proposed bills,

This concludes my prepared statement. At this time I would be glad to answer
any questions you may have,

§ 3008. Prohibition of pandering advertisments

(@) Whoever for himself, or by his agents or assigns, mails or causes to be
mailed any pandering advertisement which offers for sale matter which the
nddressee in his sole discretion believes to be erotically arousing or sexually pro-
voeative shall be subject to an order of the Postal Service to refrain from further
mailings of such materials to designated addresses thereof.

(1) Upon receipt of notice from an addressee that he has received such mail
matter, determined by the addressee in his sole discretion to be of the character
described in subsection (a) of this section, the Postal Service shall issue an
order, if requested by the addressee, to the sender thereof, directing the sender
and his agents or assigns to refrain from further mailings to the named addresses.

(¢) The order of the Postzl Service shall expressly prohibit the sender and
Iis agents or assigns from making any further mailings to the designated ad-
dresses, effective on the thirtieth calendar day after receipt of the order. The
order shall also direct the sender and his agents or assigns to delete immediately
the names of the designated addresses from all mailing lists owned or controlled
by the sender or his agents or assigns and, further, shall prohibit the sendex and
his agents or assigns from the sale, rental, exchange, or other transaction involv-:
ing mailing lists bearing the names of the designated addressees. :

(@) Whenever the Postal Service believes that the sender or anyone acting
on his behalf was violated or is violating the order given under this section, it
shall serve upon the sender, by registered or certified mail, & complaint stating
the reasons for its belief and request that any response thereto be filed in writ-
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ing with the Postal Service within 15 days after the date of such service. If the
Postal Service, after appropriate hearing if requegted by the sender, and withoyt
a hearing if such a hearing is nof requested, thereafter determines that the order
given has been or is being violated, it is authorized to request the Attorney Gel}-
eral to make application, and the Attorney General is authorized to make appli-
eation, to a district court of the United States for an order directing compliance
wifth such notice, .

(¢) Any district court of the United States within the jurisdiction of which
any mail matter shall have been sent or received in violation of the order pro-
vided for by this seection shall have jurisdicton, upon application by the Attorney
General, to issue an order commanding compliance with such notice Failure to
observe such order may be punishable by the court as contempt ther. of.

(f) Receipt of mail matter 80 days or my e after the effective date of the
order provided for by this section shall create a rebuttable presumption that such
mail was sent after such effective date.

(g) Upon request of any addressee, the order of the Postal Service shall in-
clude the names of any of his minor children who have not attained their nine-
teenth birthday, and who reside with the addressee.

(k) The provisions of subchapter II of chapter &, relating to administrative
procedure, and chapter 7, relating to judicial review, of title 5, shall not apply
to any provisions of thiy section.

(4) For purposes of this section—

(1)mail matter, directed to a specific address covered in the order of the
Postal Service, without designation of g speclfic addressee thereon, shall be
considered as addressed to the person named in the Postal Service's order,;
and

(2) the term “children” includes natural children, stepchildren, adopted
children, and children who are wards of or in custody of the addvessee or
who are living with such addressee in a regular parent-child relationship.

§ 3010. Mailing of sexually oviented advertisements

" {e)y Any person who mails or causes to be mailed puy sexually oviented adver-
tisement shall place on the envelope or ecver thereof his name and address as
the sender thereof and such mark or notice as the Postal Service may prescribe.

(b) Any person, on his own behalf or on the behalf of any of hig children who
hag not attained the age of 19 years and who resides with him or is under his
care, custedy, or supervision, may file with the Postal Service a statement, in
such form and manner as the Postal Service may prescribe, that he desires to
receive no sexually oriented advertisements through the mails. The Postal Sery-
ice shall maintain and keep current, insofar as practicable, a list of the names
and addresses of such persons and shall make the list (including portions thereof
or changes therein) available to any person upon such refisonable terms and
ronditions as it may presecribe, including the payment of such service charge as
it determines to be necessary to defray the cost of compiling and maintaining the
list and making it available as provided in this senténce. No person shail mail or
cause to be mailed any sexually orviented advertisement o any individual wheose
name and address has been on the list for more than 80 days.

{¢) No person shall sell, lease, lend, exchange, or license the use of, or, except
for the purpose expressly authorized by this section, use any mailing list com-
piled in whole or in part from the list maintained by the Pcstal Service pursuant
to this section.

(@) “Serually oriented advertisement” means any advertisment that depiets,
in actual or simunlated form, or explicitly describes, in a predominantly sexual
context, I'uman genitalia, any act of natural or unngtural sexual intercourse, any
act of sodism or masochism, or any other erotic siubject directly related to the
foregoing, Material otherwise within the definitior) of thig subsection shall be
deemed not to constitute a sexually oriented advertisement if it constitutes only
a small and insignificant part of the whole of a single catalog, book, periodieal, or
other work the remainder of which is not primarily devoted to sexual matters.

§3011. Judicial enforcement

(@) Whenever the Postal Service believes that any person is mailing or caus-
ing to be mailed any sexually oriented advertisement in violation of section 8010
of this title, it may request the Atftorney General to commence a civil action
against such person in o digtriet court of the United States. Upon a finding by the
court of a violation of that section, the court may issue an order including one
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o;- more of the following provisions as the court deems just under the circum-
stances:

(1) & direction-to the defendant te refrain from mailing any sexually
oriented advertisement to a specific addressee, to any group of addressees, or
to all poesons ;

(2) a direction to any postmaster to whom sexually oriented advertise-
1aents originating with such defendant are tendered for transmission through
the mails to refuse to accept such advertisements for mailing; ox

(3} a direction to any postmaster at the oflice at which registered or certi-
fied letters or other letters or mail arrive, nddressed to the defendant or his
represencative, to return the registered or certified letters or other lettuis or

. mail to the sender appropriately marked as being in response to mail in viola-

tion of section 3016 of this title, after the defendant, or his representative,
hasg been notified and given reasonable opportunity to examine such letters
or mail and to obtain delivery of mail which is clearly not connected with
activity alleged tc be in violation of section 8010 of this title.

(b) The statement that remittances may be made to a person named in a
sexually oriented advertisement is prima facie evidence that such named per-
son is the prinecipal, agent, or representative of the mailer for the receipt of
remittances on his behalf. The court is not precluded from ascertaining the
existence of the agency on the basis of any other evidence.

(¢) In preparation for, or during the pendency of, a civil action under subsece-
tion (a) of this section, a district court of the United States, upon application
therefor by the Attorn.y General and upon a showing of probable cause to believe
the statute is being violated, may enter a temporary restraining order or pre-
.liminary injunction containing such terms as the court deems just, including, but

_not limited to, provisions enjoining the defendant from muiling any sexually
oriented advertisement to any person or class of persons, directing any post-
master to refuse to accept such defendant’s sexually oriented advertisements for
mailing, and directing the detention of the defendan®s incoming ma&il by any
posimaster pending the conclusion of the judicial proceedings. Any action taken
by a court under this subsection does not affect or determine any fact at issue in
any other proceeding under this section. :

(@) A civil action urder this section may Le brought in the judicial district in
which the defendant resides, or has his principal place of business, or in any
judicial district in which any sexually oriented advertisement mailed in violation

. of section 3010 has been delivered by mail according to the direction thereon.

- {¢) Nothing in this section or in section 3010 shall be construed as amending,
preempting, limiting, modifying, or otherwise in any way affecting section 1461
" or 1463 of title 18 or section 8006. 8007, or 3008 of this title.

81735. Sexually oriented advertisements

{a) Whoever—

(1) willfully uses the mails 71 the mailing, carriage in the mails, or de-

"~ livery of any sexually oriented advertisement in violation of scetion 3010 of

title 89, or willfully violates any regulations of the Board of Governors issued
under such section ; or
(2) sells, leases, rents, lends, exchanges, or licenses the use of, or, except
for the purpose expressly authorized by section 3010 of title 39, uses a mail-
ing list maintained by the Board of Governorg under such section;
shall be fined not more than §5,000 or imprisoned not more than five years, or
both, for the first offense, and shall be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned
not more than ten years, or both, for any second or subsequent offense.

(b) For *he purposes of this sectlon, the term “sexually oriented advextise-
ment” shall have the same meaning as given it in section 3010(d) of title 39,
Added Pub. L. 91-375, § 6 (j) (87) (A), Aug. 12, 1970, 84 Stat. 781,

§1736. Restrictive use of information

(a) No information or evidence ob*ained by reason of compliance by a natural
person with any provision of section 3010 of title 39 or regulations issued there-
under, shall, except as provided in subsection (c¢) of this section, be used,
directly or indirectly, as evidence against that person in a criminal proceeding.

() The fact of the pasrformance of any act by an individual in compliaace with
any provision of secticn 3010 of title 89, or regulations issued thereunder, snall

&
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not be deemed the admission of any fact or otherwise be used, directly or in-
dlrectly, as evidence against that person in a eriminal ploceedmg, except as pro-
vided in subsection (e) of this section. .

(c¢) Subsections (a) and (b) of this section shail not preclude the use of any
such information or evidence in a prosecution or other action under any apphca-
ble provision of law with respect to the furnishing of false information.

Added Pub. L. 91-375, §6(3) (87) (A), Aug. 12, 1970, 84 Stat. 781,

§1737. Manufacturer of sexually related mail matter

{e) Whoever shall print, reproduce, or manufacture any sexaully related mail
matter, intending or knowing that such matter will be deposited for mailing or
dehvery by mail in violation of section 8008 or 3010 of title 39, or in violation
of any regulation of the Postal Service issued under such sectmn, shall be fined
not more than $5,000 or imprisoned not more than five years, or both, for the first
offense, and shall be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not more than ten
years, or both, for any second or subsequent oifense.

(b) As used in this section, the term “sexnally related mail matter” means
any matter which is within the scope of section 3008(a) or 3010(d) of title 39,
Added Pub. L. 91-375, § 6(3) (37) (A), Aug. 12, 1970, 84 Stat, 781.

§1461. Mailing obscene or crime-inciting matter

Every obscene, lewd, lascivious, indecent, filthy or vile article, watter, thing,
device, or substance; and—

Hvery article or thing designed, adapted, or intended for producing abortion,
or for any indecent or immoral use; and

Every article, instrument, substance, drug, medicine, or thing which is ad-
vertised. +r described in a manner calculated to ledd another to use or apply
it for producing abertion, or for any indecent or immoral purpose; and

Every written or printed card, letter, cireunlar, book, pamphlet, advertisement,
or potice of any kind giving information, directly or indirectly, where, or how,
or from whom, ¢r by what means any of such mentioned matters. articles, or
things may be oobtained or made, or where or by whom any act oz wperation of
any kind for the procuring or producing of abe-tion will be done or performed,
or how or by what means abortion may be pr~duced, whether sealed or un-
sealed; and

Every paper, writing, advertisement, or representation that any article,
instruxient, substance, drug, medicine, or thing may, or can, be used or applied
for pre ueing abortion, or for any indecent or immoral purpose; and

Every description calculated to induce or incite a person to so use or apply
any sucn article, instrument, substance, drug, medicine, or thing—

s dec.ared to be nonmailable matter and shall not be conveyed in the maoiis
or deliveed from any post office or by any letter carrier,

Whoever knowingly uses the mails for the mailing, carriage in the mails, or
delivery of anything, declared by 7his section or section 3001(e) «f Title 39
G he nonmallable, or knowingly cauzes to be delivered by mail accerding to the
direction thereon, or at the place at which it iy divected to be delivered by the
person to whom it is addressed, or kuowingly takes any such thing from the
mails for the purpose of eircuiating or disposing thereof, or of aiding in the
cireulation or disposition thereof, sball be fined not more than §5,000 or im-
prisoned not more than five years, or both, for the fivst such offense, and shall be
fined nof more than $10,000 ox uupmsoned not more than 10 years, or both, fio
each such offense ther:afier.

The term “indecext”, as used in this section includes matter of a character
tending te incite arson, murder, or assassination.

As amended Yune 28, 1955, e. 190, §§1, 2, 69 Stut. 183; Ang. 28, 1958, Pub. L.
3[5-706, §1, 7 Stat. 962; Jan. §, 1971, Pcb. L. 91-662, §§ 3, 5(b), 6(3), 84 Stat.
1978, 1974,
PANDERING ADVERTISEMENTS STATUTF
(89 U.8.C. 3008-—Fnacted 1968)

600,000 Postal Customers Filed Requests for Prohibitory Orders.
490,000 Prohibitory Orders Were Issued by the Postal Service,
5,600 Enforcement Actiois Were Taken Against Violators,




174

SBEXUALLY ORIENTED ADVERIISEMENTS STATUTE
(39 U.8.0. 3010/11; 18 U.8.C. 1735-37 ; Enacted 1970)

Qourt actions

Since implementation of the SOA Statutes in May 1971, a total of 18 civil
acticns have been filed by U.S. Attorneys. (The majority of these actions were
taken against violators whose individual mail volume ranges from 200,000 to

2,000,000 pieces annually.)

Sixteen of the above civil actions were adjudicated in favor of the Govern-
ment. Bwo cases were dismissed. Thus far, no criminal action has heen taken

under 18 T.8.0. 1735-37.

320,663 postal customers currently have ** o names listed on the Postal
Serviee list pursuant to this statute.

OBSCENITY COMPLAINTS

THOUSANDS
300
284}‘266 DEALERS
7N\ CONVICTED
050 # \\ Feb 1971 F\ 7536
/0\ SOA Statutes FY 75-38
2N (39 USC 3010) FY 74 -32
200 i Implemented FY 73-27
“ Program to FY 72-30
Intensify Federal FY 71 -23
. Prosecutive Effort EY 70-14
150 3 FV 65-16
- \
30 S 31,157
— L} ! B ) 3 ]
1969 1970 1971 1972 1973 1874 1975 1978

FISCAL YEARS

OBSCENITY INVESTIGATIVE PROGRAM, POSTAL OBSCENITY STATUTE (18 U.5.C.1461, ENACTED 1865)

FEDERAL PROSECUTIVE STATISTICS

Estimated

: = Fines *  Sentences  gross annual

Fiscal year Indictments  Convictions imposed (years)! income?

1970 - 60 14 65,793 NA $5, 265,778
197 aecamacccamanacamnana 54 23 258, 538 NA 9, 565 43
197 40 30 193, 346 NA 4, 645,\, 3
197 - 27 27 298,2 72 8,760,238
1974 e nan e e e 47 32 207, 482 109 6, 379, 655
19756 48 36 289,780 115 20,964,783
1976, . 30 36 137 489 107 6, 664,905

t Sentences conslist of prison terms, probatlon and suspensions.

2 Data derived from the records of pic

B

commerclal ity dealers,




175

“TESTIMONY OF C. NEIL BENSON, CHIEF POSTAL INSPECTOR, U.S.
POSTAL SERVICE, ACCOMPANIED BY KURT SIMILES, MANAGER
0F PROMIBITED MAILINGS BRANCH

Mr. Conyers. If you would introduce the assistants with you, we
welcome you before the committees, the Select Eduncation Subcommit-
‘tee of the House Committee on Education and Labor and the Sub-
«committee on Crime of Committee on the Judiciary.

M. Bewson. Thank you, My, Chairman,

My name is C. Neil Benson and I am Chief Postal Inspector of the
Postal Inspection Service. Accompanying me is Inspector Xurt
Similes, manager of our Prohik*.ed Mailings Branch at our national
headquarters.

We would appreciate the opportunity to comment on this legisla-
tion that is pending before your committees. T will briefly try to sum-
marize some of the things that the Postal Service is involved in in
cnforcing postal obscenity laws.

‘We, the Postal Inspection Service, are primarily responsible for the
investigation of all criminal laws involving the Postal Service. In ad-
dition, we provide protection and security for the Postal Service and
have the internal audit function. In the area of obscenity through
the mail, we investigate and assist in enforcing the Pandering Adver-
tisements Statute, 39 U.S. Code 3008, which affords a measure of self-
protection to individual mail recipients.

This particular statute permits a custhmer of the Postal Service to
indicate that he is erotically aroused by the sexual advertisements
which he has received upon his sole discretion. He may ask the Postal
‘Service to issue an administrative Postal Service order which divects
the mailer of the advertisements to refrair, from further mailings to
his address.

Since the inception of the statute in 1968, the Postal Service has
issued about 500,000 such orders. Ve are also responsible for and have
-the investigative jurisdiction over the Sexually Oriented Advertise-
ments '?ta‘tuteq, 89 U.S. Code 3010 and 3011, as well as 18 U.S. Code
1735-1787.

These statutes provide that the Postal Service maintain a list of per-
sons who do not desire to receive unsolicited sexually-oriented adver-
tisements and prohibits the mailing of such material to any individual
if hisname has been on the list for 30 days.

The list presently contains the names of approximately 320,000
citizens of this country.

In addition, the statutes provide that, we can request the Attorney
General to file a civil action against a mailer who sends the sexually
oviented advertisement to an individual on the list. ; .

Finally, the Inspection Sesvice is charged with the Postal Obscenity
‘Statute, 18 U.8. Code 1461. This section. contains the basic restrictions

for the use of the mails to distribute pornographic material. In lan-
ov wge dating back to 1865 or so, it prohibits mailing of any obscene,
lewd, lascivious, indecent, filthy or vile article, matter, thing, device
or substance, L

Violaiion of the statute is punishable by 5 years imprisonment, a
fine of $5,000, or both. We have attained a great deal of prosecutorial
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flexibility under this particular act. Under the act, we can prosecute
in the venue where the piece of mail is deposited in, any district
through which it passes, or in the district of address.

The thrust of our enforcement effort in this area, in accordance with
guidelines set by the Department of Justice, is directed toward major
dealers who use the mail both for the advertisement of and for selling
of pornography. '

We develop evidence from complaints by recipients of vmwanted
mail matter, from advertisements mailed to postal inspectors using
test names, and on the basis of advertisements in tabloids offering mail
order pornography for sale.

Our investigations of child pornography are conducted within the
ambit of the statutes I have described. Accordingly. in these investiga-
tions we look for mailings which could be considered to violate statufes
under our investigative jurisdiction.

As a practical matter. the Postal Obscenity Statute does not deal
separately and specifically with child pornography. However, we
believe that the shock value of this type of material shonld malke cases
particularly attractive from a prosecutorial standpoint.

We see a few provisions of the pending law which would make the
investigation of these particular offenses somewhat difficult. The fivst
one is the requirement that the Government establish the age or iden-
tity of the child participant in the pornographic production. T think
it would be evident that the age of the child is sometimes difficult to
determine, particularly as thev come closer to the age of 16, and the
identity of the child is very difficult to ascertain.

The second point is the requirement that the Government establish
the defendant’s knowledge that individuals depicted in the porno-
graphic material are less than 16 years old. ’

T think here would be a serious problem for all of us.

The third one is that this particular law requires the Government
establish the material had been mailed across State lines. Normally,
in all the other postal statutes it is only necessary that the piece of
material enter the mail stream: it doesn’t mean that'it has to be carried
hy mail across State lines from one State to another. Entering the mail
stream is the Federal offense, whether it is carried one block or across
the country. .

With the i brief summary of my prepared statement, Mr. Similes and
I stand rewdy to answer any questions you may have.

Mr. Corvers. We want to thank you very much for joining us. I
have only three questions. ‘

Can you describe for me specifically how you view the problem from
the postal point of view? After sil. almost all of this pornographic
activity which brings us here today travels in interstate commerce.
There i3 everv indication that there are clubs and mailing lists, maga-
zines, film distributions, advertisements in magazines, so that all of
this is literally dependent .on the mails for existence,

Do you experience any problem in reporting, detecting, and coop-
erating with prosecuting authorities, both Federal and Stat :, in terms
of bringing this pornographic material to a halt?

Mr. Benson. I think that the problem in our Service is not identify-
ing the material so much because we do receive complaints from people.

&
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The problem is in determining what is obscene. That, of course, is the
problem for the courts.

. We might feel it is obscene, we might even convince a prosecutor it
is obscene, but sometimes the jury doesn’t necessarily agree.

Mr. Conyers. That is not your problem. I want to find oub what
your problem is from the postal point of view. '

. Mr. Bexsow., Well, I don’t think we have a particular problem in
Investigating this type of crime.

Mr. Coxyrrs. Why do we have so much of it then? In sther words,
what can you tell us before these two subcommittees so that we can
help put an end to what is viewed generally as an enlarging, rapidly
expanding area of activity that we consider illegal and mostly im-
moral? In’other words, where do you come sut? Is everything OK
and, if not, what ought we be doing ahout it?

Mr. Brxsox, I think we could, the Congress could, in some fashion,
make the obscenity depicted by children more better defined and
separate, a separate lav, i it is possible.

Iowever, because this would involve, it may not involve more cases,
but it would involve an easier prosecutive function. Let me ask Mr.
Similes, :

Mr. Starzes. Briefly, let me briefly describe the pornography indus-
try as a highly competitive business. Obviocusly we know that. There
is a need to accelerate the elicitness in order to meet the market con-
ditions like we have seen over the years, a steady increase in the type
of material that is pushed upon the public.

Ag the chief inspector said, we do view the obsconity problem in
total. "We do have a positive investigative program. As an examply, to
answer your direct question, how deep is the problem? We have cur-
rently approximately 100 outstanding investigations in the pornog-
raphy area, including all types of pornography. Approximately 13 of
those investigations deal with child pornography.

Only yesterday we obtained a indictment in one child pornography
case in San Francisco. The case has moved forward. The prosecutive
climate is certainly there, wherever we have the evidence to present
the cases. '

Myr. Cowynrs. Let me ask you a simple question. You pick up a
magazine and here is a perfectly horrible advertisement about porno-
graphic film. You are outraged. Somebody’s grandmother would be
similarly outraged. What do yon do? You are the postal authority
on obscenity. Do you go out and you call up the U.S. Attorney and
say, “Here we have got one. Let’s go,” or do you read it and say, “There-
is nothing much we can: do,” or do you pretend you don’t see it. v hat
happens?

Mr., Sovroes. The answer is we immediately investigate each and
every instance.

Mr. Conyrrs. Then I have got 10,000 cases for you to immediately
investigate.

Mr. Sovzres. We will look at each case——

Xr. Conyrrs. Doesn’t somebody read the magazines over there?

Mr. Srarems. If T may complete my answer—we investigate, con-
sidering the guidelines chat have been established for us by the De-
partment of Justice.




Moy. Conyers. What are they ?

Mr. Smyres. The guidelines are that the Federal prosecutive-
climate is to prosecute major obscenity dealers, to prosecute dealers.
in child pornography, to prosecute those dealers where we have
established an organized crime connection.

Mr. Coxysrs. Wait 1 minute. You cannot do that. You just read.
the magazine. It doesSn’t say, “produced by organized cririe.” I mean
you cannot make that judgment. But what do you do? We have got
hundreds of magazines, obviously lewd, obviously porno, mostly hard
core, some involving kids. You say you make an immediate investiga-
tion. You must have a file then of 2,000 or +,000 possible organizations:
that you are investigating.

Mr. Smyrrss. Not necessarily. We find that the major distribution
comes from only very few sources. We prioritize our investigations..
We first investigate complaints received from the public who have
received unsolicited advertisements or who have seen advertisements:
to which they object.

Mxr. ConversE. We have a record vote on the conference report on
the export-import amendments so we stand in recess for a few minutes..
Excuse me.

[A brief recess was taken.]

Mzr. Conyers [presiding]. The subcommittee will come to order,.
please,

Mr. Benson and Mr. Similes, we are grappling with the notion of’
of just what does the post office do when obviously pornographic:
material comes to your attention, which must be almost every day,
given the fact that the mails are loaded with magazines and ad-
vertisements, solicitations, clubs, and all the other activity of which.
we know.

Could you describe the procedure and the arrangements that yow
have with the Department of Justice in this connection, pleasc?

Mr. Bewsow. I think Mr. Similes can describe them best.

Mr. Smvmzs. Our procedure, first of all, Mr. Conyers, is that we
cannot see every piece of mail or the content of every piece of mail
going to the——-—

Mr. Conymrs. Could you move the microphone?

Bfl'. Styrries. T would like to describe the procedure first.

For obvious reasons we cannot see the contents of every piece of’
mail, so we cannot be aware of every piece of pornographic material
sent, particularly through sealed mail. We do recognize certain maga-
zines contain advertisements for pornography, and also some of that
pornography would not meet the legal definition of obscenity.

We do recognize these advertisments. We also review the complaints
we get from the customers which, incidentaily, have dropped from
over £30,000 in 1970 to less than 80,000 this year. Based on that re-
view, which is done by our inspectors in the field, we try to identify,
again based on judgment and training, the source of the material,
which would have to fall within the ambit of the gnidelines estab-
]1sh‘ed by the Department of Justice as a national major distributor..

The Department of Justice has asked us, informed us—we are in
daily contact—that we should focus v, attention from a prosecutive
standpoint on investigations of major dealers; we identify the neces--
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sary evidence through test purchases of material, if necessary, and we
then review each individual investigation with the Department of
Justice at national headquarters to determine the totality of the in-
vestigation—whether it has prosecutive merit consistent with the De~
partment of Justice policy.

Myr. Ranseack. Would you yield?

M. Coxvyers. Yes.

Mr, Ramssacs. May I ask you, if you can, to give us some nwunbers:
on successful cases that have been turned over, how many cases you
have turned over? In other words, if you can give us some statistical
breakdown, I think it will be very helpful to us. '

My, Sovroes. Yes, I can say in fiscal year 1976, we turned over for
prosecutive action and received 30 indictments against pornography
dealers and, as a matter of fact, we had 36 convictions during the same
fiseal year.

Attached to Mr. Benson’s statement is a chart relating to these
activities, If T may ask Mr. Benson, I will review that for the record,

The chart reflects that in fiscal year 1970 we had 60 indictments
and 14 convictions. These convictions do not necessarily relate to the
indictments of that year; they may be convictions of indictments forr
prior years, A

In 1971 we had 54 indictments and 238 convictions; 1972, 40 indict-
ments and 30 convictions; 1978, 27 indictments and 27 convictions; in
1974, 47 indictments and 82 convictions; in 1975, 49 indictments and
36 convictions; and in 1976, as I said, 80 indictments and 86 convic-
tions.

I can furnish the fines imposed, the sentences rendered, and possibly”
the estimated gross annual income for each of the prosecuted offenders:
per year. , :

Mr. Mimrer, Could we hear what the fines were? ,

My SZIMIL'ES. Would you like them individually by year or ar
average ?

Well, they were in excess of $65.000 in 1970; and-in 1971 there were:
$258,5688; 1972, $193,346; and 1973, $208,292; 1974, $270,482; 1975,
$289,780; and 1976, $137,498.

Mr. Mirrer. That is the total? -

Mr. Smyomes, Fines for those years in cases prosecuted under 18
U.R.C. 1461,

Mr. Miregr. That was total fines, so in 1976 you had 36 convictions,
you had a total of $137,000¢

Mr. Srvruzs. A total of 107 years in sentences consisting of prison:
terms, probations and suspensions were also imposed. ,

Mr. Mrrer., With business doing a gross income of $6.664 million?

Mpr. Soarries. That is estimated gross.

My, Mmrzr. Thank yon.

Mr. Cowyers. Now, if I might ask you, how many organized and
unorganized activities in pornography do you estimate are extant
about the country today %

Mr. Smormes. That 1s a diffienlt question. T would require a guess.
Obviously, we don’t know all of the activities. At one time, I believe
around 1968, we did an in-house veview, and, again, it had to he an
estimate ; and we thought that the pornography industry at that time
was operated by approximately 20 to 25 people around the Nation.
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Mr. Conyers. You ave suggesting organized crime?

Mr. Smarmes. Not organized crime, organized activities, big firms,
because the organized crime connectio: is a relative thing. Obviously,
Icouldn’t begin to guess that. )

Mr. Conyers. Do you know or suspect of the existance of organized
crime in pornographic activities?

Mr. Smaerees. We do, sir.

Mr. Convyers. Can you expand on that a little bit as to what extent?

Mr. Somrues. Again, I couldn’t guess as to what extent. We do have
some indication now and we know in the past there has been some.
We know there is some organized crime infiltration.

Mr. Coxvyers. Well, how many organized groups do you suspect
or can estimate are in pornographic activities in the United States
today?

Mr. Sovrces. I couldn’t answer that, sir; I don’t know.

Mr. Bewnson. I think when you say an organized group, there are
numerous enterprises which you might :erm a Mom-and-Pop-type op-
eration, and that could be an organized group, although it may be only
two people. But our prosecutive and investigative emphasis has been
on the major dealer types, and the figures that Mr. Similes has given
you are related to what we term major dealers normally doing several
million dollars business, They ave responsible for mailing to hundreds
of people, thousands, and in fact sometimes hundreds of thousands.

Mr. Conyrrs. How many of thom are there in the country?

Mzr. Bewnsow. Well, according to our estiinate—we can’t really tell

you—but there are probably 25 or maybe more major dealers in
operation.
. Mr. Smrzes. To be totally responsive to your question, Mr. Conyers,
n areas where we find child pornography, for instance, we do not
rely on inquiry into the fact as to what size the operation is; we in-
vestigate immediately and find out whether we can bring that opera-
tion to a standstill. That is part of the agreement with the Denartment
of Justice, that the size of the operation is not of the essence when it
comes to child pornography.

Mr. Conyers. How many such organizations are under investiga-
tion?

Mr. Starrzes. Thirteen,

Mr. Conyzrs. For their activity in child pornography?

Mr. Soarmres. Thirteen right now.

Mr. Coxvyees. Is that all?

Mr. Smrmres. Right.

M. Conyers. There must be more than 13, unless this flood of mage-
zines, film, advertising and activity that we understand to be going
on, it would be hard for me to think that there are only 13 groups of
any size involved in kiddie porno at this point.

Mr. Sovrrees. I didn’t say they were the only ones involved; I said
they are the only ones we know of and

Mr. Bexnson. That are using the mails. We should point out, of
course, our investigative jurisc?iction requires use of the mails. So if
vou are talking about an operation which avoids the use of the mails,
m other words, they ship it into this country outside the mails and
it is then transported by interstate transportation in some fashion
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and distributed over newsstands in New York City, the mails have
not been used and are not being used, we therefore have no investiga-
tive jurisdiction.

Now the FBI does have an investigative jurisdiction in intevstate
transportation, and if I remember My, Keeney’s testimony this morn-
ing, he said there was a total of about 20 cases of this type under
investigation and if ours are 13 theirs could be 7.

M. Conters. My final question, have you noticed any acceleration
in this kind of activity in the country ¢

Mr. Bexsow. We think we notice & definite ncceleration in the sale
of this type of material, yes.

Mz, Conyers. Then how did it drop in the number of complaints
you have received ?

Mzr. Bexson. The drop in the number of complaints is due to & lzu'gd

number of factors. We don’t, of course, separate our complaints by
type of fetish, that is heing complained about, just by the number of
complaints. You can’t ignore the changing mores of the country,
which obviously has had an impact on the dropping of complaints, as
well as the fact that since 1968, I believe, we can get the customer’s
name off the mailer’s list. Accordingly, he might complain one time
hecause he is receiving this unsolicited material, but when his name
is taken off the list, he doesn’t complain again because that was satis-
factory to him.

My, Conyers. Thank you. My, Jeffords.

Mr. Jerrorps. Yes. I believe maybe yor
lems hefore I was able to return.

I would like to get into the problems that you have. When we were
out on the west coast we had considerable evidence and ended up
with the officials kind of blaming the prosecutors and the prosecutors
blaming the judges and the laws and then we had the real circle as
to what the real problem was.

I wonder from your point of view, as far as Mr. Conyers pointed
ont, really removing this stuff or being effective in it, what is your
biggest problem, what do you face, is it the prosecutors, that they
don’t; pli?gecute the investigaticus, or what is your problem in doing

our job?
Y Mr.J Benson. I don’t think we can complain about the Justice
policy on prosecution provided its in a major dealer type of case.
Their policy is to avoid prosecution in the *Mom and Pops™ because
I imagine the manpower would be prohibitive,

I still go back to my original statement the definition of obscenity
is the major problem and this is why these cases are very long, they
are always appealed, there is very, very high-powered legal authority
on both sides, and the Issue is not as plain as many people would
like it to be. Obviously we do not fully understand what obscenity
is and the question is resolved in the courts in each case, and then
it is further resolved usually after several appeals.

Mzr. Jurrorps. In talking to law enforcement officers, I used to
be attorney general, I am concerned about doing the job rather than
passing the law. Out there their main problem seemed to be in this
area, one, of course the question you talked about, definition of obscen-
ity under their statutes, and the difficulty of enforcement, but also

vt into some of these prob-
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ever proving as to where the scene of the crime was, as to venue in
tleir case, whether it was in their district or county or city, depend-
ing on the enforcement officer, or whether it was even produced in
this country.

I wonder if you believe those are realistic problems that they are
discussing ?

Mr. Bexsox. Well, I think they are probably more true in some
of the other investigative jurisdictions. As far as we are concerned,
we have investigative jurisdiction if it travels through the mail,
and while this is sometimes a little difficult to prove, it is generally
simple because we do have a wrapper, we have the postage, and we
have the postmark, and so forth.

Mzr. Jurrorps. Let me get into the import-export situation. Do
you have any judgment what percentage of the material that is inter-
cepted as obscene is imported versus that domestically produced?

Mr. Benson. I am not sure. Maybe Mr. Similes can tell you what
percentage comes from overeeas?

Mr. Jerrorps. In rough general terms.

Mr. Saoes. I think maybe our friends in the U.S. Customs Serv-
ice may be able to answer that since they have primary jurisdiction
over imported mattor. We assume the judisdiction once the material
enters the commerce of the United States and enters through the
mail. However, we see foreign originated material by wrappers, by
advertisements, and so forth, by film, the nature of films, but as Mr.
Benson stated previously, we don’t categorize it.

Mr. Jrrrorps. Is it a substantial part? We might have to con-
sider amending the import laws.

Mr. Smrrces. I would suggest that in the 15 years I have investi-
gated obscenity cases, I would say the majority of the child pornog-
raphy I have seen in the mail was foreign originating. Not all of it
was mailed from overseas, some of it originated here and got into
the United States somehow.

Many years ago the source was primarily Canada. Of course, we
have seen importations from Sweden, and importations from West
‘Germany.

Mr. Jrrrorps. Now, the last question. Out on the west coast I sug-
gested to them and I suggested earlier, maybe you heard the previous
testimony, but in order to handle their problems of venue and age and
all, it was rather enthusiastically received, as assistance to them that
we require anyone that puts into interstate commerce anything that
shows a child in any sexual activity, merely to certify, not for any
screening purposes, but just to control the activity, a certificate set-
ting out the place of the filming, the names and addresses of the
participants, and the ages of the participants, of all those under the
age of 18.

Then, you would make it a violation to put anything into inter-
state commerce or in the mails which had not been so certified and
did not carry of copy of the certification of it.

T ask you as far as enforcement gaes if you were to intercept some-
thing which did not have a certificate on it whether that would be
easier to prosecute than it would be to prove the material was obscene ?

Mr. Bexsox. Not necessarily under the postal obscenity laws would
it be easier to prosecute.
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Mr. Jurrorps. I am talking about under statute which says you
are prohibited from mailing something which has a child in sexual
activities under the age of 18 without a certificate attached, and you
find something which has a child in sexual activity without a certifi-
ccation attached, would it be easier to prove there was no certificate
attached or would it be easicr to prove it was obscenc?

Mr. Bewsow. It would bo easier to prove there was no certifieate
attached, presumably.

Mr. Jerrorps. Then, of course, what we ave trying to do, there
are two ways we have to look at it. One, we want to help the local
prosecutors, the people in the abuse of the child, and probably the
most effective way we can do that is to prevent a market for the
material, either legitimate or illegitimate, and if we talk in terms
of black market, would it not be easier again to prove, if you find
somebody transiting this in the black market, either to prove the
crime of not having a certificate then the material would be obscenc?
Wouldn’t that be casier?

My, Bexsow. I would think so.

Mr., Srymes. T am not o lawyer and the Department of Justice
adequately covered some of the aveas, but I would suggest there might
be a problem area if you are granting immunity to the person that
cloes certify the film as you suggest and then mails something which
would be constitutionally not protected, obscene material. I am not
quite clear, are you suggesting that the only vemedy would be the
-certification, not the obscenity feature? Are you asking him to indict
himself by asking him to say I am mailing obscene material but
certifying? Obviously the answer is it would be much easier from
an investigative standpoint to identify the pevson for not register-
ing or not filling out the form or filling out a false form but T am
wondering if we wouldn’t have the legal problem which I could not
address.

Mr. Bewnson. In addition, if he filled out his form and correctly
stated everything, now vou have a sort of certified government mail-
ing ol obscene acts performed by children; but we are still back to the
original thing that you must now charge him with these abusive chil-

“dren pictures.
Mr. Jerrorns. The law as T envision it, you couldn't use this as any
evidence either way on it and certainly it is not certifying other than
‘the fact that you have named the participants and their locations, then
it wonld be up to the local prosecutors nsing that information, What I
would expeet it would do is drive them, at least realistically, it would
-appear in California what has happened now they are leaning on
them, the porno shops are saying we ave not going to handle any kiddie
stufl any longer hecause we can sell the adult stuff without fear of
prosccution, and if they were had, if they were worried about being
prosecuted for not having a certificate or there might be individuals
under the age of 18 they would say we won’t sell it and that would end
your market. '

Mr. Bexson. We would have to probably agree that this is some-
thing that should be examined.

Mv. Jerrorps. Thank you verv much.

Mr. Coxyers. Mr. Volkimer, Would you yield ?

Mr. Vorxner. I yield to the chairman.
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Mr. Coxyers. Gentleman, if our two subcommittees put together a
staff that brought together all of the easily available pormo material
that was transported in the mail, could you evaluate for these subcom-
mittees the status of the investigation and what activity was taken by
the Post Office and ultiinately the U.S. Attorney General’s office in re-
gard to each one?

Mr. Starives. We would certainly malke every effort to, of course.

Mr. Bexson. I will make any member of my stafl available to do
whatever possible we can from our files to provide you information
o1 to assist in showing the results of the various investigations at any
time.

Mr. Conyrrs. Very good, My, Volkmer.

Myr. Vorxazr. Fivst, I would Jike to say I appreciate your coming
here today and giving us your ideas and the factual matter and also
your cooperation, but there is one part I would like to specifically dis-
cuss about your testimony, and that is the statement on page 6 that the
greater part of this material appears to have originated in the foreign
market or to have been reproduced domestically from imported matter.

Now, I would like to know what information or factual data that you
have on which yon base that. I am not disputing it, I would like to
know niore about it.

My. Bewson. I will let Mr. Similes handle that because it is a sub-
jective thing to a certain extent and if we analyze it, we believe it is
reasonably correct.

Mr. Siaries. As I mentioned to Mr. Conyers, we do not keep separate
statistics. We do see here at the national headquarters all obscenity
cases that go for prosecution. We see certainly the major.y of the in-
dividual complaints of advertisements and ws base our conclusion on
the years of experience we have had, Mr. Volkmer.

M. Vorrmer, Was that based on the material that you have ohtained
through seizure as to the type of material and where it originated?

Mz, Smwnes. Not totally. Seizure is part of it, but primarily it's
based on advertisenents we have received.

Mr. Vorxmzr. In other words, advertisements that have been mailed
that you know about or what.?

My, Stvnes, No, advertisements that have been mailed from cither
outside the country or from within this country depicting the material
showing the foreign language, the features of the people, a review of
somse of the photegraphs, again a repetition of the same material seen
on different types of film.

My, Vorrmer. I see. We gather all that information and try to come
up to o reasonable explanation. It is a judgment call but it is your
judgment based on all of this that the majority or greater part, what-
aver, whether it ig 55 percent or who knows.

Mcr. Sraves. That s as we see it. .

Mr, VoLsmzer. You are not denying that also a great amount of it,
whether it is majority or minority, does originate 1n this country ?

Mr., Starees. Certainly, absolutely.

Mr. Vourarer. There is still a bit of it and some of it could he a dupli-
cation of that which originated in a foreign country.

Mr. Srarries. Positively.

Mr. Vorgarer. And brought here and they duplicated it.

2
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Mr. Bensox. They don’t honor copyrights or patents.

Mr. Vorsymer. I understand that.

Mu. Conyers. Mr. Kildee.

Mr. Kmpee. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

If in enacting legislation, reading your testimony, you have the
problem of proving interstate commerce, whereas your jurisdiction ap-
plies just to anything that is mailed, would you support then inclusion
of some language in addition to interstate commerce or mailed
through the U.S. mails that then would give you jurisdiction?

M. Bensox. Absolutely.

My, Krpes. So you would support that type of additional language
in this bill?

My, Bexsox. In fact, we would request it if you were going to have
this type of legislation to separate the use of the mails sufficiently from.
the interstate transportation, because the mails do not have to be used
interstate. »

Mr. Kxupee, There are wo handles we can get on this type of traffic.
One is interstate commerce and the other is use of the U.S. mail.

Mr. Bexsox. That is right.

Mr. Kroge. T appreciate your bringing that to our attention.

Asspming we were to do that, if we in some way were to create a
special clagsification of pornography involving child abuse, knowing
the courts and prosecutors, do you think that it would be easier to se-
cure a conviction in that type of pornography?

Mr. Bexsox. In child pornography 2

Mr. Krpee. Yes.

Myr. Benxson. Our experience tells us, yes, that that is reprehensible
to almost anybody who considers himself normal, and the minute you
gelijslit in front of a judge or a jury they are going to find this prosecu-
table.

Mr. Xrrpee. So it is much easier to get that type of prosecution than
say other types of pornography prosecutions?

Myr. Bensox. I think so. Would you agree with me?

Mr. Srymes. I would say so, particularly in view of the require-
ments espoused by the 4/7ller Court on community standards. I would
venture to say most forms of communities would find child pornog-
raphy reprehensible and pornographic in the legal sense.

Mr. Kmpee. You would be armed with greater tools if we were to
include the mailing through the U.S. mails irregardless of interstate
commerce, and you feel by getting a special category for child por-
nography that would assist you in getting prosecution in that area?

Mr. Soazves. Tt should possibly assist in getting a better climate for
prosecution for that particular matter.

My, Kxrpee. Thank you very much.

Mr. Bexsox. I might say what is permitted between consenting
adults and what is acceptable to be sent through the mails to a person
requesting it is somewhat different when it involves a child. I think this
is the area that most of us-ebject to the most.

Mr: Krupee. This is the extra obnoxious nature of child pornography,
is that right?

Mpy. Bexsox. That is right.

My, Conyers. Mr. Gudger.
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Mr Gonern. I have only tiwo limited questions.

I take it that your conclusion that a great portion of this pornog-
raphy, particularly the child pornography, is coming in from a for-
eign manufacturer, or foreign market, derives from your own experi-
encs in the use of the mails from foreign locations?

Mr. Bewson. That is correct.

Mr. Gopezer. Now, you have made no studies beyond what has actu~
ally been observed or handled by your postal investigation service in
those instances of using the mails for this import function, Have you
made any research independent of your mail use?

Mz, Bewsox. No.

My, Srarinms. Strictly in the course of our normal investigative
function. :

Mr. Guoeer. And you say we could effectively perhaps block this
mail importation by giving you authority to deal with that problem
by specific congressional enactment?

Mzr. Benson. I am not quite sure I understand what you mean,.
Congressman.

Myr. Guperr. The law that you are using now for your prosecutions
is triggered by a complaint by the addressee, isn’t that correct?

Moy, Srarmues. Not in all instances.

My, Guoeer. In what proportion of the instances have you actually
indulged in or instituted prosecution where you did not have a com-
plaining addressee?

M. Starmees. I couldn’t give you a quantifiable figure at this point
and I am not sure whether I could even develop one for you, But T
would say it is a 50~50 situation, Congressman.,

Mr. Gupeer. So when you see material that is obviously offensive,
and obviously violates these statutes, regardless of whether or not an
addressee has complained about receipt, you would still conduct your
investigation and proceed ?

Mr. Suarees. We would conduct one on the basis of advertisements
we have seen in a tabloid or in another periodical or magazine and, of
course, we would conduct one on the basis of customer complaints.

Mr. Gupeer. You are saying if we would give you authority to act
in what would appear to be patently a child abuse-type situation or
child obscenity or pornography-type situation, that you could act in—
dependently in that instance without an addressee? .

Mr. Smyrres. We can act without the addressee.

Mr, Bexson. We are an addressee. We make our own test purchases
many times and usually we have to do that even if we have a complaint.

Mr. Guneer. This is what T wanted to establish.

Mr. Bexson. Certainly.

Mr. Guneer. Now, clearly we can protect the use of the mails, the
international mails, from the importation and using our postal au-
thority to regulate, but we can also, I think, regulate any form of
import in foreign commerce.

‘Would you have any guidelines or suggestions you covld offer to us
in trying to raise a bulwark that would not only provide you with the
tools to deal with this import but would also allow all methods of
importation to he regulated?

Mr. Bexson. Well, it might be better if you made that inquiry of
Customs because they have the responsibility for reviewing all imports
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into this country. When these importations are made through the
mails, we malke the mail available to the Customs agents at the point
of entry. They, I think they will tell you, selectively review shipments
through the mail and determine whether its permissible to come into
this country.

Presumably, there could be all sorts of regulations in the Custom’s
procedures which would identity that mail, make it mandatory it was
identified, and make it mandatory it was certified or had some sort of
certification on it thatthe Customs could turn it back.

There is no doubt that they have the anthority to control importa-
tions into this country. When it comes through the mail, we make it
available to the Customs, we do not search it ourselves.

Mzr. Gupeer. Do you see any reason why we could not make subject
to immediate confiscation, any materials of an obscene or offensive
character that did not have certain declarations on the publications
themselves indicating where they had been published, by whom they
had been published and whether or not children had been used in the
publication and that sort of thing.

Mr. Brwvson. I think the constitutional question would still come
up. If you are talking about child abuse and child pictures, I think, of
course, my recommendation is to try anything to make an effort to
stop it.

llf you are talking about consenting adults, I believe we have a
number of Supreme Court rulings which would lend themselves toward
interpreting those proposed rules, but against children I know of no
specific case law.

Mr. Gooeer. Mr. Chairman, one final question.

I look upon our problem as a complex one and I don’t see that this
bill deals with the situation of foreign importation. That is why I am
pursuing this at some Jength. '

You say that this Congress clearly has authority to deal with for-
eign importation whether it comes by means of international mail, or
whether it comes through Custom’s regulation of our ports of call,
and you say that we can deal with it without any substantial constitu-
tional restrictions. Are you saying that?

Mr., Bensow. Well, recognizing I am not an attorney, nor is Mz,
Similes, we are investigators, I personally think that is correct and
we have had a nwmnber of Supreme Court rulings.

We have had one just recently which permits Custoins, again re-
establishes Customs right to stop and search almost everything coming
inte this country, if it 1s necessary. :

Mz. Gupeer. You certainly see no reason why we could not impose a
tremendous tax or import duty on any type of printed material com-
ing to this country meeting certain criteria as distinguished from abso-
lutely prohibiting such importation? :

Mr. Bensox. I know of no such prohibition.

Mr. Gupeer. You see no reason why we couldn’t do that?

Mr. Bensox. I would recommend we do everything possible. This
is an abhorrent and veprehensible trade, and I think anything that is
done by the Congress to-stop it is for the goed.

Mz. Gupcrr. No further questions. )

Mr. Cowyers. The gentleman from California, Mr. Miller.
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Before he begins his questioning could I ask him to assume the chair
as ranking member of one of the two committees here. I have amend-
ments pending on the State-Justice appropriation shortly.

[Mr, Miller assumed the chair. ]

My, Minrer. I have a couple of questions in light of what other peo-
ple have asked, and that is, first of all, is it correct to say it is your
testimony that you clo not wait for complaints to undertake an investi-
gation which may possibly lead to prosecution ?

Mz, Brxgox. We do not necessarily wait; that is correct. We can do
it either way.

Mr., Mitrer, ITow many cases did you initiate in the last fiscal year
without a complaint ; do you know?

Mr. Bexson. Noj; I don’t believe we have that information. We
don’t keep it in that kind of—wve don’t get our statistics down to that
fine a point. We could possibly search it out for you.

Mz;[: Mrruer. You only had 30 indictments. YWhat number of those
out of 30

Mz, Bexsox. We would have to go back and research those indict-
ments.

My, Mmrer. Is it half?

M. Bexsox. I wouldn’t be able to say.

]Mr. Starnes. I would say better than half based on customer com-
plaint,
: My, Miurer. Better than half based on your own investigations?

Mr. Smres. On investigation based on complaint by a postal cus-
tomer upon receipt of a piece of advertisement.

My, Mirrer. We can assume roughly 40 percent or something around
thera wera brought ?

My, Smarnes. Last yoar?

My, Mitrer. At your own initiative?

Mr, Stvives. Yes.

Mr. Mircer. Without a complaining party ?

Mr. Stroes, Approximately.

Mr. Bexsox. If you won't hold us to that statistic.

Mr. Minrrr. T am just trying to get some feeling.

You also don’t need a complaining party. It seems to me a reading
of 18 United States Code 1461 is that you are the complaining party,
that they have violated the mails, not necessarily the person who re-
ceives it at their home or business or what have you but the post ofiice.

Mr. Bevsox. The use of the mails is the violation whether a citizen
complains or not. ‘

Mr. Mrzrer. One of the witnesse who will follow you, Mr, Wooden,
has said in his testimony when he recently interviewed Postal Inspec-
tor Kurt Similes of the Washington, D.C. I/Enfant Plaza West of-
fice, about the progress of their campaign to clean up the mails, he
stated that no new postal directives concerning child pornography
have been passed on to employees and that they can only inspect and
investigate when there isa complaint.

That in fact is not true.

Mz, Soyacss. I had a telephone conversation with Mr. Wooden ; he
said he was from “60 Minutes.” He asked me what names could be on
the postal list. We talked about 89 United States Code 3010. I don’t
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conduct interviews by telephone and I said we do. I recall saying we
do investigate customer complaints. He said, “Will you investigate
customer’s complaints #” He asked “Axre you issuing any instructions?”
or words to that effect, are you issuing any new instructions with re-
gard to the investigation of child abuse pornography and I said, “No,
we are not issning any new instructions,” inasmuch as it is standard

operational procedure with us that when inspectors come across in--

formation, complaints, and advertisements dealing with child por-
nography, we would investigate them. '

It is nothing new, we have successfully investigated cases of child
pornography. In the last few years we have had two or three very sig-
nificant cases involving child abuse in the Texas area. We had a very
serious situation there and got some excellent prosecutions. So it is not
really new that we have to issue new instructions. That was the con-
text of my conversation. - .

Mcr, Mirrer. The purpose of my question isn’t to impeach anybody’s
testimony but to find out what, your MO is.

It would seem to me in this case, at least, from the evidence that we
have received in other hearings, that to deal with much of the ma-
terial that moves across the country, using children, and whers chil-
dren in our belief have been exploited or abused, does not necessarily
or even is directed at unwanted customers, it is directed at people wlho
wish to veceive it, the market is there, they either come into g store and
purchase it for $5 or they purchase it through the mails because they
want it.

So the next question would be you mentioned that in fact you have
been the purchaser, in some cases for the purpose of investigating. To
what extent do you use an undercover agent or open the mails to make
this kind of determination because these people aren’t going to com-
plain, they want the material ?

Myr. Bexsoy. Let me cover the opening of the mails because that is
a problem. , _

Mr. Mizrer. I would assume if this was offensive to Richard Nixon
you would open everybody's mail, but that is no longer true.

Mr. Benson. We have no authority to open any mail except by court
order or in the dead letter office when it is undeliverable.

We have the same authority that any other citizen has. The mail, the
seal of mail, has the highest integrity. We must obtain that mail
through a complaint or through our own purchases. We can open our
own mail. We don’t open anybody else’s mail.

Mr. Mmrer. Do you actively go out und seek to purchase this mate-
rial for the purposes of prosecution or investigation ? '

M. Suvrnes. Yes, we do, and to answer the second paxt of your ques-
tion, how do we come about knowing thatan individual is distributing
thig mail without receiving a customer complaint. There is one way
that we identify him without ihese complaints, and this is through
advertisements distributed by the purveyor of this material to our
test names. When we establish g test name, an undercover name under
which we make purchases, to establish the necessary evidence that a
mailing has occurred, it immediately goes on a mailing list and we re-
ceive advertisments to those test names from firms we have never
praviously encountered.

93-185~—77T—13
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One of those instances led to whe indictment, I spoke about earlier,
yesterday in San Francisco.

Mr. Mirier. Does that lead you to believe there is an exchange of
mailing lists between the sellers and production people of this mate-
rial? You sign up for one mugazine and all of a sudden that post
oifﬁlce box is inundated with other materials so there must be a selling
of lists. :

Mr. Benson. Certainly.

Mr. Mirrer. And transferring of names.

Mr. Sivzies. It is done through brokers.

Mr. Mmrer. Also, the question that you believe that there are prob-
ably 25 major organizations currently.

Mr. Sinrres. Approximately.

Mr, Miter. And on the questions of child pornography you said
approximately maybe 13.

M. Soarizas. We have currently under investigation.

Mr. Mizrmr. Currently under investigation. There may be more.
Can this committee draw from that inference that perhaps those 13,
while thai seems like a small number, may be engaged in rather diverse
and duplicative measures, that where they publish one magazine they
may publish five magazines under different names, and so forth. So
to say that 13 is not to deal with only 13 products?

Mr. Soares. No.

Mr. Mitier. You may deal with the whole range of products and
different mailing groups and different clientele?

Mr. Smirrues. You are right, not only product but different maga-
zines by the same firm. Reiterating on the case indicted yesterday,
there were two different firms involved by the same operator, they
used different firms but the same operation. So you are quite right,
it could be multiplicity in operation. There could be.

Another thing, T would like to finish to give you the full benefit on
this peint. A number of pornograply distributors, commercial pornog-
graphy distributors, do not zero in strictly on child pornography, they
try to cater similarly to the book store, to the entire trade. Con-
sequently, some advertisements feature the gamut of fetishes ranging
from what have you to what have you, including child pornography.
I would just like to add there is not a selective merchandising effort in
some cases.

Mr, Mizier. One final question. It seems to me I think perhaps
Mzr. Conyers is correct, that we who express such outrage at this prac-
tice in an official sense might direct our staffs to procure the various
complaints the witnesses have made available to this committee. We
had the lady from New York who brought a bunch of material in to
Mr. Conyers and started reading it and naming of names. She did it
again in New York. I think we ought to make an effort to procure
that material and make it available for you for the purposes of inves-
tigation because I think it also may show us the entire links between
these various organizations and also again, Mr. Wooden, who will
follow yau, lists 10 people that he is making a complaint against.

I think we also ought to procure that list and those materials and
make them available to you for an immediate investigation and anal-
ysis, because I think it would be very helpful in defining the types of
problems.
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I think Mr. Gudger is absolutely correct when he says we have a
very complex problem, we should form a select committee. We are
dealing with postal laws and custom’s laws and child abuse laws and
I don’t think that is the best way. I think perhaps we can use you for
a temporary focal point in giving us the kind of analysis and investiga-
tion of the size of the market that may be necessary to help us deal
with that situation. I think the staff should try to make that informa-
tion available to you. I want to thank you for your testimony.

My, Ertel.

Mr, Errer. Thanlk you. I have just a few questions.

You have 13 firms under investigation at the present time for dealing
in child pornography. Can you tell me approximately how many
children are involved in those 13 complaints?

Mcr, Benson. No.

Mr, Srvres. No; I couldn’t.

Mr. Errer. Have you made any attempt to try and determine how
many children were depicted?

Mr. Sovares. Noj the approximately 13 cases under active investiga-
tions are out in our field units and we have not attempted to identify
olr from this standpoint, counted the different childven that would be
shown.

Mr. Benson. If T might say, we do not have to identify the subjects
in the picture to show it is obscene and it is almost impossible to do so,
you don’t know where they are.

Mr. Errer. I don’t care what their names are. What I was trying
to determine is how many children were involved in the active cases
you had under investigation to give us some idea of the scope of what
we are talking about.

You have mdicated to us & lot of this material is of foreign origin
s0, therefore, we are obviously not in position to be protecting foreign
children with U.S. laws. We can only prevent the transportation of
material which is a result of that particular abuse. I was trying to
dotermine how many U.S. citizens or U.S. children would have been
involved in the things you were talking about.

The other thing, you have no authority to open in fact mail, and if I
am in the business of producing pornography and transporting it to
a retail outlet, I can ship that through the mail and there would be
very little likelihood you would be ablo to cither discern that is being
done or to investigate or prosecute; is that correct ?

Mr. Benson. We certainly could not do it by opening it because
we will not open it. However, we do answer ads.

Mr. Errer. I am talling about if I run an adult book store and I
am the person, I also have an outlet which makes this material, I am
delivering it through the mails to my adult book store, which is a
retail operation, you and the mail service have very little opportunity
to discern that is happening and to prosecute, is that correct?

§r. Benson. That 1s correct, and if it is going between consenting
adults, if it isn’t child pornography, even if it is

Mzr. Errer. So basically the only way you can in fact find out if
the mails are being used for this is through advertisements or through
the test name situation ?

Mr. Beyson. And through complaints.

The book store, of course, isn’t going to complain.
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Mr. Errer. The advertisement would be a complaint, so you have two
methods only. Do you have any idea how much of this stuff moves in
relationship to what moves through the mail in interstate commerce
through otfler means? We have other delivery steps other than the U.S.
mails, a tremendous number of them.

Mr. Bexsown. That is right.

Mr. Errer. Has there been any kind of relationship, do you have any
kind of relationship?

Mzr. Bovson. No information on that at all. )

Mr. Ertern. All right, thank you very much, I appreciate your com-
ment.

Mr. Miuer. Mr. Railsback.

Mz. Ramssack. Thank you, Mr. Chairmnen. ) )

How do you make a determination a¢to who may constitute a major
dealer? Is that done by guidelines from the Justice Department. If so,
what is that criterion ?

Mz. Bensoxn. Let Mr. Similes respond on that.

Mr. Smarrnes. No criteria is set by the Justice Department. We deter-
mine it by investigation. We generally identify basically who the
operator is, who the distributor is. Frequently we find that it is some
individual who has a nine to five job and buys three or four rolls of
film and sells them from his house We couldn’t consider that a major
dealer.

If you find a printing plant, distribution plant, or a business, then we
will look deeper. We try to get subpoenas for records, avail ourselves
of the grand jury system and try to identify the size and scope of the
operator, after we have seen the material and we ses the material is
basically prosecutable material.

Mr. Bensox There are some postal records, also mailing records. If
they mail under a permit, where we can determine how many pieces of
mail this person or firm has entered into the mail stream, or even if they
mail first class and use a postage meter of some sort, we can see how
many times we have set the meter and for how many dollars and deter-
mine the approximate number of mailings.

Mz, Ramssack. In other words, it is veally done on a case-by-case
basis, and, really, right now there are no guidelines to really help you
make a determination, you do it yourselves based on what you believe to
be a major dealer-type transaction ? Does the Justice Department also
go along with you or does it say this isn’t significant enough to consti-
tute a major case, or what has been your experience in that regard?

Mox, Benson. Well, I think it is varied and I don’t——

Mr. Ramseacr. Could I interrupt to say that the trouble that I have
with this occurs when you give us your listing of cases that are pending
or where there have been convictions or cases turned over it is not a very
sizeable number and I think a lot of us are probably inclined to believe
it is much more pervasive than that.

_ Mr. Benson. I think we don’t necessarily seek more explicit guide-
lines from the Justice Department to define what a major dealer is
because, for example, we would want to be able to step into and proceed
fTull tilt if & major dealer decided to fragment his operation to make it
appear as if it were a series of “Mom and Pop” operations, but in
actuality it was one dealer operating from several locations.
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Mr. Ramseacx. That bothers me.

Mr. Bensow, That is covered within our own procedures. We proceed
as if that isa major dealer.

Mr. Ramssack. How many cases has Justice refused to prosecute
which you have turned over toit?

Mr. Bexson. I dox't know if we have that statistic.

M. Smarues. Throvgh what time period would you be interested.

Mr, Rarseack. Let us say the same time period where you gave us
the record of indictments, convictions. i

Mr. Staes. We wouldn’t have that for that same time period.

Mz, Rarssack. How about the last couple of years?

Mr. Semines, For this fiseal year we might have it.

Mr. Ramssack. Just one final question. I gather that in response to
an earlier question. Mr. Benson, you would favor doing something to
make the laws o little bit tougher on importation from outside the
country, is that correct ?

Mr. Benson. Yes, sir, I would.

Mr. Ratrssack. I think a tax was mentioned. It wouldn’t necessarily
have to be a tax, would it ? It could be even more prohibitory than that?

My. Bewnson. It could be a combination of things. I would yield to
somebody with some expertige in this area, the Customs or Congress,
because it is not an area in which I have a great deal of expertise.

Mr. Mieer., Just two comments. You do not necessarily have to
respond.

First of all, I would be very concerned that we don’t use this issue of
somehow these materials are created in foreign countries and they are
imported to push the problem somewhere else. I think that there doesn’t
seem to be any doubt that there is o significant amount of materials
that is clearly within your jurisdiction.

Mr. Benson. We believe so.

Mr. Mmrer., And the use of the mails, I think, wnder very clear
statute in terms of abuse of the use of those mails, and, second, I will go
back to Mr. Wooden’s statement, what was your response there has been
no new directive? I think you would do well to acknowledge what you
see taking place in the Congress in terms of concern over this matter,
and certainly it would be the concern over which either lack of enforce-
ment or the failure to beef up enforcement in this area, would be what
you might consider an enhancement of the problem by the Federal
Government.

I think that the Congress is, as I view this issue, in vesponse to my
colleagues, very, very much concerned about this. You may very well
want to X-ray these hearings and your participation in them to agnin
look at your focus on the area of child pornography becatse what we
are really talking about is not simply that material but the abuse of
that child and the creation of that material. T think it so outraged
the Members of the Congress. That is not to say that your job is
an easy one, you can run off and focus on child pornography and let
the rest of the pornography and obscene material go. I think there
ig o clear expression of that kind of concern by these two committees
lzmd certainly by other committees that have possible jurisdiction

1ere.

And I think you will find it across-the-board and I think you would
do well to heed that concern.
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Thank you very much for your participation, I think you have been
very helpful to us in the definition of the problem. '

Our next witness will be Congresswoman Barbara Mikulski, from
Baltimore, for the purpose of testifying before the committee. Wel-
come to the committee.

TESTIMONY OF HON. BARBARA A, ¥ /KULSK], A REPRESENTATIVE
IN CONGRESS FROM THE <fATE OF MARYLAND

Ms. Mizurskr. Thank you, Mr. Miller, and members of the joint
committee. My name is Barbara A. Mikulski. I am a Member of Con-
gress representing the Third Congressional District of Maryland.
I am also a professionally trained social worker with a master’s degree
in social work from the University of Maryland. I have spent an ex-
tensive part ol my professional career as a child welfare worker in
the areas of foster care, child neglect, and child abuse, so I come be-
fore you today not only as a congressional colleague but as someone
who has worked extensively it the field that you currently have under
inquiry.

want to commend you for having these hearings. Ever since
“Sixty Minutes” did a program on “kidporn” my constituents have
voiced a continuing outery of rage about this particular subject. The
issues raised are not necessarily related to obscenity but to child ex-
ploitation and child abuse. What people are talking about when they
say, “Can’t you do something about that, Barb,” i1s thai they feel a
child, without free consent of his or her will or being able to consent
of his or her will, is being abused. o ‘

I would also like to point out I think the media attention and your
congressional activity has resulted in a substantial reduction of “kid-
porn” being available in the market. I would like to give a concrete
example. Prior to your hearings, I have evidence to believe that “kid-
porn” was widely available in an area of Baltimore City called The
Block. Now I know, of course, Members of Congress would not be
familiar with “The Block,” but it is i particular geographic arvea of
Baltimore given over to burlesque theaters, girlie shows, and other
things related to what in Boston would be called the combat zone.

In preparation for this hearing I sent two of my male staff members
up to “The Block” to see what they could buy or observe being sold
in the area of “kidporn,” over the counter and under the counter.

By the way, that was not a chauvinistic act on my part. I knew if
I went they would recognize me and wouldn’t sell it to me.

My stafl members went to virtually every bookstore of this type
on The Block. They could find no kiddie porn available either over
the counter or under the counter, either because the guys weren’t reg-
ular customers, or I think, yo':~ congressional jawboning and inquiry
hastaken it off the market.

I am a cosponsor of the Mu. phy-Kildee bill to amend the United
States Code to prohibit the sexual exploitation of children and I also
am extremely supportive of the proposud amendment to the Child
Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act which extends the definition
of child abuse to include sexual exploitation of a child by a person
responsible for the welfare of the child.
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I think those two pieces of legislation arve absolutely critical to
deal with the issue that we are talking about. ‘

First, I think what the Kildee-Murphy bill accomplishes is that
it malkes it a criminal offense to promote this activity and thus dis-
courages the porno procurers and parents who sre actually pimping
for their children from engaging in this kind of very lucrative
enterprise.

Second, by making sexual exploitation of children a form of child
abuse the question will be not whether the material is obscene but
whether the child has been exploited, thus removing the first amend-
ment; issue.

I would also like to posture another way for you to view this prob-
lem, what we are talking about are child labor laws. And just as
our predecessors maybe 50 or 75 years ago passed legislation to take
little kids out of coal mines and little kids of sweat shops, now we
need a child labor law to take Little kids out of smut mills and, I think
if we look at this as a violation of child labor laws it again takes the
edgo off the kind of constitutional issue. ’ .

However, as we pursue this course of investigation, it is my feeling
and experience that says that this is really the first of many steps thab
we are going to have to take, colleagues, because really what this is in-
dicative of in many ways is the whole issue that is coming into our
conscience as a nation, and that is violence in the family. It is my ex-
perience that children who have engaged in kiddie porn also have
engaged in child prostitution, which 1s growing in my own con-
gressional district. ‘ .

For example, we have a growing problem of teenage prostitution,
both male and female. Why? Because most of the children who are
engaged in this activity come from homes that are extrerely violent,
they are abused, either physically abused or sexuslly abused. They
either try to get out or try to run away. When they run away they get
into this type activity in order to support themselves financially.

Now, as we try to pass legislation I am sure that this will result
in children being removed from one unsafe and unsavory home; this
is going to take us into the whole issue of foster care. I would like
to recommend to your attention that the children’s defense fund re-
leased a report in April entitled “Children Without Homes: An
Txamination of Public Responsibility to Children in Out-of-Home
Care”, What the childen’s defense fund said frankly when it comes
to dealing with children, our public policies are fragmented, they are
scattered through in a wide array of Federal bureaucracies, and in-
stead of worrying about kids cur own Federal agencies and, there-
fore, our own State and local agencies get into turf warfare.

What I am saying is that as we try to deal with this issue, I am
not trying to stretch it too thin, first let us deal with the Murphy-
Kildee, Jet us deal with c¢hild abuse, but then we have to take the next
step to move into really taking a look at violence in the family, vad
in terms of physical abuse, battered spouses and then the whole issue
of foster care, adoption care, and then a wide range of child welfare
services. ‘

This is probably the first few steps of a journey of a thousand miles.
I am ready to go with you, and I commend you on conducting these
very thorough hearings.
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Thank you, I hope you find this information helpful in your work.

Mr. Muier. Thank you, Barbara, for your statement, a very force-
ful statement. I am happy to see that you took time to separate the
issues into symptoms and problems, because I think that no matter
how we deal with the issue of child pornography we sre dealing with
a symptom of something that is going on, & much deeper problem in the
American family. One of the concerns that I have over all of the
publici :r around the issue of child pornography is that we will create
even a worse image in the minds of those parents who might desire
us to seek help of their own image not come forward and its great con-
cern. to me because we heard testimony from a program in California
that deals with the problems of incest within the family where they are
able to get parents or children to come forward, they have recon-
structed 90 percent of the families they have dealt with, allowed those
families to remain together and move on to useful lives, and the con-
cern that we drive those people away because we create such a terrible
image again, and you are one of the few witnesses that has gotten
away, as we keep calling it, around the tip of the iceberg and gotten
underneath to where we really are in terms of needs of services to
families that simply cry out in help.

I think last year in California we had 53,000 families in crisis vho
were asking for help, affirmative steps saying help us, we want tv be
able to meet that need, and I think that some of what we see here,
other than the sheer crisisness of people who would ever get involved
in this business is also a symptom of what is wrong in the family.

Mr. Jeffords.

Mr. Jerrorps. I want to commenid you also on your statement, and
for the same reasons Mr. Miller stated, for getting at and pointing out
thie more basic problems and we have got to deal with the real problems
of sexual abuse especially where they occur in the family.

I wondered, I am thinking, I know Mr. Miller is thinking in terms of
trying to direct some funds in this area to see if we can accomplish
some things in the plysical abuse of children, but we find very little
has been done in the sexual abuse area.

California is the fivst State we found where anything had been done,
like they have had Parents United, which is the same as Parents
Anonymous, the only sexual abuse type thing. I wonder if we were
to appropriate or ask for an appropriation of more money in the area
what lind of programs you think it could best be spent on to deal with
in the areas of the real basic problems of sex abuse which are becoming
more expansive than we have in child pornography?

Ms. Mixurskr, Well, Congressman Jeffords, I feel for one, we need
to create a national climate for shusers to be able to come out of the
closet, if you will, and face up to their problems, because you can’t
participate in a hielp program unless that occurs.

Second, when we talk about providing funds, I think one of the
things we have to take a look at is to whom are we going to give
monle-y, and ultimately how is that money going to be spent at a local
level.

One of my concerns, and that is why I wanted to point out this is
such a difficult area, is that if we give it through traditional HEW
pipelines, I am not convinced it is going to get down into the local
community.
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I am not sure public agencies can really be helpful in this.

Coming from my own social work background, I worked in the war
on both public programs and voluntary social service sector, I believe
that the best way to help parents with families with this type of prob-
lem goes into the voluntary sector, the fund should be available to a
wide range of two types of organizations, No. 1, the United Fund type
of orgamzation, that has had a traditional, very thorough approach to
family problems and, No. 2, to those funds to help seﬁ'-help groups,
in the same way we see with child abuse and whatever.

I think, for example, one of the things we need to think avout might
be a toll-free hotline. Somebody calls up almost in 2 model and says
listen, T am scaved, I do these things to my kids and I hate myself, and
I don’t know what the heck to do about it. Then somebody could pro-
vide crisis counselling over the phone and say, look, in Baltimore there
is a Family in Children’s Society. They have a special program; you
are going to meet moms and dads like yourself, So when you think in
terms of Federal funding, let us think about where it is going to go.
T am o big believer that people who have the problem and are dealing
with it can be of great help to other people who are beginning to
struggle with the problem.

So that is why I am also saying as we think about funding let us
think about the voluntary sector and let us think about innovative wsys.
of going directly to self-help groups. I think they will start to
spring up.

Another thing that T would caution is that men;: people would tell
you we don’t know very much about the probler. ~ad that is true. We
clo need research, But one of the things that always happens whenever
these issues come to the fore, members of the committee, is that every-
body wants to study the victim and very few people want to get out
and help the victim, I think in both cases both parents and children
ave vietims in this. One of the things we need to do when we fund our
program, is to make sure it doesn’t become another continuing rip-off
program, whers they can study incestuous parents but the result is
treatment recommendations and then help to local groups who I think
have the will to help. i

Mzr. Jerrogps. Thank you very much. T would like to point out we
have done that very thing, reoriented the fund in the Child Abuse
Act. T certainly agree with ‘you if we do have additional funding for
sexual abuse we ought to take that kind of approach.

Thank you very much.

Mr, Mmrer. My, Gudger.

Mr., Guveer. Congresswoman Mikulski, I want to thank you for
your testimony, it has been most enlightening particularly to have
someone here who speaks from our own point of concern and also has
a backeround of social services experience.

I have had a rather substantial experience in trial practice. I have
prosecuted cases dealing with incest and have dealt with hundreds of
cases dealing with the problem of child placement, adoption, foster
homes and 1 tend to see these things from a lawyers standpoint. How-
ever, in my parb of the country we see very little of sexual abuse in
our courts. We don’t see & child as the victim of a sexual gbuse situa-
tion but very, very rarely. And incest cases develop rarely into the arvea
where the courts can deal with it. Maybe you are having & different
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experience in a more urban area. I would like to know dg-you have
actual case documentation, of extensive child abuse situations involv-
ing sexual assaults upon children in the Baltimore area or any other
urban area where you have experience or knowledge, and particularly
has your own social service experience brought you in touch with any
of this type of child abuse that——

Ms. Misurskr. My own experience did bring me into this type of
experience, but let me tell you the way it was handled, which goes to
the heart of being an attorney, is that where there was actual physical
abuse of the child. As you know from your child abuse activity, where
you could see the kid has bruises on his or her arm or burns, all the
obvious marks that have clearly provided evidence for prosecution,
then that is where those cases were predominant. However, what hap-
pens if you are a victim of sexual abuse that only comes out very often
after the child might be in foster care when she says my daddy did
this or my mommy did this, or my stepdaddy did this, and so on. But,
u .ally when I get into types of this activity, unless it was actually
forceable rape, tTle evidentiary material is not obvious. The child, he
or she, feels guilty about having engaged in this act so somehow or
other they feel that they have been bad.

Now somehody says my daddy beat me, my momrny beat me, here is
my broken arm. That is very different than describing a sexual en-
counter with the parent or stepparent, which is also an incredible
problem. So the children don’t feel free to express themselves. There
is guilt, reluctance, shame, inhibition in that area. When we would
go inte court on a child neglect basis, specifically culpable neglect to
be able to remove children, in Maryland we separated culpable neglect
from nonculpable. In some instances there was neglect in the family
out of circumstances that might have been related to poverty or an-
other problem we really do not in many instances prove in a court of
law because you got into my stepdaddy did this, and stepdaddy said
no, and other than where the rape had occurred there was no——

Mr. Gupeer. So you have a very limited am<nt of judicial experi-

ence up there in child abuse cases?
. Ms. Mixurskr I have had experience in trying to take these things
nto court but I can tell you No. 1, the victim does not want to say I
am the victim, and No. 2, it is very hard to prove because unless there
1s rape there——

Mr. Gupeer. One final question, if we put a bill like this on the books
aren’t we going to encounter the same difficuity in enforcing it that we
already ave encountering in child. abuse situations in enforcing our
statutes prohibiting contributing to the delinquency of a minor, which
is, I think, in many States a metl.od whereby a parent is deprived of
custody of a child and. the child is placed in a foster home where there
has been some abuse situation, either sexual or otherwise.

Ms. Mmorskr You know, I think that with the law, the opposite
will oceur because somehow or another where wives and children are
concerned there is still the attitude that that is personal property, that
this kid is my property and I can do anything I want with this kid.
There is an attitude that somehow or other in the home anything goes,
because it is in nmy own home. I think that when we begin to change
the sexual child abuse law, the child abuse laws in terms of physical
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and sexual abuse, what you are really saying is anything really doesn’t
2o and bacause it goes on in your own home that doesn’t make it right
and that that kid is not & frisbee to be thrown up against the wall.

But I think only experience will tell us whether we are doing good
or putting it deeper in the closet. I am saying let us try it, if it doesn’t
work then we certainly haven’t made the situation worse.

Mr. Gupeer. Thank you, My, Chairman.

Mr. Mizcer, Mr, Kildee. ,

Mr. Kroes. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Congresswoman Mikulski,
T appreciate your support not only today but your support in the last
months on this bill. You made a statement which I will concur with,
there has been substantial reduction of child porn since the 60 Minute
show and the introduction of this bill, and that is true. While out in
Los Angeles we went to some of the porn shops with the LAPD and
they would ask, LAPD would ask do you have any porn, kidporn?
No; we are not going to handle that stuff, there is a new law making
me an accessory to child abuse. The fact we introduced a bill has had a
chilling effect upon that.

I think if it were really on the law books it would certainly deter
that one area of pormography which results from child abuse, and
thut is really what we are trying to get at.

I :ink there are two reasons to produce child pornography. One
is a sexnal persuasion toward children, and that requires treatment,
but the other is profit, human greed, two human weaknesses there.
If we can take out or diminish somewhat the profit, we are going to
somewhat control some .. ¥ that, one of the reasons for child porno-
graphy. But I think you are really right, the first part of 6933 which
I attempted to amend has another chapter incorporating the langnage
of this bill. :

The bill introduced by Mr. Brademas really addresses itself to the
child abuse prevention and treatment and I think we have to do that.
The problem is the Congress. The Congress is good to authorizing
great problems and then not funding them. Next year, for example, we
will authorize under Mr. Brademas’ bill $25 million, which may be
used for private agencies and will really give some help, but last
year I think we authorized a similar sum and the Congress appro-
priated much less than that. I think that is the problem I think we have.

If we really think our kids are important in this country we have
to spend some money to protect them. o

I voted several weeks ago to take about $2 billion away from the
Pentagon budget and I can find a good place to spend that money
to protect our children. I think that is very important.

But X think the whole problem of alienation in our society is some-
thing we have to really kmow more about, see how we can handle that,
and violence in the family.

Some of the childven that we came across in Los Angeles who were
runaways, really had very little option except to run away, the family
life was so bad that this was really a way to escape something that
was unbearable.

So I would hope that the Congress in addition to passing laws like
this would fund our authorization bills to assist the family and assist
those families where violence does exist, and not only sexual violence
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but all types of violence which leads to children being alienated from
their family and running away, and I would hope that, I know you
will be a leader in that, and X just hope when the Congress gets down
to appropriating money for 6938 that its appropriation will be in line
with the authorization,

Mr. Micner. Mr. Ertel.

Mz, Errer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Congresswoman Mikulski, I enjoyed your statement. I have a couple
of questions I would like to ask you.

No. 1, you have had experience obviously with the laws of the State
of Maryland in relation to child abuse which you basically were talking
about. Are tlose laws adequate in the State of Maryland to take care
of the problems within the State of Maryland in relation to child
abuse in this type of problem in your judgment? Do you have a con-
tributing to deliquency, corrupting the morals of a minor? )

Ms. Mixurskr. Yes, sir, we have a wide range of categories within
State law, both relate to neglect. In some instances we don’t go directly
to the child abuse but we go to something called children in need of
supervision where a petition may be filed in juvenile court in behalf
of a concerned party saying this child needs supervision. It might be
that that child needs supervision outside of his or her home. That
could be, for example, filed by a school authority for a problem of
chronic truancy by a public health nurse who sees these things, or a
variety of other things.

Mzr. Errer. Neglect, that come within it if a child is being neglected
either physically

Ms. Mixvrskr In Maryland, there were really as I remember two
types of negligence. One is culpable and the other is nonculpable negli-
gence. Nonculpable negligence would come under the category of the
children in need of supervision. That might be where a kid is absent
from school but mommie is in the hospital and dad is a car washer and
there is no homemaker service and the whole family is in disarray.
‘What they really need is some kind of structure to help them straighten
out theiv family and the child doesn’t have to be removed because there
is good will on the part of the parent toward its own child.

ulpable neglect 1s where there has been actual abuse of the child
and willfull exploitation of the child.

Mr. Errer. I guess that brings me to my next question then, your
statement here. Do you feel that the Federal Government should enact
legislation which would either usurp or supplant that State legislation
or is it better that that be handled at the State level where it is more
of a personal, closer relationship than what I tend to think of the
Federal Government, being very impersonal, very standoffish? Aren’t
we better trying to deal with this more on a local level?

Ms. Mirurskr. Well, I think the problems need to be solved on the
local level and it will be worked out in local courts, it will not neces-
sarily end up in Federal court. However, when you get to the issue
of kiddie porn:

Mr. Erren. The transportation, I think. I was just directing myself
to the child abuse end of it without getting into pornography and
transportation.

Ms. Mixurser. I would have to carefully consider a preemption
clause, Congressman Ertel, but one of the problems is that I am not
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familiar with all of the State codes, nor their adequacy, nor their
sense of urgency on this issue. ‘

Mr. Brren. Well, I guess that brings me to my final question. You
talked about funding a voluntary agency like United Fund. And if
in fact we get the -Federal.Government giving money there, then
if we are going to go along with the Federal Government giving
money, we are going to go along with restrictions by the Federal Gov-
ernment, and we are going to have Federal control. I have some
question whether or not the Federal Government wants to get into
funding United Fund. They are a charitable organization. In my judg-
ment, at Jeast generally from what I have seen they have done an
excellent job.

In my area we have a hotline funded by a charitable organization. I
am sure we don’t want the Federal Government in there.

Ms. Mazrurskt. They are already in it. For example, there is Federal
support for programs like meals on wheels, family in children society.

Mr. Errer. But it is not directly to the United Fund as an agency?

Ms. Mixurskr I am talking about agencies within the United Fund.
First of all, they tend to have a legitimate record of service in the
community. I am really talking about the local family children soci-
ety, I am talking about a consortinun of services, perhaps Catholic

charities, Jewish charities, Lutheran social services, who sometimes

form a consortium.

Mr. Mirer, They arve agencies that get money?

Mr. Errer, Yes.

Ms. Mrgurski. They do receive Federal funds.

Mr. Errer. I hope we are looking at United Fund and those things
as voluntary.

Ms. Mrxorskr. I am not talking about——-o

Mr. Errer. That function without getting the Government in
there telling them how to run it. :

Ms. Migursgl. 1 am also saying that I don’t think that Federal
funds should ever be the total support of local charitable and volun-
teer organizations. That is what provides the vitality and commit-
ment to doa good job.

Mr. Erter. I think once we get down to the basics I think we are
much more in agreement. I was worried about the broader sweep..

Mz, Mirzer. Mr. Railsback. ;

Mr. Ramspacs. Yes, I, too, would like to commend and thank you
for what I think has been very helpful. May I ask you, based on your
experience, do you know of any instances where somebody acting as
a legal guardian or a foster parent has abused or exploited a child?

Ms. Mrxurskr Yes sir, it 15 with a great deal of pain that I have
to say that in my experience as a child welfare worker this has oc-
curred with a stepfather, primarily, and not so much the stepmother,
and then in foster care situations. ' _ :

Mr., Errer. What, if anything, do you think we can do about that?
Would that more properly be left to the local people?

Ms. Mrmzurskr. I think that is done by the local people through
more screening of applicants for foster care. '

Mr. Brree. I think that is all Thave.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Mrier, Thank you, Congresswoman Mikulski.
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Our next witness is Mr. Ken Wooden, who is an author and also
an investigative reporter for CBS “60 Minutes.”

Mr. Wooden, sometime ago a book, “Weeping in the Playtime of
Others” which was a rather dramatic exposé unfortunately rather ac-
curate, of the problems of institutionalization of children in this coun-
try, and it is sort of with special thanks that I welcome him here
today. It was almost 214 years ago that Mr. Wooden and I and
a lot of other people sat in this room, and there were only 12 or
13 of us, talked about what we could do about institutionalization of
children, and also I think it is related to this hearing because in terms
of the runaways much of the problems we have we don’t have alterna-
tives for these children and I would like to tell Mr. Wooden just on
my own behalf 214 years later on Monday or Tuesday of next week
this House will vote on HL.R. 7200, which will dramatically change the
foster care system in this country and hopefully never again will the
accounts that took place in your book happen, and if we are going to
move a child out of his home or out of a relative’s home there is going
to be a showing that it is to the benefit of the child and not to the con-
venience of the State, as you so clearly depicted in the issue of banish-
ment and overinstitutionalization of children. I welcome you and
look forward to your testimony.

TESTIMONY OF XENNETH WOODEN, DIRECTOR, NATIONAL COALI-
TION OF CHILDREN'S JUSTICE, WASHINGTON, D.C.

Mr. Woopex. I thank you and I commend you, Congressman Miller,
for hanging in there during that long period of time. ‘

I thank the committee for letting me come here and express my
views.

Before I forget, I do want to comment about foreign mail and
foreign pornography coming inte fiyis country. I would like to cau-
tion the Congress from making foreign interests the culprit in all
kiddie porn in America. We found when I was working with CBS
on the “60 Minutes” program that there are mail forwarding services
in this country and out of the country. We ordered some material, I
think it was from Denmark and the postmark on the material we
received was Washington, D.C. Now, I think it would behoove the
~ committee and some of your investigators to go and see how many of
the acdresses in Copenhagen and London are truly porno operations
g‘ d?:imply mail forwarding services to this country, because we did

1d one

In October of 1976, with the support of the National Coalition for
Children’s Justice and following the arrest of Rev. Bud Vermilye for
running a porn operation from his Boys’ Farm in Monteagle, Tenn.,
I began an extensive investigation of children’s sex and pornography
throughout the United States. Reverend Vermilye contacted me as a
result of my appearance on the Today show and my book, Weeping in
the Playtime of Others. He requested assistance from me in obtaining
a boy from the State of Tennessee. His publicity, which I now make
available to this committee, proved to be extremely interesting after
his sexual exploitation of children came to light.
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My investigation lasted 9 months—actually, it still continues—
thanks to the cooperation and trust of police departments, social
workers, district attorneys and the children we all profess to protect.
In January of this year, I collaborated with CBS “Sixty Minutes” on
the program, Kiddie Porn, which was aired May 15. That program
was the visual results of an investigation which took me into the fol-
lowing States: California, Washington, Colorado, Texas, Nebraska,
Kansas, Louisiana, Iowa, Illinois, Tennessee, Michigan, Virginia,
Georgia, Florida, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, New York, Rhode Island,
and Massachusetts.

Child sex and pornography is an interrelated, massive industry, a
deeply rooted phenomenon in our society that has insidious ramifica-
tions for every child and concerned parent. We now know it is not
simply a multimillion dollar film-picture industry with distribution
and related activities centered in large cities and their adult bopk
stores. Instead, the largest bulk of kiddie porn is “brown bag” mate-
terial (homemade) (see exhibit A and B)—inexpensive 8 millimeter
film, sound cassettes and 35 millimeter home processed photos, along
with magazines and ad letters.

We also find men (mainly)-—chicken hawks—preying on the young
(chickens) in small towns in Maine, Oklahoma, Colorado, Texas, Flor-
ida, et cetera, and in organizations once thought safe by parents—
Boy Scouts, private schools, summer camps, church groups, children
homes, et cetera. No child is safe from these adults who reap sexunal
as well as financial gratification from their vietims. The material pro-
duced from their exploitation, like a stick in a stream, is swept into
the interlocking streams of post office boxes and finds its way to the
delta of national distribution.

I am convinced that the use of adult book stores as outlets for child
pornography is but the tip of the distribution iceberg: The vast bullk
is carried through the mails. I have read scores of letters exchanged
by adults across this country which document my premise. The follow-
ing are portions of three letters, the first from a convicted Boy Scout
leader in New Orleans:

* * * Very good on Nelson's comment on young girls * * * sure would enjoy a
home-made movie along those lines. Does he have any slides or pictures of an
(undecipherable) ? Sure would enjoy seeing some. * * * T have decided to loan

vou and Dave and Church movies * * * please return within a week * * * and
I hope sincerely it will inspire you to make a movie there to share with me,

A second letter:

Houey I am glad that you like the dark room equipment I sent fo boys farm.
I knew they could make good use of it.

A third letter-ad:

Special attention * * * Couple, experienced niovie and still photographers,
would like to hear from families and especially childven for discreet documentary
film and for still shots * * * we love children.

T would like to comment here on the role of the Federal Bureau of
Investigation. On May 8, the Chicago Sun-Times carried an article
stating that the FBI “Is attacking Kiddie Porn” and that “the flow of
child porn (there) has slowed to a trickle * * *7 Mr. Chairman, that
simply is not so and never has been the case. During the crucial period
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of piecing together the national child porn scandal, the IBI stood far
removed from local police departments and their own integrity, as
city and county law enforcement officers tried to cope with a national
investigation without national resources. Many police departments
could make only collect long distance phone calls. Los Angeles’ Chil-
dren’s Sex Abuse Unit, a special division headed by Sgt. L. Martin,
told me they lacked the proper equipment and cars to fight the rising
epidemic of child porn in that city. FBI agents walked out of a meet-
‘ing in Boston between Massachusetts and Louisiana police and never
returned. Without exception, every police department or district attor-
ney I worked with voiced combined frustration and bitterness wlien
the FBI’s responsibility was discussed.

During this past winter, as the story was being put together like a
massive picture puzzle, the chief spokesman for the FBI in Washing-
ton, D.C., Mr. Thomas Coll, told Christian Science Monitor reporter,
Robert Press, that they lacked the jurisdiction to intervene in child
pornography unless it occurs on an Indian Reservation, which only
then makes 1t a Federal offense. Since sexual abuse of children isn't a
Federal offense, the FBI maintains no separate statistics on its fre-
quency and according to Mr. Coll, he “(doesn’t) think such data would
be available anywhere.”

Because the Federal Bureau of Investigation lacked the interest
and/or will to help local law enforcement agencies on this issue, the
National Coalition for Children’s Justice acted as a national resource
investigation center for both police and district attorneys. I respect-
fully submit to the Congress, however, that the modest budget of the
NCCJ can no longer carry the FBI because they are heavy—heavy in
the knowledge that they lacked the foresight to combat a hideous crime
against children. Because of their irresponsibility, untold numbers of
children are currently enduring sexual exploitation that all decent
peoples abhor.

Child porn has not slowed to a trickle. As recently as 2 weeks ago,
the outlet I have been monitoring through the mails was very much like
a mountain stream after winter snows have melted—a flood of filth,

“overflowing the banks of post office boxes, credit companies, and bank
accounts. There is nothing you can’t obtain via the mail with your
Master Charge and/or Bank Americard (exhibit C)—from hard core
kiddie porn (age 4 to 16) to actual sex with the child model of your
choice. (Exhibit D and E). And all this goes unchecked by postal
authorities with their effective laws that are not enforced and ineffec-
tive ones that are enforced.

Let me cite four examples:

One. I requested, by mail, child porn material from 40 different dis-
tributors. Three of my letters were opened and returned by the post
office with the following reply:

Dear Posrar, CustoMmer: The enclosed letter was undeliverable as addressed
and contained no visible return address. This accounts for the delay in return
and the 20 cents service charge. It is suggested that you place your complete
address, including ZIP Code number in the upper lefthand corner on the front
side of envelopes mailed in the future.

“Liym P. Leg, Postmaster,”

Two. Rules for use of Post Office boxes state: “Post Office boxes or

caller service may not be used for any purpose prohibited by postal
regulations.”
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I believe enforcement of Postal Law Title 24, section 1461 : “Mailing
Obscene or Crime-Inciting Matter” (see exhibit F) could succeed in
cleaning out, the neglected work of postal authorities whose Post Of-
fice boxes provide a haven for photos and films of children who most
certainly will be destroyed for life.

Three. A person receiving porn mail can fill out postal form 2201
(exhibit &) which requests that they “not receive sexually oriented
mail”. All such names are compiled on a monthly master list which, in
accordance with Postal Law Title 39, section 8010 (exhibit F) is sold
by the Postal Service to smut distributors—if they wish to purchase

and/or honor them! I leave the logic and effectiveness of such a statute

with you to ponder. :

Four. When I recently interviewed Postal Inspector Kurt Similes of
the Washington, D.C. L'Enfant Plaza West Office about the progress
of their campaign to clean up the mails, he stated that no new postal
directives concerning child pornography has been passed on to em-
ployees and that they can only inspect and investigate when there
is a complaint.

With that knowledge, therefore, Mr. Chairman, for the kids we are

" charged to protect and on behalf of the National Coalition for Chil-

dren’s Justice, I would like to make a formal public complaint against
the following groups, companies and people who may be in viola-
tion of postal lavs as defined by the Congress:

One. The Broad Street Journal (The Best & Most Popular Personal
Ad Listing Service), P.O. Box 337, Milliken, Colo. 80543 (exhibit I).

Two. Boy Studies, T'imely Books & Overstock Book Co., 519 Acorn
St., Deer Park, N.Y. 11729,

Three. T.B.C. (Teddy Bear Club), P.O. Box 91, Sinclair, Maine
94109 (exhibit J).

Four. Team, 1255 Post Office Street, Suite 625, San Francisco, Calif.
94109 (exhibit K).

Five. Hermes, P.C. Box 802, North Chicago, I1l. (exhibit L—tape
cassette of a house parent seducing a boy in & boys’ home. Instructions
on how to infiltrate Boy Scouts, church groups, etc.)

Six, New World Sales, 7247 Eccles, Dallas, Tex. 73227,

Seven. (G, Box 85417, Hollywood, Calif, 90072. :

Eight. Club-F'W, 216 W. Jackson, #6121A8, Chicago, I1l. 606086,

Nine. Hollywood Color, Box 27932, Hollywood, Calif. 90027..

Ten. Mrs. Ingrid Johannsen, P.O. Box 924, Houston, Tex. T7001.

‘While most agree that child sex and pornography is basically a boy-
man phenomenon, I still believe that the victims of the most outrage-
ous and hardest core porn I have encountered are the young girls being
raped day by day in city and county jails across the country. It is a

. fact too that Chicago girls in summer camps have been used in porno
films and still pictures. And tragically, many social workers have

simply given up on the frequency with which young daughters and
foster eare daughters are used as sexual playthings by poorly chosen
foster parents or real fathers with serious icest problems. It is a prob-
lem that neither child nor parent can handle or cope with. .

‘What can be done? I have been out of the country for the last week,
so hope I will not go into what has already been discussed. However,
I so want to stress four areas that have been lacking in testimony 1
have followed to date: :

931857714
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One. Children need protection. The U.S. Justice Department should
organize within its agency a Child Protection Division as soon as pos-
sible, comprised of eriminal and civil rights lawyers and newly trained
FBI agents to investigate the criminal and civil exploitation of chil-
dren. Adults who have traditionally abused children must know the
long arm of justice will begin protecting our most vulnerable re-
source~—American’s youth.

Two. No organization, and that includes churches and their affili-
ates, should be free from filing financial records and reports (IRS
form 990) for the public vecord. Without this basic information, kids
aro at the financial and sexual mercy of their keepers. Those who are
honest do not resent the light of public sunshine laws.

Three. Fingerprinting and fingerprint checks should be made man-
ditory Federal laws. The Privacy Act should be amended to exclude the
criminal sexual crimes against children by adults seeking employ-
ment that involves the young. A personal note: Before I started col-
lege in 1958, I classified fingerprints for the New Jersey State Police.
Once a week I checked prints of adults seeking work as school bus
drivers. I always “caught” six to eight people with long criminal rec-
ords of sexually molesting children. That method of sereening in New
Jersey was certainly a safeguard. Now, bowever, because of the Pri-
vacy Laws, a Boston school bus driver’s record, dating back to 1950
(a total of 11 years in jails, institutions and hospitals for sexual
crimes) was not sereened until he had added another 12-year-old boy
and 13-vear-old girl, both retarded, to his growing list of rapes.

Four. Mos: important of all, many of the kids which we interviewed
for “Sixty Minutes” were either recently released from institutions
or had run away from home and themselves. With an average 3d grade
reading level, rejected for employment by a labor market whose un-
skilled jobs have diminished from 17 percent in 1960 to 5 percent in
1975, and void of dreams of a future, they become prey for child porno
businessmen or sex offenders, because this country has never been will-
ing to cross the last frontier of human rights and opportunity for its
childven. '

Do not, Mr. Chairman, pass a porn law and forget about the basic
needs of America’s kids today. If you do, I fear this country, like
the community of ‘Waukesha. Wis., will be forced to repeat the child
sex scandal of 1977 - +ith still another ten years hence. If however, this
Congress and new adininistration will make children a true priority,
the lines of D. H. Lawrence will have renewed meaning for them:

“Not I, not I, but the wind that blows through me
] A fine wind is blowing a new direction of time.
If only I let it bear me, carry me; if only it carry me!
If only I am sensitive, subtle, oh, delicate, a winged gift,
If only, most lovely of all, I yield myself and am borrowed
By the fine, fine wind that takes its course
through the chaos of the world = » =

Omne very, very last point, Mr. Chairman. After this testimony I am
going to be looking at the very interesting congressional hearings in
the 1950s, congressional hearings on the very subject, congressional
hearings that discussed & ring of porno operations and a ring of sex
abuse around the United States. It is going to make very interesting

W
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reading because I am afraid we are recycling a scandal and until we
really get tough and until we go after those exploiting children and
until the Congress makes children the priority, I am positive we will
have another hearing on this 10 or 20 years hence.

Mr, Mo e, Thank you.

Mr. K.cpez [now presiding]. Thank you very much.

You indicated that you wanted to formally request to file a formal
complaint against certain groups with the U.S. Postal Service. Have
you done that directly?

Mr. Woopex. Well, in writing, after today’s hearings, positively
to the postmaster.

Mr. Kroze. You have done that ¢

My. WoopeN. We will have after the hearing today.

Mr. Xrpege. Very good.

Mr. Ertel.

Mr. Erren. Thank you Mr. Kildee.

I was interested in your comment that most or a great percentage
of this is brown bag porn. How in fact do you suggest that the Con-
gress attack that?

Mr. WoopeN. I think under child abuse.

Mr. Errer. But we have to have jurisdictional hook. That is within
the State prerogatives as long as they stay within the State lines.
Do you have a suggestion as fo how we approach that, possibly ask-
ing Justice to draft a tniform statute which could be enacted within
each of the States?

Mr. Woopex. T am not a lawyer, Mr. Congressman, but I do think
if you tighten up legislation dealing with child abuse and make it
a very serious offense to photograph a child and then sell the photo-
graph, like the good minister was doing in Tennessee, it would help
to curb that. Two, I really think that the Post Office should clean up
their act, .

I have a brother who worked with the post office. I used to work
for the post office at Christmas time. They know what comes back on
return to sender mail. They know the material that is coming back
and they can clean up their P.O. boxes. I think to really help on the
brown bag aspect of it, the postal authorities should really tighten
up on who is taking out the P.O. box number. We have found with
“Sixty Minutes” that the distributors would hire winoes, people
like that, to be the front for the P.O. box number, and the real owner
was removed several times back. .

I think the post office could become much more secure and more
aggressive in this area than they have.

Mr. Erren, What you are saying, basically, is that there is a lack
of priorities within the law enforcement establishment?

Mr. Woobex. Yes, sir.

Mvr, Erren. Which is basically within the executive branch of Gov-
ernment.

Now, we can enact laws here, we can emphasize that we want a
change of priorities in their enforcement, but I don’t think we can
correct. I think that is beyond our power. .

Mr. WoopexN, I disagree to a point because if there is fingerprint-
ing of people that work within public and private facilities where
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children shall be kept at public expense you could screen out a lot
of people who are into this activity. You could screen out a lot of
people. How are we going to protect the children?

Mr. Errer. I prosecuted a lot of these people. I prosecuted a man
who was active in scouting movement who was a chicken hawk. I
have seen a lot of this. I prosecuter. an individual who was making
pornographic pictures in his home of youth. Now I convicted them
under State laws.

I question whether the Federal Government has the authority under
the Constitution to enact statutes which could have reached those
individuals in the brown bag context, which I happen to think is
much more devastating than we let on in the United States. The
slick purveyor, probably there is a much smaller number of youth
involved in that. I imagine & lot of it is the same, certainly it is
reprehensible, but T wonder how and why the Federal Government
can get into that. Is it not the State’s position under the police power
and should we not then encourage the State to prosecute here?

I am just agking your comments and your views on that.

Mr. Woope~. Well, it has been my experience, Mr. Congressman,
working not only on the story but working 4 years on kids that are
kept in institutions, for my book, it has been my experience that the
States, especially the licensing laws that are there to protect children
within institutions, are simply not effective. The States do not pro-
tect their children. The licensing laws are a farce. They are watered
down by vested interests, they are lobbied down to almost nothing.

It is for that reason, Mr. Congressman, that a group of licensing
workers from all over the United States met in New Orleans less
than 3 weeks ago to form a national organization to try to get some
teeth in licensing laws to protect children.

Right now I am afraid that if you give or if you leave this respon-
sibility up to the State you will have your reoccurring scandal, I
assure you. I don’t know the legal hook.

Mr. Erren, I understand what you are saying and I appreciate
what you are saying, but I guess I have to come back to the power.
Still we are a government of limited powers. Where do we have the
authority to license State institutions? Where do we have the author-
ity to require in that licensing, fingerprinting? That is one of the
concerns I have.

Mr. Woopew. I do believe that the Congress or the Senate—Sena-
tor Kennedy and Senator McClelland have come up with massive leg-
islation for uniform standards in the area of crime. Isn’t that over-
stepping the Federal-State jurisdictional battle, power battle? I mean
they have come up with standards and we desperately need to protect
children, that have never been a priority. We desperately need some
Federal standards.

Mz, Erren. Well, T am not sure, but if they are uniform standards,
if they are the standards I aia referring to, they are not enacted into
law. That is strictly a commission or study suggesting that—if you
are referring to the same ones I am, and I guess counsel agrees with
me.

I worked on some of the committees whe helped unify and do some
of the studies prior to my coming here, so it really concerns me. If
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there were Federal funds involved in many of these things I think
wa probably could act.

Mr. Woopen. There are Federal funds involved.

Mzr. Errec. In some of them ?

Mr. Woopen. There are.

Mr. Errer, Not in the Boy Scouts, for example,

Mr. Woopexn. There was one institution in Louisiana where the
people that set up the institutions, they called themselves Monks from
Canada, and they were criminals, that set up an institution to do
pornography with children, and when the police broke into the facil-
ity and found the material and all the literature they found were ap-
plications for Federal money and they did receive Federal money.

Mr. Rarmseack. May I just try to distinguish between where Fed-
eral 2funds may be or may be funding a particular program or institu-
tion? ‘

My. Woopen. Sure.

Mr. Ramssack. I agree with what you say in that, in that case we
probably would have a right to attach some conditions or standards.

‘What really bothers me is what you have alluded to and what others
have, relating, for instance, to foster parent programs that may be
strictly local in nature and where there have been inadequate screen-
ing procedures, Children have been assigned to a foster parent who
may be ripping off that minor or that child. So you know what oc-
curs. To me if you really want to mount a successful campaign, and I
know that you do, without any doubt it is going to be mounted in my
opinion, after hearing a great deal of testimony, after visiting with
you, as a matter of Tact, it is going to have to be mounted on the
Federal level, it is going to have to be mounted on the State level.
It would be a very good idea for us to coordinate with State Legisla-
tures, the Council of State Governments, and I think really this thing
is persuasive enough and it is complex enough, it is not just mailing
pornography, it is child prostitution.

So I think that the first thing maybe we ought to do is concede
that we can’t help and we should and in my opinion, we will, but it is
going to have to involve local Jaw enforcement and ‘State as well.

Mz, WoopeN, I don’t mean to believe that the Federal Government
can. do everything. Believe me after working on this problem I don’t
have that much faith in the Federal Government to do all that and to
everything. But I do think there are a few areas where you can do
something. I do think you can in the fingerprint aren, I do think it is
some type of uniform standards developed with the money that is
made available in title 20, for sure with foster care money.

One little point about foster care. We found, and thanks to the
cooperation of the Michigan State Police, a letter from one of the
worst chicken hawks in this country, a man now on the loose, named
Dire Grossman, who has been indicted for everything under the Sun,
letters that he mailed out around the country to otls~ chicken hawks
telling them to get into foster care, telling them to go after Federal
runaway money and how to do it. They actually gave instructions on
how to do it.

Mr., Terer. If I may reclaim my time.

Mzr. Wooden, I appreciate your concern. I think that we are all
concerned with the same thing. I think that we are all trying to find
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a proper role for the various Government agencies to deal with this
problem. However, we have to do it constitutionally. If we enact
something which is not constitutional, what we have done is to say to
those fellows: “It is wide open now.” If it is declared unconstitutional,
then it is open game, and I am very concerned about that as an attor-
1ney and 3 prosecutor, and as a former prosecuting attorney I saw what
happened.

Ipremember one movie theater which was showing X-rated films,
and they wanted to show previews of films. We will give you a free
ticket. You will come and tell us whether they are obscene or porno-
graphic. They showed up the next day, and they were not obscene. If
1t is obscene they are still going to show it because I cannot prosecute.

I think that it is a very valid criticism. I think that we have to be
very careful in any kind of legislation we set up, so we can get & co-
ordination and avoid unconstitutionality. I appreciate your comments
and the fact that you pointed that out. There were not many ‘witnesses
who got to that point, and you did it very well and I appreciate it.

Mr. Kiroee. Mr. Jeffords?

Mz Jerroros. I have no questions. Thank you.

My, Krcoee. Mr. Railsback.

Mr. Ramssack. T have no further questions except that I would
like to say that I have the privilege of knowing Ken Wooden. I at-
tended a conference of which he was the chief sponsor in North Caro-
lina. My feeling is that we can focus attention right now,and the heat
is on right now. I understand that some of these materials, are dvying
up right now.

I agree with one comment that you made. If we don’t do something
more substantive, and put the heat on right now, it is going to be back
in about 20 or 30 years. So T think that it is up to us to act. When we
act, however, I sincerely believe that it is going to require action on
the part of the States and local governments.

Mr. WoopEn. Not quite, Congressman Railsback. I also admire you
and the work that you have done, and what you stood for during the
Nixon years. On that point, I would like to say that I don’t think that
the Congress served this problem for the kids well.

When you enacted the recent Juvenile Delinquency Prevention Act,
and you were giving States 5 years, 3 to § vears to take noncriminal
kids out of the institutions. The States do not need that long to empty
the city and county jails where kids are being kept today. I think
that this was a very poor piece of legislation, and I hope that Presi-
dent Carter will veto it. I don’t think that the States need 5 years to
empty out the jails of noneriminal kids.

Mr. Kroee. The committee thanks you for the work that you have
dono and are doing. We hope that these hearings will be more produe-
tive than the hearings of 1950. To have reminded us of that is a service,
too. I do hope that we will meet the constitutional standards. Thank
you very much.

Our last witness is Mr. G. R. Dickerson, Acting Commissioner, U.S.
Customs Service, Department of the Treasury. Mr. Dickerson brines to
us & very experienced background. Ie started with the Custom Serv-
ico in a junior management position, and worked himself up to his
present role. We welcome his expertise today.
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TESTIMONY OF G. R. DICKERSON, AfTING COMMISSIONER, U.S.
CUSTOMS SERVICE, DEPARTMEXY OF THE TREASURY

Mr. Dicserson. Thanlk you, Mr. Chairman.

My name is G. R. Dickerson, Acting Commnissioner, U.S. Customs
Service. I have with me taday, on my left, Ms. Ileanor Susske, who is
Chiet of our Imports Compliance Branch in New York, and I believe
she has testified before your subcommittee previously. On my left, I
have Mr. Ted Rojek, who is Acting Chief ¢’ounsel.

Mr. Xupee. Yes; Ms. Susske testified befove thesommittee before.

Mr. Dicxerson. Mr. Chairmian, T have a prepared statement. In view
of t}he time, if you huave no'objection, I could summarize it very

uickly. :
1 Mr. :)'}{‘xmmn. Without objectio:i, your entire statement, as submitted,
will be made part of the record. You may go ahead and summarize.

[The prepared statement of My, Dickerson follows:]

STATEMENT oF G. R. DICKERSON, ACTING (C'OMMISSIONER OF CUSTOMS

Mr. Chatrman, I am pleased to have the opportunity to appear before this
committee today on behalt of the Customs Service te offer comments on LR, 3913.

The Customs Service has responsibility for interdicting all confraband, in-
cluding pornography, at more than 300 ports of entry and along the land and sea
borders of the United States, which stretch some 96,000 miles, Customs is com-
prised of approximately 14,000 employees dedicated to the collection and protec-
tion of the revep-ie, and the enforcement of laws which prohibit or restrict the
entry of articley which could endanger the health and welfare of the citizens of
this country. This task necludeg the enforcement of numerous statutes for ap-
proximately 40 different ¥ederal agencies. '

H.R. 3913 would add a new chapter to title 18, United States Code, making it o
crime for a person to use children in the production of pornography and making
it a crime for a person to transport or mail such pornography in intevstate or
foreign commerce, or to receive for the purpose of selling or to sell such pornogra-
phy which has been transported in interstate or foreign corsinerce. It is clear that
child pornography is an increasingly serious problem, and the Customs Service is
dedicated to the prevention of the importation of such materials from abroad.
The Customs Service belleves that today, move than ever, it must be vigilant in
stemming the importation of pornography, especially child pornography, which
victimizes children in the most degrading way possible.

Customs officers enforce the prohibitions against pornography and other re-
stricted materials at all ports of entry in the United States. Most importations
of pornography, including child pornography, arrive in the United States via
postal channels. Mail importations, which included approximately 42 million
parcels and 30 million letters in fiscn! year 1976, are processed by 21 Customs Mail
Branches staffed by 472 Custeni« Serice employees. By screening and examining
mail the Customs Service interdicts a significant quantity of pornography. Sealed
mail is detained and oper 2Q only where Customs officials have reasonable cause
to suspect that contraband or dutiable items are contained therein. This deter-
mination is made based on several factors by which printed matter can be dis-
tinguished from correspondence. These factors include the size, weight and feel
of the envelope and the origin of the letter.

The Customs Service in the Secarcus, New Jersey Mail Branch, recently began
a special eampaign to interdict clhild pornography believed to be entering the
country through the mails. Intensive sereening resuited in 25 detentions of sealed
letter malil from Murope on the first day of the special effort. In one case, a porno-
graphin flim had been wound on o reel of maguetic tape and concealed under sev-
eral feet of legitimate tape around the outside of the reel.

The importation of pornography is prohibited by 19 U.S.G, 1305, under which
Customs may seize any materials believed to be obscene. Under present pro-
cedures, such materials muat be submitted within 14 days to a United States Dis-
trict Court for the determination of whether they should be forfeited and de-
stroyed as obscene,
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At the major ports, imported motion picture film of a commercjal nature is
generally routed to a particular import specialist, an inspector, or a reviewing
panel of supervisory inspectors for review. The motion picture may be viewed
at the reviewing official’s discretion, based on factors,such as the title of the
film, the country of origin, the Customs officer’s knowledge of the importer, and
his judgment based on experience. If the film is determined to be obscene, it is
referred to a United States attorney for submission to a United States District
Court for an obscenity determination. In the past 18 months, there have been no
seizures of commercial films involving child pornography. |

In calendar year 1976 alone, the Customs Service in the port of New York
mude more than 14,000 seizures relating to pornography, almost exclusively of
a non-commercial nature, where individuals would attempt to bring into this
country one or two items for their personal use. The number of seizures of
pornography in other ports were rcolztively small, with the Los Angeles Region, re-
porting seizures of 563 pieces of pornography from October 1976 to May 1977,
heing second to New York. It has been estimated by Customs officials handling
these matters that up to 60 percent of the materials seized laxt year contained
child pornography.

‘While most of the pornography interdicted by Customs is nonecommercial, Cus-
toms is constantly watchful for Iarge commercial shipments. This year, for ex-
ample, one commercial shipment of 8,000 magazines, all dealing with child
pornography, was seized in New York City. A decree of forfeiture was issued by
the district court on June 1, 1977,

Our intelligence indicates that commercial 35 mm master films (inter-negatives)
are smuggled into the United States or entered into the country by fraudulent
means. We know that when an inter-negantive is smuggled into the country snd
reaches the distributor, it is easily and quickly duplicated and distributed to all
parts of the country. This scheme has Yampered our enforeement efforts under
the emuggling statute, 18 U.S.C. 545, to obtain criminal prosecution of individual’s
found in possession of such pornographic films which are produced overseas or
are duplicates of an inter-negative made overseas. In order to sustain a violation
of the smuggling statute, Customs must demonstrate that the suspect film is, in
fact, the inter-negative that was smuggled into the United States and that a legal
entry I*as not been made. If possible the law should be strengthened in this regard
by providing for the authority to seize all duplicates made from an inter-negative
not legally imported into the United States.

By making it a eriminal violation to transport or mail child pornography in
foreign commerce, this bill would create a deterrent to the ordering of child
pornography from abroad or the transporting of such material by a person enter-
ing the country. Under existing law, persons who declare the importation of
child pornography, but do not attempt to smuggle it into the country, arve not
subject to any criminal sanction, although the importation would be seized
under 19 U.8.C. 1305. HL.R. 3913 would add a new dimension to such offenses
and subject such person to a eriminal penalty.

Furthermore, o shipment of child pornography, whether through the mails
or by other means of carriage, could be the subject of a controlled delivery if it
appearcd that commercial quantities were involved and the recipient was likely
to sell or attempt to sell the pornography. In a controlled delivery, 4 law en-
forcement technique proven effective in the narcotics area, the contraband is
identified by Customs and then permitted to be delivered to the addressee under
strict Government surveillance in order to identify and arrest those persons
involved in the illegal trausaction. Under the proposed bill, a controlled delivery
would be essential to establish a violation because receipt of child pornography
in and of itself would not constitute a punishable offense.

We do, however, see some difficulties in enforcing a statute limited to child
pornography. From an enforcement poinl of view, it would appear extremely
difficult to acquire evidence as to the identity and age of some child participants.
It would appear difficult to determine from mere inspection of the pornographic
materials whether persons exhibited are less than 16, especially in the age range
13-18. On the other hand, because this legislation is directed at the people who
produce and digsseminste pornography which involves children, that is at the
people who exploit children by photographing them in the performance of the
sexual acts listed in the legislation, and is not directed at the viewer, it would
appear that an alternative standard based completely on the appearance of the
individual would not be appropriate, because older children may appear less
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than 16. Such a standard, such as “reasonably appear to be less than 16,” might
encounter First Amendment free speech obstacles, because the appearance to the
viewer, rather than the age of the child, becomes the important criterion. Never-
theless, this is not to say that Federal law enforcement officials could not use the
appearance of participants, including physical development, ag a guideline in
determining whether material should be seized and arrests made, especially in
obvious cases.

The Committée may also wish to consider another amendment to the legisla-
tion. We believe the proposed provision would be strengthened if attempted acts
and conspiracy to commit acts were made crimes as well, Often, because the
United States only has enough evidence to prove an attempt, but not enough
to prove the completed crime, individuals are not prosecuted and go free.

Because of the increasing circulation of child pornography in this country,
the Customs Service believes it is necessary to keep more detailed records of
pornography seized at the border in order to accumulate statistics as to the
percentage of incoming pornographic material containing child pornography.
Thus, in the future, we hope to be able to provide accurate information as to
the amount of child pornography seized at the border and estimates as to the
amount of child pornography which may be smuggled into the country.

In conclusion, the Qustoms Service recognizes the magnitude of the problems

inherent in combatting child pornography, and, as the first line of defense.

against imported child pornography, Customs iz dedicated to its interdiction
at the border. We recommend that this Committee consider some of the changes
suggested today, to facilifate law enforcement efforts by the Customs Service
and other Federal agencies combatting child pornography. If these ihanges
were indorporated in the bill we would not object to the legislation. :

Thank you. :

Mr. DickersoN. Mr. Chairman, we ave very pleased to have the
opportunity to appear before this committee today on behalf of the
Customs Service to offer comments on FL.R. 3913,

As you know, the Customs Service has responsibility for interdict-
ing all contraband, including pornography, at more than 300 ports of
entry and around the perimeter of our country. We are particularly
interested in one aspect of H.R. 3913, that which would malke it &
crime for a person to receive, for the purpose of selling, pornography
which has been transported in interstate or foreign commerce.

Customs officers enforce the prohibitions against pornography and
other restricted materials at all ports of entry in the United States.
Most importations of pornography, including child pornography, ar-
rive in the United States via postal chanmuels.

‘We processed some 42 million parcels and 80 million letters in fiscal
year 1976. By screening and examining mail, the customs service in-
terdicts a significant quantity of pornography. The importation of
pornography is prohibited by 19 U.S.C. 1805, under which Customs
may seize any materials believed to be obscene. Under these proce-
dures, such materials believed to be obseene. Under these procedures,
svich materials are submitted within 14 days to the district court for
the determination of whether they should be forfeited and destroyed
ag obscene.

In calendar year 1976 alone, the Customs Service in the Port of New.

York made more than 14,000 seizures relating to pornography. It has

been estimated by Customs officials handling these matters that up

to 60 percent of the materials seized last year contained child
pornography. ‘ ,

In addition % the mail which is seized, we also seize commercial
shipments of pornography arriving in the United States, During just
this current year, we have seized some five commercial shipments, two
of these involving films, three involving magazines.
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One of these was a shipment of 8,000 magazines all dealing with
child pornography seized in New York City, for which a decree of
forfeiture has been issued by the district court. I might point out, too,
Mzr. Chairman, that our action in these matters, if the pornography is
properly entered in the United States, is limited to the seizure and pos-
sible destruction by court forfeiture. There are no criminal aspects in-
volved in it. This accounts for our interest in this legislation.

In addition to commercial shipments in what are relatively norsal
channels in the United States, we are very much concerned about we
believe is another method of distributipn of child pornography. That
is the introduction in the United States by smuggling of the master
negative, or a master film. A

If we cannot identify the master film, we cannot take criminal prose-
cution action under 18 USC 545. Of course, it is extremely difficult
since that film brought in the United States will be reproduced and
distributed. We would suggest that the committee consider the possi-
bility of granting seizure authority for reproductions which we can
show resulted from a master film introduced in the United States
illegally, or smuggled into the United States. :

This bill, as we understand it, by making it a criminal violation to
transport child pornography, would give us much needed additional
authority. Currently, where we seize even commercial shipments des-
tined to a major distributor, as I pointed out, we are limited only to
the forefeiture of that material. .

As we understand this bill, it would give use authority, if we could
show that it had been imported for the purpose of resale, to proceed
with criminal prosecution. This could be done by what we call a con-
trolled delivery investigative method in which we would permit ship-
ments to move on to the addressee in cooperation with postal authori-
ties, If at the time it was received, we could assure ourselves that it was
being received for the purpose of resale, we would be able to arrest
those persons, and to seize the shipment under eriminal statutes which
we understand would be provided by this bill. o

- We, like the Post Office Department, see some difficulty in enfore-
ing a statute limited to chiid pornography, since it would appear ex-
tremely difficult to acquire evidence as to the identity and age of some
child participants, particularly where the filming may have taken
place overseas. There are no specific recommendations as to how this
can be overcome, but we would point out to the committee that it is a
diffieulty we have foreseen. SR :

We would alse hope that the committes would consider possible
legislation to strengthen our authority by considering expanding the
language to include attempted acts or conspiracy to commit acts cov-
erecl by this bill. In many instances, we may not be able to actually
prove the act of smugeling in the United States, or the act of trans-
portation that would be covered by this bill, We might, however, be
:111)10 to prove an attempt to commit a criminal act or & conspiracy to
do so.

Mr., Chairman, we in the Customs service are certainly aware of the
problem of child pornography. As I pointed out, today some 60 per-
cent of the seizures we make, which is quite different to what it was
several years ago, involves child pornography. We see a greatly ex-
panding market in the distribution of this kind of pornography.
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We certainly ave going to attempt to do everything we can, within
our power, to deal with this problem to the extent that it involves the
international movement of child pornography. We would certainly
cncouraga this legislation, and hope that you would consider the fac-
tors that we have brought to your attention, which would help to
strengthen our enforcement authority on international movements.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We will be happy to answer any ques-
tions you may have.

Mr. Krrpee. Thank you, Mr. Dickerson.

You have two types of entries, legal entries, and illegal entries. If
it is an illegal entry, whether it be serewdrivers or tools, or machinery,
or pornographic materials, then you can bring criminal sanctions, if it
is smuggled 1nto the country.

Mz, Dxcszrson. Yes, sir, that is correct. Under our general statute,
we can proceed criminally.

Mr. Kroee. No matter what the material mightbe?

M. DickersonN. That is true.

Mr. Kroee. With pornography, even though it is legelly entered
and declared, if you can establish that it is pornography, and take it to
a district court—1I think Ms. Susske told us in New York that even
though it is legally entered and declared, but you deem it to be porno-
graphic, the district attorney would take it into court, and then that
material is destroyed.

M. Dicxersox. If the court agrees that it is. o

Mr. Kmpze. Neither the segﬁer nor the person receiving the ma-
terial is guilty of any crime. '

Mzr. DrcxzrsoN. There is no action taken againgt the sender or the
receiver, in that case, other than possible financial loss by losing a
valued shipment.

Mr. Krroge. The 60 percent you say is child pornography, is most of
that illegally entered, and subject to sanction, or legalgr entered and
pornographic?

Mr. Dicxerson. Most of what we have seen has been declared. Tt
may be that a commercial shipment has been entered illegally in the
United States, if it is in the mail and it may not have been declared per
se as a shipment of pornographic material or films. It would not be
considered smuggling in the mail, since it has been presented to us for
proper inspection and clearance.

Mr. Kiroee. From what I could gather from the hearings in New
York, when you make that judgment—Ms. Susske indicated that when
you make the judgment, and you get a Federal attorney to agree that
this is what you have, you have had a fairly good success record in
the courts in destroying that material.

Ms. Sussee. Right.

Mr. Kmoez. If we were to create a special category, without chang-
ing the present laws on pornography, a special category on child por-
nography, do you think that this would make it easier to secure court
agreement that it is pornography and should be destroyed?

Ms. Svsske. Anything that could help our enforcement, of course,
would be appreciated. However, the materials that we seize in the
New York region, that we would characterize as child pornography,
is hardcore pornography, and we have no problem with it. It passes
the A iller test without any problem.
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Myr. Krpee. So right now the courts pretty well recognize child
pornography as hardcore?

Ms. Sussge. Yes. ‘

Mr. Krper. You indicated, Mr. Dickerson, that you would like to
have the power to seize and bring criminal sanctions against reproduc-
tion of the master film that was brought into the country contrary to
our orders. Is there any precedent for that in the other type of com-
modi}tiegs, such as ordinary photographs, and not pornographic photo-
graphs?

1\?1‘. ];ICK_ERSON. You are talking about bringing in a different com-
modity ?

Mr. Kirpee. Let us take an ordinary photograph sent in, and it is
reproduced.

Mr. Diceerson. I am not aware, right ofthand, of where this par-
ticular idea has been applied to a different type of commodity. We
have had experience, particularly with pornographic material, where
we have not been able to identify that it was brought in and repro-
duced. We could not get the actual master that was brought in, and
we were powerless to do anything with the reproduced copies that had
been made.

As a matter of fact, a recent issue of “Hustler” magazine was
brought to my attention, to demonstrate how purveyors of such mate-
rial, through advertisements in magazines of this type atiempt to
avoid problems with Customs. They have developed distribution
points in the United States that you ean go to.

The film has been brought in and is being reproduced, and will be
available through domestic channels which eliminates the possibility
of us taking any action in that type of distribution.

Mr. Krrpee. It would be outside your jurisdiction?

My, Dickrrson. It would be outside of our jurisdiction and prob-
ably difficult for the post office to deal with.

Mr. Kirpee, Mr. Jeffords?

Mr. Jurrorps. To get right to that problem, I have a suggestion
which you may have heard about. If you have been here all morning,
you have. I want to get right to the problem of the master in con-
trolling the distribution of child pornography, and trying to malke it
easier for people to enforce our existing law, whether it be in addition
to another Federal law in the pornography area, and State laws.

It was brought to my attention that on the west coast there are real
problems as far as their own domestic actions, where you are trying
to establish where the crime took place, in establishing the age of the
pavticipants, and whether they were minors or not.

The suggestion I have, and I have put it out to the prosecutors and
other people even in the movie industry. Before someone could intro-
duce into commerce any pornography which was imported, if they
were required to file & certificate, either with the Secretary of HEW
or the Secretary of Labor, which would merely set forth the names of
anybody under 18 performing = sexual act, the place at which it
occurred, and the time. The necessary data to give the enforcement
people the opportunity to review it, and to enforce against.

To make it & penalty to put it in distribution without a copy of the
certificate attached. As to whether this would be of assistance in try-
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Ing to determine the master, or to keep these things out of the black
market, or out of the legitimate market.

Mr. Drcxerson. That would be one approach to it. We take some-
what the same approach on normal commerecial shipments coming into
the United States. We are not able to screen every film that comes in.
We receive a certificate from the importer, which sets forth in broad
terms that there is nothing that could be even questionably porne-
graphic in it.

The other types of films, of course, are not legally entered into the
United States. They are probably smuggled in the United States.
Take just one canister of 35 millimeter film, it is easy to conceal that
in a suitcase, or any place else. It is smuggled into the United States,
and then reproduced.

Your suggestion, it seems to me, would be helpful if you had to have
a certificate for the reproductions.

Mz, Jrrrorps. The distributor would have to say: “We have filed
with the Secretary of HEW, or whoever it would be, the names and
ages of all the participants in the film.” If they have not filed it, then
they would also put the burden on the retailer to at least check and
malke sure that the certificate had been filed.

If it were a counterfeit one, they would be held liable, because all
you would have to do would be to call the Secretary of Labor, or who-
ever, and say : “Was there a certificate filed 4 Then if it were not filed,
the violation would be for selling it without that certificate being filed.

Mr. Dicxerson. It would be very helpful, from our standpoint, if
we had the authority to seize, where we can identify the film to be a
reproduction of a smuggled master film. :

Mcr. Jerroros. I see no objection to that.

Myr. Dicxerson. It would be very helpful to have the two coupled
together in controlling this type of activity, but we would not be
involved. I don’t think that we would be involved in enforcing the
law as to certificates, as you pointed out. It would not be Customs
jurisdiction.

I do not think that we, in Customs, would be able to react to every
type of reproduction of foreign masters here. So there are two sepa-
rate problems, and part of this suggestion could be helpful in deal-
ing with this type of distribution.

Mzr. Jerroros. Thank you very much.

I have one further question. Maybe I did not read the statement
right, but it is my understanding that you have not made any seizures
of films involving children for some 18 months.

Mr. Dicerrson. No commercial seizures of movie films. ,

Mr. Jerrorps. Does that mean that the market has diminished or
hias become domestic, or can you draw any conclusion from that fact
af all?

Mr. Drcxerson. Let me ask Ms. Susske.

Ms. Susskr. When we refer to o commercial shipment, we mean of
the type than can be shown in a threater. Now we have had o number
of seizures of the small 8 millimeter motion picture films dealing with
child pornography. Of course, that could be turned into o commercial
transaction, too.

Mzr. Jerrorps. Thank you for clearing that up.
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The other question I have, and you need give only a short answer
on this one. Relative to all your problems in importations of illegal
stuff coming in, what part of that is dealing with pornography now.
Isthat a large part, or a substantial part?

Mr. DiorzrrsoN. Because of the problems that have been mentioned
by a number of the people who have been here, there is, of course,
o basic problem of identifying what exactly is obscene under cur-,
rent court rules. What 20 years ago we would have considered ob-
scene would not be considered startling in any respect now.

So what we seize principally today is obvious hardcore pornog-
raphy. We are limited in the amount of screening that we can do of
any type of mail. Probably the maximum amount that we are doing is
10 percent of letter mail, which the is major source for transmission.
of pornography. Much less than 100th of 1 percent is actually opened
for this purpose. So it is not a large part of our resources.

Mr. Jerrorps. Thank you very much.

Mr. Kuopee. Mr. Dickerson, you mentioned that sealed mail is
opened when you have a reasonable cause to suspect that it is contra-
band or dutiable. How do you determine, or how have you deter-
mined reasonable cause; is it based on some court guidelines or some.
precedents within Customs?

Mr. DickzrsoN. I might answer it very generally, and ask Mr.
Rojek to speak to it more particularly.

Mail is identified by the post office many times as being bulky, or
meeting certain criteria which indicates that mercandise other than
written material is contained in it, and it will be turned over to us.
In addition, in some areas we will screen letter-mail coming from
certain countries which we consider to be sensitive. From the stand-
point of contraband purposes, we can determine by visual observation
of the outside of the material.

As to specific guidelines, I think that Mr. Rojek might be able to.
speak to that.

Mr. Rosex. Mr. Kildee. as you are probably aware, the Supreme
Court handed down a decision on Monday of this week in this area.
This is the first decision by that court in the long history of Customs:
that dealt with the question of whether or not a search warrant was:
needed in order to open sealed letter class mail. The court refers to.
cireuit court decisiong that held no search warrant was necessary.

In those instances, generally, the envelope that was used was one-
that was of a size that would indicate it contained something other-
than correspondence. In addition, the Customs officer could tell by the.
outward feel and inspection of the envelope that there was some-
thing in there besides the written material, and it could be merchandise
of some kind.

Then, of course, as Mr. Dickerson has already indicated, the peo--
ple that screen this develop a certain sixth sense. There are cortain
countries of origin and addresses of origin that become known after a
period of time as the originators of this type of material.

Perhaps Ms. Susske could address herself to that also. The deci-.
sions to date have not addressed the precise question of what type of’
criteria would be required by the court to constitute reasonble cause to.
suspect because in each of those cases the evidence that came out in,
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the course of the hearings on the motion to suppress, quite obviously
constituted such cause.

Mr. Kooee. That will conclude our questions. Apparently the Cus-
toms Service and the courts, gathering from what we found out in
New York, have had a higher degree of success in determination of
what constibutes pornography than some other agencies of Govern-
ment, either in illegal entry or in determination of pornographic ma-
terial. It is in the ﬁlegal entry that you have had high degree of sue-
cess in New York particularly.

Mr. Dicxerson. Yes, sir, Seemingly we have had much success
in the southern district of New York in the case of small seizures
of noncommercial types.

Mr. Kixrpes: I would suggest that perhaps the committee would
like to get the court decisions in some of that, to see what they based
their determination of pornography on. It would be very helpful
to the committee, if you could supply that to us. Some of the court
decisions would be helpful to us in our determinations.

Mr. Dicrsrson. There is one point that I would like to make on this.
It is very rare that what we send to the courts is not considered to
be obscene. But you must consider the fact that usually it is uncon-
tested. Quite often it is uncontested.

Also in many of the situations where we have criminal prosecution,
we are not dealing with the jeopardy of the individual. We are deal-
ing with the jeopardy of the merchandise.

Mr. Kmope. It would still be interesting to get some of the court
decisions to see what criteria they have used to base their determina-
tions on.

Mr. Dicxerson. We will be very happy to supply that. If I could
amplify a little bit.

The question was asked of a number of witnesses as to the amount of
foreign mail as against domestic mail. Of course, we are involved in a
number of investigative task forces concerning this as well, as well as
the interdiction actions that we have talken.

There is no doubt that if that question had been asked about 10 or 15
years ago, even 5 years ago, I would have said that a major portion of
the pornography was produced outside the United States. We could
haveidentified the countries where it was produced.

‘We believe that this has shifted considerably, and there is & much
larger market developing in the United States, an additional market in
the United States. In fact, the United States hag become a major sup-
plier of child pornography for foreign countries, particularly a major
supplier for Japan and Canada, for example.

In thisarea, we are limited on what we can do on exportation because
there is nothing that makes it illegal to export pornography, or even
permits us to seize pornography intended for export.

So it might be another area that the committee might want to explore
and consider more deeply. It would have some definite impact upon the
production of child pornography in the United States.

Mr. Kmpze. On that, bave you found any evidence of pornography
being exported from the Inited States, being reproduced cheaply else-
where, and sent back to the United States?
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Ms. Susske. Not particularly. Pornography that is manufactured in
the United States and sent to foreign countries and then returned to the
United States is subject to all of the Customs laws just as if it were an
original importation. We have had seizures of that type of material.

Mr, Xmpre. Something that has been exported and then brought
baclk.

Mr. Dicrerson. Yes. Incidentally, we are going to initiate an in-
tensive operation dealing with all types of contraband in the mail in the
very near future; not onTy pornography, but other types of contraband
in the mail with some emphasis on pornography. When this is under-
taken, I would be glad to keep the committee informed as to the results
of those developments.

Mr. Kuper. We would appreciate that very much. We appreciate
your testimony today, and also Ms. Susske’s testimony in New York.
It was very helpful to the committee.

The committes will stand adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 1:50 p.m., the subcommittee adjourned, to reconvene
at the call of the Chair.]
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SEXUAL EXPLOITATION OF CHILDREN

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 20 1977‘

U.S. House or Rmmsn\mmvns,
" SuscoMMITIEE ON CRIME
or Trre COMMITTEE OF THE JUDICIARY,
‘ - Washington, D. 0’

The subcomnnttee met at 1:20 p.m. in room 2237, Rayburn House
Office Building, Hon. John Conyers, Jr. [chairman of the subcom:
mittee] pleqdm«r

Present: Representatives Conyels, Drtel Voleer Railsback, and

Ashbrook..

Staff present: Leslie E. TFreed, counsel; Tom Boyd and Roscos
Stovall, associate counsel.

Mr, Coxyras. The subcommittee will come to order. We begin in
the Subcommittee on Crime our fourth hearing on the issue of sexual
exploitation of children.

J[The opening statement of Chairman Cenyers follows 1]

OPENING STATEMENT OF HoN. Jomi CONYERS, JR., CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTES
oN CriME, ON THE SEXUAL TXPLOITATION OF CHILDREN

I am pleased to welcome here today the members of the Subcommittee on
Crime, witnesses, and visitors to participate in a serious and important activity.
The Subcommittee is holding its fourth hearing on the issue of the sexual ex-
ploitation of children.

During the past four months we have carefully explored the need for Federal
legislation on this matter. We have received testimony from people who have
had a familiarity with children and with photographers who Lave engaged in
the conduct sought to be regnlated. We invited this testimiony in an attempt to
determine the nature and scope of the problem, Investigator Lloyd Martin of the
Los Angeles Police Department detailed for us the activities of the special force
he set up to combat the problem in California: Writers for the Chicago Tribune
came to us with the baclkground of their investigations in the area and particulay
cases they uncovered. A professor of sociology spoke to us about the effects of
adulb sexual abuse upon child victims, We spent another day of hearings listen-
ing to a representative of the ACLU, private attorneys, and & representative of
the National Association of Distriet Attmneys address the sections of the bill,
H.R. 3913, which is before us and discuss their constitutionality, Finally, the De-
partment of Justice, the U.8. Oustomy Service and the U.S. Postal Service who
enforce present ederal Obscenity law came to us with their concerns about the

venfoxceabxhty of the bills before the subcommittee,

No one is for child pornography. I and other members of the subcommittee am
horrified by the instances of gdults physically and sexually abusing children. We
have heard of parents who sell their children to pederasts for prostitution pur-
poses. We have been shown lewd photographs of children and adults engaging
in sexual activity, The Subcommittee staff has received hundreds of letters from
the public expressing disgust at the revelations in the press accounts, television
reports, and witnesges statements before the House and Senate subcommittees
investigating the matter. Surely, in this country, a survey of the “community
Qtﬂlldﬂ.ld" for freedom of expression would not allow for child pornography.
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But we on the Judiciary Committee are faced with a serious consideration. We
must determine how the states under present state law are coping with the
problem. We need to know in what areas they would turn o the Federal govern-
nient for assistance. It is for that reason that we commissioned the National
Conference of State Legislatures to survey the individual states and ascertain
the content of their laws. We will be hearing a report today from their repre-
sentative, Kenneth Maddy, on the results of that study.

We have asked a former U.S. Attorney from Memphis, Tennessee, Mr. Larry
Parish, to tell us of his experiences prosecuting under present Federal obscenity
law, and we invited Delaware State Attorney General Richard Wier to tell us
how his state came to enact a new obscenity 1aw encompassing child pornography.
A local prosecutor, Robert Gemniangni, will tell us today how he gets convictions
in these cases on a county level. Finally, we will benefit from hearing from M.
Herald Fahringer who does defense work in the area of Federal obscenity law,
who will discuss the constitutionality of the proposals before our Subcommittee,
He will be accompanied by probably his most famous client, Larey Flynt, pub-

lisher of Hustler Magazine. . .
After the members assess the testimony of our witnesses today, we will be

better able to determine where Yederal law is needed. The Senate Judiciary
Committee has reported a bill just last week which shows considerable restraint
vet deals with some of the major issues we have discovered. I have 2 bill before
the Subcommittee which would amend the “White Slave Traffic Act” commonly
known as the “Mann Act” to prohibit the transportation of all minor persons, not
just females, across state lines for the purpose of engaging in the business of
prostitution. Some of our witnesses today may want to comment on these bills. I
expect today’'s hearing will provide a reliable basis on whieh the subcommittee
may deliberate, and I again welcome all the participants.

M. Coxyers, We have a rather extensive witness list today, and we
are going to ask that the witnesses summanrize, if they can. Ounr fivst
witness will be Assemblyman Kenneth Maddy, chairman of the As-
sembly Committee on Criminal Justice of the California Legislature,
representing the National Conference of State Legislatures.

He has coauthored several bills on child pornography and this com-
mittee has dealt with the topic extensively. California has passed three
of the strictest bills in the country on child pornography, and Mr.
Maddy is appearing not only on his own behalf, but on behalf of the
National Conference of State Legislatures, which of course comprises
all 6% the legislators in the 50 States, and their staffs.

We welcome you, Assemblyman, and appreciate your remarks you
have prepared in advance. They will be incorporated into the record.
You may introduce who is with you and then begin.

TESTIMONY OF KENNETH MADDY, ASSEMBLYMAN, CALIFORNIA
LEGISLATURE, AND CHAIRMAN OF THE ASSEMBLY COMMITTEE
ON CRIMINAL JUSTICE, REPRESENTING THE NATIONAL CON-
FERENCE OF STATE LEGISLATURES, ACCOMPANIED BY BRUCE
NESTANDE, ASSEMBLYMAN, CALIFORNIA LEGISLATURE

Mr. Mappx. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee: It is my
distinet pleasure to be heve this afternoon to cliscuss this issue with
you, I am appearing on behalf of the National Conference of State
Legislatures as well as myself today. On my right, because he was with
us today in Washington, is assemblyman Bruce Nestande, also 1 mem-
ber of the California Legislature, und chairman of the legislature’s
ITuman Resources Committee, ”

We have extensively dealt with the question of child pornography in
California in the last few months and I will try, since I have <ub-




T M TS ST TI  T

t
i
¥
!

mitted the statement and you have that before you, as well as the
charis prepared by the National Conference of State Legislatures, to
summarize somewhat what we did in California. ‘

I think all of you ave well aware that the sexual exploitation of
children has regrettably flourished and has become a highly profitable
branch of the pornography industry. ‘

We in California are suffering greatly from that because in two of
our key centers, Los Angeles and San Diego, pornography involving
children has indeed flourished and is rampant throughout our
communities.

Throughout the last year I think in Californis, as in other States,
the public became aware of what they were seeing and they were
apalled by it. NCSL contacted State legislators throughout the country
in every State and we began to see that additional legislation has been
enacted.

I think the legislatures throughout the country have responded well.

The National Conference of State Legislatures has participated and
helped in drafting legislation, as well as in circulating information to
all the States in terms of what other legislatures are doing, and how
wo could meet the problems in our various States.

The chart was prepared after a rusponse from all of the State
legislatures. It is a comparative chart, and shows the various ap-
proaches that have been taken by the States.

Prior tothe 1977 legislative session, the chart shows very few States
had laws prohibiting the use of children in obscene materials or per-
formances and those that did exist were in broad langnage and prosecu-
tion was difficult. v

During the past year 24 States considered Jegislation to outlaw the
exploitation of childven in those States, and it is my understanding
that 16 States have enacted strong laws, another 6 are coming into
being in the next year. In addition, two States had statutes prior to the
197677 session.

Legislative action will, without a doubt, be even more complete by
the time the legislatures adjown in 1978,

A number of States have indicated they will introduce bills in the
upcoming sessions, There are sonme States which have not taken any
action. The thart will tell you that those States arve the more ruval
States, and the staff members from those States have indicated that
the pornography business in general, and the child pornography spe-
cifically, were not major problems in their States. That, may change,
obviously, as this materia] is beginning to be circulated, and of course
they have now some material to look at based on what we hiave done in
other States.

Almost all of the statutes that have been adopted contain two major
provisions. One attempts to prohibit the actual abuse of children,
whether it be by the parents or by those responsible for preparing the
pornography. The second section seeks to reduce the profit motive und
to curtail the import from out of State by forbidding the sale and dis-
tribution of such products. ’

Thesa legal provisions have heen drafted a number of different ways.
One of the common approaches has been to amend the State’s ob-
scenity or pornography law by adding a separate section that spe-
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cifically creates offenses for abusing or permitting children to malko
pornography materials and also marketing of pornography.

Tn some statutes the definition of prohibited conduc. conforms to
the State’s general definition of prohibited obscenity. And I think in
some of them they hava taken a different approach and have tried to
define child pornography in a different way. * o

Other States have created separate offenses within their criminal
codles. These laws are similar to those amending general obscenity laws,
but avoid the confusion related to legally defining obscenity, They
prohibit using or permitting children to be filmed ov photographed in
specific prohibited sexual acts, and also forhid the sale of any of these
materials.

A, few States have chosen to amend their child abuse laws by includ-

ing the offense of allowing or using children to perform in or be- .

recorded in a sexually explicit act. Massachusetts is considering a bill
amending its child labor laws, to outlaw the employment of children
for posing or exhibiting in any act depicting sexual conduet.

.. More recently, States have enacted a combination of these ap-
proaches, and that is what we did in California, we touch on almost
all areas.

Several States have considered the problems confronting prosccutors
in gathering evidence against those who sell or produce child por-
nography. and have included special provisions. Delaware, for ex-
ample, has passed a strong law for regulating adult bookstores and
requires detailed records to be kent of all transactions from wholesalers
and distributors. Some States, like Louisiana, have included a provi-
sion stating that possession of three or more items'is prima facie
evidenee of intent to sell or distribute.

Penalties attached to these new laws ave stiff, reflecting the serious-
ness with which these practices are viewed. Most are around $10,000,
Tllinois has placed a $25,000 fine on the first offense and $50,000 for
subsequent offenses. Prison terms vary, but provide for up to 10
years imprisonment in most States.

There are several States that did not enact laws, and I think pri-
marily they feel that the laws they now have on the books, in dealing
with the conduct involving children, were explicit enough and it took
care of the situation.

To touch briefly, if I may, on the laws we enacted in California, we
had an obscenity statute that dealt with bringing materials into Cali-
fornia and/or distributing it in California, which called for a mis-
demeanor penalty. We took a separate paragraph, and added to that
statute the general misdemeanor provision for distributing obscene
material and added that if you are going to distribute materials that
involves depicting children under 18 years of age, engaging in certain
specified acts, that it would be a felony, carrying for the State of

“alifornia o second level feiony penalty under the determinate sen-
tences law of 2, 8, or 4 years, with the possibility of $50,000 fine, That
was dealing with materials that were defined as obscene under the
present statute and merely adding additional penalties for those who
deal with obscene materials that depict children.

That was one approach and that bill passed both houses of the legis-
lature, and now avwaits the signature of the Governor.
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In the sccond approach, we incorporated three bills into ome by
Senator Presley, who was the Select Committee on Children and
Youth Chairman, and we dealt then with several approaches.

One, we took Jabor code provisions that we had in California law,
and added a provision that would involve the employment of children
under the age of 16 years of age for certain explicit acts—pusing,
modeling, in terms of sexual acts. And we added additional penalties,
made that a felony, and again with 8, 4, or 5 years. We also took the
labor code provisions and required, as mentioned in the statemels,
provisions whereby people who retail and/or distribute the material
must report or maintain reports as to where they received the material,

And this, in & sense, is & harassment provision that prosecutors und/
or law enforcement can obtain from people who distribute generatly
explicit sexual material, a requirement that they must tell us where
they received that material. And this gives law enforcement a chance
to trace back to the oviginal distributor, if we can, or the producer, if
wo con, And that is the tough person to find, where the material
originated and in what manner it originated and of course if they do
not, the distributors at each level would face misdemeanor penalties.

So, in sum, we have an approach, I think that was a broad approach
in California to take cave of the initial problem.

We in California maintain an obscenity statute that is in conformity
with the Memoirs decision. We have not adopted the broader decision
of Zfiller in the State of California yet. Qur committee placed that
question for decision later this year. We will hold hearings in Cali-
fornia on the question of whether or not we ought to adopt the
Miller standard for obscenity in California.

Second, we took the guestion that was posed to us by one of our
Senators—we had about 9 ov 10 bills on the question of pornography
in California to deal with. One of the Senators introduced the variable
obscenity concept, taking child pornography and trying to define it in
o Jdifferent manner, and we have delayed that decision also for the
interim study.

So we will take up those two questions later on.this year, I trust I
can answer any questions you may have about California in general
or about the statutes that arve compared in the chart. Mr. Nestande
also might help me if T get stuck.

[The complete statement of Mr. Maddy and the charts follow:]

STATEMENT OF ASSEMBLYMAN KENNETI MADDY, CALIFORNIA CRAIRALAN, COMALIT-
TIE ON CRIMINAL JUSTICE, NATIONAT CONFERENGE OF STATE LEQISLATURES

My, Chairman, it is my pleasnve to appear before you and the distinguished
members of the Subcommititee on Urime of the House Committee on the Judici-
ary. My name is Kenneth Maddy, and I am Chairman of the Assembly Commit-
tee on Criminal Justice in the California Legislnture. I am appearing today
behalf of the National Conference of State Legislatures, which is comprised of
the nation's 7,600 State legislators and their staffs from all 50 States. '

Among its many functions, the National Conference of State Legislatures
works to improve the quality and effectiveness of State legislatures, and to
foster interstate communication and cooperation, When a problem like the
proliferation of child pornography suddenly confronts lawmakers in almost
avery State, the NOSL provides assistance to Wtate legislators as they davelop
legal solutions and shares information about newly enacted laws.

As you are well aware, the sexual exploitation of children has regrettably
fluorished and become o highly profitable branch of the pornography industry.
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The production of child pornography expanded rapidly, partly becauge e_x1stmg
State laws were inadequate and prosecution of the producers and distributors
s quite o difficult undertaking. - .
w{’lﬁhgoughgut the last year as the public became awaxe of the extent of this
deplorable abuse of children, State legislators across the qountry lge_g{m to re-
spond Dy reviewing their existing laws and enacting specific prohibitions and
Gtiff criminal penalties. To assist State lawmalkers react to the need for new
laws, the NCSI recently conducted a survey of all 50 State legislatures tq detgzr-
mine what types of new laws have been enacted or considered, Bach 1egislat}ve
resenrch office was asked to describe any new laws recently enacted xyh_u:h
would curtail the production and dissemination of child pornograph_y. ;[n addition,
Stutes without a specific new statute were requested to identify existing statutes
that could be used tp prosecute those responsible for using children in obscene
materials and selling them for profit. )

NCSIL recaived a response from almost every state, and the results have been
compiled in a comparative chart. I am pleased to present this survey to the sub-
committee, and to simmarize the results for you. .

Prior to the 1977 Jegislative sessions, va.y few States had laws prohibiting
the use of children in obscene materials or performances and those that did
exist were generaliy written in broad language without adequate powers for
prosecution, During this past year, however, 24 states considered legislation
to outlasw this exploitation of children., Of these 24 States, the unusualy high
number of 15 States enacted strong, comprehensive laws and final approval is
expected before the year's end in an additional 6 States. In addition to these
21 States with new statutes, the States of West Virginia and North Dakota had
previously enacted laws in 1974 and 1975 respectively.

Legislative action will without a doubt be even more complete by the time
legislatures adjourn in 1978, A number of the States indicated that legislation
will be introdiiced in their upcoming sessions, and in many cases, billg have already
been introduced. The three States that did not approve the bills last year will
resune their consideration and an additional 11 States will be considering
legislation, In ali these States, I can assure you the interest in passing legisla-
tion is very strong. It is very likely therefore that in 1978, 37 States will have
adopted tough prohibitions against using children sexually for preparing porno-
graphic materials. I know of no other issue where State lawmakers have been
able to react so quickly and completely to a problem confronting their States,
as in curbing the sexuai exploitation of children.

Before I summarize the types of provisions commonly enacted, I would like
to briefly mention thesé remaining 13 States without specifie laws and where
no legislation is expected at this point. Those States are Alaska, Arkansas,
Georgia, Idaho, Iowa, Kansas, Maine, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, Oregon,
South Dakota, and Wyoming. As you can notice, these States are primarily rural,
and staif members in each State’s lez'g.;;islature explained that pornography in
fﬁ_nell-x}l and child pornography specifically, were not problems in their States at
this time.

Almost all the statutes adopted and considered in each State generally contain
two major provisions, One attempts fo prohivit the actual abuse of children,
whether it is by parents or by those responsible for preparing the pornography.
The second seeks to reduce the profit motive and to curtail imports from out of
State, by forbidding the sale and distribution ot the products.

Thegse legal provisions have been drafted in a number of different ways. One
of the more common appreaches has been to amend the State’s obscenity or porno-
graphy law, by adding a separate section that specifieally creates offenses'of using
or permitting children to make pornographic materials and also of marketing
the pornography. In some of these statutes, the definition of prohibited conduct
conformsg te the State’s general definition of prohibited obscenity. These State
obsggnit)' laws _lm\'e generally been revised to conform to the Supreme Court's
decision regg\rdmg regu{ntiou of obscenity. Other States mevely prohibit certain
sexual acts involving children.

Oth.er. States crealed separate offenses within their criminal codes. These laws
are similar to those amending general obscenity laws, but avoid the confngion
rel.ated to legally defining obscenity. Instead, they prohibit using or permitting
children to be fllmed or photographed in- specific prohibited sexual acts :ma
also forbid the sale of any of these materials, '
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A few States nave chosen to amend their child abuse laws, by i_ncludiug the
offense of allowing or using a child to perform in or be 1-eg:ordpd in a sexually
explicit act. In still another approach, Massachusetts is considering a bill amend-

ing its child labor laws. The bill would outlaw the employment of children for‘

posing or exhibiting in any act depicting sexual conduct.

More recently, States have enacted a combination of these approaches. The
bills currently before Michigan's legislature and those recently enacted in my
ow:: state of California are examples of comprehensive approaches.

Several States have considered the problems confronting prosecutors in gath-
ering evidence against those who sell or produce child pornography, and have
included special provisions. Delaware, for example, has passed a strong law
for regulating adult bookstores, and requires detailed records to be kept of all
transactions from wholesalers and distributors. Some States, like Louisiana, have
included a provision stating that possession of three or more items is prima facie
evidence of intent to sell or distribute.

Penalties attached to these new laws are stiff, reflecting the seriousness with
which these practices are viewed. Almost without exception, these offenses have
Deen classified as felonies. Fines of course vary from State to State, but most
ave set around $35,000 to $10,000. Illinois has placed a $25,000 fine on the first
offense and $50,000 for subsequent offenses. Prison terms likewise vary, but
provide for up to 10 years imprisonment in most States, Delaware has included
the option of life imprisonment for a second offense.

Finally, I would like to speak about those States who have not yet enacted a
statute to specifieally prohibit child pornography. In answering the survey, many
States identified existing laws whieh could he applied against child pornography,
with varying degrees of success, Most often mentioned were the State’s existing
obscenity law. While prosecutors have noted difficulties in meeting criteria for
bringing ltigation against pornography in general, most child pornography
would undoubtedly £all within the definition of obscenity for those States. Second,
all States have some form of law prohibiting child abuse, and wuny include
specifie offenses for sexually abusing children.

Most State codes also contain a long list of offenses forbidding adults to con-
tribute to a minor's delinquency and proscribing many sexual offenses, such as
rape, incest, indecent or immoral conduct with minors, using children in im-
proper vocations, or exposing them to immoral behavior. Penalties however are
generally weal, the language is broad, and it is often difficult to apply laws
beyond the parents or actors. :

Mr. Chairman, I hope you will agree with me that in the past yeav we have
made substantial progress in the fight against child pornography. Admittedly,
the abuse will continue until the laws can be enforced and laws are enacted in
those States still without adequate protection. But the groundwork is well
underway for ending these practices which could destroy the lives of so many of
our young people.

Thank you for the opportunity to meet with you today. I will glady answer any
questions you may have about the survey, or the legislation recently enacted
in my own State.

PASSAGE QF STATE CHILD PORNOGRAPHY LEGISLATION

Enacted 1977 pending Not enacted 1978 expected No legislation

Arizona, California, Massachusetts, Hawaii, North Alabama, Indiana Alaska, Arkansas
Colorado, Connecticut, . Michigan, New Carolina. Kentucky, Maryland, - Gaorgia, 'lktfénﬁtif Towa,
Delaware, Florida, Jersey, Pennsyl- Mississippi, New Kansas, Maine,
{liinois, Louisiana, vania, Soutk Mexico, Oklahoma, Montana, Nebraska,
Minnesota, Missouri, Carolfna.. : Utah, \)ermont, Nevada, Qregon,
New Hampshire, New Wisconsin. Virginia, South Dakota,
York, Ohio, Rhode Washington, Wyoming,
island, Teanessee,
Texas,

Note: North Dakota (1975), West Virginia (1974),
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State and law Approval Provisions Penalty

ALABAMA

No_child porn law; 1egisla . oo et e e
tion expected in 1978—
alternative: Obscenity law.

ALASKA

ARIZONA

Title 13, ch. 2, art, 28, sec, Obscenity [aWS. oo weven Iilegal to_film, photograph, de- Felony; $10,000 to
13-53% offective ‘May 31, d velop, distribiite, b trans-  $20,000 fine and/or
1977, : port or sell film, photo, slide or ~ 5to 10 yr.

’ motion picture or negatives of
activities involving minors in
sexual conduct ~ which is
obscene.

ARKANSAS

Ne child porn law; alter oo e el e dnm i m e o ee
natives: - Obscenity law,
sexual solicitation of child,
contributing  to  delin-
quency, rape.

CALIFORNIA

1977 AB 702 e Pornography.- ... ------ Prohibits employment or use of Felony.
children under 18 for specific
sexual activities, for commer-
cial purposes, including dis--
play; forbids sale, distribution,
exhibition, publishing or print- .

- ing any such material, . L

AB 1580 L il Obscenity_ - wmemmeee wnne Prohibits sending or bringing into  Felony; $50,000 and/or
State for sale or distributionany ~ 2to 4 yr.
obscene matter with a minor un-
der 18 engaged in specific sexual

acts. ’
SB8L7. e ea e e Child labor- e acrmovnee Iliegal to hire or use a minor for Felmhv:.S to 6 yrifchildis

purposes in AB 702, or to pro-  under 14,
mote, employ, use, permit, per-
suade, induce, entice, or coerce
a minor to pose or model in
film, photograph, negative, or
performances invoiving sexual
conduct, L

Reguires reporting to police within  §2,000 and/or 1 yr.
4 hr misdemeanor, S

Requires  detailad records of Wisdemeanor, $5,000.
transactions involving films,

. photographs, slides, or maga-
zines with minors éngaged in
sexual conduct. ’

COLORADO

Sec. 218-7-102...« ... Obscenity...._--...._ Illegal to use child under 16 for Class 5 felony.
hard core sexual conduct if that :
act will be photographed, filmed,
or part of a live performance.

Pramoting, as owner, producer, Do,
director, manager, performer, or
distributor also illegal,

CONNECTICUT

PA 77577 ceeaecmamemee Child pornography.e- .. Itlegal to use or permit the use of Class B felony.
a child under 16 in an obscene }
perfurmance; sutiiorlzes con-
missioner of chlidren and youth
services to assume custody of
children; created a divisionof 3
attorneys to prosecute cases of
child abuse (including sexual
abuse) and appropriated $45,000
for fiscal year 1978,

¥

DELAWARE
Ch, § subch, V, title 11, S Amend sexual exploita- iilegal to photograph, film, finance Class B felony; 2d con-
1103, 1108,and 1109(1977).  tion of children faw, or produce a film, or publish a  viction—Life

book, maﬁazine,. amphlet, or  imprisonment,
photograph depicting a'child
under 18 engaging in prohibited
sexual acts,

illegal to deal In such materials; Class C felony; 2d
i.e., transporting, shipping or  conviction, class B
mailing, recelving for sale or  felony.
selling; distribute or dissemi-
nate through shows,
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Panalty

Title 24, ch, 16 (1977) e e mnom cmucmam oo ememmnn- Regulates adult hookstores through
licensing and commission; re-
quires Tecordkeeping by dis-
tributors, whalesalers, or pub-
lishers which sup{nl materlals,
and dates of receiving; subject
to_inspection on demand by

. police or commission,

Pending S 188 passed Senate Regulation of adult Megal for bookstores to display,

S 4912, bookstores. keep, transport, sell, or a.ttempf
to do so, any film, picture,
recording, pamiphlet, magazine
of bdoqk demc}mg‘ a child en-
aged in sexual acts,
FLORIDA o

€h. 77-1035.847.014. ... Child pronography. . ... [ifegal to produce, conduct, direct,
perform or participate in photo-
graph, motion picture, exhibl-
tion, show, representation which
depicts sexual conduct, excite-
ment or sadomasoghistic abuse
involving child under 18; or to
aid, abet, counsel, hire, or pro-

cure a minor.

Ullegal to exhibit, or sell, lend, give,
distribute, transmit or to offer
to do so, or adveriise; State
attorney may abtain injunction
incircuitcourt.

GEORGIA
No child porn law, sec. 54~ Children in  improper Itlegal to seli, apprentice, give
2903, '54-9904 (1878) vocations, prop agway, lat, or d?s%ose of"c ild
alternatives: Child meles- under 12 for * * * any inde-
tation, rape, incest, entic- cent, obscene, or immoral ex-
ing child for indecent pur- hibition practice or purpose, or
poses. to use child for such.
HAWAILI
No child porn law; SB, 1408, Amend pornography law. mefal to disseminate, produce,
S.0. 1 not enacted (1977). direct, participate or assist in
. ’ . pornographic material or per-
formance which employs, uses;
permits, persuades, induces,
entices, coerces of contains
chitd ‘under 18 in sexual
Wegal fo display on sign, bill
beard or stand visible ' from
street or sidewall, obscene
material which confains minor.
1DAHQ )
No_child porn Taw; alterna- oo meceeiceann iitegal to hire, employ or use
tives: . child for,
18-6607.ee e mmann Prohibits fewd conduct ...
with child under 186,
18-1514 Qb 1Y [AW e e
ILLINOIS
€h.38, par. 11~20a (1977). ... Criminal code~Obscen- Illegal to sell, detiver, publish, or
ity involving a minor. exhihit obscens matter, or direct

an obscene play, dauce or per«
formance, or perform an ob--
scene act, or advertises obscene
material with a prepubescent

miror.
‘Ch, 38, par. 11-4 (1977). .- . .. Indecent liberties with Includes prohibition  apainst
3 chiid., photographing,  videotaping,
filming, or reproducing sexual
conduct with child under 16, or
soliciting or permitting a child
undar 16 to do so; prohibits
selling, distributing or possess-
ing materials.
INDIANA

Mo child porn law; 1eBIStation o e e et e
expected in 1978,

10WA
No child porn 1AW ccuneoocan —— e a

$200, or imprisonment
up to 6 mo,

$50 to $1,000 and im-
prisoned 1 mo to 1 year,

2nd degree felony.

3d degree felony.

Misdemeanor.

Class B felony,

Class € felany.

Misdemeanor; 2d convie.
tion—fzlony,
Up to life imprisonment.

$26,000; 2d offense $50,-
000 andfor imprison-
‘r_nent without prebs-
ion.

Class 1 felony.
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State and law Approval Provisions Penalty
KANSAS
No child porn law; alterna- Obscenity law.

tives: KSA 1976 supp.
21-4301,
KENTUCKY

Legislation expected 1978
Nn child porn law; alterna~

KRS ch. 510.

Causing child to become Forbids any peison to employ, or

delinquent. consent to employment of child
under 16 in any indecent or

immoral occupation or practice.

Sexual off and Differing degrees of rape and

KRS ch. 531 531.040.___.

LOUISIANA
RS 14:8L.1 (1977} e

RS 14:106G (1977) . ceoaunnn

MAINE
No child porn law.

sexual abuse. sodomy offenses, and subjecting

child to sexuaf contract, de-

pending on age of child.

Gbscenity [aW.eeecae e Prohihits the use of minos to dis-
tribute obscene material, includ-
ing preparation or assisting in
preparation,

1Hegal to photograph, videotape,
film or reproduce any act of
sexual conduct involviag child
under 17; or to solicit or coerce
child, or to sell, distribute or
possess the same; possession
of 3 or more items is prima facie
evidence of intent to sell or
distribute. .,
Obscenity.............. Penalties included for obscenily
with or in the presence of a
juvenite,

Pornography involving
juveniles,

MARYLAND
No child porn law; legislation

expected in 1978—Alterna-
tive: Art, 27, sec. 35A,

MASSACHUSETTS

No child porn law; S 1813 ex-
pected in 1977,

Alternative: Ch, 149 sec, 104..
MICHIGAN
No child parn Yaw; legislation

expected in 1977
B 4332-538). - vceemn

I L,

HB 4866, « e

Child abuse, including Prohibits any sexual molestation,
sexual abuse. or exploitation including but not
limited to incest, rape, carnal

knowledge, sodomy or unna-

tural or perverted sexual prac-

tices by parents or supervisors.

Child Jabor .o eeeveouone lllegal to employ, procure use,
cause, or encourage child under
18 to pose, or be exhibited in the
nude or participate in an act de-
picting sexual conduct on book,
magazine, pamphlet, motion
picture, photograph, conform-
ing amendments to obscenity
N e Taw ncluded.
Child  participation * in
public exhibitions.

Penal code—Child porn.. Forbids parents of child less than
17 to encourage or entice child
to perform in sexually explicit
material; or any person to
accost, entice, or solicit a chitd
under 17 to perform in same,

Prohibits producing, or finance
sexually explicit visual material
with child under 17,

Pepalizes taking part in filming,
selling, distributing, wholesale.

Se'.ing or distributing retail.......-

Child abuse..ceueeaeeen Conforming language; authorizes
county prosecuting attorney to

. take action,
Child fabor. o en Conforming larguage. .. v omcmeeee

$50 to $300 andfor 90d;
2d offenses are $100 to
$500 and/for 1 yr.

Ratige of class A-D felony

Class A misdemeanor;
2d offense is class D

$10,000 fine and manda-
tory 2 to 10 yr imprison-
ment,

Felony; up ta 15 yr.

$3,000_to $5,000 and/or
5 to 7 yr. Superior court
has jarisdiction to en-
join " dissemination of
material,

Felony—1 to 4 yr,

3to 10 yr.

1to4yr.
1 yr and/or $1,000 to
$5,000.
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State and law Appraval Provisions Ponalty
MINNESQTA
MS 617.246 (1977} cen e e Obscenity....eeeen--.- Hiegal to promote, employ, use, Felony,
or permit child under 18 to

engage in sexual performance
to prepare an obscene work,
film, photo, negative, slide,
drawing, or visual representa-
tion depicting minor in patently
offensive sexual conduct. Owner
of business disseminating the
materials liable.
MIsSISSIPPI

No child pornlaw; legislation
expected in 1978-—Alterna-

ives:
Sec, 43-21-27.... cccaan- Child abuse .. v coues IncLudes sexual and psychological
abuse.

Sec. 97-5-8 . oo Enticing a minor for
immoral purpeses.
MISSOURI
Sec. 568.060 effective Jan. 1. Criminal code; child lllega! to photo%raph or fim a
parn. child under 17 engdging in a
specified prohibited sexual act
or permitting a child to do so,
MONTANA
No child porn law. -
NEBRASKA
NEVADA
No_child porn law; alterna-
ives;
1977, 8B 184, e eemee Child abuse... ... Sliffer penalties for child abuse
(Including sexual abuse).
SBAI2 e eemeee Sexual assault. .- ....... Stiffer penaities for sexual assault
on child under 14,
NEW HAMPSHIRE
RSA 169:32 (supp)(1977).-...... Contributing to delin- Renders parents, guardians or
quency, custodians guilty of class B
felony for encouraging, aiding,
causing, conniving or contrib-
uting to the use of a child under
18 in sexual conduct for porno-
graphic purposes.

RSA 650:2. .. ————— Ytegat to sell, detiver, provide ob-
scene material, present or direct
obscene performance, publish or
exhibit abscenea material, or sell
or advertise obscene material if
it involves child under 18,

NEW JERSEY

No child porn lew; 3 bills
introduced in 1977—Al-
tecnatives:

NJS 2A:96-2, 3¢ cmeee Criminal laws . eemcuaman fllegal to hire out or employ a
child for an occupation involv-
ing immoral comiuct; or Yo
force or induce child to par-
ticipate in act which would
impair morals,

NJS2A:138-1;2A:143-2, Sexual conduct.. mecnn-. Rape and carnal abuse; sodomy

2A:114-2, with children under 16; in-
cestuous  conduct  between
parent and child, .

NIS 34:2-21.57. e Child labor laws.veomeonn Prohibit miner's appearance in
any exhibition dangerous to his
or her morals,

Class D felony, $5,000 or
doubla the profit andfos
2t05yr.

Class B felony.

Do,

Misdemeanor.,
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NEW MEXiCO

No child porn law; legistation
expected  1978—Alterna-

tives:

A0A-6-3. . «euee caem-- Contributing to delin- Commiting an act or neglecting
quency. duty, causing delinquency of

child under 18, .
A0A-6-1. . ceoceume-. Child abuse law....-.... lllegal to endanger child’s life or
health, or terture, or confine or

punish cruelly.
NEW YORK

AZ%%W—C (passed 1977) art. Child pOrn..ceeeeecane Ilegal to procure, manufacture,

issue, sell, give, provide, lend,
mail, deflv_e(, publish, dis-
tribute, exhibit or advertise au
obscene sexual performance or
sexval performance by child
less than 16.

NORTH CAROLINA

No child porn_law; 2 bills Criminal law; involving  [ilegal to allow minor under 16 to
introduced 1977—Alterna-  minors in sexually participate in obscene literature
tive: Ch, 14, sec. 190, explicit materials, or performance; alse to dis-

seminate obscene material to
minors.

NORTH DAKOTA

Sec, 12.1-27.1-03 .« oo ..o Obscenity law_..coueeo.. tllegal to permit @ minor to par-
ticipate in a performance which
is sexually obscene.

OHI0
S.B. 243 (enacted 1977): . ) . )
Sec, 2907.32] . emmmeee Obscenity .o veecneenen Prohibits = creating, producing,
publishing, exhibiting, advertis-
ing, ~selling, disseminating,
creating, directing, producing,
possessing or controlling an
obscene performance or material
that has minor participating or
i . observing. L
Sec. 2919.22. ... ... .-~ Endangering chitdren..__ Prohibits anycne from enticing,
pelrll"mttmg, ‘enqouraglngh com-
pelling, employing, or allowing
child under 18 or a mentally or
physically handicapped child
under 21 to act, model, partici-
pate or be photographed for the
production, presentation, dis-
semination or advertisement of
obscene material or perform-

ance,
OKLAHOMA
Legistation expected in 1978—
tI\llo child porn law; alterna-
ves:
Ch. 21, sec, 1121 Lewd or indecent acts.... Hiegal for maje over 16 and female

over 18 to propose unlawful
sexual relations, to touch, to
lure child under 14 to commit a

i crime against public decency,
Ch. 31A, sec, 856.....—- Contributing to Delinquency definition includes
deiinquency. exposing self, and participating
in the preparation or manufac-
turing of obscene, indecent or
lascivious photos, pictires, figs

) ures or objects, X
11 P - Obscenity faW.moeeeeeae Lewdly exposing self or procuring,
counseling or assisting others;
or photograph or prepared, pr-
lish, seli, distribute, or exhibit

any hook, picture, or photo.

4th degree felony.

Do,

Class D felony.

Misdemeanor.

Class € felony.

Ath degree felony, 6
mo to 2 yr andfor
$2,500, Subsequent
convictions 3d degree
felony of 1 to 10 yr
andfor $5,000,

1st degree misdemeanor
(6 mo and/or $1,000);
subsequent offenses
Ath degree felony.

Felony, 1 tg 20 yr if the
accused is 5 yr older
than the victim,

Misdemeanor, 6 mo
and/or $500; subse-
quent olfense, felony,
3 yr andjfor $3,000,

Felony; 30 d—10 yr
andfor $100 to $5,000.
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OREGON
Mo child porn law—alter-
native;
C.163.305. .o numuuno-- Sexual offenses . ..c..e Crimeofrape, sodomy, and sexual Class A, B, and C felony;

abuse degrees depending on age
of victim; also contributing to
minor's sexual delinguency.

€. 167.060-167.095. ... Obscenity o n v coanan General obscenity sanctions..... ..

PENNSYLVANIA
Na chitd porn law (18 P.S. . o..d0eceevmorveewa.- included prohibition of hiring,

5903 declared unconsti- employing, using or permitting

tutional). minor ¢hild to do or assist any
proscribed act,

SB 717 passed Senate__. o, - liegal 1o permit a child under 16

to engage in a specified prohhi-
Ited sexnyl act, if the actis to
be photographed or filmed;
illegal to photograph or film;
illegal to sell, of d(srlay a baok
magazine, pamphlet, - slide,
photo or fitm depicting thitd
undzr 16 engaging In a specified
prohibited sexual act,

RHODE ISLAND

Sec, 11-9-1 (1977 ... Chilgren s c e ccaes ilegal +o sell, distribute or permit
child under 18 to be wsed in
book, magazine, pamphlet, mo-
tion “picture, photo depicting
child under 18 engaged in a
sexual act; publishing, selling,
loaning of distributing the same
also prohibited.

SOUTH CAROLINA

Na child porn law, H. 3075 Child pOrR.<unccanaeananan lllegal to sell, offer for sale, ad-
introduced passed by : vertlse, market, or distribute
House. ohscene material with person

under 18, or permits the child
todo 5w,

SOUTH DAKOTA
No legistati e esmemmesesmtieseseeResAeEeaeaesvaseassEmeseans
TENNESSEE
Title 50, ch. 7 sec. 50-707 Child labor laW........._ Prohibits employment of minors as
(1977} models to engage in sexuval

conduct to prepare a film, phote-
graph, negative, slide, or motion

picture.

Ch. 405, Public Acts of 1977_. Obscenity...coocmno liegat to promote, employ, nse or
permit a minor to engage in
modeling in sexval conduct to
prepare a film, photograph,
negative, slide, or motion pic-
rare; of sexual copduct; and
illegal to produce, direct, manu-
facture, issue, sell, ien&, mail,
publish, or advertise any matter
depicting a minor in obscene
sexual conduct,

TEXAS

Gh. 43, sec, 43.25 (1977).._.~ Penal code....o.on_-.. llegal to sell, distribute, exhibit,
or possess for such purposes
any motion picture or photo-
graph of a child under 17 en-~
gayed in sexual conduct,

UTAH

No child pron law; legislation Child abuse, indecent May be interpreted to Include
expected in 1978—Alter-  [ibertles. sexual abuse,
natives,
VERMONT

No child pron law; legistation

expected in 1978~Alter-
native: Obsenity law,

class A and C misde~
meanor.

Class A misdemeanar.

d degree felony,

1 yr andfor $1,000 2d
offense, 3 yr andjor
$3,000, subseguent 5
yr-andjfor $5,000,

Misdemeanor, 5 yr and/or
$5,000.

(i}

1 to 3 yr; and/or $500

Felony; 3 to 21 wr and
$10,c00.

ad deé;ree felony; 210 10
yr and 35,000,
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VIRGINIA

Nochild porn law; legislation
eX{)_ected in 1978—Alter-

natives;
Ch. 12) o cecaeuern Child abuse. ool lncluges 1séexual abuse of child
under 18,
Sec, 18.2-348. . oeemenon Criminal offenses.....-... iiiegal to procure for illicit sexual
intercourse, .
Sec. 18.2-385... Prohibits parenis or guardians
from consenting to female child
for prostitution or unlawful
‘ intercourse. )
Sec, 18.2-361... ... Crimes against nature, by force... Class 3 feiony.
Sec, 18.2~366 —- o Incest. ... PR — Class 5 felony.
Ser, 18.2-370...... {ndecent liberties with children. ... Class 6 felony.
Sec, 18.2-372-379... ... Obscenity. .o Illegal to hire, employ, use or Class 1 misdemeanor,
permit a minor to do apything
that is an offense under the
obscenity act.
WASHINGTON

Legislation, 1978; nc child
porn law—Alternatives:
b RCW ch,

9.68. cnmeen Obscenity....ecoeoo.o.. Distribution of films or publica-
ions.

" RCW ch. 26.44. ... ...._. Child abuse __. Includes sexual abuse. ....-—eu.x

ROW 9A.,88,100.. ——- Indecent liberties....._____ J—

RCW 9A.88,050. ... «..ac. Prostitution.. -

RCW 9.79.200-.220...._.. Statutory rape.... -

WEST VIRGINIA

Sec, 61:-8A-1 (1974) .. Obscenity.... - llegal to hire, employ or use child Misdemeanor; sentencing

under 18 to depict or describe in at court's discretion.
an offensive manner specific

sexual acts,
WISCONSIN

Legislative action possible in Child porn..cccacaaaeao. Itlegal to photograph, videotape, Possession of 3 or more
September 1977: Assembly film, record the sounds or make  items is prima facie
bift 819. reproductions of a minor en-  evidence.

gafed in specific sexual acts; or
soliciting a minor for such pur-
poses; or permitting minor; or
to produce, perform in, profit
from, promote, import, re-
produce, sell, advertise, dis-
tribute any materials depicting

WYOMING a minor so engaged.

No child porn jaw.

Mr. Conyrrs, Thanlk you very much, Assemblyman. You have done
a very good job in providing the subcommittee with a sort of review of
what is going on in other States. Your charts will be very helpful to
us.
Do I get from your message that you are suggesting that we, at the
Federal level, hold back or move carvefully until we see exactly how the
new statutes that are being cnacted in many areas of the country ac-
tually operate in practice?

Mr. Manpy. T wonld say, Mr. Chairman, that trying to feel the
pulse of the California Legislature, I would think that my colleagues
would be asking that you do something about, it on a nationwide basis.

Our biggest problem, of course, is attempting to find the producers.
And admittedly we know in Los Angeles and San Diego, the other

metropolitan areas of the State, we have a great deal of production
going on.
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But we also face the prospect that no matter what we do, it is very
difficult in terms of bringing about any slowdown of this material it
1t comes in from out-of-State. And we have a law, of course, that is
why we strengthened our law on obscenity, but we found in the hear-
Ings 1t was very very difficult to deal with the question of the first
amendment and those kinds of publications that deal with just some-
thing slightly above nudity, something that does not fit the obscenity’
definition, that are flown into our State from other places. - o

Mr. Conyzers. Have you ever talked to investigator Lloyd Martin of
the Los Angeles Police Department about the police side of the
problem ? . ,

Mr. Mappy. Mr. Martin testified, I believe, before the Senate select
committee. He did not testify before my committee in the assembly.
Much of the material that was developed was developed in the Senate
side, although we did produce a couple of the bills on our side.

Mr. Conyers. Has this thought occurred to you, that perhaps some
of the problem that we ave attempting to address is not subject to
legislation and statutory remedy ? ‘

In other words, what we are dealing with is a problem that moves
into the social side of our existence in this civilization, and it is going
to be very difficult for us to really pass laws, increase penalties, and
think we are going to interrupt conduct that easily.

My unfortunate experience in Congress has been that an increase in
penalties doesn’t always get the desired or hoped-for result.

Mr. Maopy. T think, Mr. Chairman, what you have just related was
a very strong argument made on the floor of the assembly during the
time that I carried one of the Senate bills on child pornography. That
argument was made, that we have some serious problems in society
that are not going to be remedied by either a congressional committee
or assembly committee, oz national committee passing strict laws for
the prohibition of this kind of material, because there is an audience
for it, apparently, because it flourishes out there.

The only thing we can do, and of course my response to that as
chairman of the Criminal Justice Committee was to do all T could do
prevent the abuse of children that tales place obviously in the produc-
tion of this material. Tt is deplorable, when you see the product that
ave coming forth and I think that is at this point from my standpoint;
in the rele that I play in the California Legislature, was the best I
conld do. ‘

But I agree with you we have some serious problems in society as
to why this kind of material is sought after. :

Mr. Conyers. Mr. Ashbrook.

Mr. Asmnroox. I have several questions, Mr. Chairman. Assembly-
man, T gness the heart of our interest in this legislation is the evidence
clearly shows there is a real problem of proof when an act occurs in
one State and the material is distributed in another State. ,

In this case I suppose the act would be the filming, and then the
printing and distributing would be done in another State. .

Can you give me any indication of your experience in California of
the degree to which this particular problem faces you, perplexes you,
as a State legislator? :
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I guess that is the basis for national legislation, to handle this type
of situation. But in this general area could you give us some comments
as to what you have found in California on this particular situation?

I assume California is not necessarily the home of both the filming,
printing, and distributing of all of this material.

Mr. Mavpy. Unfortunately, we ave playing a major role in both. Tt
is regrettable. But we do find in Californ:a there is a great deal of the
production of the material, but part of why I mentioned that I thought
my colleagues and I share that view that it's desirable for congres-
sional action is we face the problem that if we can shut them down,
conceivably that material is still flowing in, because we find a large
supply of material that is not necessarily on the book stands, but that
is in the hands of people and is material that is coming in from out-
of-State. We have had a statute for some time that carries penalties
for the distribution or sending into California of material. But of
course we can’t reach across the border, we can merely get it when it
comes into our State. Other than that, we urge some action, I think
congressional action.

Mor. Asueroox. I think we all recognize this is a very delicate area.
Sitting here, or sitting where you are, the witnesses and their attor-
neys, we can say what we want. but we don’t fool each other, we know it
is a very difficult area of law. The great difficulty I see is almost every-
body uniformly says we ought to in some way shield the child or pre-
vent the abuse of the child, bnt at the same time many stand up and
say well, we still have to go ahead and publish the material, we can’
stop the activity that causes the problem.

In a constitutional sense, we recognize that as a difficult area—prior
restraint. censorship, none of us want any of those things.

Do vou think as a legislator that we can stop the activity in this
particular arvea? You obviously have checked vour precedents in Cali-
fornia. ow do vou think we can stop the activity and prevent the
abuse. inasmuch as the activity is wrapped, like it or not, in the first
amendment?

M, Maooy. Qur frustrations, Mr. Congressman, were wrapped up in
just what you said, We can enact strong laws on the production of this
material. Frankly, we can’t get too many of the people that are pro-
ducing it. The police departments in our various jurisdictions have not
been sucecessful in finding the producers of the material.

So in reality we enact strong laws in this area, but we are not going
to catch many people. So it boils down to the distribution of the mate-
rial. We can enact strong laws, we have, on the distribution of that
material that is defined as obscene. But in the child pornography area,
our frustrations come in trying to stop the distribution of that mate-
rial that falls just below the obscenc level; in other words, material we
probably are not going to be successful in defining as olsscene if we go
to court. That is where the prosecutors are having grent problems, the
so-called Tiny Tots material that is really something more than nud-
ity, but probably not obscene.

Sothat is why we ave struggling in California with either taking on
the Miller definition of obscene and/or trying to use some other concept
of a special definition of obscenity, because the orly place we can really
have any effectiveness is on the newsstands; in other words, the
distribution of it.
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Then we run square into the fivst amendment problems.

My, Asusrook. On that particular point, and I will close with this,
because we have a number of witnesses today, but as far as the Cali-
fornia situation is concerned, what is your general record of convie-
tions and what is the general record on those convictions ag far as
appeals are concerned ? ‘

My, Maopy, There are two cases pending now in regard to the mate-
rial that I just mentioned, the so-called something more than mere
nudity and something less than what has in the pest been clearly de-
fined as an explicit sexual act engaged in by a minor. '

Those cases are both up on appeal. In terms of prosecutions in gen-
eval, we have not been successful. The prosecutors have felt that as long
as we had the laws we had, which were misdemeanor laws, as long as
we did not have any ability to, or they didn’t have the ability to trac
the material in some way, or go after the distributor in some fashion,
with something other than an obscenity statute, they were not going to
be successful, so they did not prosecute.

You can go on Sunset Boulevard in Los Angeles and some other
aveas of our State, and you see it flourishing in all of the bookstores.

Mpr. Asaeroox. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, '

Mr. Conynrs. Mr. Ertel.

Mr, Erren. Thank you, Mr, Chairman, Mr, Maddy, I have listened
to your testimony and I am concerned. It seems to me you are worried
about diseriminating between “obscenity” and “nudity”.

Would it be helpful to the States—I note there are quite a few
States that have no legislation—if wwe set up some sor* . commission
to try and formulate a statute or a definition which you could work
with at the State level to determine where in fact this dividing line is,
and to try to make sure it is constitutional ? , ‘

Mr. Mappy. That would help us. I looked at FLR. 3013, and we
didn’t have much problem with the definitions of prohibited sexual
acts, they ran from A through about H. When you get into any other
sexual activity, or get to J, which says “nudity,” if such nudity is to be
depicted for the purpose of sexual stimulation or gratification, we
start grappling with that. » :

We came up with obscene nudity, and sexual conduct ag defined, in
which we tried to say lewd and lascivious showing of sexual parts, all
kinds of things. '

So we would encourage, if you could, something that would give us
a better definition.

Mr. Errer. Would you snggest some sort of a study by some of the
leading constitutional scholars, especially in the frst amendment area,
who would draw the guidelines they felt wounld meet the Supreme
Court test? : ,

Mz, Maopy. I think it would be helpful, because we frankly are not,
notwithstanding a great deal of assistance by legal scholars in Cali-
fornia, we are still as perplexed today as when we began the hearings
this year. I am not sure an interim study will solve it. It is a matter of
trying to come to grips with it, because we have a great deal of
response and activity by our constituents who are asking us to vespond
to this problem. '

If you don’t do something, you are in trouble; if you do something
that is unconstitutional, you are probably in more trouble, at least our

93-185—77——16
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committee always felt we wanted to be as constitutionally sound as we
could.

Mr. Errer. I note that you have quite a group of States which have
no legislation, and of course you have the ones that have pending
legislation. .

Do you have any general idea why those States that have no legisla-
tion, who obviously aren’t working on it, have not moved in this area
atall?

Mr, Mapoy. Based on our experience in California, I think if the
public becomes avoused in those States, as they did in California, you
will find that theve will be legislators putting bills in like crazy.

As I said, we had nine this year, and that was because there was a
serious move on the part of a great number of people in our State to
make others aware of what was going on and to bring about some
response from the legislature. The legislature that responded to the
survey indicated that they felt that general lewd and lascivious con-
duct, the siatutes that ave on the books now, and other statutes they
have dealing with children, probably covered the field. I don’t think
they have been hit yet with the flood of this material like we have. If
they are, I can assure you the constituents, the folks will be writing
them in a hurry.

Mz, Errer. So T guess we can assume from your statement those who
have no legislation pending probably haven’t felt the probiem?

Mr. Maopy. The distributors just haven’t found them yet.

My, Erren. One other question X was interested in. The chairman
asked you about increased penalties. Would that be effective? Would
you consider increased penalties for those who are producing, and
selling these materials? If you have imposed increased penalties, won’t
they react in terms of making a business judgment or decision, and
an ncreased penalty would have to be weighed in a judgment, as to
whether or not the penalty is worth it, considering the profits they will
make?

Mr. Mavpy. Our feeling, our debates in our house were centered
around the idea that those who were producing the material, those
who were using children in the fashion we saw, either in the movies
or magazines or other materials, ought to be hit as hard as they could
be hit. We sharved the view that not only a possible prison sentence,
but a financial penalty, the $50,000, that was part of our penalty, was
important, because we found it was a business practice.

We were not as concerned, or we felt that the only way we were
going to stop it, of course, is at the distribution level, but we have a
little bit more concern for the person who perhaps is at the bookstore,
he is not producing it, he is distributing it, but again we tried to add
some financial penalties, s6 they could take that into consideration as
a Dbusiness judgment. Because oftentimes it is, as you say, a pure
business judgment, and I find in talking to some of those people they
of course cdon’t enjoy the material any more than the vast majority of
the publie.-

M. Errern. Thank you very much.

Mr. Conyers. Mr. Railsback.

Mr. Ramspack. I kind of get the feeling that there is not a great
emphasis on child pornography. I wonder what your experience is as
far as the aaequacy of State child exploitation laws generally ?
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In other words, we have had testimony that there have been areas
in the country, and I think California was one of them, wheve there
is child prostitution. What is your feeling about the adequacy of State
laws generally on that?

Mr. Maooy, We found in California our laws were not, and that is
why we added the provisions to the labor code, provisions that at-
tempted to go at the question of exploitation of children, and abuse
of children, because we felt they were not adequate. We went after
parents. In part of our provisions we make the penalty applicable to
those parents or others who have children under their care and custody
and control. If they utilize the children, or allow their children to be
used, they can be hit with the same penalty.

Mr. Ramssack. Such as foster parents, maybe court-appointed
foster parents?

Mr. Mappy, We find that in some degree. We made it so that anyone
with the care, custody or control, our words were, any parent or
guardian.

Mr. Ramssack, Would your law extend to even camps, like say
church camps, Boy Scout camps, other camps where the director may
have control of the children? I am just curious. ' ’

Mr. Mappy. That would probatly take some court test. but we said
any parent or guardian. We left it ot that, We would kave to put them
under some other provision in that ciise.

Mr. Rarnseack. The reason I asked the question is there has been
some testimony, believe it or not, that there have been instances where
people that would normally be regarded in a very favorable light as
exercising, you know, very good care, have not always exereised it,
and actually in some cages have abused children.

Let me ask you this: Those of us on the Federal level that want to
do something constructive and meaningful are having a great deal of
difficulty, as has been suggested, by reason of constitutional restric-
tions. I am wondering if as a legislator either one of you have any
ideas where the Federal Governnient could be particularly helpful
and still be very mindful of the constitutional constraints?

Mr. Maopy. Perhaps Mr. Jrtel’s suggestion that a task force that
would attempt to give us seme sound definition that would try to en-
compass some of the activitivs of children in this material would be
helpful. What you could do, and how effective it would be with first
amendment problems is to stem the tide of importation of material
or exportation, in our case in California, because I know we are a
producing State, would be helpful.

Mr. Ramssack. Has it been proposed by your group or by iny
State legislative group that there be some kind of a model un: orm
child abuse and child pornography statute?

Mr. Maopy. I think what the National Conference of State Legis-
latures is doing is trying to compile this material, not only for your
benefit, but I am sure this comparative chart will now be distributed
to those other States that have taken such widely divergent approaches
to the problem, and hopefully we will have some standard.

I think we all run into the difficulty of varying definitions of ob-
scenity that exist in the States, and problems witl: the Supreme Court,
as well as our own State supreme courts, so we have to deal within
those confines. :
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Mr. Ramspack, May I also just gratuitously suggest that we have
had the head of the National District Attorneys Association before us
to testify. As I recall, he was the district attorney from Michigan. And
he also mentioned to us the great difficulty in prosecuting many of
these cases. I think it would perhaps be helpful to you if you could
work, or at least touch base with him. He had a lot of good 1deas, too.

Just one other question. Is there any indication that organized erime
is involved in child pornography or child abuse in California?

Mr. Manpy, Our testimony and the testimony that was presented to
us did notindicate that they were playing a major role. We found in
fact there were a lot of independents that were producing the material
in California. Whether or not they are involved in the large sense with
organized crime, we couldn’t eay. We could make no conclusion on that.

The attorney general of California did indicate that he felt there
was that involvement.

Mr. Ramseack. Thank you very much.

M. Convers. I want to say to you, Assemblyman Maddy, that you
have done a very important service, I think, in codifying the state of
the States on this subject. We will be looking forward to your success
in California. I don’t know how long it is going to take before we can
tell. T suppose it is really a matter of years before we will really have
a judgment that will be worth anything. But you have been very
helpful to the subcommittee. .

Mr. Manpy. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Conyers. We appreciate your appearance,

The next witness is Larry Parrish, former U.S. Attorney General,
from Memphis. Tenn. T

Mr. Parrish was involved in the investigation and prosecution of
major nationwide offenses involving violation of the Federal obscenity
law. He is presently in private law practice, and remains a Special
Assistant U.S. Attorney for the Department of Justice.

TESTIMONY OF LARRY E. PARRISH, »FORMER ASSISTANT U.S.
' ‘ . ATTORNEY, MEMPHIS, TENN.

Mr. Convyers, Mr. Parrish, we have 44 pages of your thoughtful
preparation on this subject. It will be incorporated into the record. I
don’t know how to suggest that you pick out the high spots, because
you cover; frankly, a large amount of very pertinent information.

But anyway, do the best you can.

Mr. Parrisiz. I think T have eliminated probably three-quarters of
what is written here, if I may just highlight what is presented.

I am going to read it, because I think that will be faster than if T
try to do it extemporaneously. , :

Mr. Chairman and other distinguished members of the Subcommit-
tee on Crime of the House Committee on the Judiciary: I find it dif-
ficult to express fully the honor which I feel as a result of your invita-
tion to appear before you to address one of the few subjects that I
know a little about.

I hope that the privilege which you have extended me to share my
thoughts with you will be time well spent for us both.

I share with you the pressure of having more things to be done than

an possibly be accomplished in the time given. Thus, I will'seck here
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to orally highlight the subjects which I have covered in my prepared
materials, and which have been supplied to you beforehand.

First, 1 feel compelled to take a minute to set the record straight as
to my Eersonal philosophies,

In the first place, I am very much against censorship of all thonghts
and ideas. I very earnestly feel that human sexuality is of divine in-
spiration and a thing necessary to the fulfillment of human
personality.

Mr. Conyzmrs. Pardon me, forgive me for interrupting you. I wanted
to try to snggest that you could possibly pick out a few points. I have
some questions that can probably get you right into the part of your
material that would get us right on the dime.

Mpr. Parrise. That is fine. I would rather proceed that way,

M. Coxvegs. I would appreciate that. Thank you very much, Your
entire statement will be incovporated in the record.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Parrish follows:]

STATEMENT OF LARRY I, PARRISH

Mr, Chairman and other distinguished members of the Subcommittee on Crime
of the House Committee on the Judiciary, I find it difficult to express fully
the honor which I feel as a result of your invitation to appear before you to
address one of the few subjects that I know a little about. I hope that the privi-
lege which you have extended me to share my thoughts with you will be time
well spent for us both. I share with you the pressure of having more things to
be done than can possibly be accomplished in the time given. Thus, I will seek
here to orally highlight the subjects which I have covered in my prepared mate-
rials and which have been supplied to you beforehand.

Tirst, I feel compelled to take a minnte to sef the record straight as to my
personal philosophies., I have found this necessary ever since a few years back
when I was having an initial interview with an ex-convict who was about
to assume a role in an undercover capacity as a part of an investigation which
I was coordinating. I began to explain what would be expected of him and ask
him certain questions. Very abruptly, he stopped me gnd said, “Mr. Parrish, ain’t
no need in 1s going no further lessen you understand where I'm coming from.
Ain't nothin I say worth knowing unless you knows what makes me say it.”
The wisdom of that advice I have tried to retain. So you will know where “I'm
coming from,” let me share a few thoughts concerning my background.

In the first place, I am very much against censorship of all thoughts and ideas.
That is true even of the thoughts and ideay which J think. are abominable,
deletrious, evil and sordid. Second, I am very pro-sexuality. I very earnestly feel
that human sexuality is of divine inspiration and a thing necesary to the ful-
fillment of human personality., In addition, I am dQistressed that multiplied
millions of pergons in the United States are experiencing extreme difficulties
emotionally and physically because of an ungodly over-restrictiveness concerning
human sexuality. Lt . . . :

I am a born-again Christian having practiced my faith for 25 years or more,
and I am now and have continuqusly been for, at least, the past ten years an
active participant in non-denominational evangelical churches. Nevertheless,
1 cdn say, as one who loves the church and the Christ of the church, that very
sincere and well meaning congregations of believers throughout the history of
the United States, and today, have and do fail to meet their responsibilities in
imparting healthy and divine attitudes concerning human sexuality. I say this
with regret, but persons with these attitudes, I feel, must bear a large portion of
the responsibility for the current wave of human degradation belng spread
abroad in the form of obscene materials,. :

False information about sexmuality is just as devastating whether it comes
from misguided Puritanism or malicious libertinism. But I am quite heartened
Ly the upsurge of enlightment that I am perceiving across the nation in this
area of most vital human concern,

Having said all of that, some explanation is in ovder as to why I feel that laws
should be passed and enforced which sererely restrict the proliferation of ob-
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scene materials in our Nation, My inferest in this subjeqt area was ae_tivated
while I was living here in Washington employed as a trial attorney with the
Federal Trade Commission in 1969. Three events occurred, one s}aortly after the
other. One involved my wife and I when we attended an Afriecan safari-type
movie in Arlingten. Assembled with us seemed to be every cub scout, boy scout,
prownie and girl scout in Arlingfon. Much to my surprise, the previews of the
coming attraction included a scene vividly depicting a nude female and a nude

male embraced in a most passionate way possible indicating the commencement
of sexual foreplay. To say that I was heartsick, very saddened, personally of-
fended and a little angry would be a faiv deseription of my reaction,

Shortly after that, I was walking along the street in the D_1str1.ct when T saw
an erotic bookstore with a large sign stating that “everything in the store is
approved by the Supreme Court.”” This I considered a very sad commentary on
our judieial system. .

TFinally, I was in a bookstore at FEleventh and E one weekday morning pur-
chasing a copy of the Memphis Commercial Appeal when I noticed a group of
people toward the back of the store. Thinking someone was injured, I wenp bhack
to lend assistance only to find adult human beings standing there gawking at
pictures of other human beings engaged in sadomasochistic sexual abuse, a fe-
male with two male organs in her mouth while two other males engaged in anal
and vaginal intercourse with her at the same time, and other such perverse
conduct.

Until that time I did not know that human beings engaged in such conduct,
much less, that it was openly being commercially distributed about midway
between the White House and the Capitol. I have since found that what I ob-
served there, though hardcore, certainly was not as depraved as many things
now openly being distributed. However, atier this succession of events in 1969,
I said to myself that either there was no law at all prohibiting commercial dis-
semination of obscene materials, as I had always thought, or, if there was such
a law, this was a very open angd brazen flouting of it and no one seemed to he
doing anything about it. At least according to the textbook, the only thing that
i<hould cause that is bribery, At any rate, I set out to educate myself as to the
aw.

Shortly after that, I moved to Memphis, became an Assistant U.S. Attorney
aud had very little to do with the obscenity question until m*d-1972. At that
time. I was confronted with flagrant and open violation of tue Federal laws
prohibiting interstate transportation of obscene material, it having been brought
to my attention that there was a national distributor of such materials located
in Memphis and disributing the materials throughout the United States from
there. The evidence was very strong and indisputable. The question then arose,
by what, authority, even if it were our choice to do so, can a Federal prosecufor
excuse the violation of Federal Iaw when the violation is both flagrant and ex-
tensive with no mitigating factors. To excuse such a violation is to repeal, in
effect, the law violated. It was our belief that our oath required us to enforce
the laws, not repeal them, and that the integrity of our entire legal system was
being tested.

Thus, the decision was made to proceed with prosecution and further in-
vestigation but only on the cornerstone that if the investigation did not produce
evidence concerning the real profiteers and imstigators of the violation, as op-
posed to the mere functionaries, we would not proceed further. Being thus in-
structed, I worked in concert with the FBI and in conjunction with Grand Juries
over a period of 2 years conducting a nationwide investigation of facts relating
to certain violations which had occurred in Memphis.

This was a decision locally made in Memphis and in no way influenced from
outside Memphis. The Department of Justice in Washington was advised of
indictmernts as they were returned, and they provided advice when requested.
The results of the investigation were collected in Memphis, retained there and
remain there even today. F'rom November 1975 through December 1976, the most
that can be said is that the Department of Justice in Washington did not obstruct
the ongoing prosecutions in AMemphis and that there were isolated pockets of
support. However, there was some conduct which could have even been interpreted
as obstructive,

The investigation produced twelve indictments and 60 defendants, more or
less, with only three defendants being from Memphis. Many, many hours were
spent in pretrial litigation and from November 1973 through April 1976, I spent
20 weeks of actual in-trial time in three U.S. Distriet courtrooms trying the
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cases. Defense counsel came from outside Memphis more often than not and
among several who defended are those who are the most widely recognized
porno-defense lawyers. X

I have cross-examined the best “experts” the defendants could produce. Fma}ly,
as I pursued the prosecution of these cases, I continued to expand my education
on the subject matter in general. I read and falked with medical experts and
social scientists from throughout the country. I have talked with prosequtors pll
over the country and telephonically been through several obscenity frials with
various ones of them. In addition, I have traveled widely since August }976
addaressing the subject before many audiences of many philosophical inclinations,
but primarily skeptics, and debated those who claim expertise on the subjeet.
Hosvever, I have tried, as much as possible, to limit my appearances to profes-
sionals from one digcipline or another and college and university aundiences.

Now that you know “where I am coming from,” I will tell you what I have to
say. With no reservations intended, there is, in my opinion, no punishment too
ereat nor too severe for a person who would abuse children by using them as
sex objects and exploiting tender human life for material gain. To listen to a tape
recording of a man saying that he felt the easiest way to get children for these
purposes was to father them, like rats or frogs, causes me physical pain. In
reading the testimony of one of ycur prior witnesses, I noticed the comment that
the penalty on the pending bill wus so severe that it would malke it difficult to get
convietions, This I do not agree with nor understand. There is no penalty severe
enough on this earth.

Nevertheless, it is mwy sincere conviction that Federal legislation with its pux-
pose being to prohibit the manufacture or transportation of such materials alone
is a philogophical mistake and a legal nightmare, If there were not other adequate
means to deal effectively and decisively with the problem, boht on the ¥Federal
level and the State level, my opinion may be different.

In the same way that I have said so many times that the only thing worse than
10 progecutions at all are prosecutions which are halfhearted and lackadaisical,
I can say that the only thing worse than no legislation is poor legislaticn. The
results of both are failures. Such failures become misinterpreted in society. The
misinterpretation is that the philosophical basis for either the prosecution or the
legislation was not good. This simply is not true. What is true is that poor plan-
nirg and poor draftsmanship caused the problem. However, once this erroneous
attitude is set in the minds of persons marking up society, there is hardly anyway
to erase its affects. The affects are that persons become totally frustrated and
perceive of society as being incapable of dealing with the problem., When a prob-
lem is that obvious and society is that united on wanting something done about it,
then society perceives its institutions as being powerless, our whole system of
government is thereby sweakened.

The second problem is that communicative materials may not be restricted in
their movement in interstate commerce unless those materials are obscene. This
is the result of balancing the Commerce Clause with the First Ameniment of onr
Constitution, Thus, if the materials are obscene, there movement in interstate
commerce is already prohibited. If the materials are not obscene, the restriction
of their movement is constitutionally prohibited. Thus, efforts to legislate spe-
cifically against the movement of child porn in interstate commerce or extend
the commerce power to its manufacture and possession is a futile effort. However,
if' that effort manifests itself in legislation, there is mo way for it to be inter-
preted by the general public except that it stands as somewhat as an indorse-
ment of other kinds of obscenity. Congress then finds itself in a complete state of
contradiction. Even if that contradictory stance has no specifically discernable
!egal consequences, I can assure you that it will have far flung and deep-sented
informal affects in the minds of prosecutors and others in a capacity to imple-
ment and enforee the federal law generaily.

As I see it, Congress is now reacting to & public outery which is not very ex-
plicit in ity detail but very loud in its mandate which basically is “somebody do
someth_ing quickly, please help!" This is an understandable cry and one which
I join in. However, I add to that plea that whoever responds to it please do not
try to cure my cancer with a bandaid and then tell me I am well. The result will
he that I will continue to get more violently ill. I.do believe that Congress has
three very definite responsibilities in reacting, though long, long overdue, to the
current situation gripping the Nation.
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Phe first and easiest congressional response is to amend Title 18, United States
Code, § 2423 as follows : .

Whoever knowingly encourages, persuades, induces, entices, or coerces any
person, [woman or girld who has not attained Lher their eighteenth birth-
day to go from one place to another by Lcommon carrier) in mterstatg com-
merce or within the District of Columbia or any territory or possession of
the United States, with fhe intent that [she be induced or coerced to engage
in prostitution, debauchery or other immoral practice,J such person be used,
whether by consent or not, for sexual purposes, evcluding the lawful use of
one marriage pariner by his/her spouse for the sexpual eppression by and
between them, shall be fined not more than $16,000 or imprisoned not Fmore]
less than Eten] three years nor more than twenty years, or both and the
penalty shell douwble for eaoh successive conviction.

In its amended form it is my suggestion that Title 18, Duited States Code, § 2423
ghould read as follows:

Coercion or RButicement of Minor—Whoever knowingly encourages, per-
suades, induces, entices, or coerces any person who has not attained their
eighteenth birthday to go from one place to another in interstate comimerce
or within the Distriet of Columbia or any territory or possession of the
TUnited States, with intent that such persou be used, whether by consent or
not, for sexual purposes excluding the lawful use of one marriage partner
by his/her spouse for the sexual expression by and between them, shall be
fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not less than three years nor more
than twenty ycéars and the penalty shall double for each successive con-
vietion.

A statute such as this would be a proper Federal response to the increasing
tendency of the persons responsible for the child porn to travel in interstate
commerce with children who they so abused and solicit from around tle country.
It is my opinion that such conduct will increase widely. The amendment which I
suggest, however, could nip that increase in the bud.

The second appropriate response of Congress would be to enact a law for the
District of Columbia and appropriate necessary funds for use by the appropriate
Tederal agency in going into every State in the United States with such a law
as o drafted piece of legislation making it a life time imprisonment offense for
any person to use, aid or abet in the use, attempt to use, conspire to use, ox be
an nccessary before or ofter the fact of the use of children to photograph them
or their sexual organs either while engaging in sexual conduet or in poses de-
signed to excite sexual thoughts on the part of pedophilines or persons with
pedophiliac. eaviosities or interests. The Federal Government should undertake
a conserted effort to encourage the passage of such legislation in every State.
Thig would require a relatively small expenditure which could be.spent one time
and effectively remedy the problem of child porn or reduce it 8o that it would
be controllable from a law enforcement standuoint.

The next thing which Congress desperately needs to do is refine, update and
add sustenatice to Federal obscenity laws. This brings me to that portion of my
testimony ‘dealing with my “experience with present Iaw.” I feel that I could
safely say that my experience sinee 1972 has been as extensive as that of anyone
in the United States. It is true that I do not estimate that I have spent more
than approximately 15 percent of my time as a prosecutor dealing with obsecen-
ity isstves while there are ofhers who spend virtually all of their time dealing with
enforcement of obscenity statutes, my experience has been more in-depth, in-
tense and broader in scope. I have dealt with the issue both in the courtroom
and out of the courtroom and in the context of national involvement. Because
of my personality, I have approached the task before me in this regard with
diligence. T have endeavored to bring originality to the problem. The knowledge
T have acquired is not o result of superior intelligence but simply a matter of
‘hard work in the context of a task that demanded my utmost. It is my firm con-
viction that the insights which I bring are unique in that they are the results of
front-line in-court and sustained experieiice in an adversary context competing
with the best legal defense in the country in this area, They are superior tac-
ticians literally “fighting” for their position before a jury forced to resolye the
issue before them, It is impossible to theoretirally consider the issue, no matter
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how sincere or intelligent the theoretician is, and gain the knowledge, perspective
or design that only pragmatics combined with theory can teach.

I come to you now as a mere citizen not as an advocate and representing uo
persons with a financially vested interest in the outcome of the debate. This
separates me from obscenity defense lawyers who represent clients presently or
hold themselves out as available to represent persons charged with eriminal
offenses relating to obscenity. Further, many such obscenity defense lawyers
have a stake in validating professional advice which they have given clients
concerning the distribution of obscene materials, Finally, for their tactics in
defense to remain effective and saleable both to clients and potential clients and
to judges and juries, they must conceal the true intent of some of their apparent
argumentation. In addition, I am told on good authority, though I have no per-
sonal knowledge of it, that there are among the obscenity defense lawyers those
who personally have financial investments in the obscenity which their osten-
sible clients peddle. )

The current Federal obscenity laws are woefully inadequate and fall fax short
of what is constitutionally permissible regulation. They are better than nothing
but not mueh more than that can be said for them, However, as inadenuate as
they are, they are fully sufficient to cover all obseenity using children as the sex
ohjects. That is why there is absolutely no new legislution needed which concerns
itself with nothing but child obscenity and why legislation specially dealing with
that genre of obscene materials would be interpreted as a statement by Congress
that the currvent law did not cover such materials. One would then be justified
in askipg, “if it does not cover that kind of material, what in the world does it
cover . ’ ) . .

~Just about the only thing worse than the current Federal obscenity laws
which I can conceive of is the enactment of o law which comports with the
obscenity provisions of Senate bill 1. The enactment of that part of Senate
bill 1 would be a clear example of one moving from bad to much worse.
That piece of legislation, if it became law, would cripple States in their ability
to locally dealwith the problems attendant to the distribution of obscene materials
and leave Federal enforcement in the area in such a complete State of contused
flux that it would be a.simple matter of handing the sceptor of victory over to
those whose livelihood depends on the distribution of all types.of ghscenity. I
have specified the reasons why I feel the way I do about the Senate bill 1 pro-
visions in a critique of that legislation which is a part of the materials supplied
to the ecommittee, Rather than take the large amount of time necessary here,
I will simply submit that material to the commiftee for its consideration and
submit to any questions which might be asked concerning it.

~ The reason for the current reaction of Congress concerning the upsurge in
distribution .of obscene materials using children as sex objects is based on a
misperception of where the problem lies. That is, the problem i% not that there
is a lack of legislation which could be employed to prosecnte those responsiple
for the distribution of such materials; rather, the problem is that the laws which
are sufficient to meet that need are not effectively enforced. Thus, the passage of
new laws dealing solely with the use of children in obscene materials misses the
entire mark. YWhat Congress wants and what the people of this Nation want and
have every right to require is enforcement of the laws now on the books and that
is not accomplished by the passage of an additional lasw. The passage of the pend-
ing bill is a most ineffective way to demand of Federal prosecutors that they
adhere to their oath of office and enforce all of the laws irrespective of their
philosophieal inclinations as ito whether or not the subject addressed by the
law is one which should be so addressed. There ave very effective ways to accom-
plish this end. As I will explain, I do feel there is a very great neegl for new,
as opposed to additional, Federal laws dealing with obscenity and }vql be very
precise in my recommendations along those lines. Further, I fee} this is, at this
precise juncture, the next thing in order to effectively deal with the problem.

However, there is one thing whick Congress should have done years ago and,
I suggest, had it heen done the current near crisis situation couiu have been
averted. General implementation of a congressional peliey re.quirmg_ what I am
to suggest in the area of Federal eriminal laws would enormously increase the
effectiveness of law enforcement generally and have a substantial impz_xct_ on the
problems related to crime in society generally, Why did angress nqt intiate an
investigation long ago to acquire as to why there was so little effective enforce-
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ment of the Federal obscenity laws? This would have rooted out problems along
the way. If congressional action was required from time to time it could have
heen tiken will rvelutively little effort. If, on the other hand, prosectutorial in-
eptitude was the problem, those responsible for the conduct of prosecutions
would have been held to account before society in a context and before a forum
which would have required dealing with that ineptitude.

I'ew people stop to realize that a prosecutor has alloted to him power which,
if abused, can effectively give him dietatorial power right in the midst of a de-
mueracy, Congress can pass all of the laws it wants all day long with as stern
a mandate as it can muster but, if the prosecutor having taken an oath to
enforee all laws decides that the particular law is one which he personally
does not like or perhaps philosophically disagrees with, that progecutor can
offectively repeal the law very quitly with much less effort than it took Congress
to pass it, quieting all protestation, if there are any, by rhetoric about “priorities”
or other well sounding excuses. I implore Congress when it passes laws making
certain eonduct criminal to follow-up and asgsure that the law is being effectively
enforced.

I personally believe in the principle of the less government the better and the
fewer laws the better. However, when I see Congress reacting to problems at-
tached to the fact that there is not proper and effective enforcement of laws by
merely passing another law, I wonder if somebody has blinders on. At any rate,
I feel very, very certain in my opinion that had prosecutors properly and effec-
tively been true to their oath of office over the past 10 years, there would be no
such thing as child porn. However, that is water over the dam now, and the cur-
rent situation is one which demands immediate attention.

Though in private practice now, I come to you as a prosecutor in spirit. My
sympathies still lie very much with prosecutors, and I am disposed to be very
defengive of most prosecutors who have to meet the understandable accusation
that they have dropped the ball in the area of obscenity enforcement.

It is true that there are some prosecutors in very influential places who I
personally would consider to be openly dishonest and seem to have no compunc-
tion about their dishonesty as related to the enforcement of obscenity laws.
These persons seem to feel comfortable with their seifperceived divinity which
they consider givey them some supernatural right to pass philosophical judg-
ment on whether legislatwres should have enacted certain laws, and, if they, in
their “wisdom”, decide that the legislature should not have, they simply flout
their raw power by refusing to make any overtures toward effective enforcement
of it. This is an elitist approach to government which is truly inimical to our
entire system. Of course, token and lackadaisical forays designed for nothing
more than deception should never be mistaken for an honest effort.

But the vast majority of the prosecutors o not fall in this category. Many
genuinely just do not know how to enforce obscenity laws recognizing very soon
that it is a unique kind of prosecution problem which does not really fit in with
the day to day run of the mill business at hand. Many sincerely do not have the
financial support ner manpower, fhough this is given as a reason much more
often than it is in fuet the true cause. Many work under the thumb of judges
who imposge their power so as to negate the possibility of effective enforcement.
Most have never studied the problems attendant to obsecenity-distribution ; there-
fore, mistakenly assume that society is not suffering because of its proliferation.
Many sincerely have misguided criteria for priorvity setting, Most have so little
understanding of the law relating to obscenity that they feel uncomfortable
dealing with 1t and, like the bar in general, most of what they do know comes
more from media reporting than case book reading. This problem ig particularly
acute in view of the fact that the obscenity peddlers have financially supported
a few lawyers around the country so there is now a porno defense bar which
effectively specializes in this area of practice. When the everyday prosecutor
finds himself in a courtroom with one of these professionals, both the prosecutor
and the judge normally feel a sense of overpowering intimidation. Both the
judge and the prosecutor soon find out chat one cannot spend two or even two
hundred hours in the library and brush up sufficiently to meet the apparent
exnertise of the r~rno-defense counsel, One way some prosecutors remedy this
problem is fo avoiv the necessity for sueh persons to come into their couriroom
again, Finally, many prosecutors are handicapped with laws which are so in-
elfectual, even if enforced to the maximum degree possible, that all effort ex-
pended is clearly and demonstrably wasted.



There is more sociology attached to the current state of ineffective prosecu-
tions than anything else. X have analyzed this problem in the past but it takes
some time to explain it. It becomes necessary to get involved with the effect of
the Warren Court decisions and the Report of the United States Commission on
Obscenity and Pornography among other things. Since this is of only historical
significance now, I will not take the necessary time to analyze that situation,
However, you can rest assured that my suggestions for dealing with the prob-
lem as it exists today take into account the reasons for the prevailing situation.

S\ new federal statute is needed. Part of the need is reyulred Lecause of the
history of judicial precedence in the field of obscenity between 1956 and 1973.
During that time, the United States Supreme Court allowed a situation to exist,
in fact fostered it, which virtually gave to every judge near carte blanche au-
thority to impose his personal philosophical inclinations as a part of judicial
precedent in one fashion or another. 1o explain all of the ramifications of this
iz a lengthy process. Howerver, the results can be explained quickly. That iy, there
is among case precedent “authoritative” support for just about anything any
person wants to say about obscenity laws, definitions, procedures and a myriad
of: other matters. In 1973 and sporadically since, the Supreme Court hus sought
to definitively deal with the various issues so as o setfle the controversies.
However, the same statutes are being interpreted and questioned. The bettom
line truth of the matter is that the statutes are so insufficient in and of them-
selves that the Supreme Court has effectively had to create judicial legislation.

In so doing, the Supreme Court has adopted new phraseology and given it
constitutional significance. Additionally, the needs of society have been updated
and are more discernable and discribable by new terms. The need for uniformity
of application throughout the federal system is critical. Therefore, in this area,
that is, obseenity restriction and prohibition, there is a unique need for statutory
definitions of terms which might in any other area of law be left to other means.

These statutory definitions should refiect modern thought, Additionally, the defi-
nitions ghould be sufficient to meet the bag of tricks assiduously developed by
the porno-defense lIawyers. By bag of tricks I mean, those devices and taetics em-
ployed in an adversarial context designed to avert the inquiry so as to more
nearly assure the acquittal of a defendant. These are not necessarily evil or dis-
honest, but they have as their purpose, and to often achieve, a misearriage of
justice rather than the implementation of justice. I can assure you from my
personal experience, as well as, the experiences I have shaved with numerous
other prosecutors that these tricks are employed over and over and take prose-
cutors and judges by surprise. They find theinselves the victims of the tricks only
after it is too late to avoid their effect,

¥lowever, most, prosectitors do not come back for a second trial, It is amazing
how long these tricks have been employed with such success without, shall we
say, the whistle being blown on them. You can be positive that I am blowing
the whigtle as loud and as far as I can but our system should legislatively
react to the situation rather than expect the feeble efforts of one or two per-
sons to meet the entire societal need. The only way these tacties ean be suceesstul
is for the statutes to remain ambiguous enough to allow them, These gimmniicks
are discussed in detail in the Memorandum of Justifieation which I have sub-
mitted with the proposed statutory scheme which I suggest to the Committee.

Perbaps the most critical need for definition is the objective listing of specific
types of hardcore sexual ponduct with legislatively is recognized as “patently
offensive.” Any adequate statutory attempt in this area must supply objectivity,
and that means complete objectivity, to this prong of the obscenity tests, Misuse
of the word ‘way” in connection with the phrase “patently offengive” is the
common error of recent legislative efforts. Because a representation may be of
conduct legislatively declared to be patently offensive does not mean that repre-
sentationg of that conduct are obscene, For such to be the case, the representa-
tions must meet the prurience and serious value tests, thereby, making those
representations obscene in the “way” they are represented.

On the other hand, vepregentations of conduct othier than that which is legis-
Iatively declared to be “patently offensive” could never be obscene under any
circumstances no matter how openly it appealed to prurience or blatantly it
lacked any value. Theretore, every living human being bound to give obedience to
the statute would know definitively in advance whether or nof the depiction in
question was one subject to even being questioned and, if it were, would know in
advance that he was taking the risk that he must concern himself with the other
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two criteria. Such certainty is legislatively required. Senate Bill One does not
supply it. This entire matier is discussed in mueh more detail in the Memo-
randum of Justification which I have submitted along with the proposed statute.

The whole concept of prurience must be considered in terms of modern day
enlightenment. The trick of the porno-defense lawyers in connection with this
concept is to find some outlandish “expert” to testify that any interest which
an average person might have concerning sexual matters is by the nature of the
case a non-prurient interest. This is pure, unadulterated nonsense. Iowever, when
first confronted with it in conrt it takes awhile to respond. Sometimes, it requires
time beyond the eunsuing acquittal. X would particularly invite the Comittee
menibers to give attention to Addendum I to the Memorandum of Justification
which is a rather lengthy treatment of the psycho-legal concept of prurience,

Other matters which must be addressed by adegquate legislation involve the
“appeal v. arvousal” debate; the “average v. unaverage"” controversy; the “stand-
ards v, habits” dispute; the “person v. adult” argument; the “acceptance v. toler-
ation” matter; various jury voir dirve tacties; the “deviant” group issue; the
geographical v. non-geographical “community” test; the sham v. dominant theme
concern. .

Obvicusly, it should be required that every United States District Court sub-
stantively give exactly the same jury instructions defining “serious value” and
“prurience.” Under the present circumstances similarities in instruction seem fo
be hy coincidence rather than design. Additionally, the scienter dispute needs to
be legislatively settled. .

Also, there is the continuing courtroom battle surrounding whether or not the
offense is a maelum prohibitwm or a malum in s¢ offense. After many, many hours
of research and writing, one can easily demonstirate that the offense is, 